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September 01, 2025  
 
To, 
BSE Limited 
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, Dalal Street,  
Mumbai – 400001 
 
 

(INTECCAP | 526871 | INE017E01018) 
 
 

Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
Subject:  Notice of the 31st Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) and Integrated 

Annual Report for FY 2024-25 of Intec Capital Limited (‘the Company’) 
 
Reference:   Regulation 30 and 34 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read with circulars issued by Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs and Securities and Exchange Board of India 

 
This is in furtherance to our letter dated August 21, 2025 wherein the Company had informed 
about the 31st AGM of the Company scheduled to be held on Friday, September 26, 2024 at 
12:00 p.m. (IST) through Video Conferencing/Other Audio Visual Means (‘VC/OAVM’), in 
accordance, with the relevant circulars issued by Ministry of Corporate Affairs and Securities 
and Exchange Board of India. In this regard, we wish to inform the following: 
 
1. Pursuant to the said circulars, AGM Notice and Integrated Annual Report for the financial 

year 2024-25 are being sent through electronic mode to all the Members whose email ids 
are registered with the Company/Registrar and Transfer Agent (‘RTA’)/Depository 
Participant (‘DP’). These documents can be accessed through the following web links and 
are also enclosed herewith:  

 
Notice 31st  AGM : https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/08/Notice-of-
31st-Annual-General-Meeting.pdf 
 
Integrated Annual Report FY 2024-25 : https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-
content/uploads/2025/08/2025-INTEC-ANNUAL-REPORT.pdf 

 
2. The Company has provided the facility to its Members to cast their vote electronically, 

through the remote e-Voting facility (prior to AGM) and e-Voting facility (during the 
AGM), on all the resolutions set forth in the AGM Notice to the Members, who are 
holding shares on the Cut-off date i.e. Friday, September 19, 2025. 
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3. The Remote e-Voting facility will be available during the following period: 

 
Commencement of remote e-Voting Tuesday, 23rd September 2025 (09:00 a.m. IST) 
End of remote e-Voting Thursday, 25th September, 2025 (05:00 p.m. IST) 

 
4. Detailed instructions for registering email id(s) and e-voting/ attendance at the AGM are 

given in the AGM Notice. 
 
 
This is for your information and records. 
 
Thanking you, 
 
For Intec Capital Limited 
 
 
 
(Niharika Gupta)                                                                                                      
Company Secretary & Compliance Officer                                                                 
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FROM THE DESK OF MANAGING DIRECTOR

CAPITAL LIMITED
intec

Sapne Aapke, Bharosa Apno Ka

Dear Shareholders,
As we reflect on the year that has passed, one cannot 
help but observe that the world continues its journey 
through uncharted waters. While 2024 brought its own 
set of complexities—from the historic return of Donald 
Trump to the American presidency to the persistent 
geopolitical tensions that continue to reshape global 
alliances—India has once again demonstrated its 
remarkable ability to chart its own course. Our nation's 
resilience shines through not just in weathering these 
global storms, but in continuing to grow and prosper 
amidst them.
The year 2024 will be remembered as a watershed 
moment in global politics, with over 70 countries holding 
elections affecting more than half the world's population. 
Yet, amid this unprecedented electoral intensity and the 
resulting policy uncertainties, India remained a beacon 
of stability and growth. The digital revolution that began 
with our UPI system has now reached new heights, 
with digital payments capturing an astounding 83% of 
total payment volumes—a testament to our nation's 
technological prowess and adaptability.
In the financial world where your company operates, 
we have witnessed the continued evolution of India's 
banking ecosystem. The convergence of traditional 

banking with cutting-edge fintech solutions has created 
opportunities that were unimaginable just a few years 
ago. The sector's resilience, evidenced by the lowest 
NPA levels in over a decade, provides a fertile ground 
for companies like ours to not just survive, but thrive.
Economic Outlook
Despite global headwinds and slower growth in major 
economies, India has maintained its position as the 
world's fastest-growing major economy. Our GDP 
expansion of approximately 6.5% for the fiscal year 
2024-25, while modest by our recent standards, remains 
impressive given the challenging global environment. 
This growth story is particularly remarkable when viewed 
against the backdrop of recession fears in advanced 
economies and ongoing geopolitical uncertainties.
Looking ahead, India's trajectory remains promising. 
With our demographic dividend intact, robust digital 
infrastructure continuing to expand, and government 
initiatives gaining momentum, we are well-positioned 
to capitalize on the opportunities that lie ahead. The 
financial sector, in particular, stands at an inflection point 
where technology and traditional banking are creating 
synergies that were previously thought impossible.
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Intec Outlook
I am pleased to report that 2024-25 marked a significant 
turning point for your company. We recorded a profit 
of Rs. 28.70 lakhs, a milestone that represents not 
just financial recovery but a validation of our strategic 
approach over the past several years. While our interest 
income declined during the year, our total recovery from 
written-off assets increased substantially, demonstrating 
the effectiveness of our focused recovery efforts.
More importantly, we achieved what many thought would 
be difficult—we successfully entered into One Time 
Settlement agreements with our lenders and, as I write 
this letter, have fully paid them off. This achievement 
has not only cleaned our balance sheet but has given us 
the operational freedom we desperately needed. With 
the burden of external obligations lifted, we now have a 
free hand in dealing with defaulters and can invest our 
resources where we see the best potential for returns.
In line with our new operational reality, we have rightsized 
our team to match our current scale of operations. 
This was not an easy decision, but it was necessary 
to ensure that every resource is optimally utilized. Our 
focus on legal recovery services has intensified, and we 
continue to seek relevant opportunities to grow these 
services. The expertise we have developed in navigating 
complex recovery scenarios positions us well to serve 
other financial institutions facing similar challenges.
The path we have travelled has been arduous, but it has 
also been instructive. We have emerged leaner, more 

focused, and significantly more agile. The combination 
of our clean balance sheet, operational freedom, and 
accumulated expertise creates a platform for sustainable 
growth that we have been working towards for years.
As we look to the future, our strategy is clear: we are 
reviving Intec by focusing on the expeditious resolution 
of our remaining legacy cases while simultaneously 
building a war chest for timely investment in opportunities 
as they arise. The financial sector's continued evolution, 
particularly in areas like digital lending and alternative 
credit assessment, presents numerous avenues for a 
company with our specialized skills and experience.
In conclusion, while the journey has tested our resolve 
at every turn, I am confident that we have turned the 
corner. The foundations are now firmly in place for 
Intec to not just return to profitability—which we have 
achieved—but to build a sustainable and growing 
business that creates value for all stakeholders.
As we step into the future, we do so with confidence, 
clarity of purpose, and an unwavering commitment to 
delivering results. The phoenix is not just rising; it is 
ready to soar.
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to 
extend my gratitude to our shareholders, customers, 
bankers and all other stakeholders who have stood by 
us through these transformative years. I would also like 
to thank our team members who have demonstrated 
remarkable dedication and continue to deliver results 
that exceed expectations.
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Directors’ Report
Dear Shareholders,

Your directors present the Thirty First Annual Report on 
the business and operations of your Company along 
with the Audited Standalone and Consolidated Financial 
Statements for FY 2024-2025.

Background:

Intec Capital Limited (“Company” or “ICL”) was 
incorporated in India on February 15, 1994, and was 
registered with Reserve Bank of India (RBI) as a Non-
Banking Financial Company (NBFC) vide Certificate of 
Registration B-14.00731 dated May 4, 1998 in the name 
of Intec Securities Limited. Subsequently, due to change 
in name of the company, the company received a revised 
Certificate of Registration (‘COR’) in the name of Intec 
Capital Limited on November 4, 2009 under section 45-
1A of Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY/ PERFORMANCE OF THE 
COMPANY:
The performance of the Company for the Financial Year 
ended March 31, 2025 is summarized below:
		     (₹ in lakhs)

Particulars Standalone Consolidated
FY 2025 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2024

Total Revenue 436.53 379.68 445.59 389.36
Less: Total expenses 312.53 2071.35 329.71 1277.25
Profit/Loss before Taxation & Exceptional Items 124.00 (1691.67) 115.88 (887.89)
Gain on Extinguishment of borrowings under One Time 
Settlement - - - -

Profit/loss before Taxation 124.00 (1691.67) 115.88 (887.89)
Tax expenses:

Deferred tax 93.96 (322.57) 93.96 (322.57)
Earlier year tax - - - -

Profit/Loss after Tax 30.04 (1369.10) 21.92 (565.32)
Note: The above figures are extracted from the Consolidated and Standalone Financial Statements prepared in 
accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) as notified under Sections 129 and 133 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and other relevant provisions of the Act and 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
(“SEBI Listing Regulations”).
Transfer to Reserve Fund:
Under section 45-IC(1) of Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI’) 
Act, 1934, non-banking financial companies (‘NBFCs’) 
are required to transfer a sum not less than 20% of 
its net profit every year as disclosed in the profit and 
loss account to reserve fund before declaration of any 
dividend. Therefore, the company transferred Rs. 6.01 
Lacs (i.e. approximately 20% of its net profit) to the 
specified reserve fund.

Dividend Distribution Policy:
Pursuant to the provisions of regulation 43A of the 

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 (the ‘SEBI Listing Regulations’), the Company had 
formulated a dividend distribution policy, which sets out 
the parameters and circumstances to be considered by 
the Board in determining the distribution of dividend to its 
shareholders and/or retaining profit earned. The policy 
is annexed to this report and is also available on the 
website of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/
wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Intec-Dividend-Policy.pdf. 

Dividend:

The company continues to evaluate and manage its 
dividend policy to build long term shareholder value. Due 
to paucity of funds, your Directors does not recommend 
any dividend during this year.

Results of Operations and the State of Company’s 
Affairs:

Highlights of the Company’s consolidated 
performance for the financial year ended 31st 
March, 2025 are as under:

Consolidated Revenue: Rs. 445.59 Lacs  

Consolidated Net Profit: Rs. 21.92 Lacs

In accordance with the provisions of the Act, Regulation 
34 of the SEBI Listing Regulations and applicable 
Accounting Standards, the Audited Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Company for the financial 
year 2024-25, together with the Auditors’ Report form 
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part of this Annual Report.

The Audited Financial Statements including the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company 
as stated above and all other documents required to 
be attached thereto are available on the Company’s 
website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2025/06/Outcome-of-Board-Meeting_May-30-
2025_ICL-1.pdf.

The financial results of the Company and its Wholly – 
owned Subsidiary are elaborated in the Management 
Discussion and Analysis Report, which forms part of this 
Annual Report.

Listing of Equity Shares:

The Equity Shares of the Company are listed on the 
trading platform of BSE Limited, a recognized stock 
exchange having nationwide trading terminal. 

Disclosure of Accounting Treatment: 

Implementation of Indian Accounting Standards (IND 
AS) converged with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) 

As mandated by Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, Non-Banking Financial 
Company (NBFCs) whose equity or debt securities are 
listed on any stock exchange in India or outside India and 
having net worth less than rupees five hundred crore are 
required to comply with the Indian Accounting Standards 
(IND AS) for Financial Statements for accounting periods 
beginning from April 1, 2019 onwards, with comparatives 
for the period ending March 31, 2019. 

Accordingly, the annual financial statements are prepared 
as per Indian Accounting Standards.

Presentation of Financial Statements: 

The Audited Financial Statements of the Company for 
the financial year under review have been disclosed as 
per Division III of Schedule III to the Act.
Associates Companies, Joint Venture and Subsidiary 
Companies including highlights of performance of 
Subsidiaries and their contribution to the overall 
performance of the company during the period under 
report:
The Company has one wholly owned subsidiary, viz., 
Amulet Technologies Limited which was incorporated 
as private limited company on 30th April 2011. It was 
converted into a Public Limited Company on 27th March 
2012.
The Primary objective of the subsidiary company is to offer 
consultancy, advisory & all related services in all areas 
of information technology including computer hardware 
& software, data communication, telecommunications, 
manufacturing & process control & automation, artificial 

intelligence, natural language processing.
The subsidiary company is managed by its Board, having 
the rights and obligations to manage the company in the 
best interest of respective stakeholders. 
During FY2024-2025, no new subsidiary was 
incorporated/acquired. The Company does not have any 
associate company, nor has it entered into a joint venture 
with any other company. 
The financial statements of the subsidiary companies 
are also available in a downloadable format under the 
‘Investor’ section on the Company’s website at https://
www.inteccapital.com/investors/subsidiary-financials/.   
The Company’s policy for determination of material 
subsidiary, as adopted by the Board of Directors, 
in conformity with regulation 16 of the SEBI Listing 
Regulations, can be accessed on the Company’s 
website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2025/06/Material-Subsidiary-Policy.pdf.
In terms of the said policy and provisions of Regulation 
16 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, Amulet Technologies 
Limited is not a material subsidiary of the Company. 
Performance highlights of the subsidiary company during 
the FY2024-2025 have already been provided under the 
Financial Results tab of the Directors’ Report.

Pursuant to Section 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
a separate statement containing the salient features of 
the financial statements of the Wholly-owned Subsidiary 
Company in the prescribed form AOC-1 is presented in 
Annexure-A, forming part of the Annual Report.

Management Discussion and Analysis Report

Management Discussion and Analysis Report for the 
year under review, as stipulated under the Securities 
and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing 
Regulations”), is presented in Annexure-B, forming part 
of the Annual Report.

Risk Management:

The Company has in place a Risk Management Policy in 
line with the prevailing business requirements. The Risk 
Management Committee was constituted originally on 8th 
January 2013 and was reconstituted from time to time 
according to the needs of the company. 

Thereafter, the Asset Liability Committee was merged 
with Risk Management Committee and Asset Liability 
Cum Risk Management Committee (ALRMC) was 
formed on 9th February 2020. This Committee has been 
entrusted with the responsibility of Formulation of policies, 
procedures and practices to identify, evaluate, address 
and monitor risk and to ensure business growth plans 
are supported by an effective risk infrastructure. The 
Risk practices and conditions adopted are appropriate 



STATUTORY SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-257

for the prevailing business environment and to assist 
the Board in discharge of its duties & responsibilities 
and in overseeing that all the risks that the organization 
faces such as strategic, financial credit, market, liquidity, 
security, property, IT, legal, regulatory, reputational and 
other risks have been identified and assessed and there 
is an adequate risk management infrastructure in place 
capable of addressing those risks.

The detailed information on Risk Management Committee, 
its constitution, its meeting held and attended during the 
year under review is separately mentioned in Corporate 
Governance Report Section.

The Company has introduced several improvements to 

existing internal policies / processes / framework / audit 
methodologies to mitigate / minimize the enterprise risk.

RBI Compliance:

The Company is registered with the RBI as a Non-
Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking - Non-Banking 
Financial Company. The Company has complied with 
and continues to comply with all applicable laws, rules, 
circulars and regulations.

The Company continues to comply with all the 
requirements prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India 
(RBI) from time to time. The Company has appointed an 
Internal Ombudsman and Principal Nodal Officer as per 
the relevant notifications of RBI to carry out the prescribed 
duties and discharge the prescribed functions.

The snapshot of the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of the company in comparison with the previous year on standalone 
basis and on consolidated basis is as follows:

CAPITAL ADEQUECY RATIO:

Particulars
Standalone Consolidated 

As at 31 
March, 2025

As at 31 
March, 2024

As at 31 
March, 2025

As at 31 
March, 2024

Tier I Capital (2,483.74) (2758.15) (971.41) (1428.75)
Tier II Capital -- -- -- --
Total Capital Funds (2,483.74) (2,758.15) (971.41) (1,428.75)
Risk Weighted Assets 6,005.61 6,788.15 5,881.63 6,672.15

CET1 capital ratio (41.36)% (40.63)% (16.52)% (21.68%)
CET2 capital ratio -- -- -- -
Total capital ratio (41.36)% (40.63)% (16.52)% (21.68%)

Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (‘KMP’):

A.	 Change in Directorate

i.	 Appointment:
	 On the recommendation of the Nomination 

and Remuneration Committee, the Board 
approved the appointment of Mr. Arjunn 
Kumar Tyagi (DIN: 02967667) as an Additional 
Director (Non-Executive Independent Director) 
w.e.f August 06, 2024 till the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting and further recommended the 
appointment as a Non-Executive Independent 
Director to the shareholders, for a consecutive 
period of five (5) years for a term starting from 
August 06, 2024 and ending on August 05, 
2029. The appointment was regularized by the 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting 
held on September 26, 2024.

	 On the recommendation of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, the Board approved 
the appointment of Mr. Vinod Kumar (DIN: 
10725631) as an Additional Director (Executive) 
on the Board w.e.f. August 06, 2024 till the 

ensuing Annual General Meeting and sought for 
regularization for a period of five (5) years from 
date of appointment. However, Mr. Vinod Kumar 
(DIN: 10725631) tendered his resignation from 
the post of Additional Director (Executive) of the 
Company w.e.f. end of the working hours of 14th 
August, 2024 due to preoccupation in the role 
and responsibilities of Chief Financial Officer of 
the Company. Accordingly, he ceased to be the 
Director on Board with effect from 14th August, 
2024, however, he continues to act as a Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company.

	 On the recommendation of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, the Board approved 
the appointment of Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 
08810331) as an Additional Director (Non-
Executive and Non-Independent) w.e.f. August 
14, 2024 till the ensuing Annual General Meeting 
and further recommended the appointment as 
a Non-Executive and Non Independent Director 
to the shareholders. The appointment was 
regularized by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting held on September 26, 2024.
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	 Re-Appointment:
	 On the recommendation of the Nomination 

and Remuneration Committee, the Board 
recommended the re-appointment of Mr. 
Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 00028702) as Managing 
Director of the company for a further period of 5 
years with effect from 1st April 2025 and ending 
31st March 2030, to the shareholders and the 
same was approved by the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting held on September 
26, 2024.

B.	 Directors liable to retire by rotation:

	 Ms. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) Non-Executive 
and Non-Independent Director, retires by rotation at 
the ensuing AGM, being eligible, offers herself for 
re-appointment and her re-appointment shall not 
tantamount to a break in the tenure of appointment 
as Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director 
and all other terms and conditions of the re-
appointment shall also remain unchanged pursuant 
to the provisions of Companies Act, 2013.

	 Brief details of Ms. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331), 
who is seeking re–appointment, are given in the 
Notice of AGM.

C.	 KMPs

i.	 Ms. Radhika Garg tendered her resignation 
on 5th August 2024 as the Company Secretary 
and Compliance Officer of the Company and 
ceased to be the Company Secretary w.e.f. 3rd 
September, 2024.

ii.	 Ms. Pankhuri Agrawal was appointed by the 
Board in its meeting held on November 29, 2024 
as the Company Secretary and Compliance 
Officer of the Company w.e.f. 29.11.2024;

iii.	 Re-appointment of Mr. Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 
00028702) as mentioned above.

After closure of Financial Year 2024-25, Ms. Pankhuri 
Agrawal, Company secretary and Compliance 
officer of the company, tendered her resignation on 
5th June, 2025 effective from end of business hours 
of 05th July, 2025 and accordingly, she was relieved 
from responsibilities from end of business hours 
of 5th July, 2025. Thereafter, Ms. Niharika Gupta 
was appointed as the Company Secretary And 
Compliance Officer by the Board in its meeting held 
on 13th August 2025,

The Board of Directors place on record its 

appreciation for the association of aforementioned KMP’s with the Company.

Apart from the changes specified above, there have been no changes in the KMPs of the Company.

During the year under review, the non-executive directors of the Company had no pecuniary relationship or 
transactions with the Company. 

As on March 31, 2025, the Board of Directors of your Company consists of 6 Directors. Their details are as 
follows:

Sr. No. Name of Director Designation
1. Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director (KMP)
2. Ms. Shilpy Chopra Non-Executive Independent Director
3. Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive Independent Director
4. Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh Non-Executive Independent Director
5. Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi Non-Executive Independent Director
6. Ms. Ursala Joshi Non-Executive Non-Independent Director

As on March 31, 2025, the Company had following Key Managerial Personnel (KMP’s) in accordance with 
the provisions of Sections 2(51) and 203 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Appointment and 

Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014:

Sr. No. Name of KMP Designation
1. Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director (KMP)
2. Mr. Vinod Kumar Chief Financial Officer (KMP)
3. Ms. Pankhuri Agrawal Company Secretary (KMP) and Compliance Officer

Declaration by Independent Directors:

The Independent directors have submitted a declaration of 
independence under section 149(7) of the Act confirming 

that they meet the criteria of independence provided under 
section 149(6) of the Act read with regulation 16 of the 
SEBI Listing Regulations, as amended. The independent 
directors have also confirmed compliance with the 
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provisions of rule 5, 6 of Companies (Appointment and 
Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014 and regulations 
16(1)(b) & 25 of Listing Regulations. 

The Board took on record the declaration and confirmation 
submitted by the independent directors regarding them 
meeting the prescribed criteria of independence, after 
undertaking due assessment of the veracity of the same 
in terms of the requirements of regulation 25 of the SEBI 
Listing Regulations.

Policy on Directors’ Appointment and Remuneration:

In terms of section 178 of the Act read with Companies 
(Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 
and regulation 19 of the Listing Regulations, your 
Company has in place duly constituted Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors. The 
details of the composition of the committee along with 
meetings of the said committee & attendance thereat 
and terms of reference of Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee are available in the Corporate Governance 
Report which forms part of this Report. Furthermore, 
all recommendations of Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee were accepted by the Board of Directors..

On recommendation of the NRC, the Board has framed 
a Remuneration Policy. This policy, inter alia, provides: 

(a)	 The criteria for determining qualifications, positive 
attributes and independence of directors; and

(b)	 Policy on remuneration of directors, key managerial 
personnel and other employees. 

The policy is directed towards a compensation philosophy 
and structure that will reward and retain talent; and 
provides for a balance between fixed and incentive pay 
reflecting short and long-term performance objectives 
appropriate to the working of the Company and its goals. 

The Remuneration Policy is available on the Company’s 
website and can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.
com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Nomination-and-
Remuneration-Policy.pdf.

Disclosures pertaining to remuneration and other details 
as required under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with Rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014 are provided in the prescribed format and annexed 
as Annexure-C forming an integral part of this Report.

As per the requirements of the RBI Master Directions 
and SEBI Listing Regulations, details of all pecuniary 
relationship or transactions of the executive/ non-
executive directors vis-à-vis the Company are disclosed 
in the Corporate Governance Report.

Compliance with Code of Conduct:

All Board members and senior management personnel 
have affirmed compliance with the Company’s Code of 
Conduct for FY 2024-2025. A declaration to this effect 
signed by the Managing Director is included in this 
Annual Report.

Annual Return:

Pursuant to Section 92(3), 134 (3) (a) of the Companies 
Act 2013, read with Rule 12 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014, the 
Company has placed a copy of the draft annual return 
on its website and the same is available at https://www.
inteccapital.com/investors/annual-returns/. 

Number of Meetings of the Board:

Nine (9) meetings of the Board were held during FY 
2024-2025 on the following dates: 

May 29, 2024, June 21, 2024, August 6, 2024, August 14, 
2024, November 14, 2024, November 29, 2024, January 
7, 2025, January 20, 2025 and February 13, 2025. Details 
of the meetings and attendance thereat form part of the 
Corporate Governance Report.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement:

Based on the framework of internal financial controls 
and compliance systems established and maintained by 
the Company, work performed by the Internal, Statutory 
and Secretarial Auditors, including audit of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting by the Statutory 
Auditors and the reviews performed by the Management 
and the relevant Board Committees, including the 
Audit Committee, the Board is of the opinion that the 
Company’s internal financial controls were adequate and 
effective during FY 2024-25.

The Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Ind AS as notified under the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 read with 
Section 133 of the Act.

In accordance with the provisions of section 134(3)(c) 
of the Act and based on the information provided by the 
Management, the directors state that:

a)	 in the preparation of the annual accounts, the 
applicable accounting standards and guidance 
provided by The Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India have been followed and that there are no 
material departures thereof;

b)	 they had selected such accounting policies and 
applied them consistently and made judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company at the end of the financial year and of the 
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profit and cash flows of the Company for the year;

c)	 they had taken proper and sufficient care for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and 
for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities;

d)	 they had prepared the annual accounts on a going 
concern basis;

e)	 they had laid down internal financial controls to be 
followed by the Company and that such internal 
financial controls were adequate and operating 
effectively; 

f)	 they had devised proper systems to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws 
and that such systems were adequate and operating 
effectively.

Audit Committee:

In terms of section 177 of the Act and regulation 18 of 
the Listing Regulations, your Company has in place 
Audit Committee of Board of Directors. The details about 
the composition of the said committee of the Board of 
Directors along with meetings of the said committee & 
attendance thereat and role(s)/ terms of reference of 
Audit Committee have been provided in the Corporate 
Governance Report which forms part of this Report.

The present composition of the Committee is as follows: 

Ms. Shalini Rahul, Chairman 

Ms. Shilpy Chopra , Member  

Mrs. Ursala Joshi, Member

During FY 2024-2025, all recommendations of the Audit 
Committee were accepted by the Board. 

Particulars of Loans, Guarantees and Investments:

Pursuant to Section 134(3)(g) of the Companies Act, 
2013, Loans, guarantees and investments covered 
under Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013, form part 
of the Notes to the financial statements provided in this 
Annual Report.

Share Capital:

As on 31st March 2025, the paid-up share capital of the 
Company stood at ₹18,36,62,500 (Rupees Eighteen 
Crores Thirty-Six Lakhs Sixty-Two Thousand Five 
Hundred Only) consisting of 1,83,66,250 equity shares of 
face value of ₹10 fully paid-up.

There was no public issue, rights issue, bonus issue or 
preferential issue etc. during the year. The Company has 
not issued shares with differential voting rights, sweat 

equity shares nor has it granted any stock options.

Material Changes and Commitments:

During the Year under review, the Company’s proposal 
for settlement of its loans were accepted by all the lender 
banks under One Time Settlement (OTS). As on date, the 
One Time Settlement has been successfully complied 
with and No Dues Certificates has been received from all 
the lender banks.

Conservation of Energy:

1.	 Steps taken / impact on conservation of energy:

	 The operations of the Company, being Financial 
Services related, require normal consumption of 
electricity. The Company is taking every necessary 
step to reduce its consumption of energy.

2.	 Steps taken by the Company for utilizing alternate 
sources of energy:

	 The company during the financial year 2024-25 did 
not take any additional step for utilizing alternate 
sources of energy.

3.	 Capital investment on energy conservation 
equipment:

	 In view of the nature of activities carried on by the 
Company, there is no capital investment on energy 
conservation equipment.

Technology Absorption:

1.	 The efforts made towards technology absorption;
Your Company’s activities, being a Non-Banking 
Finance Company, do not require adoption of 
any specific technology. However, your Company 
has been at the forefront in implementing latest 
information technologies & tools towards enhancing 
our customer convenience and continues to 
adopt and use the latest technologies to improve 
the productivity and quality of its services. The 
Company’s operations do not require significant 
import of technology.

2.	 The benefits derived like product improvement, 
cost reduction, product development or import 
substitution;- N/A

3.	 In case of imported technology (imported during 
the last 3 years reckoned from the beginning of the 
financial year): - N/A
(a) The details of technology imported:- N/A
(b) The year of import:- N/A
(c) Whether the technology been fully absorbed:- 
N/A
(d) If not fully absorbed, areas where absorption 

has not taken place, and the reasons thereof:- 
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N/A
4. The expenditure incurred on Research and 
Development:- N/A

Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo: 

During FY 2024-2025, the Company did not have any 
Foreign Exchange earnings and Foreign Exchange 
outgo. 

Annual Performance Evaluation of the Board, 
Committees and Directors:

Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Section 134(3)
(p) Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 17 SEBI LODR, 
2015 and other applicable regulations, circulars etc., the 
Board, in consultation with its Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee, has formulated a framework containing, inter-
alia, the criteria for performance evaluation of the entire 
Board of the Company, its Committees and Individual 
Directors, including Independent Directors.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and in terms of requirement of other applicable provisions 
of SEBI LODR, 2015, the Board has carried out an 
Annual Performance Evaluation of its own performance, 
the Directors individually as well as the evaluation of the 
working of the Committees. On the basis of performance 
evaluation done by the Board, it shall be determined 
whether to extend or continue their term of appointment, 
whenever the respective term expires.

The Independent Directors had met separately without the 
presence of Non-Independent Directors and the members 
of management on March 24, 2025 and discussed, inter-
alia, the performance of non-independent Directors and 
Board as a whole, assessed the quality, quantity and 
timeliness of flow of information between the Company’s 
Management and the Board that is necessary for the 
Board to effectively and reasonably perform their duties.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has also 
carried out evaluation of Director’s performance during 
Financial Year 2024-25.

Significant and Material Orders:

During FY 2024-2025, there were no significant or 
material orders passed by any regulator or court 
or tribunal impacting the going concern status and 
Company’s operations in future.

Internal Financial Controls:

The Internal Financial Controls laid down by the Company 
are a systematic set of controls and procedures to ensure 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business including 
adherence to the Company’s policies, safeguarding of 
its assets, prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records 

and timely preparation of reliable financial information. 
Internal financial controls not only require the system to 
be designed effectively but also to be tested for operating 
effectiveness periodically. All internal audit findings and 
control systems are periodically reviewed by the Audit 
committee of the Board of Directors, which provides 
strategic guidance on internal control.

The Board is of the opinion that Internal Financial 
Controls with reference to the financial statements were 
tested and reported adequate and operating effectively. 
The internal financial controls are commensurate with 
the size, scale and complexity of operations.

Deposits:

During FY 2024-2025, the Company has not accepted 
any deposit within the meaning of the Companies 
(Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 or Chapter V of 
the Act and guidelines and directions of Non-Banking 
Financial Companies (Acceptance of Public Deposits) 
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016, as prescribed by 
Reserve Bank of India in this regard and as such no 
details are required to be furnished.

Credit Rating:

During the year, no Credit Ratings have been obtained 
by the Company.

Human Resources:

The Company recognizes the importance of Human 
Resource and the continuous need for development 
of the same. The Company stresses on the need to 
continuously upgrade the competencies of its employees 
and equip them with the latest developments. In order to 
achieve this, the Company organizes various programs 
including in-house training and professional skill 
development programs across all levels of employees. 
The company also focused on Regional Level Induction 
& training covering corporate presentations & function 
specific knowledge and skills.

Gender-Wise Composition of Employees: 

In alignment with the principles of diversity, equity, and 
inclusion (DEI), the Company discloses below the gender 
composition of its workforce as on the March 31, 2025. 

Male Employees: 33

Female Employees: 7

Transgender Employees: 0 

This disclosure reinforces the Company’s efforts to 
promote an inclusive workplace culture and equal 
opportunity for all individuals, regardless of gender.

Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism:

The Company has adopted a whistle blower policy/ vigil 



STATUTORY SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2512

mechanism for Directors, Employees and third parties to 
report their concerns about unethical behavior, actual or 
suspected fraud or violation of the Company’s Code of 
Conduct, leak of unpublished price sensitive information 
and related matters.

This mechanism also provides adequate safeguards 
against the victimization of whistle blowers who avail of the 
mechanism. The whistle blowers may also access their 
higher level/ supervisors and/ or the Audit Committee. 
The Whistle Blower Policy is available at https://www.
inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Vigil-
Mechanism-and-WhistleBlower-Policy.pdf.

More details are given in Corporate Governance 
Report.

Corporate Governance:

The Company is committed to upholding the highest 
standards of Corporate Governance and follows the 
Corporate Governance requirements set out by the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”). 
In addition, the Company has included various best 
governance practices.

In terms of Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V of the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, a separate section on Corporate 
Governance including a certificate from M/s Vivek 
Gupta and Associates, Practicing Company Secretaries 
confirming compliance is annexed as Annexure-D, 
forming an integral part of this Report.

Secretarial Standards of ICSI:

The Company has complied with the requirements 
prescribed under the Secretarial Standards on meetings 
of the Board of Directors (SS–1) and General Meetings 
(SS–2) read with the MCA circulars granting exemptions 
in view of the COVID-19 pandemic.

SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES):

The investor complaints are processed in a centralized 
web-based complaints redress system. The salient 
features of this system are: Centralized database of all 
complaints, online upload of Action Taken Reports (ATRs) 
by concerned companies and online viewing by investors 
of actions taken on the complaint and its current status.

Internal Audit:

The internal audit function provides an independent view 
to the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the 
Senior Management on the quality and efficacy of the 
internal controls, governance systems and processes. 
In line with the RBI’s guidelines on Risk Based Internal 
Audit, the Company has adopted a Risk Based Internal 
audit policy

At the beginning of each financial year, an audit plan is 
rolled out after approval of the Audit Committee. Pursuant 
to Risk Based Internal Audit Framework, internal audit is 
aligned in such a manner that assurance is provided to 
the Audit Committee and Board of Directors on quality 
and effectiveness of the internal controls, and governance 
related systems and processes.

The Board of Directors of your Company had appointed 
M/s T.K. Gupta & Associates, Chartered Accountants, 
(Firm Regn. No. 011604N) as the Internal Auditors of the 
Company pursuant to the provisions of section 138 of 
the Act for financial year 2024-2025 and the reports on 
periodical basis submitted by the auditor were placed 
before the audit committee and Board of Directors. 
The Audit Committee regularly reviews the internal 
audit reports and the adequacy and effectiveness of 
internal financial controls. Significant audit observations, 
corrective and preventive actions thereon are presented 
to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

Statutory Auditors:

Pursuant to the provisions of section 139(8) of the Act, 
members of the Company have approved appointment 
of M/s. S. P. Chopra & Co., Chartered Accountants, New 
Delhi as Statutory Auditors for their re-appointment for 
the second block of Five (5) years from conclusion of 28th 
Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of 33rd Annual 
General Meeting scheduled to be held in Calendar Year 
2027 for conducting the Annual Statutory Audit for the 
respective Financial Years viz. starting from Financial 
Year 2022-2023 till Financial Year 2026-2027.

The audit report given by M/s. S. P. Chopra & Co., 
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Auditors for FY 2024-
2025 is modified. 

EXPLANATION ON STATUTORY AUDITORS’ REPORT:

Qualification reported by Statutory Auditors
For Standalone Financial Statements:

The Company has availed term loans and working capital 
facilities from various banks, however, slowdown of its 
lending business and increased level of non-performing 
/ impaired loan portfolio, has impacted its cash flow 
/ liquidity, and the Company is un-able to service term 
loans and working capital facilities including interest 
thereon to certain banks. The interest of Rs. 6,515.10 
lakhs i.e. Rs. 338.71 lakhs and Rs. 1,496.34 lakhs for 
the current quarter and year ended 31 March, 2025 
respectively and Rs. 5,018.76 lakhs for the period upto 
31 March, 2024, though accrued on these loans has not 
been accounted / provided for by the Company in these 
standalone financial results.
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For Consolidated Financial Results: 

The Parent Company has availed term loans and 
working capital facilities from various banks, however, 
slowdown of its lending business and increased level of 
non-performing / impaired loan portfolio, has impacted 
its cash flow / liquidity, and the Parent Company is un-
able to service term loans and working capital facilities 
including interest thereon to certain banks. The interest 
of Rs. 6,515.10 lakhs i.e. Rs. 338.71 lakhs and Rs. 
1,496.34 lakhs for the current quarter and year ended 
31 March, 2025 respectively and Rs. 5,018.76 lakhs 
for the period upto 31 March, 2024, though accrued on 
these loans has not been accounted / provided for by the 
Parent Company in these consolidated financial results.
Board’s reply for remark raised in the Auditor’s 
report to Standalone and Consolidated Financial 
results:

The Company had submitted a One-Time Settlement 
(OTS) proposal to its lenders for the settlement of its 
outstanding loans. We are pleased to inform that the said 
OTS proposal has been formally accepted and approved 
by the concerned banks/lenders during the financial year. 
Pursuant to this development, the Company has decided 
not to provide for interest amounting to ₹6,515.10 lakhs 
in its books of accounts for the current financial year.

Secretarial Auditor: 

Pursuant to provisions of Section 204 of the Act read 
with Rule 9 of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 
and amendments thereto, the Board of Directors of the 
Company have appointed Ms. Srishti Singh, proprietor 
of M/s Srishti Singh & Associates, Practicing Company 
Secretaries (M. No: 50820 and COP: 21900) to conduct 
the Secretarial Audit for the financial year 2024-25. 

The Secretarial Audit Report (Form MR-3) for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2025, is annexed as Annexure-E 
forming an integral part of this Report.

The qualifications/ adverse remarks/ observations/ 
suggestions/ disclosure and other matters of emphasis 
made by M/s. Srishti Singh & Associates, in their 
Secretarial Compliance Report dated 12th August, 2024, 
on the Secretarial and other related records of the 
company, for the FY 2024-25 are mentioned below :-

1.	 The date of entry of the Minutes in the Minutes Book 
has been entered by hand as against the other 
context being type-written.

	 Board’s Reply: 
	 As per board, there is no provision in the 

Companies Act, 2013 or the Secretarial Standards 
or any other applicable law(s) that restricts the 
date of entry from being entered by hand. As per 
management there has been no non-compliance 
with respect to any provision of law.

2.	 As regards the Resolutions passed by the Company 
through Circulation in terms of Section 175 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, no brief background of the 
Resolutions therein has been given in the Minutes 
while, the same is a mandatory requirement as per 
applicable ‘Secretarial Standards-1’

	 Board’s Reply: 

	 As per Secretarial Standards-1, apart from the 
Resolution or the decision, Minutes shall mention 
the brief background of all proposals and 
summarise the deliberations thereof. However, 
in the case of resolutions passed by circulation, 
such resolutions are merely taken note of by 
the Board and no proposal or deliberations 
had took place at the meetings. Moreover, as 
per secretarial standards only the text of the 
Resolution(s) passed by circulation since the 
last Meeting, including dissent or abstention, if 
any is required to be recorded in the minutes. 
Though, as a better corporate governance, the 
Company will give the brief background of the 
resolutions for the circular resolution also.  

3.	 As Per Regulation 17(1) of SEBI (LODR) Regulation, 
2015, the Board of Directors have an optimum 
combination of Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors with at least one-Woman Director and not 
less than fifty per cent of the Board of Directors shall 
comprise of Non-Executive Directors. As regards the 
terminology used in the corresponding regulation, it 
has been enunciated that the Board shall comprise 
an optimum combination of Executive & Non-
Executive Directors. On the perusal made by me 
in this Audit, it has been noticed that there is only 
One Executive Director on the Board against four 
(4) Non-Executive Directors during the Audit period. 
Though the Company has a duly constituted Board 
in compliance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with the SEBI (LODR), 2015, yet it 
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is suggested to the Company for the sake of better Corporate Governance to have more than one Executive 
Directors on the Board.

	 Board’s Reply: In the Board’s view, the Company has duly complied the provisions with regard to 
the constitution of the Board of Directors of the Company as laid down under the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015. Further, it takes note of the recommendation 
of the Auditor and ensures to review it in the near future.

4.	 As regards the Forms/ Returns to be filed by the Company with the Registrar of Companies under the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the rules framed thereunder in the period under review following forms have been filed with a 
delay as stated in the below table:

Sr. 
No. Form Purpose of filing the Form SRN of the 

Form
Date of 
event

Due-date 
of filing the 

form

Actual-date of 
Filing

1 MSME-1
Half-yearly Return to 
report outstanding 

payments exceeding 45 
days to MSME suppliers

AB2089692 - 31/10/2024 06/12/2024

2 AOC-4 For filing of Financial 
Statements N15391543 - 25/10/2024 12/11/2024

3 AOC-4 
CFS

For filing of Consolidated 
Financial Statements N26383661 - 25/10/2024 09/01/2025

4 MGT-7 Annual Return N24745481 - 25/11/2024 19/12/2024

	 Board’s Reply: The delay in filing the 
aforementioned forms occurred primarily due 
to the absence of a full-time Company Secretary 
during the relevant period, which impacted 
timely compliance. The Board assures that 
necessary measures have now been taken to 
strengthen the compliance mechanism, and 
all statutory filings will be made within the 
prescribed timelines going forward.

5.	 The forms filed by the Company, being a ‘Non- 
Banking Financial Company’, with the ‘Reserve 
Bank of India’ have been filed with a delay. Such 
forms include DNBS-02, DNBS-04A, DNBS-04B, 
DNBS-10, DNBS-13.

	 Board’s Reply: The delay in filing of mentioned 
returns have occasioned due to some technical 
glitches experienced by the Management at the 
relevant portal along with clarifications awaited 
from the Reserve Bank of India owing to changes 
in the financial position of the Company. 

	 The Board confirms that corrective steps 
are being implemented to ensure all future 
submissions are completed within the stipulated 
timelines.

6.	 It has been observed that the Company has made 
several delays in the filing its Provident Fund (PF) 
Returns, further, on account of the information 
received by the Company, no notice has been 

received in this matter so far.

	 Board’s Reply: Due to prevailing business 
environment coupled with business challenges, 
there were delays in PF return filings.  

	 The Board is committed to ensuring strict 
adherence to all PF-related statutory timelines 
henceforth.

7.	 Further, the Company has made several delays in 
the filing its Employees’ State Insurance Returns, 
The ESI deducted of all the Employees along with 
Employer’s contribution has to be deposited within 
the due date i.e. 15th of every month.

	 Board’s Reply: Due to restricted financial 
flexibility, the company was unable to meet the 
deadlines of filings and deposit of mentioned 
contribution. The Board has put in place a 
monitoring mechanism to ensure compliance 
with the due date for all future ESI filings.

8.	 The Company has also delayed in the filling of the 
GST Returns such as GSTR-3B and GSTR-1.

	 Board’s Reply: Due to current business 
environment and business challenges, the 
company was unable to satisfy these statutory 
compliance in a timely manner.

	 The Management will ensure the filing of returns 
well within stipulated time frame.
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9.	 Additionally, there has been certain non-compliance 
in the guidelines issued by the Securities & Exchange 
Board of India majorly concerning the SEBI (LoDR), 
2015, and the said non-compliance has been 
reproduced here-in: -	 The Company has 
delayed the filing of its audited financial results for 
the year ended March 31, 2024 under Regulation 33 
of the SEBI (LODR), 2015, beyond the prescribed 
timeline for which a fine amounting to Rs. 1,10,000 
plus GST was imposed on the Company, and the 
same was duly paid.

Board’s Reply: The Board Meeting for approval of 
the Audited Financial Results, Auditors Report, 
along with other agendas was duly scheduled 
on 29th May, 2024. However, on that day, the 
CFO of the Company had a medical emergency 
in his family, due to which he was not available 
for the Board Meeting, where his presence was 
required for discussion of the aforementioned 
agendas.
Pursuant to regulation 24A(2) of SEBI Listing 
Regulations, a report on secretarial compliance for 
FY 2024-2025 has been issued by M/s Arpit Garg 
& Associates and the same was submitted with the 
stock exchanges within the given timeframe. The 

report is available on the website of the Company 
and can be assessed at https://www.inteccapital.
com/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/ASCR-2025-ICL.
pdf . 
There are no observations, reservations or 
qualifications or adverse remark in report on 
secretarial compliance pursuant to Regulation 24A 
(2) of SEBI Listing Regulations.

Related Party Transactions:

All contracts/arrangement/transactions entered by the 
Company during FY 2024-25 with related parties were 
in compliance with the applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act and SEBI Listing Regulations. Prior 
omnibus approval of the Audit Committee is obtained for 
all related party transactions which are foreseen and of 
repetitive nature. Pursuant to the said omnibus approval, 
details of transaction entered into are also reviewed by 
the Audit Committee and Board on a quarterly basis.

All related party transactions entered during FY 2024-
25 were on an arm’s length basis and were not material 
under the SEBI Listing Regulations except for the 
following:

•	 the remuneration of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing 

Director of the Company for which the Company has already obtained the approval of shareholders in the 
27th Annual General Meeting held on 15th September, 2021 for three (3) Financial Years i.e. for Financial Year 
2022–2023, 2023–2024, 2024-25; 

•	 availing of credit facility from Modern Credit Private Limited for the financial year 2024–2025, the approval of 
which was accorded by way of Postal Ballot on November 17, 2023 and was further approved in the 30th Annual 
General Meeting held on 26th September 2024, 

•	 availing of credit facility from Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company, the approval of which was 
accorded by way of Postal Ballot on February 27, 2025 as per the provisions of the applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI Listing Regulations.

Particulars of the Contracts or Arrangements with related parties referred to in Section 188(1) in the format specified 
as Form AOC-2 forms part of this Report as Annexure-F. Further, details of related party transactions are provided 
in Notes to Financial Statements.
Further, as per Schedule V of SEBI Listing Regulations, The details of loans and advances by listed entity and its 
subsidiaries to loans to firms/ companies in which the Directors of Company are interested as follows:

S. 
No.

Name of the Firm/ 
Company (“The 

Borrower”)

Name of the 
Company and 

interested Director 
(“The Lender”)

Nature of 
Transaction

Outstanding amount 
of loans/advances/

Investments at the year 
end (In INR Lakhs)

The maximum 
amount of loans/

advances/
Investments 

outstanding during 
the year(In INR 

Lakhs)

1.
Amulet 
Technologies 
Limited

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, 
Managing Director 
of Intec Capital 
Limited

Loan 
Transactions 
(Granted) 

1,350.44 1,489.82
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2. Pantec Devices 
Private Limited

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, 
Managing Director 
of Intec Capital 
Limited

Interest on Loan 
Transactions 49.71 54.71

3. Modern Credit 
Private Limited

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, 
Managing Director 
of Intec Capital 
Limited

Loan 
Transactions 
(Taken)

606.74 606.74

4. Mr. Sanjeev Goel
Mr. Sanjeev Goel, 
Managing Director 
of Intec Capital 
Limited

Loan 
Transactions 
(Taken)

1,189.06 1,189.06

The policy on materiality of related party transactions and 
on dealing with related party transactions was amended 
in line with SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) (Sixth Amendment) Regulations, 2021. 

The policy is available on the website of the 
Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2025/06/RPT-Policy-1.pdf and also forms a part 
of the Corporate Governance Report.

Corporate Social Responsibility (‘CSR’):

In accordance with Section 135 of the Act, your Company 
has a Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) Committee. 
The CSR Committee has formulated and recommended 
to the Board, a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy 
(“CSR Policy”) indicating the activities to be undertaken 
by the Company, in due compliance of the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013, which has been approved by 
the Board.

The CSR Committee comprises of three directors viz., 
Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh and Ms. Ursala 
Joshi. 

Mr. Sanjeev Goel is a permanent Chairman of the 
Committee.

The Company did not fulfill the eligibility criteria provided 
under the provisions of Section 135(1) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 as on 31st March, 2024, and therefore, the 
Company was not required to incur any CSR expenditure 
during the Financial Year 2024-25. 

The CSR Policy is available on the Company’s 
website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2025/06/CSR-Policy.pdf.

The Annual Report on CSR activities as required under 
Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 
8(1) of the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility 
Policy) Rules, 2014, is annexed as Annexure-G forming 
an integral part of this Report.

Further, details on the aforementioned CSR Committee 
are provided in the Corporate Governance Report, which 
forms part of this Annual Report. 

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD:

The Board has constituted Committees with specific 
terms of reference to focus effectively on specific issues 
and ensure expedient resolution of diverse matters. 
These include the Audit Committee; Asset Liability Cum 
Risk Management Committee; Stakeholders/ Investors’ 
Grievances Cum Share Transfer Cum Stakeholder 
Relationship Committee; Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee; Corporate Social Responsibility Committee.

The Company Secretary is the Secretary of all the 
aforementioned Committees.

The Board of Directors and the Committees also take 
decisions by Resolutions passed through Circulation 
which are noted by the Board / respective Committees 
of the Board at their next meetings. The Minutes of 
meetings of all Committees of the Board are circulated 
to the Board of Directors for noting.

Familiarization Policy and Programme for 
Independent Directors:
The Company has in place a familiarization Programme 
for its Independent Directors which shall be given to 
new Independent Directors upon joining and to existing 
Independent Directors on “need basis”. The objective of 
the familiarization Programme is to provide training to new 
Independent Directors at the time of their joining so as to 
enable them to understand the Company - its operations, 
business, industry and environment in which it functions 
and the regulatory environment applicable to it.

The familiarization program and other disclosures as 
specified under the Listing Regulations is available on the 
Company’s website at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-
content/uploads/2025/06/Familiarization-Programme-
for-Independent-Directors-1.pdf. 

Other Statutory Disclosures:

1.	 The financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiary are placed on the Company’s website at 
https://inteccapital.com/.

2.	 Details required under the provisions of section 
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197(12) of the Act read with rule 5(1) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of 
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, as amended, 
containing, inter alia, the ratio of remuneration of 
directors to median remuneration of employees, 
percentage increase in the median remuneration, 
are annexed to this Report.

3.	 Details of top ten employees in terms of the 
remuneration and employees in receipt of 
remuneration as prescribed under rule 5(2) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of 
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, as amended, 
containing details prescribed under rule 5(3) of the 
said rules, which form part of the Directors’ Report, 
will be made available to any member on request, as 
per provisions of section 136(1) of the Act.

4.	 The Company being an NBFC, the provisions 
relating to Chapter V of the Act, i.e., acceptance of 
deposit, are not applicable.

5.	 The auditors, i.e., statutory auditors and secretarial 
auditors have not reported any matter under section 
143(12) of the Act, and therefore, no details are 
required to be disclosed under section 134(3)(ca) of 
the Act.

6.	 The provision of section 148 of the Act relating to 
maintenance of cost records and cost audit are not 
applicable to the Company.

7.	 The Company has a policy on prevention of sexual 
harassment at the workplace. The Company 
has complied with the provisions relating to the 
constitution of Internal Complaints Committee 
under Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013. 
The number of complaints received, disposed off and 
pending during FY 2024-2025 is presented below 
and is given in the Corporate Governance Report:

No. of complaints received during the year 0
No. of complaints disposed off during the year 0
Number of complaints pending for a period 
exceeding ninety days 0

8. 	 Maternity Benefit Act, 1961: During the Financial 
Year under review, the Company has ensured 
compliance with the provisions of the Maternity 
Benefit Act, 1961 and it is hereby affirmed that:
(i)	 the Company provides maternity leave in 

accordance with the requirements of the Act;
(ii)	 all necessary facilities and entitlements 

mandated by the law are extended to women 

employees; 
(iii)	 no discriminatory practices are adopted against 

women employees on account of maternity or 
child birth.

8.	 There is no change in the nature of business of the 
Company during FY 2024-2025.

9.	 The securities of the Company were not suspended 
from trading during the year on account of corporate 
actions or otherwise.

10.	 The Managing Director, as per the terms of his 
appointment, does not draw any commission or 
remuneration from the subsidiary company. Hence, 
no disclosure as required under section 197(14) of 
the Act has been made.

11.	 Neither any application was made, nor any 
proceeding is pending under the Insolvency and 
Bankruptcy Code, 2016 against the Company.

12.	 THE DETAILS OF DIFFERENCE BETWEEN 
AMOUNT OF THE VALUATION DONE AT THE 
TIME OF ONE TIME SETTLEMENT AND THE 
VALUATION DONE WHILE TAKING LOAN FROM 
THE BANKS OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
ALONG WITH THE REASONS THEREOF:
The Company has not availed any loan during the 
financial year under review, hence, the disclosure 
is not applicable and not furnished herein. It is 
pertinent to mention that during the year, the 
company entered into a One Time Settlement 
(OTS) with its lenders. As on the date of this report, 
the OTS has been successfully complied with and 
the No Dues Certificate has been received from all 
the lenders.
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Annexure A
FORM AOC-I

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)
Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries/associate companies/ joint 

ventures
Part “A”: Subsidiaries

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs.)

S. No. Particulars Value (in Rs.)
1 Name of the subsidiary Amulet Technologies Limited
2 The date since when subsidiary was acquired 17.03.2012

3 Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the 
holding company’s reporting period 

N.A.

4 Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the 
relevant financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries  N.A.

5 Share capital Rs. 25,00,000.00
6 Reserves & surplus Rs. (1,93,54,832.65)
7 Total assets Rs. 11,89,91,631.82
8 Total Liabilities Rs. 13,58,46,464.47
9 Investments Nil

10 Turnover/Income Rs. 9,05,928.00
11 Profit before taxation Rs. (8,12,493.82)
12 Provision for taxation Nil
13 Profit after taxation Rs. (8,12,493.82)
14 Proposed Dividend Nil
15 % of shareholding 100.00% (Wholly owned Subsidiary)

Notes: The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1.	 Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations

2.	 Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year.

There are no subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations. Further, no subsidiaries have been liquidated or sold 
during the financial year under review.
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Part “B”: Associates and Joint VenturesStatement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related 
to Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

S. No. Name of Associates & Joint Ventures Name 1 
1 Latest audited Balance Sheet Date N.A.
2 Shares of associates /Joint Ventures held by the company on the year end N.A.

i)	 No. N.A.
ii)	 Amount of Investments in Associates/ Joint Ventures N.A.
iii)	 Extend of Holding N.A.

3 Description of how there is significant influence N.A.
4 Reason why the associates /Joint ventures is not consolidated N.A.
5 Net worth attributable to shareholding as per latest audited balance sheet N.A.
6 Profit/ Loss for the year N.A.

i)	 Considered in consolidation N.A.
ii)	 Not Considered in consolidation N.A.

Notes: The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1.	 Names of associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations.
2.	 Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the year.

There are no associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations. Further, no associates or joint ventures 
have been liquidated or sold during the financial year under review.

(Sanjeev Goel)                                      			   (Shalini Rahul)   
Managing Director                               			    Director              
(DIN: 00028702)                                     			   (DIN: 09357650)                          

                 

(Vinod Kumar)                     		              		  (Niharika Gupta)
Chief Financial Officer           		              		  Company Secretary
PAN: AOCPK5016J			               		  M. No. A59325

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 13, 2025



STATUTORY SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2520

INDIAN ECONOMIC REVIEW:
Following India’s continued emergence as a global economic 
powerhouse, the country has demonstrated remarkable 
resilience and growth momentum throughout FY 2024-25. 
India’s real GDP growth for FY 2024-25 is estimated at 
6.4 percent, supported by agriculture and services, with 
stable private consumption. The economy has maintained 
its position as one of the fastest-growing major economies 
globally, driven by robust domestic demand, strong 
manufacturing performance, and a thriving services sector.

India’s sustained GDP growth remains among the fastest 
in major economies, underpinned by its expanding 
industrial output, a thriving services sector, and ongoing 
digital transformation. The country’s attractiveness as an 
investment destination has further strengthened, supported 
by its massive scale of operations, abundant skilled talent 
pool, and continued prowess in technology and innovation.

India’s stock markets have shown resilience despite global 
uncertainties. The Nifty 50 index has demonstrated relative 
stability, maintaining its position as a key barometer of 
India’s economic health. Current Account Deficit (CAD) 
remained manageable at 1.2% of GDP in Q2 FY25 due 
to robust remittance inflows and a services trade surplus. 
India continues to strengthen its position in global trade, with 
the services sector maintaining its competitive edge and 
contributing significantly to export earnings.

Foreign direct investment (FDI) inflows increased by 17.9% 
in the first eight months of FY25, reaching Rs. 4,81,663 crore 
(US$ 55.6 billion). This demonstrates continued confidence 
from international investors in India’s growth trajectory and 
policy framework. The IMF projects India to become a USD 
5 trillion economy by FY28 and USD 6.3 trillion by FY30, 
with a nominal GDP growth rate of 10.2% (FY25-FY30).

NBFC SEGMENT IN INDIA:
The Indian NBFC sector has continued to play a crucial role 
in the country’s financial ecosystem throughout FY 2024-25. 
The Non-Banking Financial Companies (NBFCs) sector in 
India has undergone remarkable growth, establishing itself as 
a significant player within the country’s financial landscape. 
The sector has demonstrated remarkable adaptability and 
resilience, leveraging technology and innovation to serve 
diverse customer segments.

NBFCs have maintained their vital role as the primary 
source of finance for large segments of the population, 
particularly MSMEs and economically underserved 
communities. They have continued to excel in providing 
tailored financial solutions with their extensive geographical 
reach, deep understanding of varied financial requirements, 
and extremely fast turnaround times. Analysts expect large, 
diversified NBFCs to deliver 10-30% earnings growth vs 
0-20% for banks in FY25.

The sector has witnessed significant transformation with 
the increasing adoption of digital technologies, neo-banking 
solutions, enhanced UPI penetration, and mobile banking 

services. In 2024, Indian corporates raised Rs. 58,120 crore 
(US$ 6.77 billion) through over 230 private credit deals, with 
NBFCs being active participants. This growth trajectory is 
expected to continue with the total for private credit deals, 
including those by NBFCs, expected to reach up to Rs. 
85,850 crore (US$ 10 billion) in 2025.

The regulatory environment has continued to evolve, with 
RBI maintaining its focus on ensuring robust governance 
and risk management practices across NBFCs. Despite 
regulatory challenges, the sector has shown strong 
fundamentals with improved capital adequacy, better asset 
quality, and enhanced operational efficiencies.

MICRO, SMALL AND MEDIUM ENTERPRISES (MSME):
The MSME sector has remained the backbone of India’s 
economy throughout FY 2024-25, with more than 6.30 
crore enterprises emerging as a highly vibrant and dynamic 
sector of the Indian economy, fostering entrepreneurship 
and generating employment opportunities at comparatively 
lower capital cost, next only to agriculture.

The Government of India has continued its strong support 
for the MSME sector through various initiatives and policy 
measures. The Ministry of MSMEs has been allocated 
INR 22,137.95 Cr under the interim Budget 2024-
25 for implementing various schemes and technology 
upgrades. The sector has benefited significantly from 
digital transformation initiatives, with schemes like the 
Digital MSME Scheme empowering all MSMEs registered 
with the Udyam registration portal to adopt Information 
Communication Technology (ICT) tools and applications in 
their production and operations.

Key government initiatives that have supported the sector 
include the enhanced MUDRA loan limits, with the MUDRA 
loan limit for MSMEs increased from Rs. 10 lakh to Rs. 20 
lakh for those who have successfully repaid their previous 
loans. The “Raising and Accelerating MSME Performance” 
(RAMP) scheme, launched in 2022, has benefitted 4 lakh 
micro, small, and medium enterprises, with women-owned 
businesses making up over 38% of the registered MSMEs.

To provide an assured market support to the Micro and 
Small Enterprises in the country, the Ministry of MSME has 
maintained the Public Procurement Policy for Micro and 
Small Enterprises (MSEs), which mandates 25% annual 
procurement from MSEs by Central Ministries/Departments/
Central Public Sector Enterprises (CPSEs). A total of Rs. 
37,190.02 crore (38.39%) was procured from MSEs during 
the year 2024-25, benefitting 1,15,481 MSEs.

NBFCs have continued to play a pivotal role in supporting 
MSME growth by providing customized financial solutions, 
leveraging technology for efficient credit assessment, and 
offering quick disbursement of funds. The collaboration 
between NBFCs and fintech players has further enhanced 
the reach and efficiency of MSME financing.

OPPORTUNITIES AND THREAT:
Your Company is committed to addressing the changes 

Annexure B

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT 
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boosted by its strengths in market position, agile execution 
capabilities, robust early warning systems and extensive 
use of analytics for risk mitigation and resource allocation. 
The successful completion of the One Time Settlement 
(OTS) with lenders and full repayment has significantly 
strengthened the Company’s financial position and provided 
a solid foundation for future growth. It will ensure to take 
advantage of the tailwinds that may emerge during the 
course of the year.

The stringent RBI and other regulatory norms governing the 
functioning of NBFC and certain government restrictions 
acts as hindrance in smooth functioning of NBFC.

SEGMENT-WISE OR PRODUCT-WISE PERFORMANCE 
OF THE COMPANY:
The Company operates in single segment, i.e. providing 
loans and finance in India. The revenue from operations 
from the aforesaid sector during the year was Rs. 436.53 
Lacs.

RISK MANAGEMENT:
The Company prioritises risk management to protect the 
interest of customers, colleagues, shareholders, and the 
Company while ensuring sustainable growth. Our risk 
management framework aligns with industry standards, and 
a strong control framework forms the foundation for effective 
risk management. The Risk Management Committee 
identifies major risk classes, including Credit, Market, legal 
and regulatory, operational, liquidity, interest rate, cyber 
security, information technology, strategic, and economic 
risks.

We address increasingly complex risks through our risk 
management system, which conducts risk analysis and 
implements preventive measures. Our risk-focussed 
culture is supported by standards, guidelines, processes, 
procedures, and controls. Policies are reviewed and 
approved by the Board and its Committees encompassing 
independent identification, assessment, and management 
of risk across business verticals.

Our philosophy is to ensure a sustainable and ethical 
business environment, reflected in our risk management 
practices.

Further, the company has always maintained strict credit 
norms and processes to ensure financial assistance is 
granted only to able borrowers.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND THEIR 

ADEQUACY:
The Company has a well-defined organisational structure, 
documented policy guidelines, and a defined authority 
matrix that ensures efficiency of operations, compliance with 
internal policies and applicable laws and regulations, as well 
as protection of resources. The Company believes that a 
strong internal control system and processes play a critical 
role in the day-to-day operations of the Company.

To this end, the Company has put in place an effective 
internal control system to synchronise its business 
processes, operations, financial reporting, fraud control, 
and compliance with extant regulatory guidelines and 
compliance parameters. Strict internal control and systems 
are devised as a depiction of the principles of the highest 
standards of governance. The Company ensures that a 
standard and effective internal control framework operates 
throughout the organisation, providing assurance about 
safekeeping of the assets and execution of transactions as 
per the authorisation in compliance with the internal control 
policies of the Company.

The internal control system is supplemented by extensive 
internal audits, regular reviews by the management and 
standard policies and guidelines, which ensure reliability of 
financial and all other records. The Management periodically 
reviews the framework, efficacy, and operating effectiveness 
of the Internal Financial Controls of the Company.

The Internal Audit reports are periodically reviewed by the 
Audit Committee. The Company has, in material respect, an 
adequate internal financial control over financial reporting 
and such controls are operating effectively. Internal Audits 
are carried out to review the adequacy of the internal control 
systems, compliance with policies and procedures. Internal 
Audit areas are planned based on inherent risk assessment, 
risk score and other factors such as probability, impact, 
significance and strength of the control environment. Its 
adequacy is assessed, and the operating effectiveness was 
also tested. The Company has framed risk-based internal 
audit policy as part of its oversight function. The objective 
of risk-based internal audit review is to identify the key 
activities and controls in the business processes, review 
effectiveness of business processes and controls, assess 
the operating effectiveness of internal controls and provide 
recommendations for business process and internal control 
improvement.

DISCUSSION ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
Details of the Company’s financial performance on 
standalone basis for the last two years is as follows:(Amount in Lacs)

Year Total Revenue Profit/ Loss after Tax EPS

2023-24 379.68 (1,369.10) (7.45)

2024-25 436.53 30.04 0.16

MATERIAL DEVELOPMENTS IN HUMAN RESOURCES / INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS FRONT, INCLUDING NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE EMPLOYED:
Human resources are a valuable asset for any organization. The Company is committed to create an environment of constant 
learning and development, drive an effective and transparent performance culture and build a culture of appreciation & 
transparent communication. The Company is giving emphasis to upgrade the skills of its human resources. This is in 
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keeping with its policy of enhancing the individual’s growth 
potential within the framework of corporate goals. Total 
number of employees as on 31st March 2025 stood at 40.

DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT CHANGES (I.E. CHANGE OF 
25% OR MORE AS COMPARED TO THE IMMEDIATELY 

PREVIOUS FINANCIAL YEAR) IN KEY FINANCIAL 
RATIOS, ALONG WITH DETAILED EXPLANATIONS 
THEREFORE, INCLUDING:
Following are the details of significant changes in the key 
financial ratios as compared to the immediately previous 
financial year:

Particular F.Y. 2024-
2025

F.Y. 2023-
2024

Difference 
between FY

% in change 
from the last FY

Reason (if more than 25% 
change)

(i) Debtor Turnover NA NA NA NA NA

(ii) Inventory 
Turnover NA NA NA NA NA

(iii) Interest 
Coverage Ratio 2.07 (74.96) 77.03 103% Due to decrease in loan 

liabilities after OTS

(iv) Current Ratio 0.17 1.21 -1.04 -86% Due to requirement of funds 
for OTS obligation

(v) Debt Equity 
Ratio 1.14 1.55 -0.41 -26% Due to decrease in loan 

liabilities after OTS

(vi) Operating 
Profit Margin (%) NA NA NA NA NA

(vii) Net Profit/Loss 
Margin (%) 6.88% -360% 366.88% 101.91%

Due to turnaround from loss 
to profit and successful OTS 
completion

DETAILS OF ANY CHANGE IN RETURN ON NET WORTH

Particulars For the Financial Year 
2024-25

For the Financial Year 
2023-24

For the Financial Year 
2022-23

Net worth:

Share Capital 1836.63 1836.63 1836.63

Statutory Reserve 1874.51 1868.50 1868.50

Securities Premium 8843.84 8843.84 8843.84

Surplus in P & L (11523.97) (11548.00) (7296.69)

OCI/(Loss) 0.99 2.33 0.23

Total Net worth 1032.00 1003.30 5252.51

PAT 30.04 (1369.10) (2663.69)

Return on Net worth 2.91% (136.46)% -50.71%

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT
This report contains forward-looking statements extracted from reports of Government Authorities/ Bodies, Industry 
Associations etc. available on the public domain which may involve risks and uncertainties including, but not limited to, 
economic conditions, government policies, dependence on certain businesses and other factors. Actual results, performance 
or achievements could differ materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements. This report 
should be read in conjunction with the financial statements included herein and the notes thereto. The Company does not 
undertake to update these statements.
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Annexure C
Details under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 for the financial year ended 31st March, 2025

Pursuant to Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 as amended the statistical analysis of the remuneration paid to 
Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) as against the other employees of the company and with respect to the 
performance of the company (PAT) is given below:-

1.	 The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median remuneration of the employees of the company for the 
financial year 2024-25-

Name of Director Designation Ratio*
Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director NA
Mr. Surender Kumar Goel#,## Non- Executive Independent Director 0.08:1
Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi# Non-Executive Independent Director 0.08:1
Ms. Shilpy Chopra # Non-Executive Independent Woman Director 0.25:1
Ms. Shalini Rahul # Non-Executive Independent Woman Director 0.22:1
Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh# Non-Executive Independent Director 0.22:1
Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi#,### Non-Executive Independent Director 0.17:1
Ms. Ursala Joshi#,#### Non-Executive Non-Independent Director 0.14:1
Mr. Vinod Kumar##### Executive Director 0.00:1

 Note: 

 * For calculating ratio, remuneration includes the sitting fees paid during the F.Y. 2024-25.

 # The remuneration consists of sitting fees paid during the F.Y. 2024-25.

## Mr. Surender Kumar Goel and Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi completed their term as Independent Directors and 
ceased to be Directors w.e.f 06.08.2024

### Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi was appointed as Director of the Company w.e.f 06.08.2024

#### Ms. Ursala Joshi was appointed Director of the Company w.e.f 14.08.2024

##### Mr. Vinod Kumar was appointed as Director of the Company w.e.f 06.08.2024 and resigned w.e.f 14.08.2024

2.	 The percentage increase in remuneration of each director, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer, Company 
Secretary or Manager, if any, in the financial year 2024-25:-

•	 There is no increase in remuneration of the Managing Director;

•	 There is a 5.29% increase in remuneration of the Chief Financial Officer;

•	 There is a 1.09% increase in remuneration of the Company Secretary;

(a)	 Ms. Radhika Garg resigned as the Company Secretary and Compliance Officer of the Company w.e.f from 
August 5, 2024. There was a 5% increase in her remuneration during FY 24-25.

(b)	 Ms. Pankhuri Garg was appointed as the Company Secretary and Compliance Officer of the Company w.e.f. 
November 29, 2024 and there was no increase in her remuneration during FY 2024-25;

	 Since none of the other Independent Directors and Non-Executive Non-Independent were paid remuneration in the 
financial year 2023-24 and 2024-25, therefore there is no increase in remuneration, during the year.

3.	 The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees in the financial year 2024-25:-0.29%

4.	 The number of active permanent employees on the payroll of company at year end – 40

5.	 Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the last 
financial year and its comparison with the percentile increase in the managerial remuneration and justification thereof 
and point out if there are any exceptional circumstances for increase in the managerial remuneration:-

Average % increase in the salary of employees other than Managerial Personnel: - 

2024-25 – 2.97%
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Average % increase in the Salary of the Managerial Personnel:-

2024-25 – 2.13%
Affirmation: 
We hereby confirm that the remuneration paid to employees is as per the remuneration policy of the company.

The statement containing names of top ten employees in terms of remuneration drawn and the particulars of 
employees as required under Section 197(12) of the Act read with Rule 5 (2) and (3) of the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, as given below:-

Employee 
Name Designation Nature of 

duties/role
Qualifi

cations & 
age 

Expe
rience   

date of 
Joining Last Employer

Remun
eration 

received

the % of 
equity 
shares 

held by the 
employee 

in the 
company 

whether any 
such employee 
is a relative of 
any director or 
manager of the 
company and 
if so, name of 

such director or 
manager

Arvind 
Kumar 
Jha*

Associate 
Vice 

President
Head - 
NCLT

LL.B
46 Years

20 
Years 10.09.2021

Asset 
Reconstruction 

Company (I) 
Limited

25,26,095 Nil No

Pranav 
Goel

Chief 
Manager

Chief 
Manager-
IT Infra & 
Software

BBA
32 Years

10 
Years 1.05.2020 Modern Credit 

Private Limited
                   
22,08,000 0.18%

Son of Mr. 
Sanjeev Goel 

(Managing 
Director)

Dhruv 
Goel

Chief 
Manager

Chief 
Manager-
Finance & 

Legal

BA 
Economics 
30 Years

8 Years 01.08.2020 Modern Credit 
Private Limited

                   
17,96,244 0.18%

Son of Mr. 
Sanjeev Goel 

(Managing 
Director)

Anju 
Srivastava

Chief 
Manager

Chief 
Manager- 
Finance & 
Accounts

B.Com
48 Years

26 
Years 01.08.1998

Kanha 
Vanaspati 

Limited
                   
16,39,284 Nil No

Dinesh 
Negi

Chief 
Manager

Chief 
Manager- 

Legal 
Collections

B.Com
50 Years

11 
Years 24.11.2014 Nilhal Buildwell 

Pvt. Ltd.
                   
13,92,960 Nil No

Vijay 
Madan

Senior 
Manager  

Finance & 
Accounts

B.Com
50 Years

13 
Years 01.08.2011

Intec Share and 
Stock Brokers 

Limited
               
8,96,460

Nil No

Vinod 
Kumar

Deputy 
Manager Finance & 

Accounts
B. Com

57 Years
35 

years 11.01.1996 ITP (PVT) LTD 7,71,408 Nil No

Shikha 
Kadyan* Manager Manager - 

Legal

LL.B/ 
M.com/

CS
33 Years

9 Years 01.04.2022
Renaissance 

Capital 
Advisors Pvt 

Ltd
7,12,129 Nil No

Radha 
Krishna 
Parida

Manager Finance & 
Accounts

B. Com
50 years

21 
Years 01.02.2006

Atex Shopping 
Plaza Private 

Limited
6,86,700 Nil No

Vyas 
Mehul 
Mahen
drabhai

Deputy 
Manager Collections 12th

46 Years
19 

Years 23.07.2018 JD Finance 
Limited 6,56,016 Nil No

*Not employed with the company as of 31.03.25

Statement of particulars of employees pursuant to the provisions of Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with Rule 5(2) & (3) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 
for the financial year ended 31st March, 2025.

A.     Employed throughout the financial year , was in receipt of remuneration for that year which, in the aggregate, was not 
less than one crore and two lakh rupees 

Rule Rule Description Details
5(2) Name of such employee Mr. Sanjeev Goel
5(3) (i) Designation of such employee Managing Director
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5(3) (ii) remuneration received NA
5(3) (iii) nature of employment, whether contractual or otherwise Executive Director

5(3) (iv) qualifications and experience of the employee CA, MBA (Finance)
32 years of experience

5(3) (v) date of commencement of employment 15/02/1994
5(3) (vi) the age of such employee 61 years 

5(3) (vii) the last employment held by such employee before joining the 
company NIL

5(3) (viii)
the percentage of equity shares held by the employee in the 
company within the meaning of  clause (iii) of sub-rule (2) 
above

3.51%

5(3) (ix)
whether any such employee is a relative of any director or 
manager of the company and if so, name of such director or 
manager

Mr. Pranav Goel, (Manger- IT & Infra) & 
Mr. Dhruv Goel, (Manager – Finance & 
legal) are relatives (Son) of Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel.

B.     Employed for a part of the financial year, was in receipt of remuneration for any part of that year, at a rate which, in 
the aggregate, was not less than eight lakh and fifty thousand rupees per month;

Rule Rule Description Details
5(2) Name of such employee -
5(3) (i) Designation of such employee -
5(3) (ii) remuneration received -
5(3) (iii) nature of employment, whether contractual or otherwise -
5(3) (iv) qualifications and experience of the employee -
5(3) (v) date of commencement of employment -
5(3) (vi) the age of such employee -

5(3) (vii) the last employment held by such employee before joining the 
company -

5(3) (viii) the percentage of equity shares held by the employee in the 
company within the meaning of clause (iii) of sub-rule (2) above -

5(3) (ix) whether any such employee is a relative of any director or manager 
of the company and if so, name of such director or manager -

C.   Employed throughout the financial year or part thereof, was in receipt of remuneration in that year  which, in the 
aggregate, or as the case may be, at a rate which, in the aggregate, is in excess of that drawn by the managing director 
or whole-time director or manager and holds by himself or along with his spouse and dependent children, not less than 
two percent of the equity shares of the company.

Rule Rule Description Details
5(2) Name of such employee -
5(3) (i) Designation of such employee -
5(3) (ii) remuneration received -
5(3) (iii) nature of employment, whether contractual or otherwise -
5(3) (iv) qualifications and experience of the employee -
5(3) (v) date of commencement of employment -
5(3) (vi) the age of such employee -

5(3) (vii) the last employment held by such employee before joining the 
company -

5(3) (viii) the percentage of equity shares held by the employee in the 
company within the meaning of clause (iii) of sub-rule (2) above -

5(3) (ix) whether any such employee is a relative of any director or manager 
of the company and if so, name of such director or manager -
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Corporate governance is about promoting fairness, 
transparency, accountability, commitment to values, ethical 
business conduct and about considering all stakeholders’ 
interest while conducting business.
In accordance with the provisions of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
and amendments thereto, (the ‘SEBI Listing Regulations’), 
given below are the corporate governance policies and 
practices of Intec Capital Limited (the ‘Company’) for FY 
2024-2025. 
This report outlines compliance with requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2013, as amended (the ‘Act’) and the SEBI 
Listing Regulations, as applicable to the Company. As will 
be seen, the Company’s corporate governance practices 
and disclosures are well beyond complying with the 
minimum statutory and regulatory requirements stipulated 
in the applicable laws. Intec Capital Limited (‘the Company’) 
is obligated to maximize shareholders’ value over the long 
term, while preserving the interests of all its stakeholders, 
such as customers, business partners/vendors, employees 
and the society at large. Your Company is committed to high 
levels of ethics and integrity in all its business dealings, 
devoid of all conflicts of interest.
OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PHILOSOPHY
Our corporate governance is a reflection of our value system, 
encompassing our culture, policies, and relationships with 
our stakeholders. Integrity and transparency are key to 
our corporate governance practices and performance, and 
ensure that we gain and retain the trust of our stakeholders 
at all times. 
Corporate governance is an ethically-driven business 
process that is committed to values aimed at enhancing an 
organization’s capacity to create wealth. This is ensured 
by taking ethical business decisions and conducting 
business with a firm commitment to values, while meeting 
stakeholders’ expectations. At Intec Capital, it is imperative 
that our Company affairs are managed in a fair and 
transparent manner. This is vital to gain and retain the trust 
of our stakeholders.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS:
The Board of Directors (‘Board’) and its Committees play 
significant role in upholding and furthering the principles 
of good governance which translates into ethical business 
practices, transparency and accountability in creating long-
term stakeholder value.
Keeping with the commitment to the principle of integrity 
and transparency in business operations for good corporate 
governance, the Company’s policy is to have an appropriate 
blend of independent and non-independent directors to 

maintain the independence of the Board and to separate the 
Board functions of governance and management. 
The responsibilities of the Board, inter alia, include 
formulation of overall strategy for the Company, reviewing 
major plan of actions, setting performance objectives, laying 
down the Code of Conduct for all members of the Board 
and Senior Management, formulating policies, performance 
review, monitoring due compliance with applicable laws, 
reviewing and approving the financial results, enhancing 
corporate governance practices and ensuring the best 
interest of the shareholders, the community, environment 
and its various stakeholders.
Composition of the Board:
Your Company has an optimum mix of Executive, Non-
Executive and Independent Directors which is essential 
to effectuate the two main functions of the Board viz. 
Governance and Management. During the year under 
review, the Company has complied with the provisions 
relating to corporate governance as provided under 
the Listing Regulations (hereinafter, “SEBI LODR”), the 
Companies Act, 2013 and also in terms of Guidelines as 
issued by Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”) with respect to 
Composition of Board.
As on March 31, 2025, the Board of the Company consisted of 
6 (Six) directors, of whom 1 (one) was Executive (Managing 
Director), 4 (Four) were Non-Executive Independent 
(including two-woman directors) and 1 was a Non-Executive 
Non-Independent Director.
All the Independent Directors have confirmed that they 
meet the ‘independence’ criteria as mentioned under 
regulation 16(1)(b) of the SEBI LODR and section 149 of 
the Companies Act, 2013. None of the Directors is related to 
each other and there are no inter-se relationships between 
the Directors. 
The Board of Directors of your Company consists of 
professionals from varied disciplines and possesses 
adequate knowledge and skills. 
Detailed profile of the Directors is available on the Company’s 
website at https://www.inteccapital.com/about-us/board-of-
directors/profile-of-directors/
Resignation of Independent Director: 
“During the financial year under review, Mr. Surender Kumar 
Goel and Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi completed their tenure as 
Independent Director on 6th August 2024 and accordingly, 
ceased to be Independent Director thereafter.”
As Table 1 shows, the Company is in compliance with the 
SEBI Listing Regulations.

Annexure D
REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

(In compliance with Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015)



STATUTORY SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2527

Table 1: Composition and category of Board of Directors as on 31st March, 2025

S. 
No. Name Designation Category DIN Date of 

joining Board 

1. Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director Executive 
Director 00028702 15/02/1994

2. Ms. Shilpy Chopra Non-Executive Independent 
Woman Director

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

07161915 12/05/2021

3. Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive Independent 
Woman Director

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

09357650 13/10/2021

4. Mr. Kanwar Nitin 
Singh

Non-Executive Independent 
Director

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

10204543 17/06/2023

5. Mr. Arjunn Kumar 
Tyagi

Non-Executive Independent 
Director

Non-Executive 
Independent 
Director

02967667 06/08/2024

6. Ms. Ursala Joshi Non-Executive Non-
Independent Director

Non-Executive 
Non-Independent 
Director

08810331 14/08/2024

As per the requirement under SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015, none of the Directors on the Board is a Member of more 
than 10 Committees and Chairperson of more than 5 Committees (Committees being Audit Committee and Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee as per Regulation 26(1) of the Listing Regulations), across all public companies in which he/she 
is a Director. The required disclosures regarding their position in the committees have been duly attained by the Company. 

Furthermore, as per the requirement laid under section 165(1) of Companies Act, 2013 none of the Directors hold office in 
more than 20 companies and in more than 10 public companies. 

Also, in terms of Regulation 17A of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015, no Director holds Directorships in more than 7 listed 
companies and none of the Director serves as Independent Director in more than 7 listed companies.
Other Directorship and Attendance of Directors:

The number of Directorship and Committees Chairmanship/Membership held by the Directors as on March 31, 2025 are 
given hereunder:

Name Date of 
Appointment

Category of 
Director

No. of 
Directorships 
in other 
Companies * 

No. of other Committee 
Memberships/ 
Chairmanships**

Directorship held 
in Other Listed 
Companies and 
Category of 
Directorship        

Chairperson M	 Member

Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel 15/02/1994 Managing 

Director 2 Nil Nil Nil

Ms. Shilpy 
Chopra 12/05/2021 Independent 

Director 2 Nil 2

1. Cranex Limited, 
Independent Director
2. Tradewell Holdings 
Limited, Independent 

Director

Ms. Shalini 
Rahul 13/10/2021 Independent 

Director 2 Nil 1

1. Magnum Ventures 
Limited, Independent 

Director
2. Cranex Limited, 

Independent Director
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Mr. Kanwar 
Nitin Singh 17/06/2023 Independent 

Director 4 Nil 1
1.	 Kaizen Agro 
Infrabuild Limited, 

Independent Director

Mr. Arjunn 
Kumar Tyagi 06.08.2024 Independent 

Director Nil Nil Nil Nil

Ms. Ursala 
Joshi 14.08.2024 Independent 

Director 2 Nil Nil Nil

* Excludes Directorships/Chairpersonships in Associations, Private Limited Companies, Foreign Companies, Government 
Bodies, Companies registered under Section 8 of the Act and Alternate Directorships. 

**Represents Chairpersonships/Memberships of Audit and Stakeholders Relationship Committees in all companies as 
required under Regulation 26(1)(b) of the Listing Regulations.

The Thirtieth (30th) Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) of the Company for the Financial Year (‘FY’) 2023-24 was held on 
Thursday, September 26, 2024. All the Directors of the Company were present at the 30th AGM. The Board met Nine times 
on the dates presented below, during the FY 2024-25 and the gap between two meetings at any time did not exceed 120 
days. The quorum required was present for all the Board Meetings.

The details of names and categories of Directors on the Board, during the Financial Year 2024-25, their attendance at Board 
Meetings held during the Financial Year 2024-25 and at the last Annual General Meeting are given hereunder:

Name 
and 

Category 

Attendance at the Board Meetings held on No. of meetings held 
during FY 2024-25 

(Nine)
Whether 
attended 
the AGM

Attendance
(%)

No. of 
shares 

held in the 
company

May 
29th 

2024

June 
21st

 2024

Aug, 
06th 

2024

Aug, 
14th

2024

Nov 
14th 

2024

Nov 
29th 

2024

Jan 
07th 

2025

Jan 
20th 

2025

Feb 
13th 

2025
Entitled 
to attend Attended

Managing Director
Mr. 

Sanjeev 
Goel

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 9 9 ✔ 100.00 6,44,464

Mr. 
Surender 

Kumar 
Goel

✔ ✔ ✔ N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 3 3 N.A. 100.00 -

Mr. 
Rakesh 
Kumar 
Joshi

✔ ✔ ✔ N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 3 3 N.A. 100.00 -

Ms. 
Shilpy 

Chopra
✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 9 9 ✔ 100.00 -

Ms. 
Shalini 
Rahul

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ AB 9 8 ✔ 88.88 -

Mr. 
Kanwar 

Nitin 
Singh

✔ ✔ AB ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 9 8 AB 88.88 -

Mr. 
Arjunn 
Kumar 
Tyagi

N.A. N.A. N.A. ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 6 6 ✔ 100.00 -

Mr. Vinod 
Kumar N.A. N.A. N.A. ✔ N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 1 1 N.A. 100.00 -

Ms. 
Ursala 
Joshi

N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 5 5 ✔ 100.00 -

Core skills/expertise/competencies:

A brief profile of the Directors is available on the website of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/about-us/board-
of-directors/profile-of-directors/.

As stipulated under schedule V to the SEBI Listing Regulations, core skills/expertise/competencies as required in the 
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context of the business and sector for it to function effectively and those actually available with the Board have been 
identified by the Board of Directors.

The Chart/matrix of such core skills/expertise/competencies, along with the names of Directors who possess such skills is 
given below:

Name of the 
Director

Core skills/expertise/competencies

Financial 
Services

Leadership Technology
Risk, Assurance 

and Internal 
Controls 

Understanding of 
accounting and 

financial statements

Business 
Transformation & 

Strategy
Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes

Mr. Arjunn 
Kumar Tyagi Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Ms. Ursala 
Joshi Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Ms. Shilpy 
Chopra Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes

Ms. Shalini 
Rahul Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes

Mr. Kanwar 
Nitin Singh Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No

Non-executive directors’ compensation: 

During FY 2024-2025, sitting fees of ₹ 10,000 per meeting was paid to Non-executive Independent Directors for every 
meeting of the Board attended by them.

Inter-se Relation among Directors:

There is No Inter-se Relationship among the directors of the Company.
Shareholding of Non-Executive Directors as on March 31, 2025:

None of the Non-Executive Director holds any Shares in the Company. The Company has not issued any convertible 
instruments.
Conduct of Board Proceedings:

The development of Company’s vision, strategic direction and evaluates the management policies and their effectiveness is 
made under the guidance of the Board. The meetings of the Board are conducted at regular intervals in order to discuss and 
decide on business strategies/policies and review the financial performance of the Company from time to time.

The dates of the Board Meetings are fixed well in advance and intimated to the Board members to enable the Directors 
to plan their schedules accordingly. The agenda papers are circulated to the Directors in advance before the meeting. 
However, certain exigent proposals are tabled at the Board Meeting under “Any other items” of the Board Agenda with the 
approval of the Chairman and consent of all the Directors present.

The Company Secretary attends all the meetings of the Board and its Committees and is, inter alia, responsible for recording 
the minutes of such meetings. The agenda and related information is circulated through electronic mode. This has reduced 
paper consumption, thereby enhancing the sustainability efforts of the Company. Video conferencing facility is provided to 
facilitate Directors who are unable to attend the Meeting in person.

CEO and CFO Certification:

Since, the company does not have any CEO, therefore, to ensure compliance of the provision certificate is provided by MD 
and CFO. The Chief Financial Officer and Managing Director of the Company have certified to the Board every quarter, 
on the matter relating to the Financial Statements/Results and other matter in accordance with Regulation 33(2)(a) of the 
Listing Regulations and the Compliance officer has also certified on quarterly basis to Audit Committee and Board of the 
Directors on statutory compliances to be made under all laws applicable to the Company. 

As required under Regulation 17 read with Part B of Schedule II of the Listing Regulations, the MD and CFO certification 
on the Financial Statements, the Cash Flow Statement, and the Internal Control Systems for financial reporting has been 
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obtained from Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director and Mr. Vinod Kumar, Chief Financial Officer. The said certificate is 
annexed as Annexure 1 to this report.

Code of Conduct:

The Code of Conduct aims at ensuring consistent standards of conduct and ethical business practices across the Company. 
The Company has laid down the Code of Conduct which is applicable to all its Directors whether executive or non-executive 
which can be accessed on the website of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/. The Board has also laid down a 
Code of Conduct for the Non-executive Directors of the Company, which incorporates the duties of Independent Directors as 
laid down in Schedule IV to the Act which can be accessed on the website of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/.

All the Board Members and the Senior Management Personnel as on March 31, 2025, have affirmed compliance with the 
Code of Conduct. A certificate to that effect is annexed as Annexure 2.

Certificate from Practicing Company Secretary: 

The Company has received a certificate from M/s. Arpit Garg & Associates, Practicing Company Secretary, to the effect that 
none of the directors on the Board of the Company has been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as 
director of the Company by SEBI/Ministry of Corporate Affairs (‘MCA’) or such other statutory authority. The said certificate 
is annexed as Annexure 3 to this report.

Review of legal compliance reports: 

The Board periodically reviews compliance reports with respect to the various laws applicable to the Company, as prepared 
and placed before it by the Management.

Maximum tenure of independent directors:

In terms of the Companies Act, Independent Directors shall hold office for a term of up to five consecutive years on the board 
of a company but shall be eligible for re-appointment on passing of a special resolution by the Company and disclosure of 
such appointment in the board’s report. The tenure of the independent Directors is in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act.

Independent Directors and confirmation of independence:

The Board of the Company comprises of four Non- Executive Independent Directors which formulates 66.66% of the total 
strength of the Board. 

The Non-Executive Independent Directors fulfill the conditions of independence specified in Section 149(6) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations. The terms and conditions stating the appointment of Independent Directors are in 
accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing Regulations. 

The Independent Directors have submitted declarations that they meet the criteria of independence as provided in Regulation 
16(1)(b) of the SEBI Listing Regulations and that they are not aware of any circumstance or situation, which exist or may 
be reasonably anticipated, that could impair or impact their ability to discharge their duties with an objective independent 
judgement and without any external influence.

Meetings of Independent Directors: 

A meeting of the Independent Directors of the Company was held on March 24, 2025 without the presence of non-
independent Directors and the members of the management, and the meetings was held in compliance with Schedule IV to 
the Act and Regulation 25(3) of SEBI Listing Regulations.

Familiarization Program for Independent Directors:

Regulation 25(7) of the SEBI (LODR) Regulations mandates the Company to familiarize the Independent Directors with 
the Company, their roles, rights, responsibilities in the Company, nature of the industry in which the Company operates, 
business model of the Company, etc. through detailed presentations. The Independent Directors of the Company are 
familiarized through familiarization of major developments and updates on the Company and group, etc., throughout the 
year on an ongoing and continuous basis. Such programs/presentations also provide an opportunity to the Independent 
Directors to interact with the senior leadership team of the Company and help them to understand the Company’s strategy 
in a better manner. 

Details of familiarization programmmes are placed on the Company’s website and can be accessed at https://www.
inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Familiarization-Programme-for-Independent-Directors-1.pdf.
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Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism:

The Company has a Whistle Blower Policy encompassing Vigil Mechanism pursuant to the requirements of the section 
177(9) of the Act and regulation 22 of the SEBI Listing Regulations and meeting the requirements under applicable RBI 
regulations.

The Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism enables directors and employees to report confidentially to the Management, 
without fear of victimization, any unacceptable and/or unethical behavior, suspected or actual fraud, violation of the Company’s 
Code of Conduct or ethics policy and instances of leak or suspected leak of unpublished price sensitive information which 
are detrimental to the organization’s interest. It provides safeguards against victimization of directors/employees who avail 
of the mechanism and allows direct access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee in exceptional cases. It also allows them 
to share their inputs or raise their concerns anonymously at the dedicated link provided for it.

The policy has been appropriately communicated to the employees within the organization and has also been hosted on the 
Company’s website which can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Vigil-Mechanism-
and-WhistleBlower-Policy.pdf.

During FY 2024-2025, no employee was denied access to the Chairman of Audit Committee under this policy. Also, no 
complaints were received during the financial year 2024-2025.

Subsidiary Company:

The Company has only one wholly-owned Subsidiary Company viz. Amulet Technologies Limited and it’s a non-material 
Subsidiary Company within the meaning of the SEBI Listing Regulations. 

The Subsidiary Company is managed by their respective Board of Directors in the best interest of their stakeholders.

Provision of regulation 24 of the SEBI Listing Regulations relating to subsidiary companies, to the extent applicable, have 
been duly complied with.

Utilization of funds raised through preferential allotment/qualified institutions placement:

The Company has not raised funds by issue of equity shares either on preferential basis or through qualified institutions 
placement during FY 2024-2025. Therefore, there are no details are required to be disclosed as per regulation 32(7A) of 
SEBI Listing Regulations.

Related Party Transactions:

All related party transactions entered during FY 2024-2025 were on an arm’s length basis and were not material under the 
SEBI Listing Regulations except for the following: 

•	 remuneration of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company for which the Company has already obtained 
the approval of shareholders in the 27th Annual General Meeting held on 15th September, 2021 for three (3) Financial 
Years i.e. for Financial 2022–2023, 2023–2024 and 2024–2025;

•	 availing of credit facility from Modern Credit Private Limited for the financial year 2024–2025; 

•	 the approval of shareholders was accorded by way of postal ballot on November 17, 2023.

Particulars of the Contracts or Arrangements with related parties referred to in Section 188(1) in the format specified as Form 
AOC-2 forms part of this Report. Further, details of related party transactions are provided in Notes to Financial Statements.

Approval of the Audit Committee was obtained for all related party transactions entered during FY 2024-2025. Details of 
such transactions were placed before the Audit Committee for its noting/review on a quarterly basis.   

In pursuance of the applicable regulations of SEBI Listing Regulations, Disclosures relating to related party transactions are 
filed with the stock exchanges on a half-yearly basis.

During FY 2024-2025, there were no materially significant related party transactions entered into by the Company that may 
have potential conflict with the interests of the Company at large, further the Company has a policy on dealing with Related 
Party Transaction and has also been hosted on the Company’s website which can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.
com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/RPT-Policy-1.pdf.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD:

The constitution of Committees by the Board focus on specific areas and make informed decisions within the framework 
of delegated authority and make specific recommendations to the Board on matters within their areas or purview. The 
decisions and recommendations of the Committees are placed before the Board for information or for approval, as required. 
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The Committees operate as empowered agents of the Board as per their Charter/Terms of Reference. The minutes of 
the meetings of all Committees of the Board are placed before the Board for discussions/noting. The composition and 
functioning of these Committees are in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, SEBI LODR 
and also in consonance with the Corporate Governance Master Directions issued by the Reserve Bank of India for Non-
Deposit taking Non- systematically important NBFC’s. 

As on March 31, 2025, the following committees were in operation:

Audit Committee:

Pursuant to the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and NBFC Regulations, the Company has an Audit Committee, meeting the 
composition prescribed thereunder with a minimum of two-third of its members (including Chairman) being independent 
directors. All members are non–executive directors, are financially literate and have accounting or related financial 
management expertise. 

The Board reviews the working of the Committee from time to time to bring about greater effectiveness and to ensure 
compliance with the various requirements under the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and NBFC Regulations. 

The terms of reference of the Committee are in accordance with the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and NBFC Regulations. 
These broadly include oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process and disclosure of its financial information, 
review of financial statements, review of compliances and review of systems and controls, approval or any subsequent 
modification of transactions with related parties, review compliance with SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 
2015, as amended. The detailed terms of reference of the Committee can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-
content/uploads/2025/04/Committees-of-Board-along-with-Charter.pdf.

Meetings and attendance:

During FY 2024-2025, the Committee met 7 (Seven) times viz., on 29 May, 2024, 21 June, 2024, 14 Aug 2024, 14 November, 
2024, 07 Jan, 2025, 20 Jan, 2025 and 13 February, 2025. The meetings were scheduled well in advance and not more than 
one hundred and twenty days elapsed between any two consecutive meetings. The quorum as required under the statute 
was duly maintained during the meetings.

In addition to the members of the Audit Committee, these meetings were attended by Chief Financial Officer, internal auditor, 
representative of statutory auditors and other senior executives who were considered necessary for providing inputs to the 
Committee.

The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the Audit Committee.

The permanent Chairman of the Committee, Ms. Shalini Rahul was present at the AGM which was held through video 
conferencing (‘VC’) on 26th September, 2024 to answer members’ queries.

Composition of the Audit Committee and attendance record of the members for FY 2024-25

Name of the Director Category

No. of Meetings held 
during FY 2024-25 (7)

Entitled to 
attend Attended

Mr. Surender Kumar Goel
(Tenure ceased with effect from 06th 
August, 2024)

Chairman, Non-Executive, Independent 2 2

Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi (Tenure ceased 
with effect from 06th August 2024) Non-Executive, Independent 2 2

Ms. Shilpy Chopra Non-Executive, Independent 7 7
Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive, Independent 5 5

Mr. Vinod Kumar
(Appointed on Board with effect from 06th 
August, 2024 and ceased to be Director 
with effect from 14th August, 2024)

Additional Director and CFO 1 1

Ms. Ursala Joshi
(Appointed on Board with effect from 14th 
August, 2024)

Non-Executive, Non- Independent 4 4
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During FY 2024-2025, the Board had accepted all recommendations of the Committee.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee:

Pursuant to the Act, SEBI Listing Regulations and NBFC Regulations, the Company has constituted a Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee (‘NRC’), meeting the composition prescribed thereunder with a minimum of two-third of its 
members (including Chairman) being independent directors. All members of the Committee are non–executive directors. 

The terms of reference of the Committee, inter alia, includes formulation of criteria for determining qualifications, positive 
attributes and independence of a director, recommendation of persons to be appointed to the Board and senior management 
and specifying the manner for effective evaluation of performance of Board, its Committees, Chairperson and individual 
directors, recommendation of Remuneration Policy for directors, key managerial personnel and other employees, formulation 
of criteria for evaluation of performance of independent directors and the Board, devising a policy on Board diversity and 
such other matters as may be prescribed by Companies Act, Listing Regulations and NBFC Regulations. 

The detailed terms of reference of the Committee can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2025/04/Committees-of-Board-along-with-Charter.pdf.

Meetings and attendance

During FY 2024-2025, the Committee met 5 (Five) times viz., on 29 May, 2024, 06 Aug 2024, 14 August, 2024, 29 Nov 2024 
and 20 jan, 2025. The meetings were scheduled well in advance and not more than one hundred and twenty days elapsed 
between any two consecutive meetings. 

The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the NRC Committee.

The permanent Chairman of the Committee, Ms. Shalini Rahul was present at the AGM which was held through video 
conferencing (‘VC’) on 26th September, 2024 to answer members’ queries.

Composition of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and attendance record of the members for FY 2024-25:

Name of the Director Category

No. of Meetings held 
during FY 2024-25 (5)
Entitled 
to attend Attended

Mr. Surender Kumar Goel
(Tenure ceased with effect from 06th August, 2024) Chairman, Non-Executive, Independent 2 2

Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi (Tenure ceased with 
effect from 06th August, 2024) Non-Executive, Independent 2 2

Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive, Independent 5 5
Ms. Shilpy Chopra Non-Executive, Independent 3 3
Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh Non-Executive, Independent 3 1

During FY 2024-2025, the Board had accepted all recommendations of the Committee.

Asset Liability Cum Risk Management Committee:

Pursuant to the NBFC Regulations and SEBI Listing Regulations, the Company has constituted the Asset Liability cum Risk 
Management Committee (‘ALRMC’).

The terms of reference of the Committee are as follows:

1.	 Oversee the implementation of Risk Management Systems and Framework;

2.	 Review the Company’s financial and risk management policies;

3.	 Assess risk and procedures to minimize the same;

4.	 Framing, implementing and monitoring the risk management plan for the Company;

5.	 To identify, quantify, integrate, monitor, manage and control the different type of risks associated with NBFC.

6.	 To assist the Board of Directors in Balance Sheet planning, putting in place a progressive risk management system, 
developing a risk return perspective including the strategic management of interest and liquidity risk.
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Asset Liability Cum Risk Management Committee (ALRMC) was constituted by board of directors in its meeting held on 9th 
February, 2019 by merging the two existing Committees of the Board viz. Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO) 
and Risk Management Committee (RMC).

Meetings and attendance

During FY 2024-2025, the Committee met 1 (One) time viz., on 29 May, 2024. 

The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the NRC Committee.

Composition of the Asset Liability cum Risk Management Committee and attendance record of the members for 
FY 2024-25 

Name of the Director Category

No. of Meetings held 
during FY2024-25 (1)
Entitled 
to attend Attended

Mr. Sanjeev Goel Chairman, Managing Director 1 1
Mr. Surender Kumar Goel
(Tenure ceased with effect from 06th August, 2024) Non-Executive, Independent 1 1

Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi (Tenure ceased with effect from 
06th August, 2024) Non-Executive, Independent 1 1

Ms. Shilpy Chopra Non-Executive, Independent 1 1

During FY 2024-2025, the Board had accepted all recommendations of the Committee.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee: 

Pursuant to the Act and SEBI Listing Regulations, the Company has constituted a Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Committee can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/04/
Committees-of-Board-along-with-Charter.pdf.

Meeting and attendance:

During FY 2024-2025, the Committee met once on 29 May, 2024. 

The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the Committee.

Composition of the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee and attendance record of the members for 
FY 2024-25

Name of the Director Category
No. of Meetings held 
during FY2024-25 (1)

Entitled to 
attend Attended

Mr. Sanjeev Goel Chairman, Managing Director 1 1
Mr. Surender Kumar Goel
(Tenure ceased with effect from 06th August, 2024) Non-Executive, Independent 1 1

Ms. Shalini Rahul Non-Executive, Independent 1 1
Shareholders Investors Grievance Committee (SHIC) cum Stakeholders Share Transfer Committee (STC) cum 
Stakeholders Relationship Committee: 

Pursuant to the Act and SEBI Listing Regulations, the Company has constituted a Stakeholders Relationship Committee.

The terms of reference of the Committee, inter alia, includes review of measures taken for effective exercise of voting rights 
by shareholders and review of adherence to the service standards in respect of various services rendered by the share 
transfer agent. The terms of reference of the Committee can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/
uploads/2025/04/Committees-of-Board-along-with-Charter.pdf.

More details on this subject and on shareholders’ related matters including unclaimed suspense account have been 
furnished in General Shareholder Information.
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Meeting and attendance: 

During FY 2024-2025, the Committee met once on 24 March, 2025 to review the status of investors’ services rendered. 

The Company Secretary acted as the secretary to the Committee.

The Committee was apprised of the major developments on matters relating to investors. In addition, the Committee also 
considered matters that can facilitate better investor services and relations. 

The permanent Chairman of the Committee, Ms. Shilpy Chopra was present at the AGM which was held through video 
conferencing (‘VC’) on 26th September, 2024 to answer members’ queries.

Composition of the Shareholders Investors Grievance Committee (SHIC) cum Stakeholders Share Transfer 
Committee (STC) cum Stakeholders Relationship Committee and attendance record of the members for FY 2024-25

Name of the Director Category

No. of Meetings held 
during FY2024-25 (1)

Entitled to 
attend Attended

Ms. Shilpy Chopra Chairman, Non-Executive, Independent 1 1
Mr. Sanjeev Goel Executive, Managing Director 1 1
Ms. Ursala Joshi Non-Executive, Independent 1 1

Details of the investor complaints received during FY 2024-25

No. of complaints 
outstanding at the 
beginning of the 

year

No. of 
complaints 

received

No. of complaints 
not solved to the 

satisfaction of the 
shareholders

No. of complaints 
solved

No. of pending 
complaints at the 
end of the year

0 0 0 0 0
Online Dispute Resolution (ODR) Mechanism

SEBI vide Circular No. SEBI/HO/OIAE/OIAE_IAD-3/P/ CIR/2023/195 dated July 31, 2023 (further updated as on December 
20, 2023) have issued a Circular for online resolution of disputes in the Indian securities market. With the said Circular, 
the existing dispute resolution mechanism is being streamlined under the aegis of Stock Exchanges and Depositories by 
expanding their scope and by establishing a common Online Dispute Resolution Portal (“ODR Portal”) which harnesses 
online conciliation and online arbitration for resolution of disputes arising in the Indian securities market. As per the said 
SEBI Circulars, in case of any grievances, the shareholders are advised to first approach the Company or its RTA. If the 
response is not received/not satisfactory, they can initiate dispute resolution through the ODR Portal at https:// smartodr.
in/login. 

In compliance with SEBI Circular, the Company has sent email communication to the shareholders intimating them the 
mechanism to facilitate online resolution of all kinds of disputes arising in the Indian securities market.

Remuneration of Directors: 

S. No. Name of the Director
Sitting Fees for 

attending Board/
Committee Meetings 

Salary and 
Perquisites 

Incentive/
Bonus Total 

1. Mr. Sanjeev Goel 0 0 -- 0
2. Mr. Surender Kumar Goel@ 30,000 -- -- 30,000
3. Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi@@ 30,000 -- -- 30,000
4. Ms. Shilpy Chopra 90,000 -- -- 90,000
5. Ms. Shalini Rahul 80,000 -- -- 80,000
6. Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh 80,000 -- -- 80,000
7. Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi* 60,000 - - 60,000
8. Ms. Ursala Joshi** 50,000 N.A. N.A. 50,000
9. Mr. Vinod Kumar*** N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

@ Mr. Surender Kumar Goel has completed his tenure as an Independent Director and got retired w.e.f.06.08.2024.

@@ Mr. Rakesh Kumar Joshi has completed his tenure as an Independent Director and got retired w.e.f.06.08.2024.
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* Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi, (DIN: 02967667), Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company, was appointed by the 
Board with effect from 06 August, 2024.

** Ms. Ursala Joshi, (DIN: 08810331), Non-Executive Non-Independent Director of the Company, was appointed by the 
Board with effect from 14 August, 2024.

***Mr. Vinod Kumar was appointed as addition (Executive) Director w.e.f.06.08.2024 and he tendered his resignation 
effective from 14th August, 2024.

Pecuniary relationship/transaction with non-executive directors:

During FY 2024-25, there were no pecuniary relationship/transactions of any non–executive directors with the Company, 
apart from sitting fees paid for attending the meeting of Board or its committee as the case maybe. During FY 2024-25, the 
Company did not advance any loans to any of its directors.

Loans and advances in the nature of loans given to firms/companies in which directors are interested by name and 
amount:

Details regarding loans and advances in the nature of loans given to companies in which directors are interested is available 
in the Related Party Transactions Section of the Directors Report.

Criteria of making payments to non-executive directors: 

Non-executive directors of the Company play a crucial role in the independent functioning of the Board. They bring in 
an external perspective to decision-making and provide leadership and strategic guidance while maintaining objective 
judgment. They also oversee the corporate governance framework of the Company. 

The criteria of making payments to non–executive directors are placed on the Company’s website and can be accessed 
at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Criteria-for-making-payment-to-Non-Executive-Directors.pdf.

Managing Director: 

The tenure of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company is of five (5) years up to 31st March 2025. There is no 
separate provision for payment of severance fees and performance linked incentives. The remuneration excluding sitting 
fees as mentioned above comprises only of fixed components. Further complete details of remuneration, of Directors and 
Key Managerial Personnel have been provided in annual return which will be hosted at the website of the Company in terms 
of provisions of Section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013. On the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, the Board recommended to the shareholders the re-appointment of Mr. Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 00028702) as 
Managing Director of the company for a further period of 5 years with effect from 1st April 2025 and ending 31st March 2030 
which was approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on September 26, 2024.

Management: 

Management discussion and analysis

This is given as a separate section in the Annual Report. 

Disclosure of material transactions: 

Under regulation 26(5) of the SEBI Listing Regulations, senior management is required to make disclosures to the Board 
relating to all material, financial and commercial transactions, where they had or were deemed to have had personal interest 
that might have been in potential conflict with the interest of the Company at large. As per the disclosure submitted by senior 
management, there were no such transactions during FY 2024-25.

Code of Conduct for Prevention of Insider Trading: 

Your Company has adopted a “Code of Internal procedure and conduct for regulating, monitoring and reporting of trading in 
securities by Insiders” as required under Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 
2015. The Company formulated a Code of Conduct to Regulate, Monitor, and Report trading by Insiders to deter the Insider 
trading in the securities of the Company based on the unpublished price sensitive information (UPSI). 

The Code duly envisages procedures to be followed and disclosures to be made while dealing in the securities of the 
Company. During the year under review there has been due compliance with Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015. The Code is also available at the website of the Company.

Means of communication: 

The Board recognizes the importance of two-way communication with shareholders and giving a balanced report of results 
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and progress and responding to questions and issues raised in a timely and consistent manner. The Company has its 
website (https://www.inteccapital.com) that contains required information for the shareholders.

•	 Quarterly results and other relevant information: 

	 The quarterly/half-yearly/yearly results are intimated to the Stock Exchanges immediately after the Board Meeting at 
which they are approved. The results of the Company are also published in at least one national newspaper (usually 
Financial Express) and one regional newspaper (usually Hari Bhoomi) having wide circulation. 

•	 Website: 

	 The Company’s website, https://www.inteccapital.com, under the section of ‘investors’, contains all important public 
domain information including various policies and codes framed/approved by the Board, matters concerning the 
shareholders, details of the contact persons, etc.

•	 Green initiatives by MCA: 

	 Sections 20 and 136 of the Act, read with relevant rules, permit companies to service delivery of documents electronically 
to the registered email addresses of the members.

	 In compliance with the said provisions and as a continuing endeavour towards the ‘Go Green’ initiative, the Company 
proposes to send all correspondence/ communications through email to those members who have registered their 
email addresses with their depository participant’s/ Company’s share transfer agent. 

	 During FY 2024-25, the Company has sent documents, such as notice calling the annual general meeting, postal ballot 
notice, audited financial statements, Directors’ Report, Auditors’ Report, half yearly communications, etc. in electronic 
form to the email addresses provided by the members and made available by them to the Company through the 
depositories. 

	 All financial and other vital official documents under the SEBI Listing Regulations are also communicated to the 
concerned stock exchanges, besides being placed on the Company’s website.

Information on general body meetings and details of special resolution(s) passed:

Details of the AGMs held during last three years:

Details of 
AGM Date and Time of AGM Venue Details of special resolution(s) passed at the 

AGM

FY 2021-22
28th AGM

Monday
05th September, 2022
at 12:00 p.m.

Through VC Deemed 
Venue: Registered 
office

-	 Appointment of Mrs. Shalini Rahul (DIN: 
09357650), as Non-Executive Independent 
Women Director of the Company who 
is appointed by Board of Directors for a 
consecutive period of five (5) years.

FY 2022-23
29th AGM

Friday
15th September, 2023
at 12:00 p.m.

Through VC Deemed 
Venue: Registered 
office

-	 To adopt new set of Memorandum of 
Association (MOA) of the Company as per 
Companies Act, 2013.

-	 To adopt new set of Articles of Association 
(AOA) of the Company as per Companies 
Act, 2013.

-	 To appoint Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh (DIN: 
10204543) as an Independent Director of the 
Company

FY 2023-24
30th AGM

Thursday 
26th September, 2024
at 12:00 p.m.

Through VC Deemed 
Venue: Registered 
office

-	 To appoint Mr. Arjunn Kumar Tyagi (DIN: 
02967667) as an Independent Director of the 
Company.

-	 To appoint Mrs. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) 
as a Director (Non-Executive and Non-
Independent) of the Company.

-	 To Re-appoint Mr. Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 
00028702), as Managing Director of the 
Company for a further period of five (5) Years 
staring from 1st April 2025 till 31st March 
2030



STATUTORY SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2538

Extraordinary General Meetings:

During FY 2024-25, no Extraordinary General Meeting was conducted by the Company.

Postal Ballot:

During FY 2024-25, the Company had sought approval of the members through postal ballot, the details of the same are 
given below:

(a)	 To approve availing of credit facility from Modern Credit Private Limited as a Material Related Party Transaction. 
(Special resolution)

Date of Postal Ballot Notice January 27, 2025  
Voting Period January 29, 2025  to February 27, 2025
Date of passing the resolutions (last date of for voting) February 27, 2025
Date of Scrutinizer’s Report February 27, 2025
Name of Scrutinizer CS Priyank Kukreja (ACS No: 40585, CP No: 19465)

	 The details of voting pattern as detailed in the scrutinizer’s report for the above postal ballot has been placed on the 
Company’s website and can be accessed at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/02/Intec-Capital-
Limited-Voting-Results_Postal-ballot_2025.pdf.

Procedure for Postal Ballot:

Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, postal ballot notice is dispatched only through electronics means at the registered 
email addresses of the members. The Company also provides a facility to those members who have not registered their 
mail addresses. 

In compliance with the provisions the Company provides facility to the members to exercise votes only through electronic 
voting system (‘remote e-voting’). 

The Company also publishes notice in the newspapers for the information of the members. Voting rights are reckoned on 
the equity shares held by the members as on the cut-off date. 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Company appoints a scrutiniser for conducting the postal ballot process in a fair 
and transparent manner. The scrutiniser submits his consolidated report to the Chairman & Managing Director and the 
voting results are announced by the Chairman & Managing Director by placing the same along with the scrutiniser’s report 
on the Company’s website, besides being communicated to the stock exchanges. The resolution, if passed by requisite 
majority, is deemed to have been passed on the last date specified by the Company for receipt of duly completed postal 
ballot forms or remote e-voting

Details of capital market non-compliance, if any:

Details of penalty imposed on the Company by stock exchange, SEBI or any other statutory authority, nor any instance 
of non-compliance with any legal requirements, or any matter related to capital market, during the last three years are as 
follows:

Financial Year Non-Compliance of Regulation Authority Penalty Amount exclusive of GST (in Rs.)
2024-25 Regulation 33 of SEBI (LODR), 2015 BSE 1,10,000/-
2023-24 -- -- --
2022-23 -- -- --

Report on Corporate Governance: 

This chapter read together with the information given in the Directors’ Report, the section on Management Discussion 
and Analysis and General Shareholder Information, constitutes the compliance report on Corporate Governance during 
FY 2024-25. The Company has been regularly submitting the quarterly corporate governance compliance report to the stock 
exchanges as required under regulation 27(2) of the SEBI Listing Regulations.

During FY 2024-25, the Company has complied with all the requirements of corporate governance report of sub-paras (2) 
to (10) of part C of Schedule V of SEBI (LODR), 2015.

A certificate affirming the compliances from M/s Vivek Gupta and Associates, a Practicing Company Secretaries has been 
duly attained by the Company and the same is forming part of this Report.
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Disclosure under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 
2013:

During FY 2024-2025, the Company has not received any complaint under this Act. 

a)	 number of complaints filed during the financial year: NIL

b)	 number of complaints disposed of during the financial year: NIL

c)	 number of complaints pending as on the end of the financial year: NIL

Fees paid to Statutory Auditors

M/s S.P. Chopra & Co. was appointed as the Statutory Auditors of the Company and its tenure as Auditor is in existence till 
the Financial Year 2026-2027.

Fees paid to S.P. Chopra & Co., for the financial year 2024-25 are as follows:

S. No. Particulars Amount (in ₹)
1. Statutory Audit 5.50
2. Tax Audit 1.00
3. Limited Review 3.00
4. Other services 0.30
5. Out-of-pocket Expenses 1.20

Compliance of mandatory and discretionary requirements

Mandatory

The Board of Directors periodically reviews the compliance of all applicable laws. The Company has complied with all the 
mandatory requirements of the SEBI Listing Regulations including but not limited to the provisions of regulations 17 to 27 
and 46(2)(b) to (i) of the said Regulations.

Discretionary

•		 Shareholders’ Rights:  

As the Quarterly and Half Yearly Financial Results are published in the newspapers and are also posted on the 
Company’s website, the same are not being sent separately to the shareholders.

•		 Reporting of Internal Auditor: 

In pursuance with Section 138 of the Companies Act, 2013, an Internal Auditor has been duly appointed by the Company 
who reports to the Audit Committee. Internal audit reports are submitted to the Audit Committee which reviews the audit 
reports and suggests necessary action.

List of Key policies of Intec Capital Limited

Sr. 
No. Name of the Policy Web Link

1. Dividend Distribution Policy https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Intec-
Dividend-Policy.pdf

2. Policy for determining material 
subsidiaries

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Material-
Subsidiary-Policy.pdf

3. Archival Policy https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Intec-
Archival-Policy.pdf

4. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
Policy

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/CSR-Policy.
pdf

5. Common terms and conditions of 
Appointment of Independent Directors

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Terms-and-
Conditions-of-Independent-Directors.pdf

6. Policy on Determination of Materiality 
for Disclosure of Events

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Policy-for-
Disclosure-of-Materiality-for-Disclosures.pdf

7. Whistle Blower Policy https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Vigil-
Mechanism-and-WhistleBlower-Policy.pdf
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8. Remuneration Policy https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Nomination-
and-Remuneration-Policy.pdf

9. Policy on Materiality of and dealing 
with Related Party Transactions

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/RPT-
Policy-1.pdf

10. Familiarization Programme for 
Independent Directors

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/
Familiarization-Programme-for-Independent-Directors-1.pdf

11. Code of Conduct for Directors/KMP https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Code-of-
Conduct.pdf

12.
Code of Practices and Procedures for 
Fair Disclosure of Unpublished Price 
Sensitive Information (UPSI)

https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Code-of-
Conduct-for-Prevention-of-Insider-Trading-and-Fair-Disclosure-of-
UPSI-SEBI.pdf

GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
31st  Annual General Meeting (AGM)

Day and Date		  :		  Friday, 26th September, 2025

Time			   :                           12:00 p.m.

Venue/Mode                      :                    	 Virtual, Registered Office of the Company at 708, Manjusha Building, 57, 
Nehru Place, New Delhi – 110019 (Deemed venue)

Financial Year	                :		  1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025

Tentative meeting schedule for considering financial related matters for FY 2025- 2026

Type of Meeting Particulars Indicative month
To review and approve the unaudited financial results for the 
quarter ending 30 June 2025, subject to limited review

Audit Committee and

Board

     13th August 2025

To review and approve the unaudited financial results for the 
quarter and half-year ending 30 September 2025, subject to 
limited review

      November 2025

To review and approve the unaudited financial results for the 
quarter and nine months ending 31 December 2025, subject to 
limited review    Early February 2026

To review and approve audited annual results for the year ending 
31 March 2026, subject to audit       May 2026

Registrar and Share transfer agent (‘RTA’)

In terms of regulation 7 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (the ‘SEBI Listing 
Regulations’), M/s. Beetal Financial & Computer Services Private Limited continues to be the Registrar and Share Transfer 
Agent and handle all relevant corporate registry services.

Share Transfer System

All transmission, transposition, issue of duplicate share certificate(s)/Letter of Confirmation, etc., as well as requests for 
dematerialisation/ rematerialisation are processed at Beetal. The work related to dematerialisation / rematerialisation 
is handled by Beetal through connectivity with National Securities Depository Limited (‘NSDL’) and Central Depository 
Services (India) Limited (‘CDSL’).

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (‘SEBI’) vide its circular dated 25 January 2022, has mandated listed entities 
to issue shares in dematerialised form only while processing any service requests. 

Therefore, members who are still holding share in physical form are requested to dematerialise their shareholding.

Dematerialisation/rematerialisation of shares and liquidity:
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Shares held in physical and electronic mode as on March 31, 2025 are given below:

Particulars No. of shares % of total shareholding
Physical 43,815 0.23

Demat:
NSDL 1,74,99,596 95.28
CDSL 8,22,839 4.48

Sub Total 18320735 99.75
Total 1,83,66,250 100.00

The equity shares of the Company are listed on BSE Ltd. (‘BSE’) and are frequently traded. The equity shares of the 
Company were not suspended from trading during the year on account of corporate actions or otherwise.

Listing information:

The Company’s equity shares are listed on the following Stock Exchange:

Name of Stock Exchange Address Stock Code
BSE Ltd. (BSE) 25th Floor, P J Towers, Dalal Street Mumbai- 400 001 526871

Annual listing fees, as prescribed, have been paid to the said stock exchanges up to 31st March 2025.

The ISIN Number of the Company for listed fully paid Equity Shares is INE017E01018.

Distribution of shareholding

Table I gives details about the pattern of shareholding across various categories as on 31 March 2025, while Table II gives 
the data according to size classes.

Table I: Distribution of shareholding across categories

Categories No. of Shares % to total Capital
INDIAN PROMOTER - INDIVIDUAL 710264 3.8672
CORPORATE BODIES -PROMOTER GROUP 7070302 38.4962
TRUST - PROMOTER GROUP 2206208 12.0123
FOREIGN BODIES CORPORATE -PROMOTER 3520062 19.1659
INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND (IEPF) 178483 0.9718
RESIDENT INDIVIDUALS     525176 2.86
NON RESIDENT INDIANS (NRIS)-  NON - REPATARIABLE 500 0.0027
NON RESIDENT INDIANS (NRIS)-  REPATARIABLE 2850 0.0155
BODIES CORPORATE 4130722 22.4908
OTHER - HUF 21683 0.1181

Table II: Distribution of shareholding according to size class as on 31 March, 2025

Category (Shares) Number of Members % to total Members Number of shares held %to total capital
1-5000 1464 88.513 123339 0.6716

5001-10000 86 5.200 66778 0.3636
10001-20000 45 2.721 66544 0.3623
20001-30000 15 0.907 37835 0.2060
30001-40000 7 0.423 23973 0.1305
40001-50000 6 0.363 26853 0.1462

50001-100000 7 0.423 46674 0.2541
100001& 200000 5 0.302 71750 0.3907
200001 & Above 19 1.149 17902504 97.4750

Total 1654 100.00 18366250 100.00
Credit Rating: 
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During the year, no Credit Ratings has been obtained by the Company.

Shareholders’ and investors’ grievances

The Board of Directors of the Company has constituted a Stakeholders Relationship Committee to specifically look into 
and resolve grievances of security-holders. The Composition of the Committee and details on investor complaints received 
during the year are given in Corporate Governance Report. In compliance with the Regulation 46(2) (j) & (k) of Listing 
Regulations, the Company has designated the mail id: complianceofficer@inteccapital.com. This mail id has been posted 
on the Company’s website and also on the website of the Stock Exchanges. The investor can send their grievances, if any, 
to the designated mail id. i.e. complianceofficer@inteccapital.com

Disclosure with respect to demat suspense account /unclaimed suspense account:

Nil

Outstanding convertible instruments/ADRs/GDRs/Warrants:
The Company does not have any outstanding convertible instruments/ADRs/GDRs/Warrants as on date.

Commodity price risk or foreign exchange risk and hedging activities: 
Considering the Business of the Company, no such risks are associated with the Company.

Plant Locations:
The Company being NBFC is engaged in the business of Financing, Hence there is no such Plant Location.

Address for Correspondence

Share Transfer Agent                                                   Company
Beetal Financial & Computer Services Pvt Ltd.             708, Manjusha, 57 Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019
Beetal House, 3rd Floor,                                                Phone No. : 011-46522200/300 
99,  Madangir, Behind LSC, New Delhi – 110062          E-mail Id: complianceofficer@inteccapital.com
Ph. 011-29961281-283 , 26051061, 26051064              Website: www.inteccapital.com 
Fax 011-29961284
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Annexure 1
To										           
The Board of Directors 
Intec Capital Limited
708, Manjusha Building
57, Nehru Place 
New Delhi: 110019

Subject: 	 Certificate under Regulation 17(8) and Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015

We, the undersigned, certify to the Board that:

a)	 We have reviewed financial statements and the cash flow statement of Intec Capital Limited (“the Company”) for the 
year ended March 31, 2025 and to the best of our knowledge and belief:

(i)	 These statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain statements 
that might be misleading;

(ii)	 These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with 
existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations.

b)	 There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the year which 
are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code of conduct.

c)	 We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and that we have 
evaluated the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial reporting. We have 
not come across any reportable deficiencies in the design or operation of such internal controls.

d)	 We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee that:

(i)	 there are no significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year;

(ii)	 there are no significant changes in accounting policies during the year; and

(iii)	 there are no instances  of significant  fraud  of which  they  have  become  aware.

(Sanjeev Goel)                                                                                                  (Vinod Kumar)    
Managing Director                                                                                         Chief Financial Officer 
DIN: 00028702                                                                                                  PAN: AOCPK5016J
  

Date: 30th May, 2025
Place: New Delhi                                                  
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Annexure 2
Declaration by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
[Regulation 34(3) read with schedule V (Part D) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015]

In accordance with the Listing Regulations, I hereby confirm that all the Directors and the Senior Management Personnel 
of the Company have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct as applicable to them, for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2025.

By order of the Board
For Intec Capital Limited

(Sanjeev Goel)
Managing Director
DIN: 00028702

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 13, 2025 
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Annexure 3
CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

(Pursuant to Regulation 34 (3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10) (i) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015)

For the Financial Year ended 31st March, 2025
To,
The Members, 
INTEC CAPITAL LIMITED
I have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the Directors of INTEC 
CAPITAL LIMITED having CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410 and having registered office at 708, Manjusha Building, 57 
Nehru Place, Delhi 110019 (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’), produced before me by the Company for the purpose 
of issuing this Certificate, in accordance with Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V Para-C Sub clause 10(i) of the Securities 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

In my opinion and to the best of my information and according to the verifications (including Directors Identification Number 
(DIN) status at the portal www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and explanations furnished to me by the Company & its 
officers, I hereby certify that none of the Directors on the Board of the Company as stated below for the Financial Year ending 
on 31st March, 2025 have been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as Directors of companies by the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, or any such other Statutory Authority.

Sr. 
No. Name of Director Designation DIN Date of appointment in Company

1 Sanjeev Goel	 Managing Director 00028702 15/02/1994
2 Ursala Joshi	 Director 08810331 14/08/2024
3 Arjunn Kumar Tyagi Director 02967667 06/08/2024
4 Shilpy Chopra	 Director 07161915 12/05/2021
5 Shalini Rahul	 Director 09357650 13/10/2021
6 Kanwar Nitin Singh Director 10204543 17/06/2023

Ensuring the eligibility of for the appointment / continuity of every Director on the Board is the responsibility of the management 
of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these based on our verification. This certificate is specifically 
being issued in accordance with Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V Para-C Sub clause 10(i) of the Securities Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and is neither an assurance as to the 
future viability of the Company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs 
of the Company.

For Arpit Garg & Associates
(Company Secretaries)

CS Arpit Garg
Proprietor
M. No.: A60674		
C. P. No.: 22703 
Peer Review No. 3983/2023
Place: New Delhi
Date: 04th August, 2025
UDIN: A060674G000924372
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CERTIFICATE
Certificate on Compliance with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under Chapter IV of Securities and 

Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, (as amended)

To 
The Members of
Intec Capital Limited 
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410
708, Manjusha Building, 57 Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019

This certificate is being issued to Intec Capital Limited (“the Company”), on compliance with the conditions of Corporate 
Governance as stipulated in Regulations 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) and (t) of Regulation 46 (2) and other applicable 
regulations of Chapter IV pertaining to Corporate Governance and paragraphs C, D and E of Schedule V of the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended (collectively 
referred to as ‘SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015’) (‘applicable criteria’) with respect to Corporate Governance for the year 
ended March 31, 2025. This report is required by the Company for annual submission to the Stock exchange and to be sent 
to the Shareholders of the Company.

Management Responsibility:

Compliance with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under Chapter IV of Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, (as amended) is the responsibility of the 
Management along with the Board of Directors of the Company.

Our Responsibility:

Our examination was limited to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring compliance 
with the conditions of the Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial 
statements of the Company. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Regulations, it is our responsibility to provide a reasonable assurance whether 
the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in Listing Regulations for the year 
ended March 31, 2025.

Opinion:

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and the representations 
made by the Management along with the Board of Directors of the Company, we are of the opinion that the Company has 
complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the SEBI Listing Regulations, as applicable on the 
Company for the year ended March 31, 2025.

Other Matters and Restrictions on use:

This report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness with which 
the management has conducted the affairs of the Company. 

This report is addressed to and provided to the members of the Company solely for the purpose of enabling it to comply with 
its obligations under the SEBI Listing Regulations and should not be used by any other person or for any other purpose. 
Accordingly, we do not accept or assume any liability or any duty of care or for any other purpose or to any other party to 
whom it is shown or into whose hands it may come without our prior consent in writing. We have no responsibility to update 
this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.

For Vivek Gupta & Associates
Practising Company Secretaries

Name: - Vivek Gupta
ACS No: 29543 
CP No: 10656
Peer Reviewed Certificate No.: 5852/2024
UDIN: A029543G000882771

Place: New Delhi 
Date:  29/07/2025
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Annexure E
FORM MR-3

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

To,
The Members,
Intec Capital Limited
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410
708, Manjusha Building 57,
Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019.

I have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance of 
applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good 
corporate practices by ‘Intec Capital Limited’ (hereinafter 
called ‘the Company’). The Secretarial Audit was conducted 
in a manner that provided me a reasonable basis for 
evaluating the corporate conducts/ statutory compliances 
and expressing my opinion thereon.

Based on my verification of the Company’s books, papers, 
minute books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by the Company and also the information 
provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized 
representatives during the conduct of Secretarial Audit, I 
hereby report that in my opinion, the Company has, during 
the Audit Period covering the Financial Year ended on 31st 
March, 2025, mostly complied with the statutory provisions 
listed hereunder (except for the few specifically mentioned 
in this Report).

Further, in my opinion, the Company has proper Board 
processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the 
extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made 
hereinafter.

I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and 
returns filed and other records maintained by the Company 
for the Financial Year ended on 31st March, 2025 according 
to the provisions of:

a)	 The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules 
made there under;

b)	 The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 
(‘SCRA’) and the rules made there under;

c)	 The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and 
Bye-laws framed there under;

d)	 Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the 
rules and regulations made there under to extent of 
Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment 
and External Commercial borrowings.

e)	 The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed 
under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 
1992 (‘SEBI Act’):

a)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) 
Regulations, 2011;

b)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 and 
(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Amendment Regulation 
2018 notified on dated 21.01.2019;

c)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Employees Stock Option Scheme and Employees 
Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines 1999;

d)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue 
of capital and disclosure requirements) Regulations, 
2009;

e)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting 
of Equity Shares) Regulation, 2009;

f)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback 
of Securities) Regulations, 1998;

g)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and 
Listing of Non-Convertible Securities) Regulations, 
2021;

h)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) 
Regulations, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and 
dealing with client;

i)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Share Based Employee Benefits & Sweat Equity) 
Regulations, 2021;

j)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015;

As regards Clause (a), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) & (i) of Para 
(e) above, it is informed that the said Regulations are not 
applicable to the Company during the Audit Period.

f)	 Other Applicable Acts:

a)	 Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948, and rules 
made there under;

b)	 The Employees’ Provident Fund and Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act, 1952 and rules made there under;

c)	 Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, and rules made there 
under;

d)	 The Maternity Benefit Act, 1961 and rules made there 
under;

e)	 The Employees’ Compensation Act, 1923 and rules 
made there under;

f)	 Equal Remuneration Act, 1976 and rules made there 
under;

For the Financial Year ended on 31st March, 2025
[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No 9 of the Companies (Appointment and 

Remuneration Personnel) Rules, 2014] 
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g)	 Prevention of Sexual Harassment of Women at 
Workplace Act, 2013;

h)	 The Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 along with the 
master circular, notifications and directions issued by 
Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI’) for the Non-Banking 
Financial (Non- Deposit Accepting or Holding) 
Companies from time to time.

I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses 
of the following:

a)	 ‘Secretarial Standards’ of the ‘Institute of Company of 
Secretaries of India’.

b)	 The listing agreement entered into by the Company 
with the ‘Bombay Stock Exchange’ under the Securities 
& Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements), 2015 for Equity Shares 
(ISIN-INE017E01018). 

During the period under review the Company has 
complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, 
Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned 
above except for the following:
a)	 The date of entry of the Minutes in the Minutes Book 

has been entered by hand as against the other context 

being type-written;

b)	 As regards the Resolutions passed by the Company 
through Circulation in terms of Section 175 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, no brief background of the 
Resolutions therein has been given in the Minutes 
while, the same is a mandatory requirement as per 
applicable ‘Secretarial Standards-1’;

c)	 As per Regulation 17(1) of SEBI (LODR) Regulation, 
2015, the Board of Directors have an optimum 
combination of Executive and Non-Executive Directors 
with at least one-Woman Director and not less than 
fifty per cent of the Board of Directors shall comprise 
of Non-Executive Directors. As regards the terminology 
used in the corresponding regulation, it has been 
enunciated that the Board shall comprise an optimum 
combination of Executive & Non-Executive Directors. 
On the perusal made by me in this Audit, it has been 
noticed that there is only One Executive Director on the 
Board against four (4) Non-Executive Directors during 
the Audit period. Though, the Company has a duly 
constituted Board in compliance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with the SEBI (LODR), 
2015, yet it is suggested to the Company for the sake 
of better Corporate Governance to have more than one 
Executive Directors on the Board;

d)	 As regards the Forms/ Returns to be filed by the Company with the Registrar of Companies under the Companies Act, 
2013 and the rules framed thereunder in the period under review following forms have been filed with a delay as stated 
in the below table:

Sr.
No. Form Purpose of filing the Form SRN of the 

Form
Date of 
event

Due-date of filing 
the form

Actual-date of 
Filing

1 MSME-1
Half-yearly Return to 
report outstanding 
payments exceeding 45 
days to MSME suppliers

AB2089692 - 31/10/2024 06/12/2024

2 AOC-4 For filing of Financial 
Statements N15391543 - 25/10/2024 12/11/2024

3 AOC-4 CFS For filing of Consolidated 
Financial Statements N26383661 - 25/10/2024 09/01/2025

4 MGT-7 Annual Return N24745481 - 25/11/2024 19/12/2024
e)	 The forms filed by the Company, being a ‘Non- Banking Financial Company’, with the ‘Reserve Bank of India’ have 

been filed with a delay. Such forms include DNBS-02, DNBS-04A, DNBS-04B, DNBS-10, DNBS-13. The following 
table shows a comprehensive summary of these delays:

Sr. 
No. Name of Return Financial Year Month Period Due Date Date of filling

1 DNBS-02: Important 
Financial Parameters 2023-2024 Jan-Mar 01.01.2024

to 31.03.2024 21.04.2024 12.11.2024

2 DNBS-02: Important 
Financial Parameters 2024-2025 Apr-Jun 01.04.2024 to 

30.06.2024 21.07.2024 19.11.2024

3 DNBS-02: Important 
Financial Parameters 2024-2025 Jul-Sep 01.07.2024 to 

30.09.2024 21.10.2024 19.11.2024

4 DNBS-02: Important 
Financial Parameters 2024-2025 Oct-Dec 01.10.2024 to 

31.12.2024 21.01.2025 21.02.2025

5 DNBS-02: Important 
Financial Parameters 2024-2025 Jan-Mar 01.01.2025 to 

31.03.2025 21.04.2025 06.06.2025
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6 DNBS-04A: Short Term 
Dynamic Liquidity 2023-2024 Jan-Mar 01.01.2024 to 

31.03.2024 21.04.2024 09.05.2024

7 DNBS-04A: Short Term 
Dynamic Liquidity 2024-2025 Apr-Jun 01.04.2024 to 

30.06.2024 21.07.2024 10.03.2025

8 DNBS-04A: Short Term 
Dynamic Liquidity 2024-2025 Jul-Sep 01.07.2024 to 

30.09.2024 21.10.2024 31.03.2025

9 DNBS-04A: Short Term 
Dynamic Liquidity 2024-2025 Oct-Dec 01.10.2024 to 

31.12.2024 21.01.2025 31.03.2025

10 DNBS-10: Statutory Auditor 
Certificate 2023-2024 Apr-Mar 01.04.2023 to 

31.03.2024 21.04.2024 05.07.2024

11 DNBS-10: Statutory Auditor 
Certificate 2024-2025 Apr-Mar 1.04.2024 to 

31.03.2025 21.04.2025 06.06.2025

12 DNBS-13: Overseas 
Investment details 2023-2024 Jan-Mar 1.01.2024 to 

31.03.2024 21.04.2024 09.05.2024

13 DNBS-13: Overseas 
Investment details 2024-2025 Jul-Sep 1.07.2024 to 

30.09.2024 21.10.2024 08.11.2024

14 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2023-2024 Mar 1.03.2024 to 

31.03.2024 15.04.2024 Not filed

15 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Apr 1.04.2024 to 

30.04.2024 15.05.2024 27.06.2025

16 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 May 1.05.2024 to 

31.05.2024 15.06.2024 27.06.2025

17 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Jun 1.06.2024 to 

30.06.2024 15.07.2024 27.06.2025

18 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Jul 1.07.2024 to 

31.07.2024 15.08.2024 28.06.2025

19 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Aug 1.08.2024 to 

31.08.2024 15.09.2024 28.06.2025

20 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Sep 1.09.2024 to 

30.09.2024 15.10.2024 28.06.2025

21 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Oct 1.10.2024 to 

31.10.2024 15.11.2024 28.06.2025

22 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Nov 1.11.2024 to 

30.11.2024 15.12.2024 28.06.2025

23 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Dec 1.12.2024 to 

31.12.2024 15.01.2025 28.06.2025

23 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Jan 1.01.2024 to 

31.01.2025 15.02.2025 28.06.2025

25 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Feb 1.02.2024 to 

28.02.2025 15.03.2025 30.06.2025

26 DNBS-04B: Structural 
liquidity & Interest Rate 2024-2025 Mar 1.03.2025 to 

31.03.2025 15.04.2025 30.06.2025

f)	 It has been observed that the Company has made several delays in the filing its Provident Fund (PF) Returns, further, 
on account of the information received by the Company, no notice has been received in this matter so far. The PF 
deducted of all the Employees along with Employer’s contribution has to be deposited within the due date, i.e., 15th of 
every month. The following table shows the above-mention delayed filings:-

Month of Filling Due Date Actual Date of filling
Apr-24 15-May-2024 20-Feb-25
May-24 15-Jun-2024 25-Feb-25
Jun-24 15-Jul-2024 11-Mar-25
Jul-24 15-Aug-2024 26-Mar-25
Aug-24 15-Sep-2024 29-Mar-25
Sep-24 15-Oct-2024 17-Apr-25
Oct-24 15-Nov-2024 19-Apr-25
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Nov-24 15-Dec-2024 12-May-25
Dec-24 15-Jan-2024 16-May-25
Jan-25 15-Feb-2025 19-May-25
Feb-25 15-Mar-2025 29-May-25
Mar-25 15-Apr-2025 6-Jun-25

g)	 Further, the Company has made several delays in the filing its Employees’ State Insurance Returns, The ESI deducted 
of all the Employees along with Employer’s contribution has to be deposited within the due date i.e. 15th of every 
month. The following table shows the above-mention delayed filings:-

Month of Filling Due Date Actual Date of filling Delay
Apr-24 15-May-2024 27-Aug-24 3 Months
May-24 15-Jun-2024 27-Aug-24 2 Months
Jun-24 15-Jul-2024 27-Aug-24 1 Months
Jul-24 15-Aug-2024 29-Aug-24 14 Days
Aug-24 15-Sep-2024 18-Sep-24 3 Days
Sep-24 15-Oct-2024 17-Oct-24 2 Days
Dec-24 15-Jan-2024 24-Jan-25 9 Days
Mar-25 15-Apr-2025 12-May-25 27 Days

h)	 The Company has also delayed in the filling of the GST Returns such as GSTR-3B and GSTR-1. The following table 
depicts the delay in the above-mentioned Forms: -

	 TABLE-A:

GSTR-1 Due Date Date of Return Filling Delay
Mar-24 11-Apr-2024 07-Nov-2024 Yes
Apr-24 11-May-2024 3-Jan-25 Yes
May-24 11-Jun-2024 3-Jan-25 Yes
Jun-24 11-Jul-2024 3-Jan-25 Yes
Jul-24 11-Aug-2024 3-Jan-25 Yes
Aug-24 11-Sep-2024 4-Jan-25 Yes
Sep-24 11-Oct-2024 4-Jan-25 Yes
Oct-24 11-Nov-2024 19-Feb-25 Yes
Nov-24 11-Dec-2024 22-Feb-25 Yes
Dec-24 11-Jan-2024 6-Mar-25 Yes
Jan-25 11-Feb-2025 31-Mar-25 Yes
Feb-25 11-Mar-2025 4-Apr-2025 Yes

	    TABLE-B:

GSTR-3B Due Date Date of Return Filling Delay
Mar-24 20-Apr-2024 24-Dec-24 Yes
Apr-24 20-May-24 3-Jan-25 Yes
May-24 20-Jun-24 3-Jan-25 Yes
Jun-24 20-Jul-24 3-Jan-25 Yes
Jul-24 20-Aug-24 3-Jan-25 Yes

Aug-24 20-Sep-24 4-Jan-25 Yes
Sep-24 20-Oct-24 4-Jan-25 Yes
Oct-24 20-Nov-24 22-Feb-25 Yes
Nov-24 20-Dec-24 25-Feb-25 Yes
Dec-24 20-Jan-25 12-Mar-25 Yes
Jan-25 20-Feb-25 4-Apr-25 Yes
Feb-25 20-Mar-25 9-Apr-25 Yes
Mar-25 20-Apr-25 26-May-25 Yes

i)	 Additionally, there has been certain non-compliance in the guidelines issued by the Securities & Exchange Board of 
India majorly concerning the SEBI (LODR), 2015, and the said non-compliance has been reproduced here-in-below:

-	 The Company has delayed the filing of its audited financial results for the year ended March 31, 2024 under 
Regulation 33 of the SEBI (LODR), 2015, beyond the prescribed timeline for which a fine amounting to Rs. 
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1,10,000 plus GST was imposed on the Company, and the same was duly paid;

-	 The Company is in the process of taking necessary steps to address and rectify the non-compliances observed 
in the previous Secretarial Audit Report, and appropriate actions are being taken to ensure compliance going 
forward.

I further report that:

Adequate notices are given to all the Directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were 
sent at least seven days in advance and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications on 
the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting.

Further, the Company Secretary resigned with effect from 5th July, 2025. However, on the basis of information received from 
the management, the Company is in the process of appointing a suitable replacement in accordance with applicable laws 
and regulations.

Furthermore, as already reported above, the Company is in receipt of various Notices/ Complaints from different Departments/ 
Authorities/ Regulators, and as per the information given by the Company, in some of the said proceedings, the adjudication 
is under process. Since, the aforesaid matters are sub-judice before the said authorities, no comments have been made in 
this instant Report so as to ensure that the adjudication process is not influenced in any manner whatsoever.

I further report that during the audit period, there were no instances of:

(i) Public/ Right/ Preferential issue of shares/ debentures/ sweat equity, etc.;

(ii) Redemption/ buy-back of securities;

(iii) Merger/ amalgamation/ reconstruction, etc.;

(iv) Foreign technical collaborations.

For Srishti Singh & Associates
(Company Secretaries)

Sd/-
Srishti Singh

(Prop.)
Peer Review Certificate No.: 5111/2023

Unique Firm Code: S2019DE696500 
M. No: 50820

CP. No: 21900
UDIN: A050820G000961400

Date: 07.08.2025 
Place: Kanpur
Encl: Annexure-I
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‘Annexure-I’

To,
The Members,
Intec Capital Limited
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410
708, Manjusha Building 57,
Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019.

Our Report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

1.	 Maintenance of the Secretarial Records, Registers is the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these Secretarial Records based on our Audit.

2.	 We have followed the audit practices and process as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the 
correctness of the contents of Secretarial Records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts 
are reflected in secretarial records. We believe that the processes and the practices I followed provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

3.	 We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of Financial Records and Books of Accounts of the company. 
We have not examined compliance by the Company with applicable financial laws, like direct and indirect tax laws, 
since the same have been subject to review by Statutory Auditor and other designated professionals.

4.	 Wherever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of laws, rules and 
regulations and happening of events etc

5.	 The compliance of the provisions of law, rules, regulations, standards is the responsibility of management. Our 
examination was limited to the verification of procedure on test basis.

6.	 The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to future viability of the company nor the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the company.

For Srishti Singh & Associates
(Company Secretaries)

Sd/-
Srishti Singh

(Prop.)
Peer Review Certificate No.: 5111/2023

Unique Firm Code: S2019DE696500 
M. No: 50820

CP. No: 21900
UDIN: A050820G000961400

Date: 07.08.2025 
Place: Kanpur
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Annexure F

Form No. AOC-2
(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and

Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts / arrangements entered into by the company with related parties referred to 
in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso 
thereto:

Details of the contracts entered into with related parties during the financial year 2024-25 (April 01, 2024 to March 
31, 2025):

1. 	 Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis

	 There were no contracts or arrangements, or transactions entered into during the financial year ended March 31, 2025, 
which were not at arm’s length basis.

2. 	 Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis

	 There were no contracts or arrangements, or transactions entered into during the financial year ended March 31, 2025, 
which were material in nature and at an arm’s length basis. However, the Company has entered into following non-
material related party transactions which were at arm’s length basis:

Name(s) of the related party and nature of 
relationship

Mr. Pranav Goel (Immediate 
relative of Managing Director)

Mr. Dhruv Goel (Immediate 
relative of Managing 
Director)

Nature of contracts / arrangements / 
transactions Relative of Managing Director holding office or place of profit

Duration in month Financial Year 2024-25 (12 months)

Salient terms of the contracts or 
arrangements or transactions including 
the value, if any

Remuneration paid during the FY 
2024-25 – Rs. 22,08,000/-

Remuneration paid during 
the FY 2024-25 – Rs. 
17,96,244/-

Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any 20th Jan, 2025 20th Jan, 2025
Amount paid as advances NIL NIL

For and on behalf of Board of Directors
Intec Capital Limited

(Sanjeev Goel)                                       (Shalini Rahul)                                                                                                              
Managing Director	  Director
DIN: 00028702  DIN: 09357650

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 13, 2025
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Annexure G
ANNUAL REPORT ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) ACTIVITIES FOR 

THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2025
1.	 Brief  Outline on CSR Policy of the Company:

	 Intec Capital (‘Company’) has developed this Policy titled ‘Intec’s CSR Policy’ (Policy) encompassing the Company’s 
philosophy for being a responsible corporate citizen and lays down the principles and mechanisms for undertaking 
various programs in accordance with section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) for the community at large 
, the Company has also formulated a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy which is available on the website of the 
Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/CSR-Policy.pdf. 

2.	 Composition of CSR Committee as on 31st March 2025:

S. 
No. Name of Director Designation / Nature 

of Directorship
Number  of  meetings  
of CSR   Committee   
held during the year

Number  of  meetings  
of  CSR Committee  
attended  during the 

year

1 Mr. Sanjeev Goel Chairman
Managing Director 1 1

2 Mr. Kanwar Nitin Singh
Member 
Non-Executive 
Independent Director

1 1

3 Ms. Ursala Joshi
Member
Non-Executive Non-
Independent Director 

1 1

3.	 Provide web link where Composition of CSR 
Committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects approved 
by the board are disclosed on the website of the 
Company:

	 The Company has framed a CSR Policy in compliance 
with the provisions of section 135 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the same is placed on the website of 
the Company and the web link for the same is https://
www.inteccapital.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/
CSR-Policy.pdf. Composition of CSR Committee is 
also placed on the website of the Company and the 
web link for the same is https://www.inteccapital.com/
wp-content/uploads/2025/04/Committees-of-Board-
along-with-Charter.pdf. 

4.	 Provide the executive summary along with web-
link(s) of impact assessment of CSR Projects 
out in pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8 of the 
companies (Corporate Social responsibility Policy) 
Rules, 2014 if applicable– 

	 Not applicable for the financial year 2024-25.

5.	 (a)    Average net profit of the Company as per 
section 135(5):

      	          Average Net Loss of Rs. 1,334.25 Lakhs of 
preceding three Financial Year.

(b)	 Two percent of average net profit of the 
Company as per section 135(5): 

	 Not Applicable, on account of average Net Loss of 

Rs. 1,334.25 Lacs of preceding three FY.

(c)	 Surplus arising out of the CSR Projects or 
Programs or Activities of the previous financial 
years:

	 Not Applicable

(d)	 Amount required to be set-off for the financial 
year, if any: 

	 Not Applicable

(e)	 Total CSR Obligation for the Financial Year:
	 Not Applicable

6.	 (a) CSR amount spent or unspent for the  financial 
year (both Ongoing Project and other than Ongoing 
Project): 

	 Not Applicable 

(a)	 Amount Spent in Administrative Overhead: 
		  Not Applicable

(b)	 Amount spent on Impact assessment, if 
applicable: 

		  Not Applicable

(c)	 Total amount spent for the financial year: 
		  Not Applicable

(d)	 CSR amount spent or unspent for the Financial 
Year: 

		  Not Applicable
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Total Amount 
Spent for the 

Financial Year. (in 
Rs.) 

Amount Unspent (in Rs.) 

Total Amount transferred to 
Unspent CSR Account as per 

section 135(6). 

Amount transferred to any fund specified under 
Schedule VII as per second proviso to section 

135(5). 

Name of the 

Amount Date of transfer Fund Amount. Date of 
transfer. 

- - - - - -

(e)	 Excess amount for set off, if any:			 

S. No. Particular Amount (in Rs.)
(3)

(i) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) -
(ii) Total amount spent for the Financial Year -
(iii) Excess amount spent for the financial year [(ii)-(i)] -

(iv) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or  programmes or activities of the previous 
financial years, if any -

(v) Amount available for set off in succeeding financial years [(iii)-(iv)] -

7.	 Details of Unspent CSR Amount for the preceding three financial years: 
	 Not applicable.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Sl.
No.

Preceding 
Financial 

Year.

Amount 
transferred  

to
Unspent 

CSR 
Account 

under 
section 135 

(6)
(in Rs.)

Balance
Amount in
Unspent

CSR
Account

under 
subsection 

(6) of
section 135

(in Rs.)

Amount 
spent
in the 

Financial 
Year (in 

Rs.)

Amount transferred to a fund 
specified under Schedule 

VII as per second proviso to 
subsection (5) of section 135, 

if any

Amount 
remaining to 
be spent in 
succeeding 

financial years.
(in Rs.)

Deficiency,  
if any

Amount
(in Rs.)

Date of 
transfer

- - - - - - - - -

8.	 Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility amount 
spent in the Financial Year: 

	 No

9.	 Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two percent of the net profit as per section 135(5):

	 Not Applicable

(Sanjeev Goel)                                                                        (Shalini Rahul)
Managing Director                                                                  Director                    
DIN: 00028702                                                                         DIN: 09357650

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 13, 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF ‘INTEC CAPITAL LIMITED’ ON STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qualified Opinion
We have audited the accompanying standalone financial 
statements of Intec Capital Limited (the “Company”), 
which comprise the Standalone Balance Sheet as at 31 
March, 2025, and the Standalone Statement of Profit 
and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the 
Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the standalone financial statements 
including a summary of the material accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, except 
for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for 
Qualified Opinion section of our report, the aforesaid 
financial statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) in the manner so required 
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian 
Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of 
the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, (‘Ind AS’) and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, 
of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March, 
2025 and its Profit (including Other Comprehensive 
Loss), its changes in equity and its cash flows for the 
year ended on that date.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
The Company has availed term loans and working capital 
facilities from various banks, however, slow down of its 
lending business and increased level of non-performing 
/ impaired loan portfolio, has impacted its cash flow / 
liquidity, and the Company is un-able to service term loans 
and working capital facilities including interest thereon to 
certain banks. The interest of Rs. 6,515.10 lakhs accrued 
on these loans has not been accounted / provided for by 
the Company, due to the reasons as described by the 
Company in note no. 16.4 to these standalone financial 
statements. The same has resulted in the non-compliance 
of the Ind AS and inconsistency in the application of 
the accounting policies of the Company, and if the said 
interest would have been accounted / provided for, the 
Company’s total standalone comprehensive loss for the 
year, and standalone borrowings and standalone other 
equity as at the Balance Sheet date would have been 
Rs. 1,467.64 lakhs and Rs. 10,595.48 lakhs and Rs. 
4,772.80 lakhs (debit balance) as against the reported 
figures of Rs. 28.70 lakhs and Rs. 4,080.38 lakhs and 
Rs. 1,742.30 lakhs respectively.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of 
the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards 
are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ section of 
our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the standalone financial statements under the provisions 
of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

There are various events or conditions indicating existence 
of material uncertainty about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern viz. huge accumulated 
losses, non-carrying out the lending / operational 
activities and substantial reduction in the recoveries 
from the borrowers / customers, which have resulted 
in substantial erosion of net worth of the Company and 
there are default in payment of borrowings and delay in 
payment of other liabilities including towards employees 
/ statutory dues etc. These events or conditions indicate 
the existence of material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. However, management has prepared 
these standalone financial statements of the Company 
on a Going Concern due to the reasons as described in 
Note 31.9 to the standalone financial statements.

Our qualified opinion on the standalone financial 
statements is not further qualified in respect of the above 
matter.
Key Audit Matter
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the standalone financial statements of the current 
year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our qualified opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We 
have determined the matter described below to be the 
key audit matter to be communicated in our report.
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Key Audit Matter How the matter was 
addressed in the audit

Impairment of Financial Assets including Loans to the 
Customers (Expected Credit Losses) 

Ind AS 109 requires the Company to recognise impairment 
loss allowance towards its financial assets including loans to 
customers (designated at amortised cost) using the expected 
credit loss (ECL) approach. Such ECL allowance is required 
to be measured considering the guiding principles of Ind AS 
109 including unbiased, probability weighted outcome under 
various scenarios, time value of money, impact arising from 
forward looking macro-economic factors and availability 
of reasonable and supportable information without undue 
costs. 

Applying these principles involves significant estimation in 
various aspects, such as grouping of borrowers based on 
homogeneity by using appropriate statistical techniques, 
staging of loans and estimation of behavioral life, 
determining macro-economic factors impacting credit quality 
of receivables, estimation of losses for loan products with no 
/ minimal historical defaults. Considering the significance of 
such allowance to the overall financial statements (and the 
degree of estimation involved in computation of expected 
credit losses), this area is considered as a key audit matter.

Our Audit Procedure: 

We obtained and evaluated the management’s 
estimations and specifically performed the work as under: 

-	 Read and assessed the Company’s accounting 
policies for impairment of financial assets and 
their compliance with Ind AS 109.

-	 Evaluated the reasonableness of the Management 
estimates by understanding the process of ECL 
estimation and tested the controls around data 
extraction and validation.

-	 Tested the ECL model, including assumptions 
and underlying computation. 

-	 Assessed the floor/minimum rates of provisioning 
applied by the Company for loan products with 
inadequate historical defaults. 

Our Results: 
The results of our testing were satisfactory and we 
considered the fair value of the financial assets including 
loans to customers recognised to be acceptable.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and 
Auditor’s Report thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
other information. The other information comprises the 
Corporate Governance Report and Directors’ Report, 
including annexures, if any, thereon, (but does not include 
the standalone financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after 
the date of this Auditor’s report.

Our qualified opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we will not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Corporate Governance Report and 
Directors’ Report, including annexures, if any, thereon, if we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged 
with governance.     
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged 
with Governance for the Standalone Financial 
Statements 
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Act with respect to 

the preparation of these standalone financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the financial position, 
financial performance including other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company 
in accordance with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting 
Standards (“Ind AS”) notified under Section 133 of the Act 
read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, as amended from time to time.
This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and 
for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; 
selection and application of appropriate accounting 
policies; making judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that 
were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 
preparation and presentation of the standalone financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the standalone financial statements, the 
Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
Those Board of Directors are also responsible for 
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overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the 
Standalone Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the standalone financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these standalone financial 
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

-	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the standalone financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

-	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 
143(3)(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we are also 
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether 
the company has adequate internal financial controls 
system in place and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls. 

-	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

-	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the standalone financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 

going concern.

-	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the standalone financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the standalone 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
standalone financial statements that, individually or 
in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic 
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the 
standalone financial statements may be influenced. We 
consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in 
(i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating 
the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of 
any identified misstatements in the standalone financial 
statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the standalone financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1.	 As required by ‘the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
Order, 2020’ (“the Order”), issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of 
Section 143 of the Act, we give in the Annexure- ‘A’, 
a statement on the matters specified in paragraph 3 
and 4 of the Order. 

2.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report 
that:

a.	 we have sought and obtained all the information 
and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the 
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purposes of our audit.

b.	 in our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law have been kept by the Company 
so far as appears from our examination of those 
books. 

c.	 the Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone 
Statement of Profit and Loss, the Standalone 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows dealt with 
by this Report are in agreement with the books 
of account.

d.	 in our opinion, the aforesaid standalone 
financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) notified under 
Section 133 of the Act read with the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as 
amended from time to time.

e.	 on the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors and taken on record 
by the Board of Directors, none of the directors 
is disqualified as on 31 March, 2025 from being 
appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 
(2) of the Act.

f.	 with respect to the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial 
statements of the Company and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our 
separate report in Annexure- ‘B’; 

g.	 As neither any remuneration has been paid 
nor payable by the Company to its Directors 
during/for the year under audit, the provisions 
of Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 are 
not applicable; and

h.	 with respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with 
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to 
the best of our information and according to the 
explanations given to us:

i.	 The Company has disclosed the impact 
of pending litigations on its financial 
position in its financial statements – Refer 
Note 31.1 to the standalone financial 
statements;    	

ii.	 The Company has not entered into any 
long-term contracts including derivative 
contracts.

iii.	 There has been no amount, required to be 
transferred, to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the Company.

iv.	 (a) 	 The Management has represented 
that, to the best of its knowledge and 
belief, no funds (which are material 
either individually or in the aggregate) 
have been advanced or loaned or 
invested (either from borrowed funds 
or share premium or any other sources 
or kind of funds) by the Company to or 
in any other person or entity, including 
foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded 
in writing or otherwise, that the 
Intermediary shall, whether, directly 
or indirectly lend or invest in other 
persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries; 

(b) The Management has represented, 
that, to the best of its knowledge 
and belief, no funds (which are 
material either individually or in the 
aggregate) have been received by the 
Company from any person or entity, 
including foreign entity (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, 
whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise, that the Company shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly, lend 
or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 
any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

(c) 	 Based on the audit procedures that 
have been considered reasonable 
and appropriate in the circumstances, 
nothing has come to our notice that 
has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause 
(i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), as provided 
under (a) and (b) above, contain any 
material misstatement.

v.	 No dividend was declared or paid during 
the year; hence, the said clause is not 
applicable. 

vi.	 Based on our examination, which included 
test checks, the Company has used 
accounting software for maintaining its 
books of account for the financial year 
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ended 31 March, 2025 which has a feature 
of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and 
the same has operated throughout the year 
for all relevant transactions recorded in the 
software except in certain components 
where the audit trail were not recorded / 
operating due to system limitations, as 
described in note 31.20 to the standalone 
financial statements.  Further, during the 
course of our audit we did not come across 
any instance of the audit trail feature being 
tampered with and the audit trail has been 

preserved by the Company as per the 
statutory requirements for record retention.

For S. P. Chopra & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani)
Partner

M. No. 524485
    UDIN:25524485BMIFXG2363 

Place :  Kota/ New Delhi
Dated:  30 May, 2025
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ANNEXURE-‘A’ TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ 
REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph 1 under `Report on Other 
Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements’ section of the independent 
auditors’ report 
of even date on the standalone financial statements 
of Intec Capital Limited for the year ended 31 March, 
2025)
(i)	 In respect of its property, plant and equipment, 

intangible assets and right to use assets;

a.	 (A) The Company has maintained proper 
records showing full particulars, including 
quantitative details and situation of 
Property, plant and equipment and 
relevant details of Right-of-use assets.

	 (B)  The Company has maintained proper 
records showing full particulars of the 
Intangible assets.

b.	 As explained to us, the property, plant and 
equipments are physically verified by the 
management once in a period of three years, 
which in our opinion is reasonable, having 
regard to the size of the Company and nature of 
its property, plant and equipments. No material 
discrepancies were noticed on such physical 
verification.

c.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us and on the basis of our examination 
of the records of the Company, the title deeds 
in respect of the immovable properties included 
in the standalone financial statements under 
Property, plant and equipments and assets 
held for sale (other than premises where 
the Company is the lessee and the lease 
agreement is duly executed in its favour) are 
held in the name of the Company except for one 
immoveable property i.e. land (having carrying 
value of Rs. 4.82 lakhs) as disclosed in note no. 
31.18 to the standalone financial statements.

d.	 The Company has not revalued any of its 
Property, plant and equipment (including Right 
to use assets) during the year.

e.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us and based on our examination of 
the records of the Company, no proceedings 
have been initiated during the year or are 
pending against the Company as at 31 March, 
2025 for holding any benami property under the 
Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 
(45 of 1988) and rules made thereunder, as 
amended.

(ii)	 (a) The Company’s business does not involve 

inventories, hence reporting under   clause 3(ii)
(a) of the Order is not applicable. 

(b)	 The Company has not been sanctioned any 
working capital limit, at any point of time during 
the year, from banks or financial institutions on 
the basis of security of current assets. However, 
Company is having outstanding working capital 
facilities from various banks since earlier years, 
wherein as informed no returns/statements are 
required to be submitted as these facilities are 
under process of one time settlement (OTS) 
with these Banks.

(iii)	 The Company is a NBFC registered under Section 
45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, and 
as a part of its business activities was engaged in 
lending/granting of the loans.
(a)  	As the Company is a NBFC, the reporting 

under caluse 3(iii)(a) of the Order regarding 
loans, and advances in the nature of loans are 
not applicable.  

(b)   According to the information and explanations 
given to us and based on our examination of 
the records of the Company, the investment 
made by the Company are not prejudicial to its 
interest. Further, the Company during the year 
has not given any guarantee, security or loans, 
and advances in the nature of loans.   

(c) 	 and (d) In respect of the loans, and advances 
in the nature of loans, given by the Company 
though the schedule of repayment of principal 
and payment of interest has been stipulated, 
however, in few cases loans including interest 
of Rs. 5,698.36 lakhs (net of impairment loss 
allowance of Rs. 8,450.92 lakhs) are overdue 
since more than 180 days, for which the 
necessary steps were found to be taken by 
the Company during our examination of the 
relevant records. 

(e)  	As the Company is a NBFC, the reporting 
under clause 3(iii)(e) of the Order regarding 
loans, and advances in the nature of loans are 
not applicable.

(f)   During the year, the Company has not given 
any loans, and advances in the nature of loans, 
hence the reporting under caluse 3(iii)(f) of the 
Order is not applicable.   

(iv)	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us, and on the basis of our examination 
of the records, the Company has complied with 
the provisions of Section 185 and 186 of the Act in 
respect of the loans granted, investment made and 
guarantees and security provided, as applicable.  

(v)	 The Company has not accepted any deposit or 
amounts which are deemed to be deposits. Hence 
reporting under clause 3(v) of the Order is not 
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applicable.
(vi)	 The maintenance of cost records has not been 

specified by the Central Government of India under 
sub-section (1) of Section 148 of the Act for any of 
the business activities carried out by the Company. 
Hence reporting under clause 3(vi) of the Order is 
not applicable. 

(vii)	 In respect of statutory dues:
a.	 According to the information and explanations 

given to us and the records of the Company 
examined by us, in our opinion, the Company 
is not regular in depositing undisputed statutory 
dues including Goods and Service Tax, 
provident fund, employees’ state insurance, 
income tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of 
customs, duty of excise, value added tax, cess 
and other statutory dues as applicable with the 
appropriate authorities, and there have been 
delay in deposit of these dues during the year. 
According to the information and explanations 
given to us, there were unpaid overdue amounts 
towards the aforesaid dues as at the year end 
amounting to Rs. 0.87 lakhs as at 31 March, 
2025 for a period of more than six months from 
the date they became payable.

b.	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us and the records of the Company 
examined by us, there are no statutory dues 
referred to in sub-clause (a) above, which have 
not been deposited on account of any dispute.

(viii)	 There were no transactions relating to previously 
unrecorded income that have been surrendered 
or disclosed as income during the year in the tax 
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 
of 1961).

(ix)	 (a) 	Based on the audit procedures and according 
to the information and explanations given to us, 
the Company has defaulted in repayment of 
loans and borrowings to the banks. The detail 
of the defaults has been given in the notes 16.3 
and 16.4 to the standalone financial statements. 

(b) 	 Based on the audit procedures and according 
to the information and explanations given to 
us, the Company has not been declared wilful 
defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 
other lender.

(c)	 During the year, unsecured credit facilities 
on long term basis to meet working capital 
requirements were obtained from two related 

parties and the same was utilized for the 
purpose for which it was obtained.

(d)	 During the year, no funds raised on short term 
basis, hence reporting under this clause is not 
applicable.

(e) 	 Based on the audit procedures and according 
to the information and explanations given 
to us, the Company has not taken any funds 
from any entity or person on account of or to 
meet the obligations of its subsidiary. Further, 
the Company is not having any joint venture or 
associate.

(f) 	 Based on the audit procedures and according 
to the information and explanations given to us, 
the Company has not raised any loans during 
the year on pledge of securities held in its 
subsidiary. Further, the Company is not having 
any joint venture or associate.

(x)	 (a) 	According to the information and explanations 
given to us, the Company has neither raised 
funds by way of initial public offer nor further 
public offer (including debt instruments) during 
the year, hence reporting under this clause is 
not applicable.

(b) 	 According to the information and explanations 
given to us and based on our examination of 
the records of the Company, the Company has 
not made any preferential allotment or private 
placement of shares or convertible debentures 
(fully, partially or optionally convertible) during 
the year, hence reporting under this clause is 
not applicable.

(xi)	 (a) Based on the audit procedures and according 
to the information and explanations given to us, 
no fraud by the Company or no material fraud 
on the Company has been noticed or reported 
during the year.

	 (b) No report under sub-section (12) of Section 
143 of the Act has been filed in Form ADT-4 as 
prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit 
and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, with 
the Central Government, during the year and 
upto the date of this report.

	 (c) According to the information and explanations 
given to us and based on our examination of 
the records of the Company, no whistle blower 
complaint was received by the Company 
during the year. Further, as informed Company 
has a process of thoroughly addressing any 
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complaints, received from the shareholders, borrowers or any other party/stakeholder. Also, refer para E.C 
under Annexure I to note 31.10 in the standalone financial statements for status of complaints received from 
the customers.

(xii)	 The Company is not a Nidhi Company, hence reporting under clauses 3(xii)(a) to 3(xii)(c) is not applicable.
(xiii)	 According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records of the 

Company, transactions with the related parties are in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of the Act, where 
applicable. The details of such transcations have 
been disclosed in the financial statements, as 
required by Ind AS 24 – Related Party Disclosures.

(xiv)	 (a) In our opinion and based on our examination, 
the Company has an adequate internal 
audit system commensurate with the size 
and the nature of its business, as per the 
provisions of the Act.

(b) 	 We have considered, the internal audit 
reports for the year under audit, issued 
to the Company during the year, in 
determining the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit procedures.

(xv)	 In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given to us, the Company has 
not entered into any non-cash transactions with 
Directors or persons connected with them.

(xvi)	 (a) 	 The Company is required to and has 
been registered under section 45-IA of 
the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 as a 
Non-systematically Important Non-Deposit 
taking Non-Banking Financial Company.

(b) 	 The Company is conducting its activities as 
Non-Systematically Important Non-Deposit 
Taking Non-Banking Financial Company 
vide Certificate No. B-14.00731 dated 
November 04, 2009 issued by the Reserve 
Bank of India. 

(c) 	 The Company is a Non-Banking Financial 
Company (NBFC) as defined in the 
regulations made by RBI, and it has 
continued to fulfil the criteria of a NBFC as 
stipultated by RBI. 

(d) 	 In our opinion, there is no core investment 
company within the Group (as defined in 
the Core Investment Companies (Reserve 
Bank) Directions, 2016) and accordingly 
reporting under clause 3(xvi)(d) of the 
Order is not applicable.

(xvii)	 The Company has not incurred cash losses during 
the financial year covered by our audit and the 
immediately preceding financial year.

(xviii)	 There has been no resignation of the statutory 
auditors of the Company during the year.

(xix)	 On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing 
and expected dates of realisation of financial 
assets and payment of financial liabilities, other 

information accompanying the financial statements 
and our knowledge of the Board of Directors and 
Management plans and based on our examination 
of the evidence supporting the assumptions, 
we have reported in our Auditor’ Report on 
Standalone Financial Statements under Material 
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern paragraph 
that there are various events or conditions 
indicate the existence of material uncertainty that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. However, 
management has prepared these standalone 
financial statements of the Company on a Going 
Concern due to the reasons as described in Note 
31.9 to the standalone financial statements. Also, 
Company’s Net Owned Fund and Leverage Ratio 
are not in compliance of the Master Direction – 
Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial 
Company – Scale Based Regulation) Directions, 
2023 as amended from time to time issued vide 
notification no. RBI/DoR/2023-24/106  DoR.FIN.
REC.No.45/03.10.119 / 2023-24 dated October 
19, 2023, as updated / amended from time to time 
(“RBI Master Directions”) and we will be issuing 
an Exceptional Report to the RBI on the same. 
Therefore, we could not state or assure regarding 
the future viability of the Company. We further 
state that our reporting is based on the facts up 
to the date of the audit report and we neither give 
any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities 
falling due within a period of one year from the 
balance sheet date, will get discharged by the 
Company as and when they fall due. 

(xx)	 (a) & (b) During the year, no amount was required 
to be spent towards the Corporate Social 
Responsibility as Company has not made average 
net profits during the three immediately preceding 
financial years. Hence reporting under clause 
3(xx) is not applicable.

   For S. P. Chopra & Co.
   Chartered Accountants

   Firm Regn. No. 000346N

   

Place  : Kota/ New Delhi		         (Gautam Bhutani)
Dated : 30 May, 2025      		           Partner

                                               M. No. 524485
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ANNEXURE-‘B’ 

TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 (Referred to in paragraph 2(f) under ̀ Report on Other 
Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements’ section of the independent 
auditors’ report  of even date on the standalone 
financial statements of Intec Capital Limited for the 
year ended 31 March, 2025)
Report on the Internal Financial Controls under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements of Intec Capital Limited 
(“the Company”) as of 31 March, 2025 in conjunction with 
our audit of the standalone financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.
Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal control over financial reporting 
criteria established by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the 
“Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting” (the “Guidance Note”) issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence 
to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, 
as required under the Act.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(the ‘Guidance Note’) and the Standards on Auditing, 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 
and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of 
the Act to the extent applicable to an audit of internal 
financial controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal 
Financial Controls and, both issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and 
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements 
was established and maintained and if such controls 
operated effectively in all material respects.
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls system with reference to financial statements 
and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements 
included obtaining an understanding of internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements, assessing 
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls 
system with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference 
to Financial Statements 
A company’s internal financial control with reference to 
financial statements is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
financial control with reference to financial statements 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are 
being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and Directors of the Company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.
Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls 
with Reference to Financial Statements 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements, including 
the possibility of collusion or improper management 
override of controls, material misstatements due to error 
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements to future periods are 
subject to the risk that the internal financial control 
with reference to financial statements may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.
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Opinion
In our opinion, to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, the Company has, in all 
material respects, adequate internal financial controls 
with reference to financial statements and such internal 
financial controls with reference to  financial statements 
were operating effectively as at 31 March, 2025, based 
on the internal control over financial reporting criteria 
established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India.

   For S. P. Chopra & Co.
              Chartered Accountants
         Firm Regn. No. 000346N

Place  : Kota/ New Delhi		    (Gautam Bhutani)
Dated : 30 May, 2025                                           Partner

                                                     M. No. 524485
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STANDALONE BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH, 2025
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note 
No.

As at 
31 March, 2025

As at 
31 March, 2024

ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5  75.80  524.61 
Loans 6  5,499.59  6,148.94 
Investments 7  6.84  6.84 
Other financial assets 8  447.62  469.75 

   
Non-financial assets  

Current tax assets (net) 9  3.46  3.66 
Deferred tax assets (net) 10  2,151.32  2,244.84 
Property, plant and equipment 11  25.14  31.70 
Intangible assets 12  1.86  11.93 
Right-of-use assets 13  52.33  56.34 
Other non-financial assets 14  10.52  7.99 

 
Non-current assets held for sale 15  15.90  122.93 

 
TOTAL ASSETS  8,290.38  9,629.53 

 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  

 
LIABILITIES  
Financial liabilities  
  Borrowings 16  4,080.38  5,488.65 
  Lease liabilities 31.6  68.32  70.77 
  Other financial liabilities 17
   - Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises.  9.70  18.90 
   - Total outstanding dues of other than micro enterprises and small enterprises.  495.03  444.48 

 
Non-financial liabilities  

Provisions 18  21.12  17.39 
Other non-financial liabilities 19  36.90  39.11 

 
EQUITY  

Equity share capital 20  1,836.63  1,836.63 
Other equity 21  1,742.30  1,713.60 

   
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  8,290.38  9,629.53 
   
Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes 1 to 4 

& 31
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the Standalone Balance Sheet referred to in  
our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

Place: Kota/ New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Date: 30 May, 2025 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. FCS 11041 
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STANDALONE STATEMENT OF PROFIT & LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2025 
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note No. Year ended  
31 March, 2025

Year ended  
31 March, 2024

 INCOME 
Revenue from operations
  Interest income 22 112.23 266.30 
  Fees and commission income 23  -   0.18 
  Recoveries of financial assets written off 24 243.48 107.16 
Total revenue from operations 355.71 373.64 
  Other income 25 80.82 6.04 
Total Income 436.53 379.68 
 
EXPENSES
  Finance costs 26 115.50 22.27 
  Impairment on financial instruments 27 (378.69) 1,262.15 
  Employee benefits expenses 28  252.62  371.56 
  Depreciation and amortization 29  35.56  36.77 
  Other expenses 30  287.54  378.60 
Total Expenses 312.53 2,071.35 
Profit/(Loss) before tax 124.00 (1,691.67)
Tax expense

Deferred tax debit / (credit) 10.iii 93.96 (322.57)
Total tax expense / (credit) 93.96 (322.57)
Profit/(Loss) for the year 30.04 (1,369.10)

 
Other comprehensive (loss) / income  
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  
  Re-measurement (loss)/gain on defined benefit plan (1.79) 2.81 
  Income tax effect 10.iv 0.45 (0.71)
Other comprehensive (loss) / income (1.34) 2.10 

Total comprehensive Income/ (loss) for the year 28.70 (1,367.00)
Earnings per share: (Nominal value per share Rs. 10/-) 31.7  

Basic/Diluted earnings per share (in Rs.) 0.16 (7.45)
 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes 1to4 & 31  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss referred to in 
our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

Place: Kota/ New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Date: 30 May, 2025 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. FCS 11041 
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STANDALONE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2025
(All amounts in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars  Year ended  
31 March, 2025

 Year ended  
31 March, 2024

A. Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/(Loss) before tax 124.00 (1,691.67)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 35.56 36.77 
Impairment on financial instruments (381.64) 1,262.15 
Loss on Sale of Repossessed Assets 2.95  -   
Liabilities no longer required written back  -   (1.62)
Gain on cessation of lease liability  -   (2.31)
Profit on disposal of property, plant & equipment (net)  -   (0.25)
Finance costs 115.50 22.27 
Operating (loss) before working capital changes (103.63) (374.66)
Movement in working capital:
(Increase) / Decrease in loans 1,026.45 351.12 
(Increase) / Decrease in other financial assets 26.69 97.19 
(Increase) / Decrease in other non-financial assets (2.53) 8.05 
Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities 40.70 164.93 
Increase /(Decrease) in provisions 1.95 16.87 
Increase /(Decrease) in other non-financial liabilities (2.21) 20.47 
Cash flow from operations 987.42 283.97 
Taxes refund / adjustment (net)  0.21  -   
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 987.63 283.97 
Cash flow from investing activities
Sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (net)  -   3.08 
Sale of non-current assets held for sale (net)  104.08  -   
Net cash generated from investing activities (B) 104.08 3.08 
Cash flow from financing activities
(Repayments) of / Proceeds from secured loans (1,508.47) 154.16 
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (17.37) (22.01)
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (8.94) (11.18)
Finance costs (5.74) (3.20)
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (C) (1,540.52) 117.77 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (448.81) 404.82 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 524.61 119.79 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 75.80 524.61 
Notes: 
1.	 The above Standalone Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian 

Accounting Standard (Ind - AS) - 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’
2.	 Cash and cash equivalents in the standalone balance sheet comprises of Cash in hand, Balances with Banks and 

Drafts on hand.
  -   Cash on hand  61.55 44.45
  -   Balances with banks - in current accounts  14.25 400.03
  -   Drafts on hand  -   80.13

 75.80  524.61 
Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes (1 to 4 & 31)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the Standalone Statement of Cash Flows referred to in our     
report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

Place: Kota/ New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Date: 30 May, 2025 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. FCS 11041 



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2569

STANDALONE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH, 2025

(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
(A) Equity Share Capital

For the year ended 31 March, 2025
Balance as at  
01 April, 2024

Changes in equity share  
capital during the year

Balance as at  
31 March, 2025

 1,836.63  -    1,836.63 

For the year ended 31 March, 2024
Balance as at  
01 April, 2023

Changes in equity share  
capital during the year

Balance as at  
31 March, 2024

1,836.63 -  1,836.63 

(B) Other Equity
Particulars Reserves & Surplus Other Items 

of Other 
Comprehensive 

Income - Re-
measurement 

gains on defined 
benefit plan

Total

Statutory 
Reserve as 
per Section 
45- IC of RBI 

Act, 1934

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Impairment 
Reserve 

(Refer note 
31.17)

Balance as at 1 April, 2024 1,868.50 8,843.84 (11,548.00) 2,546.93 2.33 1,713.60 
Profit for the year  -    -   30.04  -    -   30.04 
Other Comprehensive (loss)  -    -    -    -   (1.34) (1.34)
Total Comprehensive Income for the year  -    -   30.04  -   (1.34)  28.70 
Appropriation during the year  6.01  -   (6.01)  -    -    -   
Balance as at 31 March, 2025  1,874.51  8,843.84  (11,523.97) 2546.93 0.99  1,742.30 

Particulars Reserves & Surplus Other Items 
of Other 

Comprehensive 
Income - Re-
measurement 

gains on defined 
benefit plan

Total
Statutory 

Reserve as 
per Section 
45- IC of RBI 

Act, 1934

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Impairment 
Reserve 

(Refer note 
31.17)

Balance as at 1 April, 2023 1,868.50 8,843.84 (10,178.90) 2,546.93 0.23 3,080.60 
Loss for the year  -    -   (1,369.10)  -    -   (1,369.10)
Other Comprehensive income  -    -    -    -   2.10 2.10 
Total Comprehensive Loss for the year  -    -   (1,369.10)  -   2.10  (1,367.00)
Appropriation during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Balance as at 31 March, 2024  1,868.50  8,843.84  (11,548.00)  2,546.93 2.33  1,713.60 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes (1 to 4 & 31)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

This is the Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity referred to in our 
report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

Place: Kota/ New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Date: 30 May, 2025 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. FCS 11041 
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Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

1.	  COMPANY INFORMATION 
	 Intec Capital Limited (the ‘Company’) incorporated in 

India on 15 February, 1994, was registered with the 
Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI’) as a Non-Banking Financial 
Company (‘NBFC’) vide Certificate No. B-14.00731 
dated 4 May, 1998 in the name of Intec Securities 
Limited. Subsequently, due to change in name of the 
Company, the Company received a revised Certificate 
of Registration (‘CoR’) in the name of Intec Capital 
Limited on 04 November, 2009 under Section 45-1A of 
the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. Equity shares of 
the Company are listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange 
Limited (BSE).

	 The standalone financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March, 2025, were approved by the Board 
of Directors and authorized for issue on 30 May, 2025, 
and recommended for consideration and adoption by the 
shareholders in their ensuing Annual General Meeting..  

2.	  BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1	Compliance with Indian Accounting Standards 

(Ind–AS):
	 The standalone financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting 
Standards (‘Ind AS’) notified under the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, and the 
other relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
(the ‘Act’), and the Master Direction – Non-Banking 
Financial Company – Non-Systemically Important 
Non-Deposit taking Non-Banking Financial Company 
(the ‘NBFC Regulations’) issued by RBI, as amended 
from time to time. The notified Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) are followed by the Company 
in so far as they are not inconsistent with the NBFC 
Regulations.

	 The standalone financial statements have been 
prepared on accrual and going concern basis. The 
accounting policies are applied consistently to all the 
periods presented in the financial statements.

2.2     Presentation of standalone financial statements:

	 The Company presents its Balance Sheet in order 
of liquidity. The Company generally reports financial 
assets and financial liabilities on a gross basis in the 
Balance Sheet. They are offset and reported net only 
when Ind AS specifically permits the same or it has 
an unconditional legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognised amounts without being contingent on a 
future event. Similarly, the Company offsets incomes 
and expenses and reports the same on a net basis 
when permitted by Ind AS specifically unless they are 
material in nature.

2.3 Historical Cost Convention  
  The standalone financial statements have been 

prepared on a historical cost basis, except, certain 
financial assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, 

2.4  Functional and present currency
	 The standalone financial statements are prepared 

in Indian Rupees (‘Rs.’), which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency. All financial 
information presented in Indian Rupees has been 
rounded to the nearest lakhs with two decimal places, 
unless stated otherwise.

3.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS 

	 The preparation of standalone financial statements 
in conformity with Ind AS requires the management to 
make use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of contingent liabilities at the date of standalone financial 
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. In view of the 
inherent uncertainties and a level of subjectivity involved 
in measurement of items, it is possible that the outcomes 
in the subsequent financial years could differ from those 
on which the Management’s estimates are based.

     The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are given below.

•	 Fair value of financial instruments

	 Fair value of financial instruments is required to 
be estimated for financial reporting purposes. The 
Company applies appropriate valuation techniques 
and inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating 
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company 
uses quoted prices and market-observable data 
to the extent it is available. When the fair value of 
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the 
balance sheet cannot be measured based on quoted 
prices in active markets, their fair value is measured 
using valuation techniques, based on the inputs to 
these models taken from observable markets where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair values. 
Judgements include considerations of inputs such 
as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes 
in assumptions about these factors could affect the 
reported fair value of financial instruments.

•	 Impairment of financial assets – Expected Credit 
Loss

	 The measurement of impairment loss allowance for 
financial asset measured at amortized cost requires 
use of statistical models, significant assumptions 
about future economic conditions and credit behavior 
(e.g. likelihood of borrowers defaulting and resulting 
losses). In estimating the cash flows expected to be 
recovered from credit impaired loans, the Company 
makes judgements about the borrower’s financial 
situation, current status of the project, net realizable 



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2571

value of securities / collateral etc. As these estimates 
are based on various assumptions, actual results 
may vary leading to changes to the impairment 
loss allowance. Further, judgement is also made 
in identifying the default and significant increase in 
credit risk (SICR) on financial assets as well as for 
homogeneous grouping of similar financial assets. 
Impairment assessment also takes into account the 
data from the loan portfolio, levels of arrears and an 
analysis of historical defaults.

•	 Non recognition of income on Credit Impaired Loans 

	 As a matter of prudence, income on credit impaired 
loans is recognized as and when received and / or 
on accrual basis when expected realization is higher 
than the gross loan amount outstanding.

•	 Taxes

	 Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation 
of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and 
the amount and timing of future taxable income. Given 
the wide range of business relationships and the long-
term nature and complexity of existing contractual 
agreements, differences arising between the actual 
results and the assumptions made, or future changes 
to such assumptions, could necessitate future 
adjustments to tax income and expense already 
recorded. The Company establishes provisions, 
based on reasonable estimates. The amount of 
such provisions is based on various factors, such 
as experience of previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity 
and the responsible tax authority. Such differences 
of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of 
issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the 
respective domicile of the companies.

•	 Useful life of property, plant and equipment

	 The Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated 
on straight line method over their respective useful 
lives. Management estimates the useful lives of 
these assets as detailed in Note 4.5 below.  Changes 
in the expected level of usage, technological 
developments, level of wear and tear could impact 
the economic useful lives and the residual values of 
these assets, therefore, future depreciation charges 
could be revised and could have an impact on the 
financial position in future years.

4.	 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
	 This note provides a list of the material accounting 

policies adopted in the preparation of these standalone 
financial statements. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

4.1	Revenue Recognition
(i)	 Interest Income
	 The Company recognises interest income using 

Effective Interest Rate (EIR) on all financial assets 
subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
EIR is calculated by considering all costs and 
incomes attributable to acquisition of a financial asset 
or assumption of a financial liability and it represents 
a rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments / receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset / financial liability to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost 
of a financial liability.

	 The Company recognises interest income by 
applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of 
financial assets other than credit-impaired assets 
after setting-off of collateral amounts. In case of 
credit-impaired financial assets regarded as ‘stage 
3’, the Company recognises interest income on 
the amortised cost net of impairment loss of the 
financial asset at EIR, to the extent of probability of 
its recovery. If the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, the Company reverts to calculating interest 
income on a gross basis.

	 Interest on financial assets subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit and loss, is recognized 
on accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the 
respective contract.

(ii)	Dividend Income
	  Dividend Income on investments is recognized 

when the company’s right to receive the payment is 
established, which is generally when shareholders 
approve the dividend.

(iii)	Fees and Commission
	 Processing fees and other servicing fees is 

recognized on accrual basis. The Company 
recognizes service and administration charges 
towards rendering of additional services to its loan 
customers on satisfactory completion of service 
delivery. Fees on value added services and products 
are recognized on rendering of services and products 
to the customer.

(iv)	Interest on Borrowings 
	 Interest expense on borrowings subsequently 

measured at amortized cost is recognized using 
Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method.

(v)	Recoveries of Financial Assets written off
	 The Company recognises income on recoveries of 

financial assets written off on realisation or when the 
right to receive the same without any uncertainties of 
recovery is established.

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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(vi)	Sale of Loan Assets
	 Profit / loss on sale of loan assets through direct 

assignment / securitization are recognized over the 
residual life of loan / pass through certificates in terms 
of RBI guidelines. Loss arising on account of direct 
assignment / securitization is recognized upfront.

(vii)	  Other Income / Revenue
	 Other income / revenue is recognized to the extent 

that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow 
to the Company and it can be reliably measured.

4.2	Cash and Cash Equivalents
	 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 

other short term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.3	Financial Instruments
	 A financial instrument is defined as any contract that 

gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Trade 
receivables and payables, loan receivables, investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, borrowings, cash and 
cash equivalents, other bank balances etc. are some 
examples of financial instruments.

	 All the financial instruments are recognised on the date 
when the Company becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instruments. 

(i) Financial assets
	 Financial assets include cash, or an equity instrument 

of another entity, or a contractual right to receive cash 
or another financial asset from another entity. Few 
examples of financial assets are loan receivables, 
investment in equity instruments, trade receivables 
and cash and cash equivalents etc.

	 Initial measurement
	 All financial assets are recognised initially at fair 

value including transaction costs that are attributable 
to the acquisition of financial assets except in the 
case of financial assets recorded at FVTPL where 
the transaction costs are charged to profit or loss. 
However, trade receivables that do not contain a 
significant financing component are measured at 
transaction price.

	 Subsequent measurement
(i) Classification and Measurement of Financial assets 

(other than Equity instruments)

	 For the purpose of subsequent measurement, 
financial assets (other than equity instruments) are 
classified into three categories:

(a) Financial Assets at amortised cost

(b) Financial Assets at FVOCI

(c) Financial Assets at FVTPL

(a) Financial Assets at amortised cost
	 The Company measures its financial assets at amortised 

cost if both the following conditions are met:

•	 The asset is held within a business model of collecting 
contractual cash flows; and 

•	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are Sole Payments of 
Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

	 To make the SPPI assessment, the Company applies 
judgment and considers relevant factors such as the 
nature of portfolio and the period for which the interest 
rate is set. 

	 The Company determines its business model at the level 
that best reflects how it manages groups of financial 
assets to achieve its business objective. The Company’s 
business model is not assessed on an instrument by 
instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated 
portfolios. If cash flows after initial recognition are 
realised in a way that is different from the Company’s 
original expectations, the Company does not change the 
classification of the remaining financial assets held in 
that business model, but incorporates such information 
when assessing newly originated financial assets going 
forward.

	 The business model of the Company for assets 
subsequently measured at amortised cost category is 
to hold and collect contractual cash flows. However, 
considering the economic viability of carrying the 
delinquent portfolios in the books of the Company, it may 
sell these portfolios to banks and/or asset reconstruction 
companies.

	 After initial measurement, such financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost on effective 
interest rate (EIR) as given in para 4.1.(i) above. 

(b) Financial Assets at FVOCI
	 The Company subsequently classifies its financial assets 

as FVOCI, only if both of the following criteria are met:

•	 The objective of the business model is achieved both 
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the 
financial assets; and

•	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are Solely Payments of 
Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding.

	 Financial Assets included within the FVOCI category 
are measured at each reporting date at fair value with 
such changes being recognised in other comprehensive 
income (OCI). The interest income on these assets is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
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	 On de-recognition of the asset, cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit or 
loss.

(c) Financial Assets at FVTPL
	 The Company classifies financial assets which are 

held for trading under FVTPL category. Held for trading 
assets are recorded and measured in the Balance Sheet 
at fair value. Interest and dividend incomes are recorded 
in interest income and dividend income, respectively 
according to the terms of the contract, or when the right 
to receive the same has been established. Gain and 
losses on changes in fair value of financial assets are 
recognised on net basis through profit or loss.

	 Term / fixed deposits held by the Company have been 
classified under this category

(ii)	 Classification and Measurement of Equity 
instruments

	 All equity investments other than in subsidiaries are 
measured at fair value. Equity instruments which are held 
for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity 
instruments, the Company at initial recognition makes 
an irrevocable election to classify it as either FVTOCI 
or FVTPL. The Company makes such election on an 
instrument by instrument basis. An equity investment 
classified as FVTOCI is initially measured at fair value 
plus transaction costs. Subsequently, it is measured at 
fair value and, all fair value changes are recognised in 
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and accumulated 
in Reserve. There is no recycling of the amounts from 
OCI to Statement of Profit and Loss, even on sale of 
investment. However, the Company transfers the same 
within equity. 

(iii) De-recognition of Financial Assets
	 The Company derecognises a financial asset (or, where 

applicable, a part of a financial asset) when:

•	 The right to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or

•	 The Company has transferred its right to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under an assignment 
arrangement and the Company has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset. 
Once the asset is derecognised, the Company does 
not have any continuing involvement in the same.

	 The Company transfers its financial assets through the 
partial assignment route and accordingly derecognises 
the transferred portion as it neither has any continuing 
involvement in the same nor does it retain any control. 
If the Company retains the right to service the financial 
asset for a fee, it recognises either a servicing asset or 
a servicing liability for that servicing contract. A service 
liability in respect of a service is recognised at fair value 
if the fee to be received is not expected to compensate 

the Company adequately for performing the service. 
If the fees to be received is expected to be more than 
adequate compensation for the servicing, a service 
asset is recognised for the servicing right at an amount 
determined on the basis of an allocation of the carrying 
amount of the larger financial asset.

	 On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between:

•	 the carrying amount (measured at the date of de-
recognition) and

•	 the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(iv) Impairment of financial assets
	 Expected Credit Loss (ECL) are recognised for financial 

assets held under amortised cost, measured at FVOCI, 
and certain loan commitments.

	 Financial assets where no significant increase in credit 
risk has been observed are considered to be in ‘stage 1’ 
and for which a 12-month ECL is recognised. Financial 
assets that are considered to have significant increase 
in credit risk are considered to be in ‘stage 2’ and those 
which are in default or for which there is an objective 
evidence of impairment are considered to be in ‘stage 
3’. Lifetime ECL is recognised for stage 2 and stage 3 
financial assets.

	 At initial recognition, allowance (or provision in the case 
of loan commitments) is required for ECL towards default 
events that are possible in the next 12 months, or less, 
where the remaining life is less than 12 months.

	 In the event of a significant increase in credit risk, 
allowance (or provision) is required for ECL towards 
all possible default events over the expected life of the 
financial instrument (‘lifetime ECL’).

	 Financial assets (and the related impairment loss 
allowances) are written off in full, when there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery.

	 Treatment of the different stages of financial assets 
and the methodology of determination of ECL
(a) Credit impaired (stage 3)

	 The Company recognises a financial asset to be credit 
impaired and in stage 3 by considering relevant objective 
evidence, primarily whether:

•	 Contractual payments of either principal or interest 
are past due for more than 180 days;

•	 The loan is otherwise considered to be in default.

	 Restructured loans, where repayment terms are 
renegotiated as compared to the original contracted 
terms due to significant credit distress of the borrower, are 
classified as credit impaired. Such loans continue to be in 
stage 3 until they exhibit regular payment of renegotiated 

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
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principal and interest over a minimum observation period, 
typically 12 months – post renegotiation, and there are 
no other indicators of impairment. Having satisfied the 
conditions of timely payment over the observation period 
these loans could be transferred to stage 1 or 2 and a 
fresh assessment of the risk of default be done for such 
loans. 

	 Interest income is recognised by applying the EIR to the 
net amortised cost amount i.e. gross carrying amount 
less ECL allowance.

 (b) Significant increase in credit risk (stage 2)

	 An assessment of whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition is performed at each 
reporting period by considering the change in the risk of 
default of the loan exposure. However, unless identified 
at an earlier stage, 90 days past due is considered 
as an indication of financial assets to have suffered a 
significant increase in credit risk. 

.	 The measurement of risk of defaults under stage 2 is 
computed on homogenous portfolios, generally by nature 
of loans, tenors, underlying collateral, geographies and 
borrower profiles. The default risk is assessed using PD 
(probability of default) derived from past behavioural 
trends of default across the identified homogenous 
portfolios. These past trends factor in the past customer 
behavioural trends, credit transition probabilities and 
macroeconomic conditions. The assessed PDs are then 
aligned considering future economic conditions that are 
determined to have a bearing on ECL.

(c) Without significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition (stage 1)

	 ECL resulting from default events that are possible in the 
next 12 months are recognised for financial instruments 
in stage 1. The Company has ascertained default 
possibilities on past behavioural trends witnessed 
for each homogenous portfolio using application/
behavioural score cards and other performance 
indicators, determined statistically.

(d) Measurement of ECL

	 The assessment of credit risk and estimation of ECL 
are unbiased and probability weighted. It incorporates 
all information that is relevant including information 
about past events, current conditions and reasonable 
forecasts of future events and economic conditions at 
the reporting date. In addition, the estimation of ECL 
takes into account the time value of money. Forward 
looking economic scenarios determined with reference 
to external forecasts of economic parameters that 
have demonstrated a linkage to the performance of our 
portfolios over a period of time have been applied to 
determine impact of macro-economic factors.

	 The Company has calculated ECL using three main 
components: a probability of default (PD), a loss given 
default (LGD) and the exposure at default (EAD). ECL 
is calculated by multiplying the PD, LGD and EAD and 

adjusted for time value of money using a rate which is a 
reasonable approximation of EIR.

•	 Determination of PD is covered above for each stage 
of ECL.

•	 EAD represents the expected balance at default, 
taking into account the repayment of principal and 
interest from the Balance Sheet date to the date of 
default together with any expected drawdowns of 
committed facilities.

•	 LGD represents expected losses on the EAD given 
the event of default, taking into account, among other 
attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral value at 
the time it is expected to be realised and the time 
value of money.

	 A more detailed description of the methodology used 
for ECL is covered in the ‘credit risk’ section of note no. 
31.17.

(ii) Financial liabilities
	 Financial liabilities include liabilities that represent a 

contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial 
assets to another entity, or a contract that may or will 
be settled in the entities own equity instruments. Few 
examples of financial liabilities are trade payables, 
borrowings etc.

	 Initial measurement
	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 

and, in the case of borrowings and payables, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs. The Company’s 
financial liabilities include trade payables, borrowings 
and other payables. 

	 Subsequent measurement
	 After initial recognition, all financial liabilities are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
EIR [Refer note no. 4.1(i)]. Any gains or losses arising 
on derecognition of liabilities are recognised in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 Derecognition
	 The Company derecognises a financial liability when the 

obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.

(iii) Offsetting of financial instruments
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the 

net amount is reported in the Balance Sheet only if there 
is an enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts with an intention to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

4.4	Investment in subsidiary and associates
	 Investment in subsidiary is recognised at cost and is 

not adjusted to fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. Cost of investment represents amount paid for 
acquisition of the said investment.

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
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	 The Company assesses at the end of each reporting 
period, if there are any indications that the said investment 
may be impaired. If so, the Company estimates the 
recoverable value / amount of the investment and 
provides for impairment, if any i.e. the deficit in the 
recoverable value over cost.

4.5	Property plant and equipment 
(i)	 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, 

net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any, consistent with the 
criteria specified in Ind AS 16 ‘Property, Plant and 
Equipment’. The cost comprises purchase price, 
borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met and 
directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its 
working condition for the intended use. Any trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the 
purchase price.

(ii)	 Subsequent expenditure related to an item of 
property, plant and equipment is added to its book 
value only if it increases the future benefits from 
the existing asset beyond its previously assessed 
standard of performance. All other expenses on 
existing property, plant and equipment, including 
day-to-day repair and maintenance expenditure and 
cost of replacing parts, are charged to the Statement 
of Profit and Loss for the period during which such 
expenses are incurred.

(iii)	An item of PPE and any significantly part initially 
recognized is derecognized upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any Gains or losses arising from 
de-recognition of fixed assets are measured as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized 
in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is 
derecognized.

(iv)	Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is 
provided on straight-line method over the useful life 
of the assets estimated by the management, in the 
manner prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies 
Act, 2013. Immovable assets at the leased premises 
including civil works, fixtures and electrical items etc. 
are capitalized as leasehold improvements and are 
amortized over the primary period of lease subject 
to maximum of two years. The useful lives in the 
following case are different from those prescribed in 
Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.  

Asset Useful life as 
per Schedule 

II of the 
Companies 

Act, 2013 (No. 
of Years)

Useful life as 
assessed / 

estimated by the 
Company (No. of 

Years)

Electrical 
installations 10 8

	 Based on usage pattern and internal assessment, 
the management believes that the useful lives as 
given above best represent the period over which the 
management expects to use these assets. Hence the 
useful lives of these assets is different from the lives 
as prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 
2013

(v)	Depreciation on addition or on sale / discard of an 
asset is calculated pro-rata from / up to the date of 
such addition or sale/discard.

(vi)	The residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation of Plant, property and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

4.6	Intangible Assets and amortization thereof
(i)	 Intangible assets are recognized only if it is probable 

that the future economic benefits that are attributable 
to assets will flow to the Company and the costs 
of the assets can be measured reliably. Intangible 
assets comprising computer software are carried at 
cost less amortization and accumulated impairment, 
if any. Computer software including improvements 
are amortized over the management’s estimate 
of the useful life of such intangibles. Management 
estimates for useful life of intangibles is 6 years.

(ii)	 An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, 
or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from 
de-recognition of an intangible asset, measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset are recognized 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the asset is 
derecognized.

4.7	Employee Benefits:

(i)	 Short term employee benefits:

	 All employee benefits payable / available within 
twelve months of rendering the service are classified 
as short-term employee benefits. Benefits such as 
salaries, wages and bonus etc., are recognized in 
the same period in which the employee renders the 
related service.

(ii)	  Defined contribution plan:

	 Contributions towards Employees’ Provident Fund 
and State Insurance Scheme are considered as 
defined contribution plans and the contributions are 
charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss for the 
year when the expense is actually incurred.

(ii)  Other long-term employee benefits:

	 Entitlements to annual leave are recognized when 
they accrue to employees. Leave entitlements 
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can be availed while in service of employment 
subject to restriction on the maximum number of 
accumulations. The Company determines the liability 
for such accumulated leave entitlements on the basis 
of actuarial valuation carried out by an independent 
actuary at the year end.

(iii)	Defined benefit plan:

	 The Company’s gratuity scheme is a defined benefit 
plan. The plan provides for a lump sum payment 
to vested employees on retirement, death while 
in employment or on termination of employment. 
Vesting occurs upon completion of five years 
of service. The present value of the obligation 
under such defined benefit plans is determined 
based on the actuarial valuation on projected unit 
credit method as at the balance sheet date. Re-
measurement, comprising of actuarial gains and 
losses, are recognized immediately in the balance 
sheet with a corresponding debit or credit to retained 
earnings through OCI in the period in which they 
occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to 
Statement of Profit and Loss in subsequent periods. 
Liability towards Gratuity is funded / managed by Life 
Insurance Corporation of India (‘LIC’). The short / 
excess of the Gratuity liability as compared to the net 
fund held by LIC is accounted for as liability/ assets 
as at the year end

4.8	 Taxation
	 Tax expense for the year comprises of Current Tax and 

Deferred Tax.

a.	 Current Tax

    Current income tax, assets and liabilities are measured 
at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered 
from the taxation authorities in accordance with 
the tax regime inserted by the Taxation Laws 
(Amendment) Act, 2019 in the Income Tax Act, 
1961 and the Income Computation and Disclosure 
Standards (ICDS) enacted in India by using tax rates 
and the tax laws that are enacted at the reporting 
date.  

     Current tax relating to items recognized outside profit 
or loss is recognized in correlation to the underlying 
transactions either in OCI or directly in other equity. 
Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in the tax returns with respect to situations 
in which the applicable tax regulations are subject 
to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
applicable. 

b.	 Deferred Tax

	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method 
on temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized 
for all deductible temporary differences, the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax 
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilized. The 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax 
assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and 
are recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on 
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

4.9	Provision, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets
a)	 Provisions
	 Provisions are recognized when the Company 

has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of obligation. 
Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation, 
at the balances sheet date.  

	 If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted to reflect its present value 
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. When discounting 
is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognized as a finance cost.

b)	 Contingent Liabilities
	 A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when 

there is a possible obligation arising from past 
events, the existence of which will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control 
of the Company or a present obligation arising as a 
result of past event that probably will not require an 
outflow of resources or where a reliable estimate of 
the obligation cannot be made.

c)	 Contingent Assets
	 Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial 

statements. However, contingent assets are 
assessed continually and if it is virtually certain that 

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
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an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset 
and related income are recognized in the period in 
which the change occurs.

4.10	 Earnings per share
	 Basic earnings per equity share is computed by dividing 

net profit/ loss attributable to the equity shareholders 
of the company by the weighted average number of 
equity shares outstanding during the financial year.

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable to 
equity shareholders and the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for 
the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

4.11	 Leases
	 The determination of whether an arrangement is, 

or contains, a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The 
arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not 
explicitly specified in an arrangement.

	 The Company has taken certain assets on Operating 
Lease. Operating Lease is a contract, which conveys 
the right to Lessee, to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time, the lease term, in exchange 
for consideration. The Company assesses whether a 
contract is, or contains, a lease on inception.

	 The lease term is either the non-cancellable period 
of the lease and any additional periods when there 
is an enforceable option to extend the lease and it is 
reasonably certain that the Company will extend the 
term, or a lease period in which it is reasonably certain 
that the Company will not exercise a right to terminate. 
The lease term is reassessed if there is a significant 
change in circumstances.

	 At commencement, or on the modification, of a 
contract that contains a lease component, the 
Company allocates the consideration in the contract 
to each lease component on the basis of its relative 
stand-alone prices.

	 The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle 
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less 
any lease incentives received.

	 The right-of-use asset is amortized / depreciated using 
straight-line method from the commencement date 
to the end of the lease term. If the lessor transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by 
the end of the lease term or if the Company expects to 
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset will 
be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying 
asset, which is determined on the same basis as 
the Company’s other property, plant and equipment. 
Right-of-use assets are reduced by impairment losses, 
if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the 
lease liability.

	 The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the total lease payments due on the 
commencement date, discounted using either the 
interest rate implicit in the lease, if readily determinable, 
or more usually, an estimate of the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate on the inception date for 
a loan with similar terms to the lease. The incremental 
borrowing rate is estimated by obtaining interest rates 
from various external financing sources.

	 The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. It is re-measured when 
there is a change in future lease payments arising 
from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change 
in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to 
be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the 
Company changes its assessment of whether it will 
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or 
if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 
When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, 
a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in the 
statement of profit or loss if the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

	 In accordance with Ind AS 116, the Company does 
not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases 
i.e. leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and 
containing no purchase options. Payments associated 
with these leases are recognized as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.12	 Statement of Cash flows:
	 For the purpose of Standalone Statement of Cash 

Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand, cash at banks, short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less and other 
short term investments, that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.13	 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
	 The Company assesses, at each reporting date, using 

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
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external and internal sources, whether there is an 
indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired 
and also whether there is an indication of reversal of 
impairment loss recognized in the previous period/s. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Company 
determines the recoverable amount and impairment 
loss is recognized when the carrying value of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 

	 The recoverable amount is determined:

- 	 in the case of an individual asset, at the higher of 
the asset’s fair value less cost of sell and value 
in use; and

- 	 in the case of cash generating unit (a group of 
assets that generates identified, independent 
cash flows) at the higher of the cash generating 
unit’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use.

	 In assessing value in use, estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that effects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to that 
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, 
recent market transactions are taken into account. If 
no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share 
prices for publicly traded companies or other available 
fair value indicators.

	 An impairment loss for an asset is reversed, if and only 
if, the reversal can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, 
the carrying amount of an asset is increased to 
its revised recoverable amount, provided that this 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined (net of any accumulated 
amortization or depreciation) had no impairment loss 
being recognized for the asset in prior year/s. 

4.14	 Fair value measurement 
	 The Company measures its qualifying financial 

instruments at fair value on each Balance Sheet date.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received against 
sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. The fair value measurement 
is based on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place in the 
accessible principal market or the most advantageous 
accessible market as applicable.

	 The Company uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value, 
maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is 

measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy into Level I, 
Level II and Level III based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole. For detailed information on the fair value 
hierarchy, refer note no. 31.14.

	 For assets and liabilities that are fair valued in the 
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company 
determines whether transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company 
has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the 
asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy.

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
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Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

5 Cash and cash equivalents As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Cash on hand  61.55  44.45 
Balances with banks - in current accounts (Refer note 5.1)  14.25  400.03 
Drafts on Hand  -    80.13 

Total  75.80  524.61 

5.1 Includes Rs. Nil (Previous year: Rs. 75.30 lakhs) lien marked by a Bank. (Refer note 16.8).

6 Loans As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

At amortised cost
a. Secured term loans  11,425.84  12,138.70 
b. Unsecured term loans  1,125.51  1,299.72 
c. Unsecured term loan to a subsidiary  1,350.45  1,489.82 

Total - Gross  13,901.80  14,928.24 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  8,402.21  8,779.30 
Total - Net  5,499.59  6,148.94 

6.1 Break-up of Secured/Unsecured loans
a. Secured by Tangible assets  11,425.84  12,138.70 

Less: Impairment loss allowance  7,288.70  7,496.58 
Secured - net  4,137.14  4,642.12 

b. Unsecured  2,475.96  2,789.54 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  1,113.51  1,282.72 
Unsecured - net  1,362.45  1,506.82 

Total (a+b)  5,499.59  6,148.94 

6.2 Break-up of Loans In India/Outside India
a. Loans in India

i. Public Sector  -    -   
ii. Others  13,901.80  14,928.24 

Less: Impairment loss allowance  8,402.21  8,779.30 
 5,499.59  6,148.94 

b. Loans outside India - - 

Total (a+b)  5,499.59  6,148.94 
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7 Investments As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

i. Investment in Subsidiary
(At Cost)

- Amulet Technologies Limited  770.37  770.37 
   Less: Impairment loss allowance (Refer note 27 & 31.21)  (770.37)  (770.37)

Total - i  - - 

ii. Investment in Equity Instruments
(At amortised cost)

- Pantec Devices Private Limited  1.16  1.16 
- Pantec Consultants Private Limited  1.01  1.01 
- Intec Worldwide Private Limited  0.86  0.86 
- Spherical Collection Agency (P) Ltd.  1.11  1.11 
- Intec Share & Stock Brokers Limited  2.26  2.26 
- Spectacle Advisory Solutions Pvt. Ltd.  0.44  0.44 
Total - ii  6.84 6.84 
Total Investments - i + ii  6.84  6.84 
Out of above

In India  6.84  6.84 
Outside India  - - 

7.1 Information about Subsidiary is given below:
Name of the Company and Country of 

Incorporation
 Principal  
Activities 

Proportion (%) of Shareholding* 
As at  

31 March, 2025
As at  

31 March, 2024
Amulet Technologies Limited, India Consultancy, Advisory and 

related service in Information 
Technology

100% 100%

* including 6 shares held by nominee shareholders.

8 Other financial assets As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Security deposits  8.50  9.63 
Interest accrued and due on loans  297.20  316.57 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  (48.71)  (53.26)
Advances to employees  1.50  24.20 
Balance with government authorities  189.13  172.61 

Total  447.62  469.75 

9 Current tax assets (net) As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Tax deducted at source  3.46  3.66 

Total  3.46  3.66 
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10 Deferred tax assets (net) As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

i. Reconciliation of tax expenses and profit/loss before tax 
multiplied by corporate tax rate  
Profit/(Loss) before tax  124.00  (1,691.67)
At corporate tax rate of 25.168%  31.21  -   
Tax impact / (credit) on timing differences 93.96 (322.57)
Tax expense / (credit) 125.17 (322.57)

ii. Deferred tax assets recorded in Balance Sheet As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Deferred tax assets:
- Impairment on financial instruments  2,320.81  2,416.87 
- Lease liabilities  17.19  17.81 
- Depreciation and amortisation  8.77  7.56 
- Provision for employee benefits  5.32  4.38 
Gross deferred tax assets  2,352.09  2,446.62 

Deferred tax liabilities:
- Depreciation and amortisation

- Right-of-use assets  13.17  14.18 
- Financial instruments measured at EIR  187.60  187.60 
Gross deferred tax liabilities  200.77  201.78 
Deferred tax assets (net)  2,151.32  2,244.84 

iii. Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in statement of 
profit or loss (Refer note 31.21 & 31.22)

As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Deferred tax relates to the following:
- Impairment on financial instruments  96.05  (317.66)
- Financial instruments measured at EIR  -    (0.08)
- Depreciation and amortisation  (1.21)  0.96 
- Right-of-use assets  (1.01)  (0.24)
- Lease liabilities  0.62  0.30 
- Provision for employee benefits  (0.49)  (5.85)

 93.96  (322.57)

iv. Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in other 
comprehensive income

As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Deferred tax relates to the following:
- Re-measurement (loss)/gain on defined benefit plan (net 
of Tax)

 (0.45)  0.71 

 (0.45)  0.71 
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Total  93.52  (321.86)

11 Property, Plant and Equipment (As at 31 March, 2025) 
Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 

 Particulars  As at  
01 April, 

2024

Additions Deductions / 
adjustments

 As at  
31 March, 

2025 

 As at  
01 

April, 
2024

Depreciation/  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 March, 

2025 

 As at  
31 March, 

2025

 As at  
31 March, 

2024  amortisation 

Vehicles  43.73  -    -    43.73  40.10  1.46  -    41.56  2.17  3.63 
Office 
equipment 

 10.62  -    -    10.62  9.38  0.60  -    9.98  0.64  1.24 

Data 
processing 
equipments 

 36.72  -    -    36.72  25.27  3.24  -    28.51  8.21  11.45 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

 10.52  -    -    10.52  1.81  0.96  -    2.77  7.75  8.71 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 1.09  -    -    1.09  1.09  -    -    1.09  -    -   

Electric 
installations 

 0.65  -    -    0.65  0.32  0.08  -    0.40  0.25  0.33 

Air 
conditioners 

 4.65  -    -    4.65  3.13  0.22  -    3.35  1.30  1.52 

Land  4.82  4.82  -    -    -    -    4.82  4.82 
Total - 
Current Year 

 112.80  -    -    112.80  81.10  6.56  -    87.66  25.14  31.70 

 Property, Plant and Equipment (As at 31 March, 2024) 
 Particulars Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 

 As at  
01 April, 

2023 

 
Additions 

 Deductions / 
adjustments

 As at  
31 March, 

2024 

 As at  
01 

April, 
2023 

Depreciation/  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 March, 

2024 

 As at  
31 March, 

2024 

 As at  
31 March, 

2023  amortisation 

 
Vehicles  46.94  -    3.21  43.73  38.63  1.47  -    40.10  3.63  8.31 
Office 
equipment 

 10.64  -    0.02  10.62  8.51  0.87  -    9.38  1.24  2.13 

Data 
processing 
equipments 

 39.51  0.40  3.19  36.72  23.64  4.82  3.19  25.27  11.45  15.87 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

 10.52  -    -    10.52  0.85  0.96  -    1.81  8.71  9.67 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 1.09  -    -    1.09  1.09  -    -    1.09  -    -   

Electric 
installations 

 0.65  -    -    0.65  0.24  0.08  -    0.32  0.33  0.41 

Air 
conditioners 

 4.65  -    -    4.65  2.89  0.24  -    3.13  1.52  1.76 

Land  4.82 - -  4.82  -    -    -    -    4.82  4.82 
Total - 
Previous Year

 118.82  0.40  6.42  112.80  75.85  8.44  3.19  81.10  31.70  42.97 

 Note 11.1 : Refer para 4.5 of Significant Accounting Policies for depreciation on property, plant and equipment. 
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12. Intangible Assets (As at 31 March, 2025) 

Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization Net Block 
As at Additions Deductions / 

adjustments
As at As at Amortisation Deductions / 

adjustments
As at As at As at

01 April, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2025 

01 April, 
2024

31 
March, 
2025 

31 
March, 
2025 

31 
March, 
2024

Computer 
software 

 71.86  -    -    71.86  59.93  10.07  -    70.00  1.86  11.93 

Total  71.86  -    -    71.86  59.93  10.07  -    70.00  1.86  11.93 

Intangible Assets (As at 31 March, 2024) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

 As at  Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  Amortisation  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  As at
 01 April, 

2023 
31 

March, 
2024 

 01 April, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2023 

Computer 
software 

 71.86  -    -    71.86  55.71  4.22  -    59.93  11.93  16.15 

Total  71.86  -    -    71.86  55.71  4.22  -    59.93  11.93  16.15 

12.1 : Refer para 4.6 of Material  Accounting Policies for amortisation on intangible assets. 

13. Right-of-use Assets (As at 31 March, 2025) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

 As at  Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at As at  Amortisation  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  As at
 01 April, 

2024 
31 

March, 
2025 

 01 April, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2025 

31 
March, 
2025 

 31 
March, 
2024 

Premises  114.47  14.92  -    129.39  58.13  18.93  -    77.06  52.33  56.34 
Total  114.47  14.92  -    129.39  58.13  18.93  -    77.06  52.33  56.34 

Right-of-use Assets (As at 31 March, 2024) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

 As at  Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  Amortisation  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  As at  As at
 01 April, 

2023 
31 

March, 
2024 

 01 April, 
2023 

31 
March, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2024 

31 
March, 
2023 

Premises  140.04  32.77  58.34  114.47  82.73  24.11  48.71  58.13  56.34  57.31 
Total  140.04  32.77  58.34  114.47  82.73  24.11  48.71  58.13  56.34  57.31 

13.1 : Refer para 4.11 of Material Accounting Policies for amortization of Right-of-use-Assets. 

14 Other non-financial assets As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Prepaid expenses  10.52  7.99 

Total  10.52  7.99 
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15 Non-current assets held for sale As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Assets held for sale  15.90  122.93 

Total  15.90  122.93 

15.1 Company had acquired certain properties on settlement of loan dues from its borrowers which has been classified 
as held for sale and is being measured at the lower of carrying value or fair value less cost to sell. Fair market value 
of these properties is estimated at Rs. 23.42 lakhs (Rs. 269.42 lakhs) based on valuation conducted by a registered 
valuer. During the year, Company has sold a property having carrying value of Rs. 107.03 lakhs at a sale value of Rs. 
104.08 lakhs (net of outstanding dues and selling expenses) and accordingly loss on sale of Rs. 2.95 lakhs has been 
shown under Note 27 as ‘Loss on sale of repossessed assets’.				 

16 Borrowings 
(At amortised cost)

Note As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Secured
i. Term Loans from Banks 16.1 & 

16.3
 559.15  837.04 

ii. Working Capital Loans from Banks 16.2 & 
16.3

 1,725.43  4,453.22 

Unsecured
i. Inter-corporate Loan from a related party 16.6  198.39 
ii. Loan from a Director 16.7  -   
Total  4,080.38  5,488.65 

Borrowings in India  4,080.38  5,488.65 
Borrowings outside India  -    -   
Total  4,080.38  5,488.65 

16.1 Terms of security and repayment are given below:
As at 31 March, 2025

Particulars Maturity pattern
0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years Total

Term Loans

 Refer note 16.3 below 

(i) Secured by hypothecation of loan receivables  
(also refer note- 16.1.1)
- for loans taken from banks 
(Interest rates range between 10.50%- 15.00% per annum)

	 As at 31 March, 2024
Particulars Maturity pattern

0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years Total
Term Loans

 Refer note 16.3 below 
(i) Secured by hypothecation of loan receivables  
(also refer note- 16.1.1)
- for loans taken from banks 
   (Interest rates range between 10.50%- 15.00% per annum)

16.1.1 Loans also guaranteed by Managing Director
-  loans of Rs. 559.15 (31.03.2024: Rs. 837.04 lakhs) also secured by personal guarantee of Managing Director.		
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16.2 Terms of Security and Interest Rates for Working Capital Loans:
(i) Working Capital loans from banks are secured by :

(a)  Primary Security- first pari passu charge on present and future receivables of the Company.
(b) Collateral Security - Immovable properties belonging to promoter & others.
(c) Personal guarantees of Managing Director and relative of Managing Director.
(d)  Corporate guarantee of Bubble Infosolutions Private Limited (Company in which Managing Director of the 

Company is a director) and Amulet Technologies Limited, (Subsidary of the Company). The said corporate 
guarantees since been released on 17.05.2025 and 22.04.2025 respectively.				  
	

(ii) Interest rates on above loans range between 11.65 % - 15.00 % per annum (31.03.2024: 11.65% - 15.00%		
			 

16.3 Details of Default in repayment of Borrowings as at 31 March, 2025 is given below:
(i) Term loans:

Name of Bank NPA Date Total 
Outstanding 

as at 31 
March, 2025

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued and 
debited by 
the banks

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued but 
not debited 

by the banks

Total Default 
(Installments 

& interest)

Punjab National Bank (Ex- United Bank 
of India)

31.03.2022  559.15  409.51  49.95  1,018.61 

Bank of India 30.09.2020  -    -    199.47  199.47 
Total Term Loans  559.15  409.51  249.42  1,218.08 

(ii) Cash Credit Loans from Banks:

Name of Bank NPA Date Total 
Outstanding 

as at 31 
March, 2025

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued and 
debited by 
the banks 

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued but 
not debited 

by the banks 

Total Default 
(Installments 

& interest) 

Punjab National Bank 16.06.2019  200.14  1,845.98  -    2,046.12 
Punjab National Bank (Ex- Oriental Bank 
of Commerce)

02.08.2019  325.12  418.63  -    743.75 

Bank of India 30.06.2019  433.88  208.88  1,597.51  2,240.27 
Indian Overseas Bank 30.09.2019  471.34  -    980.42  1,451.76 
Central Bank of India 30.11.2019  294.95  -    804.75  1,099.70 
Total Cash Credit Loans  1,725.43  2,473.49  3,382.68  7,581.60 

16.4 The Company has availed term loans and working capital facilities from various Banks, however, slow down of 
its lending business and increased level of non-performing / impaired loan portfolio, has impacted its cash flow / 
liquidity, and the Company is un-able to service term loans and working capital facilities including interest thereon 
to certain banks as detailed in para 16.3 above and had approached these banks for its restructuring / settlement 
which inter alia includes waiver / reduction of interest. As the Company is reasonably hopeful of waiver / reduction of 
the interest under these restructuring / settlement packages, interest of Rs. 6,515.10 lakhs i.e. Rs. 1,496.34 lakhs for 
the current year ended 31 March, 2025 and Rs. 5,018.76 lakhs for the period upto 31 March, 2024, though accrued 
on these loans, has not been provided in these financial statements. These proposals of the Company have since 
been approved/accepted by the lender Banks through One Time Settlement (OTS) scheme; however, the same are 
pending for implementation as detailed in note 16.5 below.					   
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16.5 During the year, the Company’s proposal for settlement of its loans have been accepted / approved by all the lender 
banks under One Time Settlement (OTS). The Company has substantially paid the OTS amount till date of approval 
of these financial statements and is in the process of complying with the other terms and conditions thereof to 
complete /implement the OTS. The financial impact of these OTS will be accounted in the period in which all terms 
and conditions of the OTS are fully complied with, OTS is implemented and No Dues Certificates are obtained from 
the respective lender Bank/s. 				     					   

16.6  Unsecured credit facilities obtained from a related party and carries interest rate of 15.00% per annum for a tenor 
of maximum 36 months with maturity due in September, 2026. These facilities have been obtained for utilizing for 
day-to-day business operational payments as Bank accounts of the Company were freezed by the Borrower Banks 
from July, 2023 to 06 January, 2025.

16.7 Unsecured credit facility obtained from a Director and carries interest rate of 15.00% per annum for a tenor of 
maximum 48 months with maturity due in February, 2029. This facility have been obtained for meeting the shortfall 
of funds towards the OTS sanctioned by all the Banks of the Company as mentioned in note 16.5 above.

16.8  Amount of Rs. Nil (Previous year Rs. 225.00 lakhs) held under lien with Banks i.e. Rs. Nil (Previous year Rs. 149.70 
lakhs) held under no lien account and Rs. Nil (Previous year Rs. 75.30 lakhs) has been lien marked by a Bank (Refer 
note 5.1). 

17 Other financial liabilities Note As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Interest accrued on outstanding dues of micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

17.1  2.19  1.58 

Payable to customers (borrowers)  31.59  24.75 
Payable to employees  218.58  238.71 
Accrued expenses and payables 17.1  252.37  198.34 
Total  504.73  463.38 

17.1 Disclosure for dues for micro enterprises and small enterprises refer para 31.2.
18 Provisions Note As at  

31 March, 2025
As at  

31 March, 2024
For employee benefits: 31.3
  - Leave encashment  2.87  2.72 
  - Gratuity (net of plan assets)  18.25  14.67 

Total  21.12  17.39 

19 Other non-financial liabilities As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Statutory dues payable  36.90  39.11 

Total  36.90  39.11 

20 Equity Share Capital
Particulars As at  

31 March, 2025
As at  

31 March, 2024
Authorised share capital
Equity Shares:
3,50,00,000 equity shares of Rs. 10 each  3,500.00  3,500.00 
Preference Shares:
15,00,000 preference shares of Rs. 100 each  1,500.00  1,500.00 

 5,000.00  5,000.00 
Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up
Equity Shares:
1,83,66,250 equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up  1,836.63  1,836.63 
Total  1,836.63  1,836.63 
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Notes:
20.1 Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

Particulars As at As at
31 March, 2025 31 March, 2024

No. of Shares Amount No. of Shares Amount
Equity shares
Balance at the beginning of the year  1,83,66,250 1,836.63  1,83,66,250  1,836.63 
Balance as at end of the year  1,83,66,250 1,836.63  1,83,66,250  1,836.63 

20.2 Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to each class of shares
The Company has only one class of Equity Share having par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder is eligible 
for one vote per share held. All Equity Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. 
The voting rights cannot be exercised in respect of shares on which any call or other sums presently payable have 
not been paid. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the 
Company in proportion of their shareholding.				 

20.3 Detail of shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Company:
Particulars As at As at

31 March, 2025 31 March, 2024
Shareholders No. of Shares % age 

of  
share 

holding 

No. of Shares % age of  
share holding 

Equity Shares

Pantec Devices Private Limited  44,97,264 24.49%  44,97,264 24.49%

India Business Excellence Fund-IIA  31,65,973 17.24%  35,20,062 19.17%

India Business Excellence Fund-II  21,10,000 11.49%  22,06,208 12.01%

Pantec Consultants Private Limited  14,53,771 7.92%  14,53,771 7.92%

Sanjeev Goel (Including shares held in IBEF - 
II Escrow account)

 12,44,464 6.77%  12,44,464 6.77%

20.4 Details of Shareholding of Promoter/s:

Shares held by promoter/s at the end of the year % age change during 

S.No.      Promoter name No. of Shares % age of  
total shares

31 March, 2025 31 March, 2024

1.  Pantec Devices Private Limited  44,97,264 24.49% No change No change

2.  India Business Excellence Fund-IIA  31,65,973 17.24% (-)10.06% (-) 3.19%

3.  India Business Excellence Fund-II  21,10,000 11.49% (-) 4.36% (-) 3.15%

4.   Pantec Consultants Private Limited  14,53,771 7.92% No change No change

5.   Intec Worldwide Private Limited  5,19,267 2.82% No change No change

6.   Sanjeev Goel (Including held in IBEF - II 
Escrow account)

 12,44,464 6.77% No change No change

7. Pranav Goel  32,900 0.18% No change No change

8. Dhruv Goel  32,900 0.18% No change No change
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21 Other Equity
Particulars As at  

31 March, 2025
As at  

31 March, 2024
Securities premium
As per last account 8,843.84 8,843.84 
Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC of RBI Act.
As per last account 1,868.50 1,868.50 
Addition during the year  6.01  -   
Closing Balance  1,874.51  1,868.50 
Impairment Reserve
As per last account  2,546.93  2,546.93 
Retained earnings
As per last account (11,548.00) (10,178.90)
Profit/(Loss) for the year 30.04 (1,369.10)
Appropriation to Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC of RBI Act (6.01)  -   
Closing Balance (11,523.97) (11,548.00)
Other Comprehensive Income / (loss) - Re-measurement gains on defined 
benefit plan
As per last account 2.33 0.23 
Addition during the year (net of tax) (1.34) 2.10 
Closing Balance 0.99 2.33 
Total  1,742.30  1,713.60 

21.1 Nature and purpose of other equity:
i Securities Premium

Securities premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. It can be utilised only for limited purposes in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013				  

ii Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC(1) of RBI Act, 1934
Reserve fund is created as per the terms of section 45-IC(1) of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 as a statutory 
reserve.

iii Impairment Reserve
Reserve Bank of India (RBI) issued Notification No. DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.No.109/22.10.106/2019-20 dated 13 
March, 2020 in respect of ‘Implementation of Indian Accounting Standards’ by NBFCs. In terms of the said circular, 
in case where the impairment allowance under Ind AS 109 is lower than the provisioning required under Income 
Recognition, Asset Classification and Provisioning (IRACP) Norms (including standard asset provisioning) issued by 
RBI, the Company is required to appropriate the difference from their net profit after tax to “Impairment Reserve”. No 
withdrawals are permitted from this reserve without prior permission from the Department of Supervision, RBI. Refer 
Note. 31.17 in respect of the disclosure in respect of comparison between impairment allowance and provisioning 
under IRACP Norms.  				      				  

iv Retained Earnings
The profit / loss earned till date, less any transfers/appropriations to any other reserve, dividends or other distribution 
paid to shareholders. 				    . 				  

v Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)
The other comprehensive income / (loss) till date, which is available for set off or adjustable only against such 
income/loss in future.

22 Interest income For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Interest income on:
- loans  111.75  265.28 
- financial instruments  0.48  1.02 

Total  112.23   266.30  
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23 Fees and commission income For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Other service fees  -    0.18 

Total  -    0.18 

24 Recoveries of financial assets written off For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Recoveries of financial assets written off  243.48  107.16 

Total  243.48  107.16 

25 Other income For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Liabilities no longer required written back  -    1.62 
Gain on cessation of lease liability  -    2.31 
Profit on disposal of property, plant & equipment (net)  -    0.25 
Commission Income  79.29  -   
Miscellaneous Income  1.53  1.86 
Total  80.82  6.04 

26 Finance costs Note For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

On financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
- on borrowings - inter-corporate Loan 16.6  60.75  6.31 
- on borrowings - from a Director 16.7  6.73  -   
- on borrowings - term loan from banks  32.73  -   
- on outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small  
   enterprises 

31.2  0.61  1.58 

- on lease liabilities 31.6  8.94  11.18 
Other finance costs  5.74  3.20 
Total  115.50  22.27 

27 Impairment on financial instruments For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Impairment loss (reversal) / allowance on:
- loans (including interest accrued)  (381.64)  451.14 
- investment in and loan to a Subsidiary  -    811.01 
Loss on Sale of Repossessed Assets 15.1  2.95  -   

Total (378.69)   1,262.15  
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28 Employee benefits expenses For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Salaries and wages  238.64  350.65 
Contribution to provident and other funds  5.87  8.70 
Staff welfare expenses  8.11  12.21 

Total  252.62  371.56 

29 Depreciation and amortization Note For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 11  6.56  8.44 
Amortization of intangible assets 12  10.07  4.22 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 13  18.93  24.11 

Total  35.56  36.77 

30 Other expenses For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Rent  10.31  9.98 

Insurance  4.57  10.68 

Legal & professional  142.89  226.07 

Payment to Auditors:

- Statutory Audit  5.50  5.50 

- Tax Audit  1.00  1.00 

- Limited Reviews  3.00  3.00 

- Other services  0.30  0.47 

- Reimbursement of expenses  1.20  0.66 

Rates & taxes  4.62  0.89 

Electricity & water  14.70  15.95 

Directors' sitting fees  4.20  2.75 

Repairs & maintenance  7.43  12.57 

Communication and internet  10.61  11.41 

Travelling & conveyance  21.87  33.37 

Business promotion  24.73  13.97 

Other expenditure  30.61  30.33 

Total  287.54  378.60 



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2593

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE –31: OTHER NOTES FORMING PART OF THE STANDALONE	 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2025

31.1	 Contingent Liabilities and Commitments:

Sr.No. Particulars As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

A. Contingent Liabilities
i. Claims against the Company not acknowledged as 

debts. Few customers / borrowers of the Company have filed 
legal cases for various claims against the Company. 
The Company has reviewed these pending litigations 
and proceedings and does not expect any material 
out flow / reimbursement in respect of the same.

B. Commitments
i. Loan approved but pending disbursements. Nil Nil

31.2	 Disclosure required under Section 22 of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Development  Act, 2006:

As at
31 March, 2025

As at 
31 March, 2024

i. Principal amount and interest due thereon remaining unpaid to
any supplier covered under MSMED Act.
-	 Principal 9.70 18.90
-	 Interest 2.19 1.58
ii. Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of Section 16 

of the MSMED Act, 2006, along with the amount of the payment 
made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each 
accounting year.

- -

iii. The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay 
in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the 
appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest 
specified under MSMED Act.

- -

iv. The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid. - -
v. The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even 

in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest 
dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the 
purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under 
Section 23 of MSMED Act, 2006

- -

Total 11.89 20.48

	 The above information regarding dues to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises has been determined to the extent 
such parties have been identified on the basis of information collected with the Company.

31.3	 Employee Benefits (Ind AS-19)
(a)	 Defined Benefit plans:

	 Gratuity : Payable on separation as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, as amended @ 15 days pay, for each 
completed year of service to eligible employees who render continuous service of 5 years or more. The Company’s 
liability towards Gratuity is funded / managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India (LIC).
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(b)	 Other Long-Term Benefit:

	 Compensated Absences    : Employees of the Company are entitled to accumulate their earned/privilege leave up to 
a maximum of 30 days which can be availed / utilized in coming year/s, while in service. During the current year, the 
amount of Rs. 0.15 lakhs has been debited (previous year: Rs. 0.61 lakhs has been credited) in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss towards creation of the provision (Previous Year: reversal of excess provision) based on actuarial valuation.

(c)	 Defined Contribution plans:

	 Company’s employees are covered by Provident Fund and Employees State Insurance Scheme, to which the Company 
makes a defined contribution measured as a fixed percentage of salary. During the year, amount of Rs. 5.46 lakhs 
(Previous Year: Rs. 8.39 lakhs) has been charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss towards employer’s contribution 
to these schemes/funds as under:

Particulars Year ended 
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Employer’s contribution towards Provident Fund (PF) 4.98 7.53
Employer’s contribution towards Employees State Insurance
(ESI) 0.48 0.86

(d)	 Other disclosures of Defined Benefit plan (Gratuity) are as under:

i)	 Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligations:

Particulars Year ended
 31 March, 2025

Year ended 
31 March, 2024

Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at the beginning of year  
	 30.49 28.29

Interest cost 2.17 2.09
Current Service Cost 3.82 4.49
Benefit Paid (2.95) -
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss arising from Change in Financial Assumptions 1.32 0.59
Actuarial (Gain) arising from Change in Demographic Assumptions - -
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss arising from Changes in Experience Adjustments 0.30 (4.97)
Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 35.15 30.49

ii)	 Net Defined Benefit recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Current Service Cost 3.82 4.49
Interest cost (net of return) 0.92    (0.68)
Net Defined Benefit recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss 4.74 3.81

iii)	 Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income/(loss)

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Change in Financial Assumption (1.32) (0.59)
Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Change in Demographic
Assumption - -

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Changes in Experience Adjustments (0.30) 4.97

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Plan Assets (0.17) (1.57)

Net actuarial (Loss) / Gain (1.79) 2.81
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iv)	 Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of fair value of Plan Assets

Particulars Year ended 
31 March, 2025

Year ended
 31 March, 2024

Fair value of Plan Assets at the beginning of year 15.82 34.66
Expected return on plan Assets 1.25 2.76
Employer’s Contribution - -
Return on Plan Assets excluding interest income (0.17)  (1.57)
Benefits paid - -
Transfer in/(out) plan assets - (20.03)
Fair value of Plan Assets at the end of year 16.90 15.82

v)	 Net Defined Benefit Assets / (Liability) recognized in the Balance Sheet

Particulars Year ended 
31 March, 2025

Year ended 
31 March, 2024

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year (35.15) (30.49)
Fair value of Plan Assets at the end of year 16.90 15.82
Net Defined Benefit (Liability) / Assets recognized in the Balance Sheet (18.25) (14.67)

vi)	 Broad categories of Plan Assets as percentage of total assets

Particulars Year ended 
31 March, 2025

Year ended 
31 March, 2024

Insurer Managed Funds 100% 100%

vii). Sensitivity Analysis*
a)	 Impact of the change in the discount rate

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 35.15 30.49
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) (1.21) (1.16)
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50% (Previous Year: 0.50%) 1.28 1.22

b)	 Impact of the change in the salary increase

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 35.15 30.49
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) 0.93 0.92
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) (0.90) (0.89)

	 *Sensitivities due to mortality & withdrawals are not material & hence impact of change not calculated.

	 * Sensitivities as to rate of inflation, rate of increase of pension in payment, rate of increase of pensions before 
retirement & life expectancy are not applicable being a lump sum benefit on retirement.
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viii.	Maturity Profile

Year Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

0 to 1 year 2.9% 1.3%
1 to 2 Year 6.4% 2.3%
2 to 3 Year 2.8% 6.0%
3 to 4 Year 11.1% 2.5%
4 to 5 Year 10.3% 10.9%

5 Year onwards 32.2% 22.1%
ix.	 Expected contribution for the next Annual reporting period

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Expected contribution for the next Annual reporting period 3.91 3.82

x.	 Actuarial Assumptions:

	 The principal assumptions are the discount rate and salary increase. The discount rate is based upon the market 
yields available on Government bonds at the accounting date with a term that matches that of the Liabilities and the 
salary increase takes account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors on long term basis. Principal 
assumptions used for actuarial valuation are:

Particulars Gratuity  Compensated Absences    

Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Method used Projected unit credit method

Discount rate 6.65% 7.20% 6.65% 7.20%
Salary Escalation 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Mortality Rate IALM (2012-14)
Rate of return on plan
Assets 6.65% 7.20% NA NA

      Withdrawal Rates Per Annum

Age Band Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

25 & below 1.00% 1.00%
25 to 35 24.00% 24.00%
35 to 45 8.00% 8.00%
45 to 55 2.00% 2.00%
55 & above 1.00% 1.00%

31.4	 Operating Segments (Ind AS – 108): 

	 The Company is primarily engaged only in the business of providing loans to Small and Medium Enterprises (‘SME’) 
customers and has no overseas operations/units and as such, no segment reporting is required under Ind AS- 108 
dealing with the Segment Reporting.

31.5	 Related Party Disclosures (Ind AS-24):
A.	List of Related Parties and relationships, having transactions during the year:
a)	 Subsidiary Company

Amulet Technologies Limited
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b)	 Key Management Personnel (KMPs)

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director

Vinod Kumar, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 13 February, 2024) 

Pankhuri Agrawal, Company Secretary (w.e.f. 29 November, 2024)

Rajesh Sharma, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 08 February, 2023 and upto 15 November, 2023)

Radhika Garg, Company Secretary (w.e.f. 12 November, 2022 and upto 03 September, 2024)

c)	 Relatives of Key Management Personnel

Pranav Goel, Son of Managing Director

Dhruv Goel, Son of Managing Director

d)	 Enterprise over which KMPs or Relatives of KMPs exercises significant influence

Bubble Infosolutions Private Limited

Modern Credit Private Limited

e)	 Investing party in respect of which the Company is an associate

Pantec Devices Private Limited

A.	 Transactions with Related Parties

Nature of Transaction Subsidiary Company Other Related Parties
Key Management 

Personnel and 
Relatives

Year ended 31 March
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Remuneration paid
a)	Key Management Personnel
b)	Relatives of Key Management Personnel

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

12.35
40.04

13.25
39.32

Loans and Advances received back (net)
 	 Amulet Technologies Limited 
    Pantec Devices Private Limited

139.37
-

7.24
-

-
5.00

-
-

-
-

-
-

Inter-corporate loan received (net)
Modern Credit Private Limited
(including interest and net of TDS) - - 408.35 198.39 - -

Loan from Director 
Sanjeev Goel (including interest and net 
of TDS)

- - - - 1,189.06 -

Interest Income on loans
Pantec Devices Private Limited - - 2.25 2.25 - -

Finance Cost
Modern Credit Private Limited
Sanjeev Goel

-
-

-
-

60.75
-

6.31
-

-
6.73

-
-

B.	 Year end balances with related parties:

As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

Loans and Advances given
Amulet Technologies Limited (Subsidiary Company) (Gross)
Pantec Devices Private Limited (Investing party in respect of which the 
Company is an associate)

           1,350.45
49.72 1,489.82

52.47

Borrowings 
Modern Credit Private Limited (including interest and net of TDS)
Sanjeev Goel (including interest and net of TDS)

606.74
1,189.06

198.39
--
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Guarantee given on behalf of Company (Refer note 16.1.1 & 16.2)
The Managing Director, Bubble Infosolutions Private Limited (Company in which 
Managing Director of the Company is a Director), and Amulet Technologies 
Limited, (Subsidiary of the Company). The said corporate guarantees since 
been released on 17.05.2025 and 22.04.2025 respectively.

Term Loans: 559.15
 WCDL: 1,725.43

Term Loans: 
837.04

WCDL: 4,453.22

Notes:

•	 Transaction values are excluding taxes and duties.
•	 Related parties as defined under Ind AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ have been identified based on representations 

made by key managerial personnel and information available with the Company. All above transactions are in the 
ordinary course of business and on arm’s length basis.

•	 Provisions for gratuity, compensated absences and other long-term service benefits are made for the Company as a 
whole and the amounts pertaining to the Key Managerial Personnel are not specifically identified and hence are not 
included above.

31.6	 Leases Company’s significant leasing arrangements are in respect of the premises (commercial premises, offices 
etc.) which contain extension option after the initial contract period, the amounts recognized on account of leases 
are as under:

(i)	 Amount recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss.

Particulars For the year ended
31 March, 2025

For the year ended
31 March, 2024

Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 8.94 11.18
Amortization of Right-of-Use Assets 18.93 24.11

(ii)	 Amount recognized in Balance Sheet.

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

Addition / (Deduction) 
during the year

As at
31 March, 2025

Lease liabilities 70.77 (2.45) 68.32
Right-of-use assets (Gross) (Refer Note 13) 114.47 14.92 129.39

(iii)	Maturity Profile

Particulars Amount
Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows
Within 1 year 25.73
Within 2 years 20.31
Within 3 years 19.18
Within 4 years 11.36
5 years or more 4.89
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 81.47
Impact of discounting and other adjustments 13.15
Lease liabilities included in the Balance Sheet 68.32

31.7	 Earnings Per Share (EPS)
	 The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Profit / (Loss) for the year (Rs. in lakhs) 30.04 (1,369.10)
Basic / Diluted weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year 1,83,66,250 1,83,66,250

Nominal value of Equity Share (Rs.) 10.00 10.00
Basic / Diluted Earnings per Share (Rs.) 0.16 (7.45)
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31.8	 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR):

	 The Company had constituted a CSR committee as required under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, together 
with relevant rules as prescribed in Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014 (‘CSR rules’). 
The CSR Committee had approved the CSR Policy and also identified the broad areas of CSR activities which it 
propose to carry out viz. Child Education and Women Empowerment. The Company has made serious deliberations 
and chosen the CSR programs which would be undertaken on a long term and continuous basis. Such programs will 
benefit communities where the Company operates or likely to operate and create goodwill for the Company. As the 
Company has incurred average net losses during the last three years, no amount is required to be spent on account 
of CSR during the year ended 31 March, 2025 / 31 March, 2024.

31.9	 Going Concern:
	 The accumulated losses of the Company which are mainly due to non-carrying out the lending activities and substantial 

reduction in the recoveries from the borrowers / customers, have resulted in erosion of substantial net worth and 
significant financial crunch being faced by the Company, and there are defaults in the repayments of its borrowings, 
delays in payments of other liabilities/commitments including employees and statutory dues etc. Also, Company’s Net 
Owned Fund and Leverage Ratio are not in compliance of the Master Direction – Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking 
Financial Company – Scale Based Regulation) Directions, 2023 as amended from time to time issued vide notification 
no. RBI/DOR/2023-24/106 DoR.FIN.REC.No.45/03.10.119 / 2023-24 dated October 19, 2023, as updated / amended 
from time to time (“RBI Master Directions”). These events / conditions indicate the existence of uncertainty on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. However, the financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis on the strength of continued support from the promoters (including the granting of the unsecured loan 
to the Company and meeting of its financial commitments directly) and considering the ongoing implementation of One 
Time Settlements (OTS) of borrowings with the lender banks and Company’s ability to generate adequate resources 
for the foreseeable future. 

31.10 Disclosures as required under Master Direction-Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Company - Scale 
Based Regulation) Directions, 2023 as amended from time to time and other applicable directions/circulars are 
enclosed vide Annexure – I.

31.11	Capital

	 The Company maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business which includes 
issued equity capital and other reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company. As an NBFC, the RBI requires 
the Company to maintain a minimum capital to risk weighted assets ratio (“CRAR”) consisting of Tier 1 and Tier 2 
capital of 15% of the aggregate risk weighted assets. Further, the total of the Tier 2 capital cannot exceed 100% of 
the Tier 1 capital at any point of time. The capital management process of the Company ensures to maintain a healthy 
CRAR at all the times.

	 Capital Management

	 The primary objectives of the Company’s capital management policy is to maintain appropriate levels of capital to 
support its business strategy taking into account the regulatory, economic and commercial environment. The Company 
aims to maintain a strong capital base to support the risks inherent to its business and growth strategies. The Company 
endeavors to maintain a higher capital base than the mandated regulatory capital at all times.

	 Planning

	 The Company’s assessment of capital requirement is aligned to its planned growth which forms part of an annual 
operating plan which is approved by the ALCO and also a long-range strategy. These growth plans are aligned to 
assessment of risks– which include credit, liquidity and interest rate.

	 The Company monitors its capital to risk-weighted assets ratio (CRAR) on a yearly basis through its Assets Liability 
Management Committee (ALCO).

	 The Company endeavors to maintain its CRAR higher than the mandated regulatory norm. Accordingly, increase in 
capital is planned well in advance to ensure adequate funding for its growth.

	 The Company is also the provider of equity capital to its wholly owned subsidiary and associates and also provides 
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them with non-equity capital where necessary. These investments are funded by the Company through its equity 
share capital and other equity which inter alia includes securities premium and retained earnings.

	 Regulatory capital

Particulars As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

Tier I Capital (2,483.74) (2,758.15)
Tier II Capital -- --

Total Capital Funds (2,483.74) (2,758.15)
Risk Weighted Assets 6,005.61 6,788.15

CET1 capital ratio (41.36%) (40.63%)
CET2 capital ratio -- --
Total capital ratio (41.36%) (40.63%)

	 Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprises share capital, securities premium and retained earnings. 
Certain adjustments are made to Ind AS based results and reserves, as prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India. The 
other component of regulatory capital is Tier 2 Capital, which includes subordinated debt. The Company is trying to meet 
the capital adequacy requirements of Reserve Bank of India (RBI).

31.12	 Events after Reporting Date

	 There have been no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in these standalone financial 
statements.

31.13	 Fair Values

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in 
the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e., an exit 
price), regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using a valuation technique.

	 In order to show how fair values have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a hierarchy of 
valuation techniques.

	 This note describes the fair value measurement of both financial and non-financial instruments.

	 Valuation framework

	 The Company has an internal fair value assessment team which assesses the fair values for assets qualifying for fair 
valuation.

	 The Company’s valuation framework includes:

•	 Benchmarking prices against observable market prices or other independent sources;
•	 Development and validation of fair valuation models using model logic, inputs, outputs and adjustments.

	 These valuation models are subject to a process of due diligence and validation before they become operational and 
are continuously calibrated. These models are subject to approvals by various functions of the Company. Finance 
function is responsible for establishing procedures, governing valuation and ensuring fair values are in compliance 
with Indian accounting standards.

	 Valuation methodologies adopted

	 The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following 
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

a.	 Fair values of strategic investments in equity instruments designated under FVOCI have been measured 
under level 3.

b.	 Fair value of loans held under a business model that is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
partially selling the loans through partial assignment to willing buyers and which contain contractual terms 
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest are measured 
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at FVOCI. The fair value of these loans has been determined under level 3.
c.	 The Company has disclosed financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, 

other financial assets and liabilities at carrying value because their carrying amounts are a reasonable 
approximation of the fair values due to their short-term nature.

31.14	 Fair Values Hierarchy

	 The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique:

Level 1: Valuation based on quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active 
markets that the Company can access at the measurement date.

Level 2: Valuation based on using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in 
active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments 
valued using models where all significant inputs are observable.

Level 3: Valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: – financial instruments valued using valuation techniques 
where one or more significant inputs are unobservable. 

	 Disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments are given below:

Particulars
Carrying amount/Fair value

As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

Financial assets L-1 L-2 L-3 L-1 L-2 L-3
Carrying amounts/fair value:
a) Measured at fair value through profit and loss

Financial Guarantee Contracts -- -- -- -- -- --
b)  Measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income -- -- -- -- -- --

c)	 Measured at amortised cost
-	 Cash and cash equivalents
-	 Loans
-	 Investments
-	 Other financial assets

--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--

75.80
5,499.59

6.84
447.62

--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--

524.61
6,148.94

6.84
469.75

Total -- -- 6,029.85 -- -- 7,150.14

Financial liabilities L-1 L-2 L-3 L-1 L-2 L-3

Carrying amounts/fair value:
a)	 Measured at fair value through profit and loss

Financial Guarantee Contracts -- -- -- -- -- --

b)  Measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income -- -- -- -- -- --

c)	 Measured at amortised cost
-	 Borrowings
-	 Lease liabilities
-	 Other financial liabilities

--
--
--

--
--
--

4,080.38
68.32

504.73

--
--
--

--
--
--

5,488.65
70.77

463.38

Total -- -- 4,653.43 -- -- 6,022.80



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25102

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

31.15	 Disclosure required under Section 186 (4) of the Companies Act, 2013.

    	  Particulars of transaction made during the year and outstanding balance as at the end of the year:

Name of
the

Investee

Nature of 
Transaction

Purpose for 
which it is 

utilized

2024-25 2023-24

During
the Year

Outstanding 
Balance
(net of 

impairment 
loss allowance)

During
the Year

Outstanding 
Balance

Amulet 
Technologies 

Limited

Investment
To fund the
Subsidiary

carry out activities 
i.e., consultancy, 
advisory and IT 

etc.

-- --

770.37
(impairment loss 
allowance made 
during the year)

--

Loan

(139.37)
(Including loan received 

back (net)) 1,309.81

(7.24)
(Including loan 

received back (net) 
(40.64)

(impairment loss 
allowance made 
during the year)

1,449.18

31.16 Risk management objectives and policies

	 Risk Management Framework
	 A summary of the major risks faced by the Company, its measurement monitoring and management are described 

as under

Nature of
risk Arising from

Executive 
governance 
structure

Measurement, monitoring and management of risk

Liquidity and 
funding risk

Liquidity risk arises from 
mismatches in the timing 
of cash flows.
Funding risk arises:
•	 when long term 
assets cannot be funded 
at the expected	
term resulting in cash flow 
mismatches;
•	 amidst volatile
market conditions 
impacting sourcing of 
funds from banks and 
money markets

Board 
appointed 
Asset Liability 
Committee 
(ALCO)

Liquidity and funding risk is:
•	 measured by identifying gaps in the structural and 
dynamic liquidity statements.
•	 monitored by
–	 assessment of the gap between visibility of funds and 
the near-term liabilities given current liquidity conditions and 
evolving regulatory directions for NBFCs.
–	 a constant calibration of sources of funds in line with 
emerging market conditions in banking and money markets.
–	 periodic reviews by ALCO relating to the liquidity position 
and stress tests assuming varied ‘what if’ scenarios and 
comparing probable gaps with the liquidity buffers maintained 
by the Company.
•	 managed by the Company’s treasury team under the 
guidance of ALCO.

Interest rate 
risk

Interest rate risk stems 
from movements	in market 
factors, such as interest 
rates, credit spreads which 
impacts investments, 
income and the value of 
portfolios.

Board 
appointed 
Asset Liability 
Committee

Interest rate risk is:
•	 measured using Valuation at Risk (‘VaR’), and modified 
duration analysis and other measures, including the sensitivity 
of net interest income.
•	 monitored by assessment of probable impacts of interest 
rate sensitivities under simulated stress test scenarios given 
range of probable interest rate movement so on both fixed 
and floating assets and liabilities.
•	 managed by the Company’s treasury team under the 
guidance of ALCO.
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Credit risk Credit risk is the risk of 
financial loss arising out 
of a customer or counter 
party failing to meet their 
repayment obligations to 
the Company

Board 
appointed Risk 
Management 
Committee

 	

Credit risk is:
•	 measured as the amount at risk due to repayment default to a 
customer or counter party to the Company. Various matrices such 
as EMI default rate, overdue position, collection efficiency, customers 
non-performing loans etc. are used as leading indicators to assess 
credit risk.
•	 monitored by Risk Management Committee using level of credit 
exposures, portfolio monitoring, repurchase rate, bureau data 
of portfolio performance and industry, geographic, customer and 
portfolio concentration risks.
•	 managed by a robust control framework by the risk department 
which continuously align credit policies, obtaining external data 
from credit bureaus and reviews of portfolios and delinquencies by 
senior and middle Management team comprising of risk, analytics, 
collection and fraud containment along with business. The same is 
periodically reviewed by the Board appointed Risk Management 
Committee.	

Liquidity and funding risk	

The Company monitors asset liability mismatches to ensure that there are no imbalances or excessive concentrations 
on either side of the Balance Sheet.

The Company continuously monitors liquidity in the market; and as a part of its strategy, the Company maintains a 
liquidity buffer managed by an active investment desk to reduce this risk.

The Company is managing its fund requirements mainly from banks and financial institutions. The Company emphasis 
on long term borrowings, however, presently its short term borrowing are more than the long term borrowing, which 
has helped the Company to manage and meet its fund requirements, considering that presently the Company is not 
disbursing new / further loans to its customers and its focus is on recovery and to improve its assets quality. The table 
below summaries the maturity profile of the undiscounted cashflow of the Company’s financial liabilities:

As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Particulars
Within 12 

months
After 12 
months Total

Within 12 
months

After 12 
months Total

Borrowings 2,284.58 1,795.80 4,080.38 5,290.26 198.39 5,488.65
Lease liabilities 18.62 49.70 68.32 12.52 58.25 70.77
Other financial liabilities 504.73 -- 504.73 463.38 -- 463.38

2,807.93 1,845.50 4,653.43 5,766.16 256.64 6,022.80

As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Particulars
Within 12 

months
After 12
 months Total Within 12 

months
After 12 
months Total

ASSETS
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 75.80 -- 75.80 524.61 -- 524.61
Loans 5,499.59 -- 5,499.59 6,148.94 -- 6,148.94
Investments -- 6.84 6.84 -- 6.84 6.84
Other financial assets 249.99 197.63 447.62 287.50 182.25 469.75
Non-financial assets
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Current tax assets (net) 3.46 -- 3.46 3.66 -- 3.66
Deferred tax assets (net) -- 2,151.32 2,151.32 -- 2,244.84 2,244.84
Property, plant and 
equipment -- 25.14 25.14 -- 31.70 31.70

Intangible assets -- 1.86 1.86 -- 11.93 11.93
Right-of-use assets -- 52.33 52.33 -- 56.34 56.34
Other non-financial assets 10.52 -- 10.52 7.99 -- 7.99
Non-current assets held for 
sale 15.90 -- 15.90 122.93 -- 122.93

Total    8,290.38 9,629.53
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
Borrowings	 2,284.58 1,795.80 4,080.38 5,290.26 198.39 5,488.65

Lease liabilities	 18.62 49.70 68.32 12.52 58.25 70.77

Other financial liabilities 504.73 -- 504.73 463.38 -- 463.38
Non-financial liabilities
Provisions 4.40 16.72 21.12 4.27 13.12 17.39
Other non-financial liabilities 36.90 -- 36.90 39.11 -- 39.11

    4,711.45 6,079.30

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
the market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Company do not have any 
exposure to foreign exchange rate and equity price risk.

Interest rate risk On investments
The interest rate risk on the investment portfolio and corresponding fair value change impact is monitored using Valuation 
at Risk (‘VaR’) and modified duration analysis and other measures, including the sensitivity of net interest income.  The 
Company do not have any investment which is exposed to interest risk.
On assets and liabilities
Interest rate sensitivity on fixed and floating rate assets and liabilities with differing maturity profiles is measured by using 
the duration gap analysis. The same is computed periodically and sensitivity of the market value of equity assuming 
varied changes in interest rates are presented and monitored.
Sensitivity analysis as at 31 March, 2025

Particulars Carrying 
value Fair value

Sensitivity to closing
 	 fair value	

1% increase 1% decrease

Loans – Financial Assets 5,499.59 5,499.59 55.00 (55.00)

Borrowings – Financial Liabilities 4,080.38 4,080.38 40.80 (40.80)

Sensitivity analysis as at 31 March, 2024

Particulars Carrying 
value Fair value

Sensitivity to closing
 	 fair value	

1% increase 1% decrease

Loans – Financial Assets 6,148.94 6,148.94 61.49 (61.49)
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Borrowings – Financial Liabilities 5,488.65 5,488.65 54.89 (54.89)

	 Credit risk
	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising out of a customer or counterparty failing to meet their repayment obligations 

to the Company. It has a diversified lending model and focuses on broad categories viz: business, mortgages, and 
commercial lending. The Company assesses the credit quality of all financial instruments that are subject to credit risk.

	 Classification of financial assets under various stages
	 The Company classifies its financial assets in three stages having the following characteristics:
	 Stage 1: unimpaired and without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on which a 12-month 

allowance for ECL is recognised;
	 Stage 2: a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on which a lifetime ECL is recognised;
	 Stage 3: objective evidence of impairment, and are therefore considered to be in default or otherwise credit impaired on 

which a lifetime ECL is recognised.
	 Unless identified at an earlier stage, all financial assets are deemed to have suffered a significant increase in credit risk 

when they are 90 days past due (DPD) and are accordingly transferred from stage 1 to stage 2. For stage 1 an ECL 
allowance is calculated based on a 12-month Point in Time (PIT) probability weighted probability of default (PD). For 
stage 2 and 3 assets a life time ECL is calculated based on a lifetime PD.

	 The Company has calculated ECL using three main components: a probability of default (PD), a loss given default 
(LGD) and the exposure at default (EAD) along with an adjustment considering forward macro-economic conditions [for 
a detailed note for methodology of computation of ECL please refer to material accounting policies note no 4.3(i) to the 
financial statements].

	 Financial instruments other than loans were subjected to simplified ECL approach under Ind AS 109 ‘Financial 
Instruments’ and accordingly were not subject to sensitivity of future economic conditions.

	 The table below summarises the approach adopted by the Company for various components of ECL viz. PD, EAD and 
LGD across product lines using empirical data where relevant
Lending
Category

Nature of
Businesses

Probability of Default (PD) Exposure at
Default (EAD)

Loss Given
Default (LGD)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Business 
Loan

Unsecured loans to 
SMEs, corporate and 
others etc.

Use of past trend and 
data and statistical 
analysis thereof, external 
/ internal ratings and 
internal evaluation with a 
management overlay.

100%

EAD is computed 
based on 
assessment of time 
to default considering 
customers profile and 
time for liquidation of 
securities

Based on	past 
trend of recoveries, 
associated risk of 
underlying security 
and estimated	
cash flows.

Mortgage 
Loan

Loans against collateral 
security of plant & 
machinery

Commercial 
Loan Loans against property

	 The table below summaries the gross carrying values and the associated allowances for expected credit loss (ECL) 
stage wise for loan portfolio:

	 As at 31 March, 2025

Secured Unsecured
Particulars Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross Carrying Value - - 11,425.84 49.72 - 2,426.24
Allowance for ECL - - 7,288.70 - - 1,113.51
ECL Coverage ratio - - 63.79% - - 45.89%
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	 As at 31 March, 2024

Secured Unsecured
Particulars Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross Carrying Value
- - 12,138.70 52.47 1,489.82 1,247.25

Allowance for ECL - -   7,496.58         -              40.64      1,242.08
ECL Coverage ratio - -       61.76% - 2.73%       99.59%

	 Collateral Valuation

	 The nature of products across these broad categories are either unsecured or secured by collateral. Although collateral 
is an important risk mitigant of credit risk, the Company’s practice is to lend on the basis of assessment of the customer’s 
ability to repay rather than placing primary reliance on collateral. Based on the nature of product and the Company’s 
assessment of the customer’s credit risk, a loan may be offered with suitable collateral. Depending on its form, collateral 
can have a significant financial effect in mitigating the Company’s credit  risk.

	 The main types of collateral across various products obtained are as follows:

Product group Nature of securities

Mortgage Loan Hypothecation of underlying plant & machinery

Commercial Loan Equitable mortgage of residential and commercial properties.

	 The Company periodically monitors the market value of collateral and evaluates its exposure and loan to value matrix for 
high risk customers. The Company exercises its right of repossession across all secured products, and also resorts to 
judicial remedies available against its mortgages and commercial lending business. The repossessed assets are either 
sold or released to delinquent customers in case they come forward to settle their dues, but are not recorded in the 
accounts. The assets possessed / received in settlement of the loan are recorded as non–current assets held for sale 
(refer note 15).

	 Analysis of Concentration Risk

	 Credit concentration risk is the risk associated with any single exposure or group of exposures with the potential to 
produce large enough losses to threaten Company’s core operation. The Company’s exposure to various borrowers is 
constantly monitored to mitigate the credit concentration risk. The detail of advances to the top 20 largest borrowers and 
its percentage to the total advances is as under:

Particulars As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

Total Loans to twenty largest borrowers 5,762.82      6,127.76

Percentage of Advances to twenty largest borrowers to Total Loans of the Company 41.45%        41.05%

	  Company’s loans exposure are within the geographic area of National Capital Region, New Delhi.

	 Measurement uncertainty and sensitivity analysis of ECL estimates

	 Expected credit loss impairment loss allowances recognised in the financial statements reflect the effect of a range 
of possible economic outcomes, calculated on a probability-weighted basis, based on the economic scenarios. Key 
assumptions used in measurement of ECL:

-	 The Company considers the date of initial recognition as the base date from which significant increase in credit risk 
is determined.

-	   Since the Company has a right to cancel any sanctioned but undrawn limits to any of its borrowers, EAD is assumed 
to be outstanding balance as on the reporting date.
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31.17 	Disclosures pursuant to RBI Notification-RBI/2019-20/170 DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.NO.109/22.10.106/2019-
20 dated 13 March, 2020- A comparison between provisions required under Income recognition, asset 
classification and provisioning (IRACP) and impairment allowances as per Ind AS 109 ‘Financial instruments’

Asset classification 
as per RBI Norms 

Asset 
classification 
as per 
Ind AS 109

Gross 
carrying 
amount as 
per Ind AS

Loss 
allowance 
(Provisions) 
as required 
under Ind AS 
109 

Net 
Carrying 
amount 

Provision 
required 
as per 
IRACP 
norms 

Difference 
between 
Ind AS 109 
provision 
and IRACP 
norms 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)=(3)-(4) (6) (7)=(4)-(6)
(a)	  Performing 
Assets
Standard Stage 1 49.72 -- 49.72 0.14 (0.14)
Subtotal (a) 49.72 -- 49.72 0.14 (0.14)

(b)	 Non-
Performing 
Assets (NPA)
(i)	 Substandard Stage 3 1,350.45 40.64 1,309.81 135.04 (94.40)

(ii)	 Doubtful up to
         1 year Stage 3 -- -- -- -- --
         1 to 3 years Stage 3 676.37 274.69 401.68 396.15 (121.46)

     More than 3 years Stage 3 11,825.26 8,086.88 3,738.38 9,793.70 (1,706.82)
Subtotal (ii) 12,501.63 8,361.57 4,140.06 10,189.85 (1,828.28)
(iii)	 Loss Stage 3 - - - - -

Subtotal (b) 13,852.08 8,402.21 5,449.87 10,324.89 (1,922.68)
Stage 1 49.72 -- 49.72 0.14 (0.14)

Total (a+b) Stage 2 -- -- -- -- --
Stage 3 13,852.08 8,402.21 5,449.87 10,324.89 (1,922.68)
Total 13,901.80 8,402.21 5,499.59 10,325.03 (1,922.82)

31.18	Title deeds of Immovable Properties not held in name of the Company

Relevant 
line item in 
the Balance 
Sheet

Description 
of item 
property

Gross 
Carrying 
Value

Title Deeds 
held in the 
name of

Whether title 
deed holder 
is promoter, 
director or 
relative of 
promoter/
director or 
employee of 
promoter/
director

Property 
held since 
which date

Reason for not being 
held in the name of 
the company

Property, 
plant & 
equipment

Land 4.82

Unitel Credit 
Private 
Limited 
(merged with 
Intec Capital 
Limited)

No 02/08/2006

Land was transferred 
to the Company after 
merger of Unitel Credit 
Private Limited into the 
Company. Company 
is taking necessary 
steps to transfer the 
same in the name of the 
Company.
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31.19	 Details of Loan & Advances in the nature of loan granted to Promoters, Directors, Key Management Personnel 
& the related parties.

Type of Borrower As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
Amount outstanding % of Total Amount outstanding % of Total

Promoters -- -- -- --
Director -- -- -- --
KMPs -- -- -- --
Related Parties (Gross)	
1)	 Amulet Technologies

1,350.45 9.71% 1,489.82 9.98%

2)	Pantec Devices Pvt. Ltd 49.72 0.35% 52.47                                                  0.35%

31.20	 The Company uses accounting software for maintaining its books of account which has a feature of recording audit 
trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the 
software except in certain components where the audit trail were not operating due to system limitations. Further at 
no instance the Audit Trail feature was tempered with and the audit trail has been preserved by the Company as per 
the statutory requirements for record retention.

31.21	 Impairment on financial instruments during the previous year ended 31 March, 2024, included the impairment loss 
allowance of Rs. 811.01 lakhs on the investment and loan given to the Subsidiary Company, based on assessment 
of its recoverability conducted by the Company.  

31.22	 In absence of virtual uncertainty regarding availability of the sufficient taxable income in future, the deferred tax 
assets has not been recognised on accumulated brought forwarded and current tax losses.

31.23	 Wilful Defaulter:
	 The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender company, as 

such the declaration as wilful defaulter is not applicable.

31.24	  Relationship with Struck off Companies
	 The Company has the transactions with the company struck off under Section 248 of Companies Act, 2013 or 

Section 560 of Companies Act, 1956, as under:

Name of Struck off 
Company

Nature of transactions 
with struck-off 
Company

Balance outstanding 
as at 31 March, 2025

Relationship with the 
struck off Company, if any, 
to be disclosed

Runit Fabrics Pvt. Ltd. Loan outstanding 9.65 No relation

31.25	 Ratio Analysis

Particulars Numerator Denominator
31 

March, 
2025

31 
March, 
2024

% Variance Reason for 
variance

Capital to risk-
weighted assets ratio 
(CRAR)

Total Capital 
Funds

Risk 
Weighted 

Assets
(41.36) (40.63) (1.80%) -

Tier I CRAR Net Owned 
Funds

Risk 
Weighted 

Assets
(41.36) (40.63) (1.90%) -

Tier II CRAR Tier II Capital
Risk 

Weighted 
Assets

0.00 0.00 0.00% -

Liquidity Coverage 
Ratio

Cash & cash 
equivalents

Net Cash Out 
Flow (0.17) 1.30 (113.08)

Due to 
decrease in 

cash and cash 
equivalents
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31.26	 The Company did not have any transaction which had not been recorded in the books of accounts, which had been 
surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961.

31.27	 The Company has not traded or invested in crypto currency or virtual currency during the year.

31.28	 The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested any funds (either from borrowed funds or share premium or 
any other sources or kind of funds) to or in any other person or entity, including foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly 
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provided any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

31.29	 The Company has not received any funds from any person or entity, including foreign entity (“Funding Parties”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall, directly or indirectly, lend or 
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provided any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

31.30	 Previous year’s figures have been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to conform to current year 
classification.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

Place: Kota/ New Delhi (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Date: 30 May, 2025 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

M. No. FCS 11041 



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25110

Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Annexure – I, as referred in Note 31.10
A.	 Schedule to the Balance Sheet.

Particulars As at As at
Liabilities side: 31 March, 2025 31 March, 2024

1 Loans and advances availed by the NBFC 
inclusive of interest accrued thereon but not 
paid:

Amount Amount Amount Amount
Outstanding Overdue Outstanding Overdue

(a) Debentures:
Secured - - - -
Unsecured - - - -
(Other than falling within the meaning of public 

deposits)

(b) Deferred credits - - - -
(c) Term loan 559.15 559.15 837.04 837.04
(d) Inter corporate loans and borrowings 606.74 - 198.39 -
(e) Loan From Director 1,189.06 - - -
(f)

(g)

Commercial paper (net of un-amortized 
discount on issue)

Public Deposits
-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(h) Other loans:
Working capital demand loans from banks - - - -
Cash credit/overdraft from banks 1,725.43 1,725.43 4,453.22 4,453.22

Total 4,080.38 2,284.58 5,488.65 5,290.26

2
Break-up of (1)(f) above (Outstanding public deposits 
inclusive of interest accrued thereon but not paid):
a) In the form of Unsecured Debentures
b)	In the form of partly secured debentures i.e. 

debentures where there is a shortfall in the value 
of security

c)	 Other Public deposits

Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 2025

Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 2024

- -
-

-

-

-
Total - -

Assets side: Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 2025

Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 20243 Break-up of loans and advances including bills 

receivables {other than those included in (4) below}:
(a) Secured # 4,137.14 4,642.12
(b) Unsecured # 1,362.45 1,506.82

Total 5,499.59 6,148.94
# Comprises of loans which are disclosed net of provision for non-performing assets.
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4 Break up of Leased Assets and stock on hire and other assets 
counting towards AFC activities As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 

2024
(i) Lease assets including lease rentals under sundry debtors:

(a) Financial lease - -
(b) Operating lease - -

(ii) Stock on hire including hire charges, under sundry debtors:
(a) Assets on hire - -
(b) Repossessed stock - -

(iii) Other Loans counting towards AFC activities:
(a) Loans where assets have been repossessed - -
(b) Loans other than (a) above - -

Total - -

5 Break-up of investments
Amount outstanding 

as at
31 March, 2025

Amount 
outstanding 

as at
31 March, 2024

Current investments:
1Quoted:

(i) Shares:
(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

2Unquoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -
Long term investments:

1Quoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

2Unquoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity* 6.84 6.84
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v)		  Others
(*net of impairment) - -

Total 6.84 6.84
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6 Borrower group wise classification of all assets financed as in (2) and (3) above:

Category
Amount net of provisions Amount net of provisions

As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024
Secured Unsecured Total Secured Unsecured Total

1. Related Parties:
(a) Subsidiaries - 1,309.81 1,309.81 - 1,449.18 1,449.18
(b) Companies in the 
same group - - - - - -

(c) Other related Parties - 49.72 49.72 - 52.47 52.47
2. Other than related
    Parties 4,137.14 2.92 4,140.06 4,642.12 5.17 4,647.28

Total 4,137.14 1,362.45 5,499.59 4,642.12 1,506.82 6,148.94

7
Investor group wise classification of all investments (current and long term) in shares and securities (both 
quoted and unquoted):

As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Category
Market value/ Break-up 
or Fair value or NAV #

Book value (net 
of Provisions)

Market Value/ 
Break-up or Fair 

Value or
NAV #

Book value (net of 
Provisions)

1 Related Parties:

(a) Subsidiaries - - - -

(b) Companies in the same 
group - - - -

(c) Other related parties 3.03 3.03 3.03 3.03

2 Other than related parties 3.81 3.81 3.81 3.81

Total 6.84 6.84 6.84 6.84

8 Other information

As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

(i) Gross Non-Performing Assets
(a) Related parties 1,350.45 -
(b) Other than related parties 12,501.63                13,385.95

(ii) Net Non-Performing Assets 
(a) Related parties 1,309.81 -
(b) Other than related parties 4,140.06 4,647.29

(iii) Assets acquired in satisfaction of debts  
      (net of provisions)  - -

# These are unquoted shares and the fair value/NAV thereof is not less than their book value.
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B.	 Details of assignment transactions undertaken

Particulars As at 
31 March, 2025                               

As at 
31 March, 2024                                       

(i) No. of accounts - -

(ii)  Aggregate value of accounts sold, gross exposure - -

(iii) Aggregate consideration for assigned portion - -
(iv) Additional consideration realised in respect of accounts 

transferred in earlier years - -

(v) Aggregate gain/(loss) over net book value - -

C.	 Disclosure of restructured accounts as required by the NBFC Master Directions issued by RBI

Type of restructuring – Others
Asset Classification

Standard Sub-
standard Doubtful Loss Total

i) Restructured accounts as on 1 April, 2024

No. of borrowers - - 1 - 1
Amount outstanding - - 167.96 - 167.96
Provision thereon - - 167.96 - 167.96

ii) Fresh restructuring during the year-
No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
Provision thereon - - - - -

iii) Upgradations to restructured standard 
category during the FY-

No. of borrowers - - - - -

Amount outstanding - - - - -

Provision thereon - - - - -

iv) Restructured standard advances which cease 
to attract higher provisioning and/or additional risk 
weight at the end of the FY and hence need not be 
shown as restructured standard advances at the 
beginning of the next FY-

- -
-

- -

No. of borrowers - - - - -

Amount outstanding - - - - -

Provision thereon - - - - -
V) Down gradations of restructured accounts
during the FY-
No. of borrowers - - - - -

Amount outstanding - - - - -

Provision thereon - - - - -
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vi) Write-offs/Settlements/Recoveries of
restructured accounts during the year - - - - -

No. of borrowers - - 1 - 1

Amount outstanding - - 105.00 - 105.00

Provision thereon - - 105.00 - 105.00

vii) Restructured accounts as on 31 March, 2025

No. of borrowers - - 1 - 1

Amount outstanding - - 62.96 - 62.96

Provision thereon - - 62.96 - 62.96

D.    Disclosure pursuant to Liquidity Risk Management Framework for Non-Banking Financial Companies:
(I)	 Funding Concentration based on significant counterparty (borrowings)

Particulars As at 
31 March, 2025

As at 
31 March, 2024

Number of significant counter parties* - -

Amount - -

Percentage of funding concentration to total liabilities - -

(II)	 Top 10 borrowings

Particulars
As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Amount                                               % of Total 
Borrowings Amount                                               % of Total 

Borrowings

Top 10 Borrower* 2,284.58              100 % 5,290.26              100 %

*Based on size of bond issuance/term loans from bank

III)  Funding Concentration based on significant instrument/product

Significant instrument /product
As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Amount                                              % of Total 
Liabilities Amount                                               % of Total 

Liabilities
Borrowings 2,284.58              100 % 5,290.26              100 %
Total 2,284.58              100 % 5,290.26              100 %

(IV)   Stock Ratios 

Particulars % to total public funds % to total liabilities % to total assets

As at 31.03.2025

Other short-term liabilities - 11.98% 6.81%
As at 31.03.2024
Other short-term liabilities - 8.54 % 5.39 %
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Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

E. Additional disclosures in financial statements:
A)	 Exposure
1)	 Exposure to real estate sector-Nil
2)	 Exposure to capital market-Nil
3)	 Sectoral Exposure

Sectors Current Year Previous Year

Total Exposure 
(includes on 

balance sheet 
and off-balance

sheet 
exposure)

Gross 
NPAs

Percentage 
of Gross 

NPAs 
to total 

exposure in 
that sector

Total Exposure 
(includes 

on balance 
sheet and off-
balance sheet 

exposure)

Gross 
NPAs

Percentage 
of Gross 

NPAs 
to total 

exposure in 
that sector

1. Agriculture
    and Allied
    Activities

- - - - - -

2. Industry

2.1 Micro and
      Small 5,700.01 5,650.29 99.13% 6,392.05 4,849.76 75.87%

2.2 Medium 1,309.65 1,309.65 100% 1,368.04 1,368.04 100%

2.3 Large 141.45 141.45 100% 141.45 141.45 100%
Total of Industry 
(1 + 2) 7,151.11 7,101.39 99.30% 7,901.54 6,359.25 80.48%

3. Services
3.1 Transport
      Operators 140.00 140.00 100% 165.00 165.00 100%

3.2 Computer
      Software 282.51 282.51 100% 282.51 282.51 100%

3.3 Tourism,
      Hotel and
      Restaurants

20.65 20.65 100% 36.34 36.34 100%

3.4 Professional
      Services 1,493.05 1,493.05 100% 1,518.05 1,518.05 100%

3.5 Trade

3.5.1 Wholesale
       Trade (other
       than Food
     Procurement)

564.05 564.05 100% 595.75 595.75 100%

3.5.2 Retail
         Trade 1,979.92 1,979.92 100% 1,979.92 1,979.92 100%

3.6 Others 2,270.50 2,270.50 100% 2,449.13 2,449.13 100%

Total of Services 
(3.1 to 3.6) 6,750.68 6,750.68 100% 7,026.70 7,026.70 100%

Total 13,901.80 13,852.07 99.64% 14,928.24 13,385.95 89.67%
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Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

4)	 Intra-group exposures

Particulars For the year ended 31 
March, 2025

For the year ended 31 
March, 2024

(i)	 Total amount of intra-group exposures 1,400.17 1,542.29

(ii)	 Total amount of top 20 intra-group exposures 1,400.17 1,542.29
(iii)	Percentage of intra-group exposures to total exposure 

of the NBFC on borrowers/customers    10.07% 10.33%

B)	 Related Party Disclosure

Items/Related 
Party Subsidiaries

Key 
Management

Personnel

Relatives 
of Key 

Management 
Personnel

Other related 
party Total

Current year/
Previous year

Current year/
Previous year

Current year/
Previous year

Current year/
Previous year

Current year/
Previous year

Advances 
outstanding as 
at year end

1,350.45 1,489.82 - - - - 49.72 52.47 1,400.17 1,542.29

Borrowings 
outstanding at 
year end

- - 1,189.06 - - - 606.74 198.39 1,795.80 198.39

Remuneration 
paid - - 12.35 13.25 40.04 39.32 - - 52.39 52.57

Finance Cost - - 6.73 - - - 60.75 6.31 67.48 6.31
Interest income 
on loans - - - - - - 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25

Investments 
held (net of 
provision)

- - - - - - 3.03 3.03 3.03 3.03

Guarantees 
given on behalf 
of the Company

(1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) 2,284.58
(1)

5,290.26
(2)

C)	 Disclosure of complaints
1)	 Summary information on complaints received by the NBFCs from customers and from the Offices of 

Ombudsman

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2024

i) No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year - 1

ii) No. of complaints received during the year 129 129

iii) No. of complaints redressed during the year 129 130

iv) No. of complaints pending at the end of the year - -
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Notes forming part of the Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

2)	 Top five grounds of complaints received by the NBFC from customers

Grounds of 
Complaints, (i.e. 
complaints
relating to)

Number of complaints 
pending at the 
beginning of the year

Number of complaints 
received during the 
year

Number of 
complaints 
pending at the 
end of the year

Of total pending, number 
of complaints pending 
beyond 30 days

Current Year
CIBIL - 34 21% -
Refund - - - -
CHG-4 - 12 (33%) -
Settlement - 23 (57%) -

Withdraw / Legal - - (100%) -

Others - 60 107% -
Total - 129 -

Previous Year
CIBIL - 28 - -
Refund - - - -
CHG-4 - 18 - -
Settlement 1 53 - -

Withdraw / Legal - 1 - -

Others - 29 - -

Total 1 129 - -

Note:
	 The complaints, if any from the shareholders, borrowers or any other party/stakeholder are thoroughly addressed/

investigated/enquired as and when received and necessary action and impact thereof, if any is taken accordingly as 
considered appropriate by the Management. As at the year end, no such impact is required in the financial statements 
and the same if any required will be taken in the period such complaints are suitably/appropriately addressed.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ‘INTEC CAPITAL LIMITED’
ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qualified Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Intec Capital Limited (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Holding Company”) and its Subsidiary 
(Holding Company and its subsidiary together referred 
to as “the Group”), which comprise the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet as at 31 March, 2025, the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements including a summary of 
the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information (hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated 
financial statements”). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, except 
for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for 
Qualified Opinion section of our report, the aforesaid 
financial statements give the information required by 
the Companies Act, 2013 (the ‘Act’) in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with 
the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of 
the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March, 2025 
and its Profit (including Other Comprehensive Loss), its 
changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended 
on that date

Basis for Qualified Opinion
The Holding Company has availed term loans and 
working capital facilities from various banks, however, 
slow down of its lending business and increased level of 
non-performing / impaired loan portfolio, has impacted 
its cash flow / liquidity, and the Holding Company is un-
able to service term loans and working capital facilities 
including interest thereon to certain banks. The interest 
of Rs. 6,515.10 lakhs accrued on these loans has not 
been accounted / provided for by the Company, due to 
the reasons as described by the Holding Company in 
note no. 16.4 to these consolidated financial statements. 
The same has resulted in the non-compliance of the 
Ind AS and inconsistency in the application of the 
accounting policies of the Group, and if the said interest 
would have been accounted / provided for, the Group’s 
total consolidated comprehensive loss for the year, and 
consolidated borrowings and consolidated other equity as 
at the Balance Sheet date would have been Rs. 6,494.52 
lakhs and Rs. 10,595.48 lakhs and Rs. 4,900.71 lakhs 
(debit balance) as against the reported figures of Rs. 
20.58 lakhs (income) and Rs. 4,080.38 lakhs and Rs. 
1,614.39 lakhs respectively.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of 
the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements under the provisions of 
the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
There are various events or conditions indicating 
existence of material uncertainty about the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern viz. huge accumulated 
losses, non-carrying out the lending / operational activities 
and substantial reduction in the recoveries from the 
borrowers / customers, which have resulted in substantial 
erosion of net worth of the Group and there are default 
in payment of borrowings and delay in payment of other 
liabilities including towards employees / statutory dues 
etc. These events or conditions indicate the existence of 
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. However, 
management has prepared these consolidated financial 
statements of the Group on a Going Concern due to the 
reasons as described in Note 31.9 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The auditor of Subsidiary Company i.e. Amulet 
Technologies Limited, have also commented on Going 
Concern and have given ‘Material Uncertainty related 
to Going Concern” in their auditor’s report for the year 
ended 31 March, 2025.

Our qualified opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements is not further qualified in respect of the above 
matter.

Key Audit Matter 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current year. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our qualified opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
We have determined the matter described below to be 
the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.
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Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit
Impairment of Financial Assets including Loans to the 
Customers (Expected Credit Lossess) 

Ind AS 109 requires the Holding Company to recognise 
impairment loss allowance towards its financial assets 
including loans to customers (designated at amortised 
cost) using the expected credit loss (ECL) approach. 
Such ECL allowance is required to be measured 
considering the guiding principles of Ind AS 109 
including unbiased, probability weighted outcome 
under various scenarios, time value of money, 
impact arising from forward looking macro-economic 
factors and availability of reasonable and supportable 
information without undue costs. 

Applying these principles involves significant 
estimation in various aspects, such as grouping of 
borrowers based on homogeneity by using appropriate 
statistical techniques, staging of loans and estimation 
of behavioral life, determining macro-economic factors 
impacting credit quality of receivables, estimation of 
losses for loan products with no / minimal historical 
defaults. Considering the significance of such 
allowance to the overall financial statements (and 
the degree of estimation involved in computation of 
expected credit losses), this area is considered as a 
key audit matter.

Our Audit Procedure: 
We obtained and evaluated the management’s estimations and 
specifically performed the work as under: 

-	 Read and assessed the Holding Company’s accounting 
policies for impairment of financial assets and their 
compliance with Ind AS 109.

-	 Evaluated the reasonableness of the Management 
estimates by understanding the process of ECL 
estimation and tested the controls around data 
extraction and validation.

-	 Tested the ECL model, including assumptions and 
underlying computation. 

-	 Assessed the floor/minimum rates of provisioning 
applied by the Holding Company for loan products with 
inadequate historical defaults. 

Our Results: 

The results of our testing were satisfactory and we considered 
the fair value of the financial assets including loans to customers 
recognised to be acceptable.

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the other information. The other information comprises 
the Corporate Governance Report and Directors’ Report, 
including annexures, if any, thereon, (but does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon), which is expected to be made available to 
us after the date of this Auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

When we read the Corporate Governance Report and 
Directors’ Report, including annexures, if any, thereon, if we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged 
with governance.     

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged 
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in term of the requirements of the Act 
that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position, consolidated financial performance including 
other comprehensive income, consolidated changes 
in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting 
Standards (“Ind AS”) notified under Section 133 of the Act 
read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015, and the NBFC Regulations, as amended 
from time to time.

The respective Board of Directors of the Companies 
included in the Group are responsible for maintenance 
of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the 
Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy 
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and completeness of the accounting records, relevant 
to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements by 
the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consoldiated financial statements, the 
respective Board of Directors of the Companies included 
in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of 
the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board 
of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

The respective Board of Directors of the Companies 
included in the Group are responsible for overseeing the 
financial reporting process of the Group. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we along with 
auditor of Subsidiary Company exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

-	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

-	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under 
section 143(3)(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we 
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on 

whether the holding company has adequate internal 
financial controls system in place and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls. 

-	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

-	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consoldiated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

-	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

-	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit of the financial statements 
of such entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements of which we are the independent auditors. 
For the other entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements, which have been audited by 
other auditor, such other auditor remains responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the audits carried out by him. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
consolidated financial statements that, individually or 
in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic 
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the 
consolidated financial statements may be influenced. We 
consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in 
(i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating 
the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of 
any identified misstatements in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance 
of the Holding Company and such other entity included 
in the consolidated financial statements of which we are 
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independent auditors regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Other Matter
We did not audit the financial statements of the Subsidiary 
Company, namely Amulet Technologies Limited, whose 
financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 1,189.92 
lakhs as at 31 March, 2025, and total revenues of Rs. 
9.06 lakhs, total net loss after tax of Rs. 8.12 lakhs and 
total comprehensive loss of Rs. 8.12 lakhs and net cash 
inflow of Rs. 0.35 lakhs for the year ended on that date, 
as considered in the consolidated financial statements. 

These financial statements have been audited by other 
auditor, whose report has been furnished to us by the 
Holding Company’s Management and our qualified 
opinion and comments under ‘Material Uncertainty 
related to Going Concern’ on the consolidated financial 
statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and 
disclosures included in respect of the said Subsidiary, is 
based solely on the audit report of the said auditor and 
after consideration of the further facts and information 
provided to us by the Holding Company’s management, 
at the time of consolidation of these financial statements, 
and the procedures performed by us as stated in Basis 
for Qualified Opinion paragraph above. 

Our qualified opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements, and our Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in 
respect of the above matter. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
1.	 With respect to the matters specified in paragraphs 

3(xxi) and 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
Order, 2020 (the “Order”/ “CARO”) issued by the 
Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) 
of the Act, to be included in the Auditor’s report, 
according to the information and explanations given 
to us, and based on the CARO report issued by us for 
the Holding Company, and report for its Subsidiary 
issued by other auditor as stated in ‘Other matter’ 
above which is included in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group, to which reporting under 
CARO is applicable, we report that there are no 
qualifications or adverse remarks in these CARO 
reports, except to the extent stated herein below:

Sr. 
No. Name of the Company CIN

Holding 
Company/ 
Subsidiary

Clause number of the 
CARO report which is 
qualified or adverse

1. Intec Capital Limited L74899DL1994PLC057410 Holding 
Company

Clauses 3(i)(c), 3(vii)(a), 
3(ix)(a) and 3(xix)

2. Amulet Technologies 
Limited U74140DL2011PLC217880 Subsidiary Clauses 3(iii)(c), 3(iii)(d) and 

3(iii)(f) 

2.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, 
to the extent applicable, that:

a.	 We have sought and obtained all the 
information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements.

b.	 In our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law relating to preparation of the 
aforesaid consolidated financial statements 
have been kept so far as appears from our 
examination of those books and reports of the 
other auditor.

c.	 The consolidated Balance Sheet, the 
consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
(including Other Comprehensive Income), the 
consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
dealt with by this Report are in agreement with 
the relevant books of account maintained for 
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

d.	 In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) notified under 
Section 133 of the Act read with the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as 
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amended from time to time.

e.	 on the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors of the Holding 
Company audited by us, and taken on record 
by the Board of Directors, and the report of the 
statutory auditor of the Subsidiary company 
not audited by us, none of the directors of the 
Holding Company and its Subsidiary company 
is disqualified as on 31 March, 2025 from being 
appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 
(2) of the Act.

f.	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial 
statements and operating effectiveness of such 
controls of the Holding Company audited by 
us, and of the Subsidiary company, not audited 
by us (as reported by its auditor), refer to our 
separate report in Annexure-‘A’; and

g.	 As neither any remuneration has been paid 
nor payable by the Holding Company and by 
the Subsidiary Company, not audited by us (as 
reported by its auditor), to its Directors during 
/ for the year under audit, the provisions of 
Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 are 
not applicable; and 

h.	 With respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with 
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to 
the best of our information and according to the 
explanations given to us:

i.	 The Consolidated financial statements 
disclose the impact of pending litigations 
on the Consolidated financial position 
of the Group – Refer Note 31.1 to the 
consolidated financial statements;	     	
	

ii.	 The Group has not entered into any 
long-term contracts including derivative 
contracts.

iii.	 There has been no amount, required to be 
transferred, to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the Group.

iv.	 (a) 	The Managements of the companies 
considered in the consolidated 
financial statements  have represented 
that, to the best of their knowledge and 
belief, no funds (which are material 
either individually or in the aggregate) 
have been advanced or loaned or 
invested (either from borrowed funds 

or share premium or any other sources 
or kind of funds) by the Group to or in 
any other person or entity, including 
foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded 
in writing or otherwise, that the 
Intermediary shall, whether, directly 
or indirectly lend or invest in other 
persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf 
of the Group (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries; 

(b) 	 The Managements of the companies 
considered in the consolidated 
financial statements  have 
represented, that, to the best of their 
knowledge and belief, no funds (which 
are material either individually or in 
the aggregate) have been received by 
the Group from any person or entity, 
including foreign entity (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, 
whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise, that the Group shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly, lend 
or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 
any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

(c) 	 Based on the audit procedures that 
have been considered reasonable 
and appropriate in the circumstances, 
nothing has come to our notice that 
has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause 
(i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), as provided 
under (a) and (b) above, contain any 
material misstatement.

v.	 No dividend was declared or paid during the 
year; hence, the said clause is not applicable. 

vi.	 Based on our examination, which included 
test checks, the Group has used accounting 
software for maintaining its books of account 
for the financial year ended 31 March, 2025 
which has a feature of recording audit trail 
(edit log) facility and the same has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions 
recorded in the software except in case of 
Holding Company, certain components where 
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the audit trail were not recorded / operating 
due to system limitations, as described in note 
31.21 to the consolidated financial statements. 
Further, during the course of our audit we did 
not come across any instance of the audit trail 

feature being tampered with and the audit trail 
has been preserved by the Group as per the 
statutory requirements for record retention.

 			          For S. P. CHOPRA & CO.
Chartered Accountants

Firm Regn. No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani)
Partner

M. No. 524485
    UDIN: 25524485BMIFXH2456

Place:  Kota/ New Delhi
Dated: 30 May, 2025	
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ANNEXURE-‘A’ TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
(Referred to in paragraph 2.f under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of the 

independent auditors report of even date on the consolidated financial statements of Intec Capital Limited 
for the year ended 31 March, 2025)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements of Intec Capital 
Limited (“the Holding Company”) and its Subsidiary (the 
Holding Company and its Subsidiary together referred 
as “the Group”) for the year ended 31 March, 2025, in 
conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls
The respective Board of Directors of the Holding 
Company and its Subsidiary company are responsible 
for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal control over financial reporting 
criteria established by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the 
“Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting” (the “Guidance Note”) issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence 
to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, 
as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Group’s 
internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(the ‘Guidance Note’) and the Standards on Auditing, 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 
and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of 
the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal 
financial controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal 
Financial Controls and, both issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and 
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements 
was established and maintained and if such controls 
operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls system with reference to financial statements 
and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements 
included obtaining an understanding of internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements, assessing 
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion on the company’s internal financial controls 
system with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference 
to financial statements
A Company’s internal financial control with reference to 
financial statements is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A Company’s internal 
financial control with reference to financial statements 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are 
being made only in accordance with  authorizations of 
management and Directors of the Company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of  unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls 
with reference to financial statements
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements, including 
the possibility of collusion or improper management 
override of controls, material misstatements due to error 
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections 
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of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements to future periods are 
subject to the risk that the internal financial control 
with reference to financial statements may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion, to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the Group 
has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial 
controls with reference to the financial statements and 
such internal financial controls with reference to the 
financial statements  were operating effectively as at 31 
March, 2025, based on the internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the Group considering 
the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.

Other Matter

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act 
on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the 
internal financial controls with reference to the financial 
statements in so far as it relates to Subsidiary Company, 
namely Amulet Technologies Limited is based on the 
corresponding report of the auditor of the said Company.    
Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

                 For S. P. CHOPRA & CO.
         Chartered Accountants

          Firm Regn. No. 000346N
   

Place  : Kota/ New Delhi           	  (Gautam Bhutani)
Dated : 30 May, 2025           	    Partner

                                               M. No. 524485
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH, 2025
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note 
No.

As at 
31 March, 2025

As at 
31 March, 2024

ASSETS
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5  79.12  527.58 
Loans 6  4,199.86  4,844.86 
Investments 7  6.84  6.84 
Other financial assets 8  448.47  470.58 

Non-financial assets
Current tax assets (net) 9  4.23  4.61 
Deferred tax assets (net) 10  2,151.32  2,244.84 
Property, plant and equipment 11  1,200.05  1,218.95 
Intangible assets 12  1.86  11.93 
Right-of-use assets 13  52.33  56.34 
Other non-financial assets 14  10.52  7.99 

Non-current assets held for sale 15  15.90  122.93 
TOTAL ASSETS  8,170.50  9,517.45 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
  Borrowings 16  4,080.38  5,492.30 
  Lease liabilities 31.6  68.32  70.77 
  Other financial liabilities 17
   - Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and  
      small enterprises.

 10.53  19.49 

   - Total outstanding dues of other than micro enterprises    
      and small enterprises.

 502.18  447.90 

Non-financial liabilities
Provisions 18  21.12  17.39 
Other non-financial liabilities 19  36.95  39.15 

EQUITY
Equity share capital 20  1,836.63  1,836.63 
Other equity 21  1,614.39  1,593.82 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  8,170.50  9,517.45 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes	 1 to 4 & 31
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated financial statements. 	
This is the Consolidated Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even 
date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

 (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Place: Kota/New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 30 May, 2025 M. No. FCS 11041 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT & LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2025
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Note No. Year ended  
31 March, 2025

Year ended  
31 March, 2024

INCOME 
Revenue from operations
  Interest income 22 112.23 266.30 
  Fees and commission income 23  1.25 0.18 
  Recoveries of financial assets written off 24 243.48 107.16 
Total revenue from operations 356.96 373.64 
  Other income 25 88.63 15.72 
Total Income 445.59 389.36 
EXPENSES
  Finance costs 26 115.92 22.50 
  Impairment on financial instruments 27 (378.69) 451.14 
  Employee benefits expenses 28  252.62  371.56 
  Depreciation and amortization 29  47.90  49.11 
  Other expenses 30  291.96  382.94 
Total Expenses 329.71 1,277.25 
Profit / (Loss) before tax 115.88 (887.89)
Tax expense
Deferred tax debit / (credit) 10.iii 93.96 (322.57)
Total tax expense / (credit) 93.96 (322.57)
Profit / (Loss) for the year 21.92 (565.32)

Other comprehensive (loss) / income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
  Re-measurement (loss)/gain on defined benefit plan (1.79) 2.81 
  Income tax effect 10.iv 0.45 (0.71)
Other comprehensive (loss) / income (1.34) 2.10 
Total comprehensive Income/ (loss) for the year 20.58 (563.22)
Earnings per share: (Nominal value per share Rs. 10/-) 31.7
Basic/Diluted earnings per share (in Rs.) 0.12 (3.08)

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes	 1 to 4 & 31
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated financial statements. 	
This is the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss referred to in our 
report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

 (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Place: Kota/New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 30 May, 2025 M. No. FCS 11041 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2025
(Amount in INR Lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars  Year ended  
31 March, 2025

 Year ended  
31 March, 2024

A. Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/(Loss) before tax 115.88 (887.89)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 47.90 49.11 
Impairment on financial instruments (381.64) 451.14 
Loss on Sale of Repossessed Assets 2.95  -   
Liabilities no longer required written back  -   (1.62)
Gain on cessation of lease liability  -   (2.31)
Profit on disposal of property, plant & equipment (net)  -   (0.25)
Interest on deposit and others (7.78) (9.68)
Finance costs  115.92 22.50 
Operating (loss) before working capital changes (106.77) (379.00)
Movement in working capital:
(Increase) / Decrease in loans 1,018.44 337.19 
(Increase) / Decrease in other financial assets 26.87 98.20 
(Increase) / Decrease in other non-financial assets (2.53) 8.05 
Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities 44.66 167.94 
Increase /(Decrease) in provisions 1.95 16.87 
Increase /(Decrease) in other non-financial liabilities (2.21) 20.47 
Cash flow from operations 980.41 269.72 
Taxes refund / adjustment (net)  0.21  -   
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 980.62 269.72 
Cash flow from investing activities
Sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (net)  -   3.08 
Sale of non-current assets held for sale (net)  104.08  -   
Interest income  7.78  9.68 
Net cash generated from investing activities (B) 111.86 12.76 
Cash flow from financing activities
(Repayments) of / Proceeds from secured loans (1508.47) 157.81 
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (17.37) (22.01)
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities (8.94) (11.18)
Finance costs (6.16) (3.42)
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (C) (1540.94) 121.20 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (448.46) 403.68 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 527.58 123.90 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 79.12 527.58 
Notes:
1.	 The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian 

Accounting Standard (Ind - AS) - 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’
2.	 Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated balance sheet comprises of Cash in hand, Balances with Banks and 

Drafts on hand.
Cash on hand  62.10 46.78
Balances with banks - in current accounts  17.02 400.25
In term deposits having original maturity of 3 months or less  -   0.42
Drafts on hand  -   80.13

 79.12  527.58 
Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes	 (1 to 4 & 31)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated financial statements. 
This is the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows referred to in our 
report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N
(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

 (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Place: Kota/New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 30 May, 2025 M. No. FCS 11041 



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25129

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH, 2025
(Amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
(A) Equity Share Capital

For the year ended 31 March, 2025
Balance as at  
01 April, 2024

Changes in equity share  
capital during the year

Balance as at  
31 March, 2025

 1,836.63  -    1,836.63 

For the year ended 31 March, 2024
Balance as at  
01 April, 2023

Changes in equity share  
capital during the year

Balance as at  
31 March, 2024

 1,836.63  -    1,836.63 

(B) Other Equity
Particulars Reserves & Surplus Other Items of Other 

Comprehensive 
Income - Re-

measurement gains/
(losses) on defined 

benefit plan

Total
Statutory 

Reserve as per 
Section 45- IC 

of RBI Act, 1934

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Impairment 
Reserve 

(Refer note 
31.17)

Balance as at 1 April, 2024 1,868.50 8,843.84 (11,667.78) 2,546.93 2.33 1,593.82 
Profit for the year  -    -   21.92  -    -   21.92 
Other Comprehensive income  -    -    -    -   (1.34) (1.34)
Total Comprehensive profit 
for the year

 -    -   21.92  -   (1.34)  20.58 

Appropriation during the year  6.01  -    (6.01)  -    -    -   
Balance as at 31 March, 2025  1,874.51  8,843.84  (11,651.87)  2,546.93 0.99  1,614.39 

Particulars Reserves & Surplus Other Items of Other 
Comprehensive 

Income - Re-
measurement gains/
(losses) on defined 

benefit plan

Total
Statutory 

Reserve as per 
Section 45- IC 

of RBI Act, 1934

Securities 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Impairment 
Reserve 

(Refer note 
31.17)

Balance as at 1 April, 2023 1,868.50 8,843.84 (11,102.46) 2,546.93 0.23 2,157.04 
Loss for the year  -    -   (565.32)  -    -   (565.32)
Other Comprehensive Income  -    -    -    -   2.10 2.10 
Total Comprehensive Loss 
for the year

 -    -   (565.32)  -   2.10  (563.22)

Appropriation during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Balance as at 31 March, 2024  1,868.50  8,843.84  (11,667.78)  2,546.93 2.33  1,593.82 

Company information, Material accounting policies and other notes	 (1 to 4 & 31)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated financial statements. 
This is the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity referred to 
in our report of even date

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N

(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

 (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Place: Kota/New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 30 May, 2025 M. No. FCS 11041 
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

1.	  COMPANY INFORMATION 
	 Intec Capital Limited (the ‘Holding Company’) 

incorporated in India on 15 February, 1994, was 
registered with the Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI’) as 
a Non-Banking Financial Company (‘NBFC’) vide 
Certificate No. B-14.00731 dated 04 May, 1998 in the 
name of Intec Securities Limited. Subsequently, due to 
change in name of the Company, the Company received 
a revised Certificate of Registration (‘CoR’) in the name 
of Intec Capital Limited on 04 November, 2009 under 
Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. 
Equity shares of the Company are listed on the Bombay 
Stock Exchange Limited (BSE).

	 The Holding Company, has one Subsidiary company 
namely Amulet Technologies Limited (the ‘Subsidiary’), 
incorporated in India, which has the objectives of 
providing consultancy, advisory and the related services 
in the area of Information technology, however, it is yet to 
commence business. 

	 The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements 
relate to Intec Capital Limited (the ‘Holding Company’) 
and its Subsidiary company (the Holding Company and 
its Subsidiary together referred as the ‘Group’) 

	 The consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March, 2025, were approved by the Board 
of Directors and authorized for issue on 30 May, 2025, 
and recommended for consideration and adoption by the 
shareholders in their ensuing Annual General Meeting.

2.	  BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1	Compliance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind 

– AS):
	 The consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting 
Standards (‘Ind AS’) notified under the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, and the 
other relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
(the ‘Act’), and the Master Direction – Non-Banking 
Financial Company – Non-Systemically Important Non-
Deposit taking Non-Banking Financial Company (the 
‘NBFC Regulations’) issued by RBI, as amended from 
time to time. The notified Indian Accounting Standards 
(Ind AS) are followed by the Group in so far as they are 
not inconsistent with the NBFC Regulations.

  	 The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on accrual and going concern basis. The 
accounting policies are applied consistently to all the 
periods presented in the financial statements.

2.2 Presentation of Consolidated financial statements:

	 The Group presents its Balance Sheet in order of 
liquidity. The Group generally reports financial assets 
and financial liabilities on a gross basis in the Balance 
Sheet. They are offset and reported net only when Ind AS 
specifically permits the same or it has an unconditional 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 

amounts without being contingent on a future event. 
Similarly, the Group offsets incomes and expenses and 
reports the same on a net basis when permitted by Ind 
AS specifically unless they are material in nature.

2.3 Historical Cost Convention  
     The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

on a historical cost basis, except, certain financial assets 
and liabilities, measured at fair value.

2.4  Functional and present currency
	 The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 

Indian Rupees (‘Rs.’), which is the Group’s functional 
and presentation currency. All financial information 
presented in Indian Rupees has been rounded to the 
nearest lakhs with two decimal places, unless stated 
otherwise.

1.5	Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
	 The preparation of consolidated financial statements 

in conformity with Ind AS requires the management to 
make use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the date of consolidated financial 
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. In view of the 
inherent uncertainties and a level of subjectivity involved 
in measurement of items, it is possible that the outcomes 
in the subsequent financial years could differ from those 
on which the Management’s estimates are based.

     The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are given below.

•	 Fair value of financial instruments

	 Fair value of financial instruments is required to 
be estimated for financial reporting purposes. The 
Group applies appropriate valuation techniques and 
inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses 
quoted prices and market-observable data to the 
extent it is available. When the fair value of financial 
assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance 
sheet cannot be measured based on quoted prices 
in active markets, their fair value is measured using 
valuation techniques, based on the inputs to these 
models taken from observable markets where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree 
of judgement is required in establishing fair values. 
Judgements include considerations of inputs such 
as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes 
in assumptions about these factors could affect the 
reported fair value of financial instruments.

•	 Impairment of financial assets – Expected Credit 
Loss

	 The measurement of impairment loss allowance for 
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

financial asset measured at amortised cost requires 
use of statistical models, significant assumptions 
about future economic conditions and credit behavior 
(e.g. likelihood of borrowers defaulting and resulting 
losses). In estimating the cash flows expected to 
be recovered from credit impaired loans, the Group 
makes judgements about the borrower’s financial 
situation, current status of the project, net realisable 
value of securities/ collateral etc. As these estimates 
are based on various assumptions, actual results 
may vary leading to changes to the impairment 
loss allowance. Further, judgement is also made 
in identifying the default and significant increase in 
credit risk (SICR) on financial assets as well as for 
homogeneous grouping of similar financial assets. 
Impairment assessment also takes into account the 
data from the loan portfolio, levels of arrears and an 
analysis of historical defaults.

•	 Non recognition of income on Credit Impaired Loans 

	 As a matter of prudence, income on credit impaired 
loans is recognised as and when received and / or 
on accrual basis when expected realization is higher 
than the gross loan amount outstanding.

•	 Taxes

	 Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation 
of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and 
the amount and timing of future taxable income. 
Given the wide range of business relationships 
and the long-term nature and complexity of existing 
contractual agreements, differences arising between 
the actual results and the assumptions made, or future 
changes to such assumptions, could necessitate 
future adjustments to tax income and expense 
already recorded. The Group establishes provisions, 
based on reasonable estimates. The amount of 
such provisions is based on various factors, such 
as experience of previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity 
and the responsible tax authority. Such differences 
of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of 
issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the 
respective domicile of the companies.

•	 Useful life of property, plant and equipment

The Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated 
on straight line method over their respective useful 

lives. Management estimates the useful lives of 
these assets as detailed in Note 4.4 below.  Changes 
in the expected level of usage, technological 
developments, level of wear and tear could impact 
the economic useful lives and the residual values of 
these assets, therefore, future depreciation charges 
could be revised and could have an impact on the 
financial position in future years.

3	 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
3.1	Basis of Accounting:

i.	 The financial statements of the Subsidiary Company 
are drawn up to the same reporting date as of the 
Holding Company. 

ii.	 The Consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Group have been prepared in accordance with 
Indian Accounting Standard - 110 on “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”. 

3.1	 Principles of Consolidation: 
i.	 The financial statements of the Holding Company 

and its Subsidiary have been combined on a line-by-
line basis by adding together the book values of like 
items of assets, liabilities, income and expenses after 
fully eliminating the intra-group balances and intra-
group transactions and unrealized profits or losses 
in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard - 110 
on “Consolidated Financial Statements”.

ii.	 The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances 
and are presented to the extent possible, in the same 
manner as the Holding Company’s separate financial 
statements except as otherwise stated in the Material 
Accounting Policies.

iii.	 The difference between the cost of investment in 
the Subsidiary over the net assets at the time of 
acquisition of shares in the Subsidiary is recognized 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements as Goodwill 
or Capital Reserve as the case may be. 

	 The Consolidated Financial Statements includes the 
results of following entities:

Name of Company Country of 
Incorporation

Proportion (%) of 
Shareholding as on 31 

March, 2025

Proportion (%) of 
Shareholding as on 31 

March, 2024
Holding Company
Intec Capital Limited India N.A. N.A.
Subsidiary Company
Amulet Technologies Limited India 99.998% 99.998%
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

4	 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
	 This note provides a list of the material accounting 

policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

4.1	Revenue Recognition
(i)	 Interest Income
	 The Holding Company recognises interest income 

using Effective Interest Rate (EIR) on all financial 
assets subsequently measured at amortised cost 
or fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). EIR is calculated by considering all costs 
and incomes attributable to acquisition of a financial 
asset or assumption of a financial liability and it 
represents a rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments / receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset / financial liability to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.

	 The Holding Company recognises interest income 
by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount 
of financial assets other than credit-impaired assets 
after setting-off of collateral amounts. In case of 
credit-impaired financial assets regarded as ‘stage 
3’, the Holding Company recognises interest income 
on the amortised cost net of impairment loss of the 
financial asset at EIR, to the extent of probability of 
its recovery. If the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, the Holding Company reverts to calculating 
interest income on a gross basis.

	 Interest on financial assets subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit and loss, is recognized 
on accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the 
respective contract.

(ii)	Dividend Income
 	 Dividend Income on investments is recognized 

when the Group’s right to receive the payment is 
established, which is generally when shareholders 
approve the dividend.

(iii)	Fees and Commission
	 Processing fees and other servicing fees is 

recognized on accrual basis. The Group recognises 
service and administration charges towards 
rendering of additional services to its loan customers 
on satisfactory completion of service delivery. 
Fees on value added services and products are 
recognised on rendering of services and products to 
the customer.

(iv)	Interest on Borrowings 
	 Interest expense on borrowings subsequently 

measured at amortized cost is recognized using 
Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method.

(v)	Recoveries of Financial Assets written off
	 The Holding Company recognises income on 

recoveries of financial assets written off on realisation 
or when the right to receive the same without any 
uncertainties of recovery is established.

(vi)	Sale of Loan Assets
	 Profit / loss on sale of loan assets through direct 

assignment / securitization are recognized over the 
residual life of loan / pass through certificates in terms 
of RBI guidelines. Loss arising on account of direct 
assignment / securitization is recognized upfront.

(vii)	 Other Income / Revenue
	 Other income / revenue is recognized to the extent 

that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow 
to the Group and it can be reliably measured.

4.2	 Cash and Cash Equivalents
	 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 

other short term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.3	 Financial Instruments
	 A financial instrument is defined as any contract that 

gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
Trade receivables and payables, loan receivables, 
investments in subsidiaries and associates, borrowings, 
cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances etc. 
are some examples of financial instruments.

	 All the financial instruments are recognised on the 
date when the Group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instruments. 

(i) 	 Financial assets
	 Financial assets include cash, or an equity 

instrument of another entity, or a contractual 
right to receive cash or another financial asset 
from another entity. Few examples of financial 
assets are loan receivables, investment in equity 
instruments, trade receivables and cash and 
cash equivalents etc.

	 Initial measurement
	 All financial assets are recognised initially at 

fair value including transaction costs that are 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets 
except in the case of financial assets recorded at 
FVTPL where the transaction costs are charged 
to profit or loss. However, trade receivables that 
do not contain a significant financing component 
are measured at transaction price.
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	 Subsequent measurement
(i) 	 Classification and Measurement of Financial 

assets (other than Equity instruments)

	 For the purpose of subsequent measurement, 
financial assets (other than equity instruments) 
are classified into three categories:

(a) Financial Assets at amortised cost

(b) Financial Assets at FVOCI

(c) Financial Assets at FVTPL

(a) 	 Financial Assets at amortised cost
	 The Group measures its financial assets at amortised 

cost if both the following conditions are met:

•	 The asset is held within a business model of 
collecting contractual cash flows; and 

•	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are Sole 
Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

	 To make the SPPI assessment, the Group applies 
judgment and considers relevant factors such as the 
nature of portfolio and the period for which the interest 
rate is set. 

	 The Group determines its business model at the level 
that best reflects how it manages groups of financial 
assets to achieve its business objective. The Group’s 
business model is not assessed on an instrument by 
instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated 
portfolios. If cash flows after initial recognition are 
realised in a way that is different from the Group’s 
original expectations, the Group does not change 
the classification of the remaining financial assets 
held in that business model, but incorporates such 
information when assessing newly originated financial 
assets going forward.

	 The business model of the Group for assets 
subsequently measured at amortised cost category is 
to hold and collect contractual cash flows. However, 
considering the economic viability of carrying the 
delinquent portfolios in the books of the Group, 
it may sell these portfolios to banks and/or asset 
reconstruction companies.

	 After initial measurement, such financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost on effective 
interest rate (EIR) as given in para 4.1.(i) above. 

(b) 	 Financial Assets at FVOCI
	 The Group subsequently classifies its financial assets 

as FVOCI, only if both of the following criteria are met:

•	 The objective of the business model is achieved 
both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets; and

•	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are Solely 
Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding.

	 Financial Assets included within the FVOCI category 
are measured at each reporting date at fair value 
with such changes being recognised in other 
comprehensive income (OCI). The interest income on 
these assets is recognised in profit or loss. 

	 On derecognition of the asset, cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit or 
loss.

(c) 	 Financial Assets at FVTPL
	 The Group classifies financial assets which are held for 

trading under FVTPL category. Held for trading assets 
are recorded and measured in the Balance Sheet at 
fair value. Interest and dividend incomes are recorded 
in interest income and dividend income, respectively 
according to the terms of the contract, or when the 
right to receive the same has been established. Gain 
and losses on changes in fair value of financial assets 
are recognised on net basis through profit or loss.

	 Term / fixed deposits held by the Group have been 
classified under this category

(ii) Classification and Measurement of Equity 
instruments

	 All equity investments other than in subsidiaries 
and associates are measured at fair value. Equity 
instruments which are held for trading are classified as 
at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Group 
at initial recognition makes an irrevocable election to 
classify it as either FVTOCI or FVTPL. The Group 
makes such election on an instrument by instrument 
basis. An equity investment classified as FVTOCI is 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, it is measured at fair value and, all fair 
value changes are recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income (OCI) and accumulated in Reserve. There is 
no recycling of the amounts from OCI to Statement of 
Profit and Loss, even on sale of investment. However, 
the Group  transfers the same within equity. As at the 
reporting date, there are no such equity instruments 
held by the Group.

(iii) Derecognition of Financial Assets
	 The Group derecognises a financial asset (or, where 

applicable, a part of a financial asset) when:

•	 The right to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired; or

•	 The Group has transferred its right to receive 
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under an 
assignment arrangement and the Group has 
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transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset. Once the asset is derecognised, the 
Group does not have any continuing involvement 
in the same.

	 The Group transfers its financial assets through the 
partial assignment route and accordingly derecognises 
the transferred portion as it neither has any continuing 
involvement in the same nor does it retain any control. 
If the Group retains the right to service the financial 
asset for a fee, it recognises either a servicing asset 
or a servicing liability for that servicing contract. A 
service liability in respect of a service is recognised at 
fair value if the fee to be received is not expected to 
compensate the Group adequately for performing the 
service. If the fees to be received is expected to be 
more than adequate compensation for the servicing, a 
service asset is recognised for

	 the servicing right at an amount determined on the 
basis of an allocation of the carrying amount of the 
larger financial asset.

	 On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between:

•	 the carrying amount (measured at the date of 
derecognition) and

•	 the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(iv) 	 Impairment of financial assets
	 Expected Credit Loss (ECL) are recognised for 

financial assets held under amortised cost, measured 
at FVOCI, and certain loan commitments.

	 Financial assets where no significant increase in credit 
risk has been observed are considered to be in ‘stage 1’ 
and for which a 12-month ECL is recognised. Financial 
assets that are considered to have significant increase 
in credit risk are considered to be in ‘stage 2’ and those 
which are in default or for which there is an objective 
evidence of impairment are considered to be in ‘stage 
3’. Lifetime ECL is recognised for stage 2 and stage 3 
financial assets.

	 At initial recognition, allowance (or provision in the 
case of loan commitments) is required for ECL 
towards default events that are possible in the next 12 
months, or less, where the remaining life is less than 
12 months.

	 In the event of a significant increase in credit risk, 
allowance (or provision) is required for ECL towards 
all possible default events over the expected life of the 
financial instrument (‘lifetime ECL’).

	 Financial assets (and the related impairment loss 
allowances) are written off in full, when there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery.

	 Treatment of the different stages of financial 
assets and the methodology of determination of 
ECL

(a) 	 Credit impaired (stage 3)

	 The Group recognises a financial asset to be credit 
impaired and in stage 3 by considering relevant 
objective evidence, primarily whether:

•	 Contractual payments of either principal or 
interest are past due for more than 180 days;

•	 The loan is otherwise considered to be in default.

	 Restructured loans, where repayment terms are 
renegotiated as compared to the original contracted 
terms due to significant credit distress of the borrower, 
are classified as credit impaired. Such loans continue 
to be in stage 3 until they exhibit regular payment of 
renegotiated principal and interest over a minimum 
observation period, typically 12 months – post 
renegotiation, and there are no other indicators of 
impairment. Having satisfied the conditions of timely 
payment over the observation period these loans could 
be transferred to stage 1 or 2 and a fresh assessment 
of the risk of default be done for such loans. 

	 Interest income is recognised by applying the EIR 
to the net amortised cost amount i.e. gross carrying 
amount less ECL allowance.

 (b) 	 Significant increase in credit risk (stage 2)

	 An assessment of whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition is performed at 
each reporting period by considering the change in the 
risk of default of the loan exposure. However, unless 
identified at an earlier stage, 90 days past due is 
considered as an indication of financial assets to have 
suffered a significant increase in credit risk. 

.	 The measurement of risk of defaults under stage 2 
is computed on homogenous portfolios, generally 
by nature of loans, tenors, underlying collateral, 
geographies and borrower profiles. The default risk 
is assessed using PD (probability of default) derived 
from past behavioural trends of default across the 
identified homogenous portfolios. These past trends 
factor in the past customer behavioural trends, credit 
transition probabilities and macroeconomic conditions. 
The assessed PDs are then aligned considering future 
economic conditions that are determined to have a 
bearing on ECL.

(c) 	 Without significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition (stage 1)

	 ECL resulting from default events that are possible 
in the next 12 months are recognised for financial 
instruments in stage 1. The Holding Company has 
ascertained default possibilities on past behavioural 
trends witnessed for each homogenous portfolio 
using application/behavioural score cards and other 
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performance indicators, determined statistically.

(d) 	 Measurement of ECL

	 The assessment of credit risk and estimation of ECL 
are unbiased and probability weighted. It incorporates 
all information that is relevant including information 
about past events, current conditions and reasonable 
forecasts of future events and economic conditions at 
the reporting date. In addition, the estimation of ECL 
takes into account the time value of money. Forward 
looking economic scenarios determined with reference 
to external forecasts of economic parameters that 
have demonstrated a linkage to the performance of 
our portfolios over a period of time have been applied 
to determine impact of macro-economic factors.

	 The Holding Company has calculated ECL using three 
main components: a probability of default (PD), a 
loss given default (LGD) and the exposure at default 
(EAD). ECL is calculated by multiplying the PD, LGD 
and EAD and adjusted for time value of money using a 
rate which is a reasonable approximation of EIR.

•	 Determination of PD is covered above for each 
stage of ECL.

•	 EAD represents the expected balance at default, 
taking into account the repayment of principal 
and interest from the Balance Sheet date to 
the date of default together with any expected 
drawdowns of committed facilities.

•	 LGD represents expected losses on the EAD 
given the event of default, taking into account, 
among other attributes, the mitigating effect of 
collateral value at the time it is expected to be 
realised and the time value of money.

	 A more detailed description of the methodology used 
for ECL is covered in the ‘credit risk’ section of note no. 
31.15.

(ii) 	 Financial liabilities
	 Financial liabilities include liabilities that represent 

a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another 
financial assets to another entity, or a contract that 
may or will be settled in the entities own equity 
instruments. Few examples of financial liabilities are 
trade payables, borrowings etc.

	 Initial measurement
	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 

value and, in the case of borrowings and payables, net 
of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s 
financial liabilities include trade payables, borrowings 
and other payables. 

	 Subsequent measurement
	 After initial recognition, all financial liabilities are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
EIR [Refer note no. 4.1(i)]. Any gains or losses arising 

on derecognition of liabilities are recognised in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 Derecognition
	 The Group derecognises a financial liability when the 

obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.

(iii) Offsetting of financial instruments
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount is reported in the Balance Sheet 
only if there is an enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts with an intention to settle on a net 
basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

4.4	 Property plant and equipment 
(i)	 Property, plant and equipment are stated at 

cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any, consistent 
with the criteria specified in Ind AS 16 ‘Property, 
Plant and Equipment’. The cost comprises 
purchase price, borrowing costs if capitalization 
criteria are met and directly attributable cost of 
bringing the asset to its working condition for the 
intended use. Any trade discounts and rebates 
are deducted in arriving at the purchase price.

(ii)	 Subsequent expenditure related to an item 
of property, plant and equipment is added to 
its book value only if it increases the future 
benefits from the existing asset beyond its 
previously assessed standard of performance. 
All other expenses on existing property, plant 
and equipment, including day-to-day repair and 
maintenance expenditure and cost of replacing 
parts, are charged to the Statement of Profit and 
Loss for the period during which such expenses 
are incurred.

(iii)	 An item of PPE and any significantly part initially 
recognized is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any Gains or losses 
arising from de-recognition of fixed assets are 
measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset and are recognized in the statement of 
profit and loss when the asset is derecognized.

(iv)	 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is 
provided on straight-line method over the useful 
life of the assets estimated by the management, 
in the manner prescribed in Schedule II of 
the Companies Act, 2013. Immovable assets 
at the leased premises including civil works, 
fixtures and electrical items etc. are capitalized 
as leasehold improvements and are amortized 
over the primary period of lease subject to 
maximum of two years. The useful lives in the 
following case is different from those prescribed 
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in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.  

Asset Useful life as per 
Schedule II of 

the Companies 
Act, 2013 (No. of 

Years)

Useful life as 
assessed / 

estimated by the 
Company (No. of 

Years)

Electrical 
installations 10 8

Based on usage pattern and internal 
assessment, the management believes that 
the useful lives as given above best represent 
the period over which the management 
expects to use these assets. Hence the useful 
lives of these assets is different from the lives 
as prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies 
Act, 2013

(v)	 Depreciation on addition or on sale / discard 
of an asset is calculated pro-rata from / up to 
the date of such addition or sale/discard.

(vi)	 The residual values, useful lives and methods 
of depreciation of Plant, property and 
equipment are reviewed at each financial year 
end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

4.5	 Intangible Assets and amortization thereof
(i)	 Intangible assets are recognized only if it is 

probable that the future economic benefits that 
are attributable to assets will flow to the Group 
and the costs of the assets can be measured 
reliably. Intangible assets comprising computer 
software are carried at cost less amortization 
and accumulated impairment, if any. Computer 
software including improvements are amortised 
over the management’s estimate of the useful 
life of such intangibles. Management estimates 
for useful life of intangibles is 6 years.

(ii)	 An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, 
or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses 
arising from de-recognition of an intangible 
asset, measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset are recognised in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss when the asset is derecognized.

4.6	 Employee Benefits:

(i)	 Short term employee benefits:

	 All employee benefits payable / available within 
twelve months of rendering the service are 
classified as short-term employee benefits. 
Benefits such as salaries, wages and bonus etc., 
are recognized in the same period in which the 

employee renders the related service.

(ii)	  Defined contribution plan:

	 Contributions towards Employees’ Provident 
Fund and State Insurance Scheme, are 
considered as defined contribution plans and 
the contributions are charged to the Statement 
of Profit and Loss for the year when the expense 
is actually incurred.

(ii)  Other long-term employee benefits:

	 Entitlements to annual leave are recognized when 
they accrue to employees. Leave entitlements 
can be availed while in service of employment 
subject to restriction on the maximum number 
of accumulations. The Holding Company 
determines the liability for such accumulated 
leave entitlements on the basis of actuarial 
valuation carried out by an independent actuary 
at the year end.

(iii)	 Defined benefit plan:

	 The Holding Company’s gratuity scheme is a 
defined benefit plan. The plan provides for a 
lump sum payment to vested employees on 
retirement, death while in employment or on 
termination of employment. Vesting occurs upon 
completion of five years of service. The present 
value of the obligation under such defined benefit 
plans is determined based on the actuarial 
valuation on projected unit credit method as 
at the balance sheet date. Re-measurement, 
comprising of actuarial gains and losses, are 
recognized immediately in the balance sheet 
with a corresponding debit or credit to retained 
earnings through OCI in the period in which they 
occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified 
to Statement of Profit and Loss in subsequent 
periods. Liability towards Gratuity is funded 
/ managed by Life Insurance Corporation of 
India (‘LIC’). The short / excess of the Gratuity 
liability as compared to the net fund held by LIC 
is accounted for as liability/ assets as at the year 
end

4.7	  Taxation
	 Tax expense for the year comprises of Current Tax and 

Deferred Tax.

a.	 Current Tax

	 Current income tax, assets and liabilities are 
measured at the amount expected to be paid 
to or recovered from the taxation authorities 
in accordance with the tax regime inserted by 
the Taxation Laws (Amendment) Act, 2019 
in the Income Tax Act, 1961 and the Income 
Computation and Disclosure Standards (ICDS) 
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enacted in India by using tax rates and the tax 
laws that are enacted at the reporting date.

        Current tax relating to items recognized outside 
profit or loss is recognized in correlation to the 
underlying transactions either in OCI or directly in 
other equity. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 
situations in which the applicable tax regulations 
are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where applicable. 

b.	 Deferred Tax

	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability 
method on temporary differences between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and any unused 
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can 
be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax 
assets is reviewed at each reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
re-assessed at each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date.

4.8	 Provision, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets

a)	 Provisions
	 Provisions are recognized when the Group has a 

present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of obligation. Provisions 
are measured at the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation, at the 
balances sheet date.  

	 If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted to reflect its present value 
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the obligation. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a finance cost.

b)	 Contingent Liabilities
	 A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when 

there is a possible obligation arising from past events, 
the existence of which will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Group 
or a present obligation arising as a result of past event 
that probably will not require an outflow of resources 
or where a reliable estimate of the obligation cannot be 
made.

c)	 Contingent Assets
	 Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial 

statements. However, contingent assets are assessed 
continually and if it is virtually certain that an inflow 
of economic benefits will arise, the asset and related 
income are recognized in the period in which the 
change occurs.

4.9	 Earnings per share
	 Basic earnings per equity share is computed by dividing 

net profit/ loss attributable to the equity shareholders 
of the Group by the weighted average number of 
equity shares outstanding during the financial year.

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable to 
equity shareholders and the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for 
the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

4.10	 Leases
	 The determination of whether an arrangement is, 

or contains, a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The 
arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not 
explicitly specified in an arrangement.

	 The Group has taken certain assets on Operating 
Lease. Operating Lease is a contract, which conveys 
the right to Lessee, to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time, the lease term, in exchange 
for consideration. The Group assesses whether a 
contract is, or contains, a lease on inception.

	 The lease term is either the non-cancellable period 
of the lease and any additional periods when there 
is an enforceable option to extend the lease and it 
is reasonably certain that the Group will extend the 
term, or a lease period in which it is reasonably certain 
that the Group will not exercise a right to terminate. 
The lease term is reassessed if there is a significant 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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change in circumstances.

	 At commencement, or on the modification, of a 
contract that contains a lease component, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each 
lease component on the basis of its relative stand-
alone prices.

	 The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle 
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less 
any lease incentives received.

	 The right-of-use asset is amortised / depreciated using 
straight-line method from the commencement date 
to the end of the lease term. If the lessor transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by 
the end of the lease term or if the Group expects to 
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset will 
be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying 
asset, which is determined on the same basis as the 
Group’s other property, plant and equipment. Right-of-
use assets are reduced by impairment losses, if any, 
and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease 
liability.

	 The lease liability is initially measured at the 
present value of the total lease payments due on 
the commencement date, discounted using either 
the interest rate implicit in the lease, if readily 
determinable, or more usually, an estimate of the 
Group’s incremental borrowing rate on the inception 
date for a loan with similar terms to the lease. The 
incremental borrowing rate is estimated by obtaining 
interest rates from various external financing sources.

	 The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. It is remeasured when 
there is a change in future lease payments arising 
from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change 
in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group 
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise 
a purchase, extension or termination option or if 
there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, 
a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in the 
statement of profit or loss if the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

	 In accordance with Ind AS 116, the Group does not 

recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
leases of low-value assets and short-term leases i.e. 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and 
containing no purchase options. Payments associated 
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.11	 Statement of Cash flows:
	 For the purpose of Consolidated Statement of Cash 

Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand, cash at banks, short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less and other 
short term investments, that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.12	 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
	 The Group assesses, at each reporting date, using 

external and internal sources, whether there is an 
indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired 
and also whether there is an indication of reversal of 
impairment loss recognised in the previous period/s. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Group determines 
the recoverable amount and impairment loss is 
recognised when the carrying value of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 

	 The recoverable amount is determined:

- 	 in the case of an individual asset, at the higher of 
the asset’s fair value less cost of sell and value 
in use; and

-	  in the case of cash generating unit (a group of 
assets that generates identified, independent 
cash flows) at the higher of the cash generating 
unit’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use.

	 In assessing value in use, estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that effects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to that 
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, 
recent market transactions are taken into account. If 
no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share 
prices for publicly traded companies or other available 
fair value indicators.

	 An impairment loss for an asset is reversed, if and only 
if, the reversal can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, 
the carrying amount of an asset is increased to 
its revised recoverable amount, provided that this 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined (net of any accumulated 
amortization or depreciation) had no impairment loss 

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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being recognized for the asset in prior year/s. 

4.13	 Fair value measurement 
	 The Group measures its qualifying financial 

instruments at fair value on each Balance Sheet date.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received against 
sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. The fair value measurement 
is based on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place in the 
accessible principal market or the most advantageous 
accessible market as applicable.

	 The Group uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value, 
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 

minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy into Level I, 
Level II and Level III based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole. For a detailed information on the fair value 
hierarchy, refer note no. 31.14.

	 For assets and liabilities that are fair valued in the 
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group 
has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the 
asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy.
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5 Cash and cash equivalents As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Cash on hand  62.10  46.78 
Balances with banks - in current accounts (Refer note 5.1)  17.02  400.25 
Drafts on Hand  -    80.13 
In term deposits having maturity of 3 months or less  -    0.42 
Total  79.12  527.58 

5.1 Includes Rs. Nil (Previous year: Rs. 75.30 lakhs) lien marked by a Bank. (Refer note 16.8).

6 Loans As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

At amortised cost
a. Secured term loans  11,425.84  12,138.70 
b. Unsecured term loans  1,135.59  1,444.82 

Total - Gross  12,561.43  13,583.52 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  8,361.57  8,738.66 
Total - Net  4,199.86  4,844.86 

6.1 Break-up of Secured/Unsecured loans
a. Secured by Tangible assets  11,425.84  12,138.70 

Less: Impairment loss allowance  7,288.70  7,496.58 
Secured - net  4,137.14  4,642.12 

b. Unsecured  1,135.59  1,444.82 
Less: Impairment loss allowance  1,072.87  1,242.08 
Unsecured - net  62.72  202.74 

Total (a+b)  4,199.86  4,844.86 

6.2 Break-up of Loans In India/Outside India
a. Loans in India

i. Public Sector  -    -   
ii. Others  12,561.43  13,583.52 

Less: Impairment loss allowance  8,361.57  8,738.66 
 4,199.86  4,844.86 

b. Loans outside India  -    -   

Total(a+b)  4,199.86  4,844.86 



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25141

N
ot

es
 fo

rm
in

g 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

 C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

, 2
02

5
(A

ll 
am

ou
nt

s 
in

 In
di

an
 R

up
ee

s 
(R

s.
) i

n 
la

kh
s,

 u
nl

es
s 

ot
he

rw
is

e 
st

at
ed

)

6.
3 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 lo
an

s 
by

 s
ta

ge
 d

is
tri

bu
tio

n
 

  Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s

A
s 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

, 2
02

5
A

s 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
, 2

02
4

St
ag

e 
1

St
ag

e 
2

St
ag

e 
3

To
ta

l
St

ag
e 

1
St

ag
e 

2
St

ag
e 

3
To

ta
l

G
ro

ss
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

am
ou

nt
 5

9.
80

 
 -   

 1
2,

50
1.

63
 

 1
2,

56
1.

43
 

 1
97

.5
7 

 -   
 1

3,
38

5.
95

 
 1

3,
58

3.
52

 
Le

ss
: I

m
pa

irm
en

t l
os

s 
al

lo
w

an
ce

 -   
 -   

 8
,3

61
.5

7 
 8

,3
61

.5
7 

 -   
 -   

 8
,7

38
.6

6 
 8

,7
38

.6
6 

N
et

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

 5
9.

80
 

 -   
 4

,1
40

.0
6 

 4
,1

99
.8

6 
 1

97
.5

7 
 -   

 4
,6

47
.2

9 
 4

,8
44

.8
6 

6.
4 

An
al

ys
is

 o
f c

ha
ng

es
 in

 th
e 

gr
os

s 
ca

rry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

 a
nd

 c
or

re
sp

on
di

ng
 E

C
L 

al
lo

w
an

ce
s 

in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 lo
an

s 
is

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s

A
s 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

, 2
02

5
 S

ta
ge

 1
 

St
ag

e 
2

St
ag

e 
3

To
ta

l
Te

rm
 lo

an
s 

 
(g

ro
ss

)
Im

pa
irm

en
t 

lo
ss

  
al

lo
w

an
ce

Te
rm

 
lo

an
s 

 
(g

ro
ss

)

Im
pa

irm
en

t 
lo

ss
  

al
lo

w
an

ce

Te
rm

 lo
an

s  
(g

ro
ss

)
Im

pa
irm

en
t 

lo
ss

  
al

lo
w

an
ce

Te
rm

 lo
an

s  
(g

ro
ss

)
Im

pa
irm

en
t 

lo
ss

  
al

lo
w

an
ce

A
s 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

, 2
02

4
 1

97
.5

7 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 1
3,

38
5.

95
 

 8
,7

38
.6

6 
 1

3,
58

3.
52

 
 8

,7
38

.6
6 

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

 
to

 S
ta

ge
 1

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 
to

 S
ta

ge
 2

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 
to

 S
ta

ge
 3

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 
To

ta
l t

ra
ns

fe
rs

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 
Im

pa
ct

 o
f c

ha
ng

es
 in

 c
re

di
t r

is
k 

on
 

ac
co

un
t o

f s
ta

ge
 m

ov
em

en
ts

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 
C

ha
ng

es
 in

 o
pe

ni
ng

 c
re

di
t e

xp
os

ur
es

 (1
35

.0
2)

 -   
 -   

 -   
 (8

84
.3

2)
 (3

77
.0

9)
 (1

,0
19

.3
4)

 (3
77

.0
9)

 
N

ew
 c

re
di

t e
xp

os
ur

es
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
ye

ar
, 

ne
t o

f r
ep

ay
m

en
ts

 (2
.7

5)
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 (2
.7

5)
 -   

 
Am

ou
nt

s 
w

rit
te

n 
off

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 
A

s 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
, 2

02
5

 5
9.

80
 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 1

2,
50

1.
63

 
 8

,3
61

.5
7 

 1
2,

56
1.

43
 

 8
,3

61
.5

7 



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25142

An
al

ys
is

 o
f c

ha
ng

es
 in

 th
e 

gr
os

s 
ca

rry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

 a
nd

 c
or

re
sp

on
di

ng
 E

C
L 

al
lo

w
an

ce
s 

in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 lo
an

s 
is

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s

A
s 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

, 2
02

4
 S

ta
ge

 1
 

St
ag

e 
2

St
ag

e 
3

To
ta

l
Te

rm
 lo

an
s 

 
(g

ro
ss

)
Im

pa
irm

en
t 

lo
ss

  
al

lo
w

an
ce

Te
rm

 
lo

an
s 

 
(g

ro
ss

)

Im
pa

irm
en

t 
lo

ss
  

al
lo

w
an

ce

Te
rm

 lo
an

s  
(g

ro
ss

)
Im

pa
irm

en
t 

lo
ss

  
al

lo
w

an
ce

Te
rm

 lo
an

s  
(g

ro
ss

)
Im

pa
irm

en
t 

lo
ss

  
al

lo
w

an
ce

A
s 

at
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

, 2
02

3
 1

96
.4

8 
 -   

 1
67

.9
6 

 -   
 1

3,
55

6.
26

 
 8

,3
40

.7
8 

 1
3,

92
0.

70
 

 8
,3

40
.7

8 
Tr

an
sf

er
s 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
ye

ar
 

to
 S

ta
ge

 1
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 

to
 S

ta
ge

 2
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 

to
 S

ta
ge

 3
 (7

.8
6)

 -   
 (1

67
.9

6)
 -   

 1
75

.8
2 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 

To
ta

l t
ra

ns
fe

rs
 (7

.8
6)

 -   
 (1

67
.9

6)
 -   

 1
75

.8
2 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 

Im
pa

ct
 o

f c
ha

ng
es

 in
 c

re
di

t r
is

k 
on

 
ac

co
un

t o
f s

ta
ge

 m
ov

em
en

ts
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   

 
C

ha
ng

es
 in

 o
pe

ni
ng

 c
re

di
t e

xp
os

ur
es

 8
.9

5 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 (3
46

.1
3)

 3
97

.8
8 

 (3
37

.1
8)

 3
97

.8
8 

 
N

ew
 c

re
di

t e
xp

os
ur

es
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
ye

ar
, 

ne
t o

f r
ep

ay
m

en
ts

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 
Am

ou
nt

s 
w

rit
te

n 
off

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 
A

s 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
, 2

02
4

 1
97

.5
7 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 1

3,
38

5.
95

 
 8

,7
38

.6
6 

 1
3,

58
3.

52
 

 8
,7

38
.6

6 

N
ot

es
 fo

rm
in

g 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

 C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

, 2
02

5
(A

ll 
am

ou
nt

s 
in

 In
di

an
 R

up
ee

s 
(R

s.
) i

n 
la

kh
s,

 u
nl

es
s 

ot
he

rw
is

e 
st

at
ed

)



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25143

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

7 Investments As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Investment in Equity Instruments
(At amortised cost)
- Pantec Devices Private Limited  1.16  1.16 
- Pantec Consultants Private Limited  1.01  1.01 
- Intec Worldwide Private Limited  0.86  0.86 
- Spherical Collection Agency (P) Ltd.  1.11  1.11 
- Intec Share & Stock Brokers Limited  2.26  2.26 
- Spectacle Advisory Solutions Pvt. Ltd.  0.44  0.44 
Total Investments  6.84  6.84 
Out of above

In India  6.84  6.84 
Outside India  -    -   

8 Other financial assets As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

  Security deposits  8.50  9.63 
  Interest accrued and due on loans  297.20  316.57 
  Less: Impairment loss allowance  (48.71)  (53.26)

Advances to employees  1.50  24.20 
  Balance with government authorities  189.14  172.61 
  Other advances  0.84  0.83 
  Total  448.47  470.58 
       
9 Current tax assets (net) As at  

31 March, 2025
As at  

31 March, 2024
Tax deducted at source  4.23  4.61 
Total  4.23  4.61 

10 Deferred tax assets (net) As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

i. Reconciliation of tax expenses and profit/loss before tax multiplied 
by corporate tax rate 
Profit/(Loss) before tax  115.88  (887.89)
At corporate tax rate of 25.168%  29.17  -   
Tax (credit) / impact on timing differences 93.96 (322.57)
Tax (credit) / expense 123.13 (322.57)

ii. Deferred tax assets recorded in Balance Sheet As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Deferred tax assets:
- Impairment on financial instruments  2,320.81  2,416.87 
- Lease liabilities  17.19  17.81 
- Depreciation and amortisation  8.77  7.56 
- Provision for employee benefits  5.32  4.38 
Gross deferred tax assets  2,352.09  2,446.62 
Deferred tax liabilities:
- Right-of-use assets  13.17  14.18 
- Financial instruments measured at EIR  187.60  187.60 
Gross deferred tax liabilities  200.77  201.78 
Deferred tax assets (net)  2,151.32  2,244.84 

iii. Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in Statement of profit or 
loss (Refer note 31.22 & 31.23)

As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Deferred tax relates to the following:
- Impairment on financial instruments  96.05  (317.66)
- Financial instruments measured at EIR  -    (0.08)
- Depreciation and amortisation  (1.21)  0.96 
- Right-of-use assets  (1.01)  (0.24)
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- Lease liabilities  0.62  0.30 
- Provision for employee benefits  (0.49)  (5.85)

 93.96  (322.57)
iv. Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in other comprehensive 

income
As at  

31 March, 2025
As at  

31 March, 2024
Deferred tax relates to the following:
- Re-measurement gain on defined benefit plan (net of Tax)  (0.45)  0.71 

 (0.45)  0.71 
Total  93.52  (321.86)

11 Property, Plant and Equipment (As at 31 March, 2025)
Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 

 Particulars As at  
01 April, 

2024 

 Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments  

As at  
31 

March, 
2025

As at  
01 

April, 
2024

 
Depreciation/ 

 Deductions 
/ 

adjustments  

 As at  
31 

March, 
2025 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2025 

As at  
31 

March, 
2024 

 amortisation 

Vehicles  43.73  -    -    43.73  40.10  1.46  -    41.56  2.17  3.63 
Building  377.28  -    -    377.28  74.04  12.34  -    86.38  290.90  303.24 
Office equipment  10.62  -    -    10.62  9.38  0.60  -    9.98  0.64  1.23 
Data processing 
equipments 

 36.72  -    -    36.72  25.27  3.24  -    28.51  8.21  11.45 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

 10.52  -    -    10.52  1.81  0.96  -    2.77  7.75  8.71 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 1.09  -    -    1.09  1.09  -    -    1.09  -    -   

Electric 
installations 

 0.65  -    -    0.65  0.32  0.08  -    0.40  0.25  0.33 

Air conditioners  4.65  -    -    4.65  3.12  0.22  -    3.34  1.31  1.53 
Land  888.81  -    -    888.81  -    -    -    -    888.81  888.81 
Total - Current 
Year 1,374.07  -    -   1,374.07  155.13  18.90  -    174.03 1,200.05 1,218.95 

Property, Plant and Equipment (As at 31 March, 2024) 
 Particulars Gross block Accumulated depreciation  Net Block 

 As at  
01 April, 

2023 

 Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 

March, 
2024 

 As at  
01 

April, 
2023 

 
Depreciation/ 
amortisation 

 Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

 As at  
31 

March, 
2024 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2024 

 As at  
31 

March, 
2023 

Vehicles  46.94  -    3.21  43.73  38.63  1.47  -    40.10  3.63  8.31 
Building   377.28  -    -    377.28  61.70  12.34  -    74.04  303.24  315.58 
Office equipment  10.64  -    0.02  10.62  8.51  0.87  -    9.38  1.24  2.13 
Data processing 
equipments 

 39.51  0.40  3.19  36.72  23.64  4.82  3.19  25.27  11.45  15.87 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

 10.52  -    -    10.52  0.85  0.96  -    1.81  8.71  9.67 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 1.09  -    -    1.09  1.09  -    -    1.09  -    -   

Electric 
installations 

 0.65  -    -    0.65  0.24  0.08  -    0.32  0.33  0.41 

Air conditioners  4.65  -    -    4.65  2.88  0.24  -    3.12  1.53  1.77 
 Land  888.81 - -  888.81  -    -    -    -    888.81  888.81 
Total - Previous 
Year 1,380.09  0.40  6.42 1,374.07  137.54  20.78  3.19  155.13 1,218.95 1,242.56 

  Note 11.1 : Refer para 4.4 of Material Accounting Policies for depreciation on property, plant and equipment. 

Changes in deferred tax assets recorded in profit or loss 
(Refer note 31.22 & 31.23)

As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024
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12. Intangible Assets (As at 31 March, 2025)
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

As at
01 April, 

2024 

Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2025 

As at
01 April, 

2024 

Amortisation Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2025 

As at
31 

March, 
2025 

As at
31 

March, 
2024

Computer 
software 

 71.86  -    -    71.86  59.93  10.07  -    70.00  1.86  11.93 

Total  71.86  -    -    71.86  59.93  10.07  -    70.00  1.86  11.93 
Intangible Assets (As at 31 March, 2024) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortisation Net Block 

As at
01 April, 

2023 

Additions Deductions / 
adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
01 April, 

2023 

 Amortisation Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

Computer 
software

 71.86  -    -    71.86  55.71  4.22  -    59.93  11.93  16.15 

Total  71.86  -    -    71.86  55.71  4.22  -    59.93  11.93  16.15 

 12.1 : Refer para 4.5 of Material Accounting Policies for amortisation on intangible assets. 
13. Right-of-use Assets (As at 31 March, 2025) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortization  Net Block 

As at
01 April, 

2024 

Additions  Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2025 

As at
01 April, 

2024 

Amortisation Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2025 

As at
31 

March, 
2025 

As at
31 

March, 
2024

Premises  114.47  14.92  -    129.39  58.13  18.93  -    77.06  52.33  56.34 
Total  114.47  14.92  -    129.39  58.13  18.93  -    77.06  52.33  56.34 

Right-of-use Assets (As at 31 March, 2024) 
Particulars Gross block Accumulated amortisation Net Block 

As at
01 April, 

2023 

Additions Deductions / 
adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
01 April, 

2023 

 Amortisation Deductions 
/ 

adjustments

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
31 

March, 
2024 

As at
31 

March, 
2023 

Premises  140.04  32.77  58.34  114.47  82.73  24.11  48.71  58.13  56.34  57.31 
Total  140.04  32.77  58.34  114.47  82.73  24.11  48.71  58.13  56.34  57.31 

 13.1 : Refer para 4.10 of Significant Accounting Policies for amortization of Right-of-use-Assets.  

14 Other non-financial assets As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Prepaid expenses  10.52  7.99 
Total  10.52  7.99 

15 Non-current assets held for sale As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Assets held for sale  15.90  122.93 

Total  15.90  122.93 
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15.1 Holding Company had acquired certain properties on settlement of loan dues from its borrowers which has been 
classified as held for sale and is being measured at the lower of carrying value or fair value less cost to sell. Fair 
market value of these properties is estimated at Rs. 23.42 lakhs (Rs. 269.42 lakhs) based on valuation conducted 
by a registered valuer. During the year, Company has sold a property having carrying value of Rs. 107.03 lakhs at 
a sale value of Rs. 104.08 lakhs (net of outstanding dues and selling expenses) and accordingly loss on sale of Rs. 
2.95 lakhs has been shown under Note 27 as 'Loss on sale of repossessed assets'.

16 Borrowings 
(At amortised cost)

Note As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Secured
i. Term Loans from Banks 16.1 & 

16.3
 559.15  837.04 

ii. Working Capital Loans from Banks 16.2 & 
16.3

 1,725.43  4,453.22 

Unsecured
i. Inter-corporate Loan from a related party 16.6  606.74  202.04
ii. Loan from Director 16.7  1,189.06  -  
Total  4,080.38  5,492.30 
Borrowings in India  4,080.38  5,492.30 
Borrowings outside India  -    -   
Total  4,080.38  5,492.30 

16.1 Terms of security and repayment are given below:
As at 31 March, 2025

Particulars Maturity pattern
0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years Total

Term Loans

 Refer note 16.3 below 
(i) Secured by hypothecation of loan receivables  
(also refer note- 16.1.1)
- for loans taken from banks 
(Interest rates range between 10.50%- 15.00% per 
annum)

As at 31 March, 2024
Particulars Maturity pattern

0-1 years 1-2 years 2-3 years Total
Term Loans

 Refer note 16.3 below
			 

(i) Secured by hypothecation of loan receivables  
(also refer note- 16.1.1)
- for loans taken from banks 

(Interest rates range between 10.50%- 15.00% per 
annum)

16.1.1 Loans also guaranteed by Managing Director
 - loans of Rs. 559.15 (31.03.2024: Rs. 837.04 lakhs) also secured by personal guarantee of Managing Director of 
the Holding Company.									       

16.2 Terms of Security and Interest Rates for Working Capital Loans:
(i) Working Capital loans from banks are secured by :

(a)  Primary Security- first pari passu charge on present and future receivables of the Holding Company.
(b)  Collateral Security - Immovable properties belonging to promoter & others.
(c)  Personal guarantees of Managing Director and relative of Managing Director of the Holding Company.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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(d)   Corporate guarantee of Bubble Infosolutions Private Limited (Company in which Managing Director of the 
Holding Company is a director) and Amulet Technologies Limited, (Subsidiary of the Company). The Said 
Corporate Guarantee, Since been released on 17.05.2025 and 22.04.2025 respectively.

(ii) Interest rates on above loans range between 11.65 % - 15.00 % per annum (31.03.2024: 11.65% - 15.00%).	

16.3 Details of Default in repayment of Borrowings as at 31 March, 2025 is given below:
(i) Term loans:

Name of Bank NPA Date Total 
Outstanding 

as at 31 
March, 2025

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued and 
debited by 
the banks

Amount of  
Interest 

accrued but 
not debited 

by the banks

Total Default 
(Installments 

& interest)

Punjab National Bank (Ex- United Bank 
of India)

31.03.2022  559.15  409.51  49.95  1,018.61 

  Bank of India 30.09.2020  -    -    199.47  199.47 
Total  559.15  409.51  249.42  1,218.08 

(ii) Cash Credit Loans from Banks:

Name of Bank NPA Date  Total 
Outstanding 

as at 31 
March, 2025 

 Amount of  
Interest 

accrued and 
debited by 
the banks 

 Amount of  
Interest 

accrued but 
not debited 

by the banks 

 Total 
Default 

(Installments 
& interest) 

Punjab National Bank 16.06.2019  200.14  1,845.98  -    2,046.12 
Punjab National Bank (Ex- Oriental 
Bank of Commerce)

02.08.2019  325.12  418.63  -    743.75 

Bank of India 30.06.2019  433.88  208.88  1,597.51  2,240.27 
Indian Overseas Bank 30.09.2019  471.34  -    980.42  1,451.76 
Central Bank of India 30.11.2019  294.95  -    804.75  1,099.70 
Total Cash Credit Loans  1,725.43  2,473.49  3,382.68  7,581.60 

16.4 The Holding Company has availed term loans and working capital facilities from various banks. However, slowdown 
of its lending business and increased level of non-performing/impaired loan portfolio has impacted its cash flow/
liquidity, and the Holding Company is unable to service term loans and working capital facilities, including interest 
thereon, to certain banks as detailed in para 16.3 above. The Company had approached these banks for its 
restructuring/settlement, which inter alia includes waiver/reduction of interest. As the Company is reasonably hopeful 
of waiver/reduction of the interest under these restructuring/settlement packages, interest of Rs. 6,515.10 lakhs i.e., 
Rs. 1,496.34 lakhs for the current year ended 31 March, 2025 and Rs. 5,018.76 lakhs for the period up to 31 March, 
2024, though accrued on these loans, has not been provided in these financial statements. These proposals of 
the Company have since been approved/accepted by the lender banks through the One Time Settlement (OTS) 
scheme; however, the same are pending for implementation as detailed in note 16.5 below.

16.5 During the year, the Holding Company's proposal for settlement of its loans has been accepted/approved by all the 
lender banks under the One Time Settlement (OTS). The Company has substantially paid the OTS amount till the 
date of approval of these financial statements and is in the process of complying with the other terms and conditions 
thereof to complete/implement the OTS. The financial impact of these OTS will be accounted for in the period in 
which all terms and conditions of the OTS are fully complied with, the OTS is implemented, and No Dues Certificates 
are obtained from the respective lender bank(s).							     

16.6 Unsecured credit facilities obtained from a related party and carries interest rate of 15.00% per annum for a tenor of 
maximum 36 months with maturity due in September 2026. These facilities have been obtained for utilizing for day-
to-day business operational payments as the bank accounts of the Holding Company were freezed by the borrower 
banks from July, 2023 to 06 January 2025.

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

16.7 Unsecured credit facilities obtained from a Director and carries interest rate of 15.00% per annum for a tenor of 
maximum 48 months, with maturity due in February, 2029. These facilities have been obtained for meeting the 
shortfall of funds towards the OTS sanctioned by all Banks of the Holding Company as mentioned in note 16.5 
above.

16.8 Amount of Rs. Nil (Previous year Rs. 225.00 lakhs) held under lien with Banks i.e. Rs. Nil (Previous year Rs. 149.70 
lakhs) held under no lien account and Rs. Nil (Previous year Rs. 75.30 lakhs) has been lien marked by a Bank (Refer 
note 5.1).

17 Other financial liabilities Note As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Interest accrued on outstanding dues of micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

17.1  2.19  1.58 

Payable to customers (borrowers)  31.59  24.75 
Payable to employees  218.58  238.71 
Accrued expenses and payables 17.1  260.35  202.35 
Total  512.71  467.39 

17.1 Disclosure for dues for micro enterprises and small enterprises refer para 31.2.

18 Provisions Note As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

For employee benefits: 31.3
  - Leave encashment  2.87  2.72 
  - Gratuity (net of plan assets)  18.25  14.67 
Total  21.12  17.39 

19 Other non-financial liabilities As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Statutory dues payable  36.95  39.15 
Total  36.95  39.15 

20 Equity Share Capital
Particulars As at  

31 March, 2025
As at  

31 March, 2024
Authorised share capital
Equity Shares:
3,50,00,000 equity shares of Rs. 10 each  3,500.00  3,500.00 
Preference Shares:
15,00,000 preference shares of Rs. 100 each  1,500.00  1,500.00 
   5,000.00  5,000.00 
Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up
Equity Shares:
1,83,66,250 equity shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up  1,836.63  1,836.63 
Total               1,836.63              1,836.63 

Notes:
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

20.1 Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

Particulars
As at

31 March, 2025
As at

31 March, 2024
No. of Shares Amount No. of Shares Amount

Equity shares

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,83,66,250  1,836.63  1,83,66,250  1,836.63 

Balance as at end of the year  1,83,66,250  1,836.63  1,83,66,250  1,836.63 

20.2 Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to each class of shares
The Holding Company has only one class of Equity Share having par value of Rs. 10 per share. Each shareholder 
is eligible for one vote per share held. All Equity Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from 
time to time. The voting rights cannot be exercised in respect of shares on which any call or other sums presently 
payable have not been paid. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the 
remaining assets of the Company in proportion of their shareholding.

20.3 Detail of shareholders holding more than 5% of the aggregate shares in the Holding Company:
Particulars As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024
Shareholders No. of Shares % age of  

share holding
No. of Shares % age of  

share holding 
Equity Shares

Pantec Devices Private Limited  44,97,264 24.49%  44,97,264 24.49%

India Business Excellence Fund-IIA  31,65,973 17.24%  35,20,062 19.17%

India Business Excellence Fund-II  21,10,000 11.49%  22,06,208 12.01%

Pantec Consultants Private Limited  14,53,771 7.92%  14,53,771 7.92%

Sanjeev Goel (Including shares held in 
IBEF - II Escrow account)

 12,44,464 6.77%  12,44,464 6.77%

20.4 Details of Shareholding of Promoter/s:
Shares held by promoter/s at the end of the year % age change during 
S.No.     Promoter name No. of Shares % age of  

total shares
31 March, 2025 31 March, 2024

1.Pantec Devices Private Limited  44,97,264 24.49% No change No change

2.India Business Excellence Fund-IIA  31,65,973 17.24% (-)10.06% (-) 3.19%
3.  India Business Excellence Fund-II  21,10,000 11.49% (-) 4.36% (-) 3.15%
4.Pantec Consultants Private Limited  14,53,771 7.92% No change No change
5. Intec Worldwide Private Limited  5,19,267 2.82% No change No change
6. Sanjeev Goel (Including held in IBEF - 

II Escrow account)
 12,44,464 6.77% No change No change

7.Pranav Goel  32,900 0.18% No change No change
8.Dhruv Goel  32,900 0.18% No change No change

21 Other Equity
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars   As at  
31 March, 2025

As at  
31 March, 2024

Securities premium
As per last account 8,843.84 8,843.84 

Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC of RBI Act.
As per last account  1,868.50  1,868.50 
Addition during the year  6.01  -   
Closing Balance  1,874.51  1,868.50 

Impairment Reserve
As per last account  2,546.93  2,546.93 

Retained earnings
As per last account  (11,667.78) (11,102.46)
Profit/(Loss) for the year  21.92 (565.32)
Appropriation to Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC of RBI Act  (6.01)  -   
Closing Balance (11,651.87) (11,667.78)

Other Comprehensive Income / (loss) - Re-measurement gains on 
defined benefit plan

   

As per last account 2.33 0.23 
Addition during the year (net of tax) (1.34) 2.10 
Closing Balance 0.99 2.33 

Total    1,614.39  1,593.82 

21.1 Nature and purpose of other equity:
i Securities Premium

Securities premium is used to record the premium on issue of shares. It can be utilised only for limited purposes in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013				  

ii Statutory Reserve as per Section 45-IC(1) of RBI Act, 1934
Reserve fund is created as per the terms of section 45-IC(1) of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 as a statutory 
reserve.

iii Impairment Reserve
Reserve Bank of India (RBI) issued Notification No. DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.No.109/22.10.106/2019-20 dated 13 
March, 2020 in respect of ‘Implementation of Indian Accounting Standards’ by NBFCs. In terms of the said circular, 
in case where the impairment allowance under Ind AS 109 is lower than the provisioning required under Income 
Recognition, Asset Classification and Provisioning (IRACP) Norms (including standard asset provisioning) issued 
by RBI, the Company is required to appropriate the difference from their net profit after tax to “Impairment Reserve”. 
No withdrawals are permitted from this reserve without prior permission from the Department of Supervision, 
RBI. Refer Note. 31.16 in respect of the disclosure in respect of comparison between impairment allowance and 
provisioning under IRACP Norms.  

iv Retained Earnings
The profit/loss earned till date, less any transfers/appropriations to any other reserve, dividends or other distribution 
paid to shareholders. 

v Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)
The other comprehensive income / (loss) till date, which is available for set off or adjustable only against such 
income/loss in future.



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25151

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

22 Interest income For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Interest income on:
- loans  111.75  265.28 
- financial instruments  0.48  1.02 

Total  112.23  266.30 

23 Fees and commission income For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Other service fees  1.25  0.18 

Total  1.25  0.18 

24 Recoveries of financial assets written off For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Recoveries of financial assets written off  243.48  107.16 

Total  243.48  107.16 

25 Other income For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Liabilities no longer required written back  -    1.62 
Gain on cessation of lease liability  -    2.31 
Profit on disposal of property, plant & equipment (net)  -    0.25 
Commission Income  79.29  -   
Miscellaneous Income  9.34  11.54 

Total  88.63  15.72 

26 Finance costs Note For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

On financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
- on borrowings - inter-corporate Loan 16.6  61.15  6.50 
- on borrowings - from a Director 16.7  6.73  -   
- on borrowings - term loan from banks  32.73  -   
- on outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small  

   enterprises 
31.2  0.61  1.58 

- on lease liabilities 31.6  8.94  11.18 
Other Finance costs  5.76  3.24 
Total  115.92  22.50 

27 Impairment on financial instruments For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Impairment loss (reversal)/allowance on:

- loans (including interest accrued)  (381.64)  451.14 

Loss on Sale of Repossessed Assets 15.1  2.95 -

Total  (378.69)  451.14 
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

28 Employee benefits expenses For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Salaries and wages  238.64  350.65 
Contribution to provident and other funds  5.87  8.70 
Staff welfare expenses  8.11  12.21 

Total  252.62  371.56 

29 Depreciation and amortization Note For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 11  18.90  20.78 
Amortization of intangible assets 12  10.07  4.22 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 13  18.93  24.11 

Total  47.90  49.11 

30 Other expenses For the year ended  
31 March, 2025

For the year ended  
31 March, 2024

Rent  10.38  10.05 
Insurance  4.57  10.71 
Legal & professional  142.92  226.07 
Payment to Auditors:
- Statutory Audit  5.74  5.74 
- Tax Audit  1.00  1.00 
- Limited Reviews  3.00  3.00 
- Other services  0.30  0.47 
- Reimbursement of expenses  1.20  0.66 
Rates & taxes  4.73  1.02 
Electricity & water  14.70  15.95 
Directors' sitting fees  4.20  2.75 
Repairs & maintenance  11.22  16.37 
Communication and internet  10.61  11.41 
Travelling & conveyance  21.87  33.37 
Business promotion  24.73  13.97 
Other expenditure  30.79  30.40 
Total  291.96  382.94 
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Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE – 31: OTHER NOTES FORMING PART	OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH, 2025

31.1 Contingent Liabilities and Commitments:

Sr.
No. Particulars

As at
31 March, 2025 As at

31 March, 2024
A. Contingent Liabilities

i. Claims against the Holding Company not 
acknowledged as debts.

Few customers / borrowers of the Holding 
Company have filed legal cases for various 
claims against the Holding Company. The 
Holding Company has reviewed these pending 
litigations and proceedings and does not expect 
any material out flow / reimbursement in respect 
of the same.

B. Commitments

i. Loan approved but pending disbursements. Nil Nil

C. Corporate Guarantee

i. By Subsidiary Company on behalf of Holding 
Company for Credit Facilities 40,000.00 40,000.00

31.2 Disclosure required under Section 22 of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Development   Act, 2006:

As at
31 March, 2025 As at 

31 March, 2024

i. Principal amount and interest due thereon remaining unpaid to
any supplier covered under MSMED Act.

-	 Principal 10.53 19.49
-	 Interest 2.19 1.58
ii. Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of Section 16 

of the MSMED Act, 2006, along with the amount of the payment 
made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each 
accounting year.

- -

iii. The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay 
in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the 
appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest 
specified under MSMED Act.

- -

iv. The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid. - -
v. The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even 

in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest 
dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the 
purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under 
Section 23 of MSMED Act, 2006

- -

Total 12.72 21.07

	 The above information regarding dues to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises has been determined to the extent 
such parties have been identified on the basis of information collected with the Group.

31.3 Employee Benefits (Ind AS-19)
(a)	 Defined Benefit plans:

	 Gratuity : Payable on separation as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972, as amended @ 15 days’ pay, for each 
completed year of service to eligible employees who render continuous service of 5 years or more. The Holding 
Company’s liability towards Gratuity is funded / managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India (LIC).



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25154

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
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(b)	 Other Long-Term Benefit:

	 Compensated Absences     : Employees of the Holding Company are entitled to accumulate their earned/privilege leave 
up to a maximum of 30 days which can be availed / utilized in coming year/s, while in service. During the current year, 
the amount of Rs. 0.15 lakhs has been debited (previous year: the amount of Rs. 0.61 lakhs has been credited) in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss towards creation of the provision (Previous Year: reversal of excess provision) based on 
actuarial valuation.

(c)	 Defined Contribution plans:

	 Holding Company’s employees are covered by Provident Fund and Employees State Insurance Scheme, to which the 
Holding Company makes a defined contribution measured as a fixed percentage of salary. During the year, amount of 
Rs. 5.46 lakhs (Previous Year: Rs. 8.39 lakhs) has been charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss towards employer’s 
contribution to these schemes/funds as under:

Particulars Year ended 
31 March, 2025

Year ended 
31 March,2024

Employer’s contribution towards Provident Fund (PF) 4.98 7.53
Employer’s contribution towards Employees State Insurance
(ESI) 0.48 0.86

(d)	 Other disclosures of Defined Benefit plan (Gratuity) are as under:

i)	 Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligations:

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2025

Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation at the beginning of year  
	 30.49 28.29

Interest cost 2.17 2.09
Current Service Cost 3.82 4.49
Benefit Paid (2.95) -
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss arising from Change in Financial Assumptions 1.32 0.59
Actuarial (Gain) arising from Change in Demographic Assumptions - -
Actuarial (Gain)/Loss arising from Changes in Experience 
Adjustments 0.30 (4.97)

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 35.15 30.49
ii)	 Net Defined Benefit recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Current Service Cost 3.82 4.49
Interest cost (net of return) 0.92    (0.68)
Net Defined Benefit recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss 4.74 3.81

iii)	 Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income/(loss)

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Change in Financial Assumption (1.32) (0.59)
Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Change in Demographic
Assumption - -
Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on arising from Changes in Experience 
Adjustments (0.30) 4.97

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Plan Assets (0.17) (1.57)
Net actuarial (Loss) / Gain (1.79) 2.81
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	 Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of fair value of Plan Assets

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2025

Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Fair value of Plan Assets at the beginning of year 15.82 34.66
Expected return on plan Assets 1.25 2.76
Employer’s Contribution - -
Return on Plan Assets excluding interest income (0.17)  (1.57)
Benefits paid - -
Transfer in/(out) plan assets - (20.03)
Fair value of Plan Assets at the end of year 16.90 15.82

iv)	 Net Defined Benefit Assets / (Liability) recognized in the Balance Sheet

Particulars Year ended 31 
March, 2025

Year ended 31 
March, 2024

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year (35.15) (30.49)
Fair value of Plan Assets at the end of year 16.90 15.82
Net Defined Benefit (Liability) / Assets recognized in the Balance 
Sheet (18.25) (14.67)

v)	 Broad categories of Plan Assets as percentage of total assets

Particulars Year ended 
31 March, 2025

Year ended 
31 March, 2024

Insurer Managed Funds 100% 100%

vii). Sensitivity Analysis*
a)	 Impact of the change in the discount rate

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 35.15 30.49
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) (1.21) (1.16)
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50% (Previous Year: 0.50%) 1.28 1.22

b)	 Impact of the change in the salary increase

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of year 35.15 30.49
a) Impact due to increase of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) 0.93 0.92
b) Impact due to decrease of 0.50% (Previous year: 0.50%) (0.90) (0.89)

* 	 Sensitivities due to mortality & withdrawals are not material & hence impact of change not calculated.
* 	 Sensitivities as to rate of inflation, rate of increase of pension in payment, rate of increase of pensions before 

retirement & life expectancy are not applicable being a lump sum benefit on retirement.
viii.	Maturity Profile

Year Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

0 to 1 year 2.9% 1.3%
1 to 2 Year 6.4% 2.3%
2 to 3 Year 2.8% 6.0%
3 to 4 Year 11.1% 2.5%
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4 to 5 Year 10.3% 10.9%
5 Year onwards 32.2% 22.1%

ix.	 Expected contribution for the next Annual reporting period

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Expected contribution for the next Annual reporting period 3.91 3.82

x.	 Actuarial Assumptions:

	 The principal assumptions are the discount rate and salary increase. The discount rate is based upon the market 
yields available on Government bonds at the accounting date with a term that matches that of the Liabilities and the 
salary increase takes account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors on long term basis. Principal 
assumptions used for actuarial valuation are:

Particulars Gratuity  Compensated Absences    

Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Method used Projected unit credit method

Discount rate 6.65% 7.20% 6.65% 7.20%

Salary Escalation 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Mortality Rate IALM (2012-14)
Rate of return on plan
Assets 6.65% 7.20% NA NA

      Withdrawal Rates Per Annum

Age Band Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

25 & below 1.00% 1.00%
25 to 35 24.00% 24.00%
35 to 45 8.00% 8.00%
45 to 55 2.00% 2.00%
55 & above 1.00% 1.00%

31.4 Operating Segments (Ind AS – 108): 

	 The Holding Company is primarily engaged only in the business of providing loans to Small and Medium Enterprises 
(‘SME’) customers and has no overseas operations/units and as such, no segment reporting is required under Ind AS- 
108 dealing with the Segment Reporting.

31.5 Related Party Disclosures (Ind AS-24):
A.	List of Related Parties and relationships, having transactions during the year:
a)	 Key Management Personnel (KMPs)

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director

Vinod Kumar, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 13 February, 2024) 

Pankhuri Agrawal, Company Secretary (w.e.f. 29 November, 2024)

Rajesh Sharma, Chief Finance Officer (w.e.f. 08 February, 2023 and upto 15 November, 2023)

Radhika Garg, Company Secretary (w.e.f. 12 November, 2022 and upto 03 September, 2024)
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b)	 Relatives of Key Management Personnel

	 Pranav Goel, Son of Managing Director

	 Dhruv Goel, Son of Managing Director

c)	 Enterprise over which KMPs or Relatives of KMPs exercises significant influence

	 Bubble Infosolutions Private Limited

	 Modern Credit Private Limited

d)	 Investing party in respect of which the Holding Company is an associate

	 Pantec Devices Private Limited

A.	 Transactions with Related Parties

Nature of Transaction
Other Related Parties Key Management Personnel and 

Relatives
Year ended 31st March

2025 2024 2025 2024
Remuneration paid
a)	 Key Management Personnel
b)	 Relatives of Key Management 
Personnel

-
-

-
-

12.35
40.04

13.25
39.32

Loans and Advances received back 
(net)
    Pantec Devices Private Limited 5.00 - - -

Inter-corporate loan received (net)
Modern Credit Private Limited
(including interest and net of TDS)

404.70 202.04 - -

Loan from Director 
Sanjeev Goel (including interest and net 
of TDS)

- -
1,189.06 -

Interest Income on loans
Pantec Devices Private Limited 2.25 2.25 - -
Finance Cost
Modern Credit Private Limited
Sanjeev Goel

61.15
-

6.31
-

-
6.73

-
-

B.	 Year end balances with related parties:

As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

Loans and Advances given

Pantec Devices Private Limited (Investing party in respect of which 
the Holding Company is an associate)

           
49.72 52.47

Borrowings 
Modern Credit Private Limited (including interest and net of TDS)
Sanjeev Goel (including interest and net of TDS)

606.74
1,189.06

202.04
-

Guarantee given on behalf of Holding Company (Refer note 
16.1.1 & 16.2)
The Managing Director, Bubble Infosolutions Private Limited 
(Company in which Managing Director of the Holding Company is 
a director). The said corporate guarantees since been released on 
17.05.2025.

Term Loans: 559.15
 WCDL: 1,725.43

Term Loans: 837.04
WCDL: 4,453.22
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Notes:

•	 Transaction values are excluding taxes and duties.
•	 Related parties as defined under Ind AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ have been identified based on representations 

made by key managerial personnel and information available with the Group. All above transactions are in the 
ordinary course of business and on arm’s length basis.

•	 Provisions for gratuity, compensated absences and other long-term service benefits are made for the Group as a 
whole and the amounts pertaining to the Key Managerial Personnel are not specifically identified and hence are not 
included above.

31.6 Leases

	 Group’s significant leasing arrangements are in respect of the premises (commercial premises, offices etc.) which 
contain extension option after the initial contract period, the amounts recognized on account of leases are as under:

(i)	 Amount recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss.

Particulars For the year ended
31 March, 2025

For the year ended
31 March, 2024

Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 8.94 11.18
Amortization of Right-of-Use Assets 18.93 24.11

(ii)	 Amount recognized in Balance Sheet.

Particulars As at
31 March, 2024

Addition / 
(Deduction) during 

the year

As at
31 March, 2025

Lease liabilities 70.77 (2.45) 68.32
Right-of-use assets (Gross) (Refer Note 13) 114.47 14.92 129.39

(iii)	Maturity Profile

Particulars Amount
Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows
Within 1 year 25.73
Within 2 years 20.31
Within 3 years 19.18
Within 4 years 11.36
5 years or more 4.89
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 81.47
Impact of discounting and other adjustments 13.15
Lease liabilities included in the Balance Sheet 68.32

31.7 Earnings Per Share (EPS)

	 The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Particulars Year ended
31 March, 2025

Year ended
31 March, 2024

Profit / (Loss) for the year (Rs. in lakhs) 21.92 (565.32)
Basic / Diluted weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year 1,83,66,250 1,83,66,250

Nominal value of Equity Share (Rs.) 10.00 10.00
Basic / Diluted Earnings per Share (Rs.) 0.12 (3.08)



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25159

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

31.8 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR):

	 The Holding Company had constituted a CSR committee as required under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
together with relevant rules as prescribed in Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014 (‘CSR 
rules’). The CSR Committee had approved the CSR Policy and also identified the broad areas of CSR activities which 
it propose to carry out viz. Child Education and Women Empowerment. The Holding Company has made serious 
deliberations and chosen the CSR programs which would be undertaken on a long term and continuous basis. Such 
programs will benefit communities where the Holding Company operates or likely to operate and create goodwill 
for the Holding Company. As the Holding Company has incurred average net losses during the last three years, no 
amount is required to be spent on account of CSR during the year ended 31 March, 2025 / 31 March, 2024.

31.9 Going Concern:

	 The accumulated losses of the Holding Company which are mainly due to non-carrying out the lending activities and 
substantial reduction in the recoveries from the borrowers / customers, have resulted in erosion of substantial net 
worth and significant financial crunch being faced by the Holding Company, and there are defaults in the repayments 
of its borrowings, delays in payments of other liabilities/commitments including employees and statutory dues etc. 
Also, Holding Company’s Net Owned Fund and Leverage Ratio are not in compliance of the Master Direction – 
Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Company – Scale Based Regulation) Directions, 2023 as amended 
from time to time issued vide notification no. RBI/DOR/2023-24/106 DoR.FIN.REC.No.45/03.10.119 / 2023-24 dated 
October 19, 2023, as updated / amended from time to time (“RBI Master Directions”). These events / conditions 
indicate the existence of uncertainty on the Holding Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. However, the 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the strength of continued support from the 
promoters (including the granting of the unsecured loan to the Company and meeting of its financial commitments 
directly) and considering the ongoing implementation of One Time Settlements (OTS) of borrowings with the lender 
banks and Holding Company’s ability to generate adequate resources for the foreseeable future. 

31.10 Disclosures as required under Master Direction-Reserve Bank of India (Non-Banking Financial Company - Scale 
Based Regulation) Directions, 2023 as amended from time to time and other applicable directions/circulars are 
enclosed vide Annexure – I.

31.11 Capital

	 The Holding Company maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business which 
includes issued equity capital and other reserves attributable to equity holders of the Holding Company. As an NBFC, 
the RBI requires the Holding Company to maintain a minimum capital to risk weighted assets ratio (“CRAR”) consisting 
of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital of 15% of the aggregate risk weighted assets. Further, the total of the Tier 2 capital cannot 
exceed 100% of the Tier 1 capital at any point of time. The capital management process of the Holding Company 
ensures to maintain a healthy CRAR at all the times.

	 Capital Management

	 The primary objectives of the Holding Company’s capital management policy is to maintain appropriate levels of capital 
to support its business strategy taking into account the regulatory, economic and commercial environment. The Holding 
Company aims to maintain a strong capital base to support the risks inherent to its business and growth strategies. The 
Holding Company endeavors to maintain a higher capital base than the mandated regulatory capital at all times.

	 Planning

	 The Holding Company’s assessment of capital requirement is aligned to its planned growth which forms part of an 
annual operating plan which is approved by the ALCO and also a long-range strategy. These growth plans are aligned 
to assessment of risks– which include credit, liquidity and interest rate.

	 The Holding Company monitors its capital to risk-weighted assets ratio (CRAR) on a yearly basis through its Assets 
Liability Management Committee (ALCO).

	 The Holding Company endeavors to maintain its CRAR higher than the mandated regulatory norm. Accordingly, increase 
in capital is planned well in advance to ensure adequate funding for its growth.

	 The Holding Company is also the provider of equity capital to its wholly owned subsidiary and associates and also 
provides them with non-equity capital where necessary. These investments are funded by the Holding Company through 
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its equity share capital and other equity which inter alia includes securities premium and retained earnings.

	 Regulatory capital

Particulars As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

Tier I Capital (971.41) (1,428.75)
Tier II Capital -- --
Total Capital Funds (971.41) (1,428.75)
Risk Weighted Assets 5,881.63 6,672.15
CET1 capital ratio (16.52%) (21.68%)
CET2 capital ratio -- --
Total capital ratio (16.52%) (21.68%)

	 Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprises share capital, securities premium and retained earnings. 
Certain adjustments are made to Ind AS based results and reserves, as prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India. The 
other component of regulatory capital is Tier 2 Capital, which includes subordinated debt. The Holding Company is trying 
to meet the capital adequacy requirements of Reserve Bank of India (RBI).

31.12 Events after Reporting Date

	 There have been no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in these consolidated financial statements.

31.13 Fair Values

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the 
principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e., an exit price), 
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using a valuation technique.

	 In order to show how fair values have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a hierarchy of valuation 
techniques.

	 This note describes the fair value measurement of both financial and non-financial instruments.

	 Valuation framework

	 The Group has an internal fair value assessment team which assesses the fair values for assets qualifying for fair 
valuation.

	 The Group’s valuation framework includes:

•	 Benchmarking prices against observable market prices or other independent sources;
•	 Development and validation of fair valuation models using model logic, inputs, outputs and adjustments.

	 These valuation models are subject to a process of due diligence and validation before they become operational and 
are continuously calibrated. These models are subject to approvals by various functions of the Group. Finance function 
is responsible for establishing procedures, governing valuation and ensuring fair values are in compliance with Indian 
accounting standards.

	 Valuation methodologies adopted

	 The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and 
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

a.	 Fair values of strategic investments in equity instruments designated under FVOCI have been measured under 
level 3.

b.	 Fair value of loans held under a business model that is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
partially selling the loans through partial assignment to willing buyers and which contain contractual terms that give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest are measured at FVOCI. The 
fair value of these loans has been determined under level 3.
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c.	 The Group has disclosed financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, other 
financial assets and liabilities at carrying value because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of 
the fair values due to their short-term nature.

31.14 Fair Values Hierarchy

	 The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique:

Level 1: Valuation based on quoted market price: financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active 
markets that the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2: Valuation based on using observable inputs: financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments in 
active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued 
using models where all significant inputs are observable.

Level 3: Valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: – financial instruments valued using valuation techniques 
where one or more significant inputs are unobservable. 

	 Disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments are given below:

Particulars
Carrying amount/Fair value

As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

Financial assets L-1 L-2 L-3 L-1 L-2 L-3
Carrying amounts/fair value:
a) Measured at fair value through profit and loss
Financial Guarantee Contracts -- -- -- -- -- --
b)  Measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income -- -- -- -- -- --

c)	 Measured at amortised cost
-	 Cash and cash equivalents
-	 Loans
-	 Investments
-	 Other financial assets

--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--

79.12
4,199.86

6.84
448.47

--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--

527.58
4,844.86

6.84
470.58

Total -- -- 4,734.29 -- -- 5,849.86

Financial liabilities L-1 L-2 L-3 L-1 L-2 L-3
Carrying amounts/fair value:
a)	 Measured at fair value through profit and loss
Financial Guarantee Contracts -- -- -- -- -- --
b)  Measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income -- -- -- -- -- --

c)	 Measured at amortised cost
-	 Borrowings
-	 Lease liabilities
-	 Other financial liabilities

--
--
--

--
--
--

4,080.38
68.32

512.71

--
--
--

--
--
--

5,492.30
70.77

467.39
Total -- -- 4,661.41 -- -- 6,030.46

31.15 Risk management objectives and policies
	 Risk Management Framework

	 A summary of the major risks faced by the Group, its measurement, monitoring and management are described as 
under:
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Nature of
risk	 Arising from	                             

Executive 
governance 
structure 	 Measurement, monitoring and management of 

risk 	

Liquidity and 
funding risk

Liquidity risk arises 
from mismatches in 
the timing of cash 
flows.
Funding risk arises:
•	 when long 
term assets cannot 
be funded at the 
expected	
term resulting in cash 
flow mismatches;
•	 amidst volatile
market conditions 
impacting sourcing of 
funds from banks and 
money markets

Board 
appointed 
Asset 
Liability 
Committee 
(ALCO)

Liquidity and funding risk is:
•	 measured by identifying gaps in the structural and 
dynamic liquidity statements.
•	 monitored by
–	 assessment of the gap between visibility of funds and 
the near-term liabilities given current liquidity conditions and 
evolving regulatory directions for NBFCs.
–	 a constant calibration of sources of funds in line with 
emerging market conditions in banking and money markets.
–	 periodic reviews by ALCO relating to the liquidity position 
and stress tests assuming varied ‘what if’ scenarios and 
comparing probable gaps with the liquidity buffers maintained 
by the Holding Company.
•	 managed by the Holding Company’s treasury team under 
the guidance of ALCO.

Interest rate 
risk

Interest rate risk stems 
from movements	 i n 
market factors, such 
as interest rates, credit 
spreads which impacts
investments, income 
and the value of 
portfolios.

Board 
appointed 
Asset 
Liability 
Committee

Interest rate risk is:
•	 measured using Valuation at Risk (‘VaR’), and modified 
duration analysis and other measures, including the sensitivity 
of net interest income.
•	 monitored by assessment of probable impacts of interest 
rate sensitivities under simulated stress test scenarios given 
range of probable interest rate movement so on both fixed 
and floating assets and liabilities.
•	 managed by the Holding Company’s treasury team under 
the guidance of ALCO.

Credit risk Credit risk is the risk 
of financial loss arising 
out of a customer or 
counter party failing to 
meet their repayment 
obligations to the 
Holding Company

Board 
appointed 
Risk 
Management 
Committee

 	

Credit risk is:
•	 measured as the amount at risk due to repayment default by 
a customer or counter party to the Holding Company. Various 
matrices such as EMI default rate, overdue position, collection 
efficiency, customers non-performing loans etc. are used as 
leading indicators to assess credit risk.
•	 monitored by Risk Management Committee using level of 
credit exposures, portfolio monitoring, repurchase rate, bureau 
data of portfolio performance and industry, geographic, customer 
and portfolio concentration risks.
•	 managed by a robust control framework by the risk department 
which continuously align credit policies, obtaining external data 
from credit bureaus and reviews of portfolios and delinquencies 
by senior and middle Management team comprising of risk, 
analytics, collection and fraud containment along with business. 
The same is periodically reviewed by the Board appointed Risk 
Management Committee.	

	 Liquidity and funding risk	

	 The Holding Company monitors asset liability mismatches to ensure that there are no imbalances or excessive 
concentrations on either side of the Balance Sheet.
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	 The Holding Company continuously monitors liquidity in the market; and as a part of its strategy, the Company maintains 
a liquidity buffer managed by an active investment desk to reduce this risk.

	 The Holding Company is managing its fund requirements mainly from banks and financial institutions. The Holding 
Company emphasis on long term borrowings, however, presently its short term borrowing are more than the long 
term borrowing, which has helped the Holding Company to manage and meet its fund requirements, considering that 
presently the Holding Company is not disbursing new / further loans to its customers and its focus is on recovery 
and to improve its assets quality. The table below summaries the maturity profile of the undiscounted cashflow of the 
Holding Company’s financial liabilities:

As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Particulars
Within 12 

months
After 12 
months Total

Within 12 
months

After 12 
months Total

Borrowings 2,284.58 1,795.80 4,080.38 5,293.91 198.39 5,492.30
Lease liabilities 18.62 49.70 68.32 12.52 58.25 70.77
Other financial liabilities 512.71 -- 512.71 467.39 -- 467.39

2,815.91 1,845.50 4,661.41 5,773.82 256.64 6,030.46
	

As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Particulars
Within 12 

months
After 12
 months Total Within 12 

months
After 12 
months Total

ASSETS
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 79.12 - 79.12      527.58 -- 527.58
Loans 4,199.86 -- 4,199.86 4,844.86 -- 4,844.86
Investments -- 6.84 6.84 -- 6.84 6.84
Other financial assets 249.99 198.48 448.47       287.50 183.08 470.58

Non-financial assets
Current tax assets (net) 4.23 -- 4.23           4.61 -- 4.61
Deferred tax assets (net) -- 2,151.32 2,151.32 -- 2,244.84 2,244.84
Property, plant and 
equipment -- 1,200.05 1,200.05 -- 1,218.95 1,218.95

Intangible assets -- 1.86 1.86 -- 11.93 11.93
Right-of-use assets -- 52.33 52.33 -- 56.34 56.34
Other non-financial assets 10.52 -- 10.52     7.99 -- 7.99

Non-current assets held for sale 15.90 -- 15.90       122.93 -- 122.93
Total 8,170.50 9,517.45
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities
Borrowings	 2,284.58 1,795.80 4,080.38 5,293.91 198.39   5,492.30

Lease liabilities	 18.62           49.70    68.32          12.52 58.25       70.77
Other financial liabilities 512.71 -- 512.71  467.39 --      467.39

Market risk
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Non-financial liabilities
Provisions        4.40 16.72 21.12    4.27 13.12       17.39
Other non-financial liabilities       36.95 --        36.95        39.15 -- 39.15

4,719.48  6,087.00

	 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in the 
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Group do not have any exposure 
to foreign exchange rate and equity price risk.

	 Interest rate risk On investments

	 The interest rate risk on the investment portfolio and corresponding fair value change impact is monitored using Valuation 
at Risk (‘VaR’) and modified duration analysis and other measures, including the sensitivity of net interest income.  The 
Group do not have any investment which is exposed to interest risk.

	 On assets and liabilities	

	 Interest rate sensitivity on fixed and floating rate assets and liabilities with differing maturity profiles is measured by using 
the duration gap analysis. The same is computed periodically and sensitivity of the market value of equity assuming 
varied changes in interest rates are presented and monitored.

Sensitivity analysis as at 31 March, 2025

Particulars Carrying 
value Fair value

Sensitivity to closing
fair value	
1% increase 1% decrease

Loans – Financial Assets 4,199.86 4,199.86 42.00 (42.00)
Borrowings – Financial Liabilities 4,080.38 4,080.38 40.80 (40.80)

Sensitivity analysis as at 31 March, 2024

Particulars Carrying 
value Fair value

Sensitivity to closing
fair value	

1% increase 1% decrease
Loans – Financial Assets 4,844.86 4,844.86 48.45 (48.45)
Borrowings – Financial Liabilities 5,492.30 5,492.30 54.92 (54.92)

	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising out of a customer or counterparty failing to meet their repayment obligations to 
the Group. It has a diversified lending model and focuses on broad categories viz: business, mortgages, and commercial 
lending. The Group assesses the credit quality of all financial instruments that are subject to credit risk.

	 Classification of financial assets under various stages

	 The Holding Company classifies its financial assets in three stages having the following characteristics:

	 Stage1: unimpaired and without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on which a 12-month 
allowance for ECL is recognised;

	 Stage 2: a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on which a lifetime ECL is recognised;
	 Stage 3: objective evidence of impairment, and are therefore considered to be in default or otherwise credit impaired on 

which a lifetime ECL is recognised.

	 Unless identified at an earlier stage, all financial assets are deemed to have suffered a significant increase in credit risk 
when they are 90 days past due (DPD) and are accordingly transferred from stage 1 to stage 2. For stage 1 an ECL 
allowance is calculated based on a 12-month Point in Time (PIT) probability weighted probability of default (PD). For 
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stage 2 and 3 assets a life time ECL is calculated based on a lifetime PD.
	 The Holding Company has calculated ECL using three main components: a probability of default (PD), a loss given 

default (LGD) and the exposure at default (EAD) along with an adjustment considering forward macro-economic 
conditions [for a detailed note for methodology of computation of ECL please refer to material accounting policies note 
no 4.3(i) to the financial statements].

	 Financial instruments other than loans were subjected to simplified ECL approach under Ind AS 109 ‘Financial 
Instruments’ and accordingly were not subject to sensitivity of future economic conditions.

	 The table below summarises the approach adopted by the Holding Company for various components of ECL viz. PD, 
EAD and LGD across product lines using empirical data where relevant

Lending
Category

Nature of
Businesses

Probability of Default (PD) Exposure at
Default (EAD)

Loss Given
Default (LGD)Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Business 
Loan

Unsecured loans to 
SMEs, corporate and 
others etc.

Use of past trend and 
data and statistical 

analysis thereof, external 
/ internal ratings and 

internal evaluation with a 
management overlay. 100%

EAD is computed 
based on 
assessment of time 
to default considering 
customers profile and 
time for liquidation of 
securities

Based on	past 
trend of recoveries, 
associated risk of 
underlying security 
and estimated	
cash flows.

Mortgage 
Loan

Loans against 
collateral security of 
plant & machinery

Commercial 
Loan Loans against property

The table below summaries the gross carrying values and the associated allowances for expected credit loss (ECL) 
stage wise for loan portfolio:

As at 31 March, 2025

Particulars
Secured Unsecured
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross Carrying Value - - 11,425.84 59.80 - 1,075.79
Allowance for ECL - - 7,288.70 - - 1,072.87
ECL Coverage ratio - - 63.79% - - 99.73%

	 As at 31 March, 2024
Secured Unsecured

Particulars Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross Carrying Value - - 12,138.70 197.57 - 1,247.25

Allowance for ECL - -   7,496.58         - - 1,242.08
ECL Coverage ratio - -       61.76% - -       99.59%

	 Collateral Valuation
	 The nature of products across these broad categories are either unsecured or secured by collateral. Although collateral 

is an important risk mitigant of credit risk, the Holding Company’s practice is to lend on the basis of assessment of the 
customer’s ability to repay rather than placing primary reliance on collateral. Based on the nature of product and the 
Holding Company’s assessment of the customer’s credit risk, a loan may be offered with suitable collateral. Depending 
on its form, collateral can have a significant financial effect in mitigating the Holding Company’s credit risk.
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	 The main types of collateral across various products obtained are as follows:

Product group Nature of securities
Mortgage Loan Hypothecation of underlying plant & machinery

Commercial Loan Equitable mortgage of residential and commercial properties.

	 The Holding Company periodically monitors the market value of collateral and evaluates its exposure and loan to 
value matrix for high risk customers. The Holding Company exercises its right of repossession across all secured 
products, and also resorts to judicial remedies available against its mortgages and commercial lending business. The 
repossessed assets are either sold or released to delinquent customers in case they come forward to settle their dues, 
but are not recorded in the accounts. The assets possessed / received in settlement of the loan are recorded as non–
current assets held for sale (refer note 15).

	 Analysis of Concentration Risk

	 Credit concentration risk is the risk associated with any single exposure or group of exposures with the potential to 
produce large enough losses to threaten Holding Company’s core operation. The Holding Company’s exposure to 
various borrowers is constantly monitored to mitigate the credit concentration risk. The detail of advances to the top 20 
largest borrowers and its percentage to the total advances is as under:

Particulars As at
31 March, 2025

As at
31 March, 2024

Total Loans to twenty largest borrowers 4,533.82 4,783.03
Percentage of Advances to twenty largest borrowers to Total Loans of the 
Company 36.09%        35.21%

	 The Holding Company’s loans exposure is within the geographic area of National Capital Region, New Delhi.

	 Measurement uncertainty and sensitivity analysis of ECL estimates

	 Expected credit loss impairment loss allowances recognised in the financial statements reflect the effect of a range 
of possible economic outcomes, calculated on a probability-weighted basis, based on the economic scenarios. Key 
assumptions used in measurement of ECL:

-	 The Holding Company considers the date of initial recognition as the base date from which significant increase in 
credit risk is determined.

-	   Since the Holding Company has a right to cancel any sanctioned but undrawn limits to any of its borrowers, EAD 
is assumed to be outstanding balance as on the reporting date.

31.16 Disclosures pursuant to RBI Notification-RBI/2019-20/170 DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.NO.109/22.10.106/2019-20 dated 
13 March, 2020- A comparison between provisions required under Income recognition, asset classification 
and provisioning (IRACP) and impairment allowances as per Ind AS 109 ‘Financial instruments’

Asset classification 
as per RBI Norms 

Asset 
classification 
as per 

Ind AS 109

Gross 
carrying 
amount as 
per Ind AS

Loss 
allowance 
(Provisions) 
as required 
under Ind AS 
109 

Net 
Carrying 
amount 

Provision 
required as 
per IRACP 
norms 

Difference 
between 
Ind AS 109 
provision 
and IRACP 
norms 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)=(3)-(4) (6) (7)=(4)-(6)
(a)	Performing Assets
Standard Stage 1 59.80 -- 59.80 0.15 (0.15)

Subtotal (a) 59.80 -- 59.80 0.15 (0.15)
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(b)	Non-Performing 
Assets (NPA)

(i)	 Substandard Stage 3 -- -- -- -- --

(ii)	Doubtful up to

         1 year Stage 3 -- -- -- -- --

         1 to 3 years Stage 3 676.37 274.69 401.68 396.15 (121.46)

         More than 3 years Stage 3 11,825.26 8,086.88 3,738.38 9,793.70 (1,706.82)
Subtotal (ii) 12,501.63 8,361.57 4,140.06 10,189.85 (1,828.28)
(iii)	 Loss Stage 3 - - - - -
Subtotal (b) 12,501.63 8,361.57 4,140.06 10,189.85 (1,828.28)

Stage 1    59.80 -- 59.80 0.15 (0.15)

Total (a+b) Stage 2 -- -- -- -- --

Stage 3 12,501.63 8,361.57 4,140.06 10,189.85 (1,828.28)
Total 12,561.43 8,361.57 4,199.86 10,190.00 (1,828.43)

31.17 Salient Features of financials of Subsidiary Company as per the Companies Act, 2013:

Sl. 
No. Particulars

Subsidiary
(Amulet Technologies 

Limited)
(Refer Note Below)

1. Reporting period of the subsidiary concerned, if different from the Holding 
Company’s reporting period N.A.

2. Share Capital 25.00
3. Reserves & Surplus (193.55)
4. Total Assets 1,189.92
5. Total Liabilities 1,358.47
6. Investments Nil
7. Turnover /Total Income 9.06
8. (Loss) before tax (8.12)
9. Provision for tax Nil

10. (Loss) after tax (8.12)
11. Proposed Dividend Nil
12. % of shareholding 99.998%

     Note: The Subsidiary has yet to start its commercial operations.

31.18 Additional information pursuant to Schedule III of Companies Act, 2013

Name of Entity

Net Assets  
i.e. Total Assets minus Total Liabilities Share in Profit / (Loss) 

As % of
consolidated

net assets
Amount 

(Rs. in lakhs)
As % of

consolidated
profit 

Amount
(Rs. in lakhs)

Holding:
Intec Capital Limited 65.75 2,269.12 139.46 28.70
Subsidiary:
Amulet Technologies 
Limited 34.25 1,181.90 (39.46) (8.12)
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31.19 Title deeds of Immovable Properties not held in name of the Holding Company

Relevant 
line item 
in the 
Balance 
Sheet

Description 
of item 
property

Gross 
Carrying 
Value

Title Deeds 
held in the 
name of

Whether title 
deed holder is 
promoter, director 
or relative of 
promoter/director 
or employee of 
promoter/director

Property 
held since 
which date

Reason for not being 
held in the name of 
the company

Property, 
plant & 
equipment

Land 4.82

Unitel 
Credit 
Private 
Limited 
(merged 
with Intec 
Capital 
Limited)

No 02/08/2006

Land was transferred 
to the Holding 
Company after merger 
of Unitel Credit 
Private Limited into 
the Holding Company. 
Holding Company 
is taking necessary 
steps to transfer the 
same in the name of 
the Holding Company.

31.20 Details of Loan & Advances in the nature of loan granted to Promoters, Directors, Key Management Personnel 
& the related   parties.

Type of Borrower As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

Amount 
outstanding % of Total Amount 

outstanding % of Total

Promoters -- -- -- --

Director -- -- -- --

KMPs -- -- -- --
Related Parties (Gross)
1- Pantec Devices Pvt. Ltd 49.72 0.40% 52.47 0.35%

31.21	 The Group uses accounting software for maintaining its books of account which has a feature of recording audit 
trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the 
software except in certain components where the audit trail were not operating due to system limitations. Further at 
no instance the Audit Trail feature was tempered with and the audit trail has been preserved by the Group as per the 
statutory requirements for record retention.

31.22	 Impairment on financial instruments during the previous year ended 31 March, 2024, included the impairment loss 
allowance of Rs. 811.01 lakhs on the investment and loan given to the Subsidiary Company, based on assessment 
of its recoverability conducted by the Holding Company.  

31.23	 In absence of virtual uncertainty regarding availability of the sufficient taxable income in future, the deferred tax 
assets has not been recognised on accumulated brought forwarded and current tax losses.

31.24	 Wilful Defaulter:
	 The Holding Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender 

company, as such the declaration as wilful defaulter is not applicable.

31.25	 Relationship with Struck off Companies
	 The Company has the transactions with the company struck off under Section 248 of Companies Act, 2013 or 

Section 560 of Companies Act, 1956, as under:
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Name of Struck off 
Company

Nature of transactions 
with struck-off Company

Balance outstanding 
as at 31 March, 2025

Relationship with the struck 
off Company, if any, to be 
disclosed

Runit Fabrics Pvt. Ltd. Loan outstanding 9.65 No relation

31.26	 The Holding Company did not have any transaction which had not been recorded in the books of accounts, which 
had been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 
1961.

31.27	 The Holding Company has not traded or invested in crypto currency or virtual currency during the year.

31.28	 The Holding Company has not advanced or loaned or invested any funds (either from borrowed funds or share 
premium or any other sources or kind of funds) to or in any other person or entity, including foreign entity 
(“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the intermediary shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or 
on behalf of the company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provided any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries.

31.29	 The Holding Company has not received any funds from any person or entity, including foreign entity (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Holding Company shall, directly 
or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provided any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries. 

31.30	 Previous year’s figures have been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to conform to current year 
classification.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
For S. P. Chopra & Co. Intec Capital Limited
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 000346N
(Gautam Bhutani) (Sanjeev Goel) (Ursala Joshi)
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No: 524485 DIN: 00028702 DIN: 08810331

 (Vinod Kumar) (Pankhuri Agrawal)
Place: Kota/New Delhi Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Date: 30 May, 2025 M. No. FCS 11041 
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Annexure – I, as referred in Note 31.10
A.	 Schedule to the Balance Sheet.

Particulars As at As at
Liabilities side: 31 March, 2025 31 March, 2024

1

Loans and advances availed by the NBFC 
inclusive of interest accrued thereon but not 
paid:

Amount Amount Amount Amount
Outstanding Overdue Outstanding Overdue

(a) Debentures:
Secured - - - -
Unsecured - - - -
(Other than falling within the meaning of public 
deposits)

(b) Deferred credits - - - -
(c) Term loan 559.15 559.15     837.04 837.04
(d) Inter corporate loans and borrowings 606.74 - 202.04 -
(e) Loan From Director 1,189.06 - - -
(f)

(g)

Commercial paper (net of un-amortized discount 
on issue)
Public Deposits

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(h) Other loans:
Working capital demand loans from banks - - - -
Cash credit/overdraft from banks 1,725.43 1,725.43 4,453.22 4,453.22

Total 4,080.38 2,284.58 5,492.30 5,290.26

2
Break-up of (1)(f) above (Outstanding public deposits 
inclusive of interest accrued thereon but not paid):

Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 2025

Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 2024

a) In the form of Unsecured Debentures - -
b)	 In the form of partly secured debentures i.e. debentures 
where there is a shortfall in the value of security
c)	 Other Public deposits

-
-

-
-

Total - -

Assets side:
Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 2025

Amount outstanding
As at 31 March, 2024

3

Break-up of loans and advances including bills 
receivables {other than those included in (4) below}:
(a) Secured # 4,137.14 4,642.12
(b) Unsecured # 62.72 202.74

Total 4,199.86 4,844.86

# Comprises of loans which are disclosed net of provision for non-performing assets.
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4 Break up of Leased Assets and stock on hire and other 
assets counting towards AFC activities As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

(i) Lease assets including lease rentals under sundry 
debtors:
(a) Financial lease - -
(b) Operating lease - -

(ii) Stock on hire including hire charges, under sundry 
debtors:
(a) Assets on hire - -
(b) Repossessed stock - -

(iii) Other Loans counting towards AFC activities:
(a) Loans where assets have been repossessed - -
(b) Loans other than (a) above - -

Total - -
5

Break-up of investments
Amount outstanding 

as at
31 March, 2025

Amount outstanding 
as at

31 March, 2024
Current investments:

1Quoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

2Unquoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -
Long term investments:

1Quoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity - -
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others - -

2Unquoted:
(i) Shares:

(a) Equity* 6.84 6.84
(b) Preference - -

(ii) Debentures and bonds - -
(iii) Units of mutual funds - -
(iv) Government securities - -
(v) Others (*net of impairment) - -

Total 6.84 6.84
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6 Borrower group wise classification of all assets financed as in (2) and (3) above:

Category
Amount net of provisions Amount net of provisions
As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Secured Unsecured Total Secured Unsecured Total
1. Related Parties:

(a) Subsidiaries - - - - - -

(b) Companies in the same  
group - - - - - -

(c) Other related Parties -    49.72 49.72 -       52.47 52.47

2. Other than related
    Parties  4,137.14       13.00 4,150.14 4,642.12  150.27 4,792.39

Total         4,137.14          62.72 4,199.86  4,642.12       202.74 4,844.86

7
Investor group wise classification of all investments (current and long term) in shares and securities (both 
quoted and unquoted):

As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Category Market value/ Break-up 
or Fair value or NAV #

Book value 
(net of 

Provisions)

Market Value/ 
Break-up or Fair 

Value or
NAV #

Book value (net of 
Provisions)

1 Related Parties:

(a) Subsidiaries - - - -

(b) Companies in the same 
group - - - -

(c) Other related parties 3.03 3.03 3.03 3.03

2 Other than related parties 3.81 3.81 3.81 3.81

Total 6.84 6.84 6.84 6.84
8 Other information As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

(i) Gross Non-Performing Assets
(a) Related parties - -
(b) Other than related parties 12,501.63                

13,385.95	

(ii) Net Non-Performing Assets 
(a) Related parties - -
(b) Other than related parties 4,140.06 4,647.29	
(iii) Assets acquired in satisfaction of debts    
      (net of provisions)  - -

# These are unquoted shares and the fair value/NAV thereof is not less than their book value.
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B.	 Details of assignment transactions undertaken

Particulars As at 
31 March, 2025                               

As at 
31 March, 2024                                       

(i) No. of accounts - -
(ii)  Aggregate value of accounts sold, gross exposure - -
(iii) Aggregate consideration for assigned portion - -
(iv) Additional consideration realised in respect of accounts 
transferred in earlier years - -

(v) Aggregate gain/(loss) over net book value - -

C.	 Disclosure of restructured accounts as required by the NBFC Master Directions issued by RBI

Type of restructuring – Others
Asset Classification

Standard Sub-standard Doubtful Loss Total
i) Restructured accounts as on 1 April, 2024
No. of borrowers - - 1 - 1
Amount outstanding - - 167.96 - 167.96
Provision thereon - - 167.96 - 167.96

ii) Fresh restructuring during the year-
No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
Provision thereon - - - - -
iii) Upgradations to restructured standard category 
during the FY-
No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
Provision thereon - - - - -
iv) Restructured standard advances which cease 
to attract higher provisioning and/or additional risk 
weight at the end of the FY and hence need not be 
shown as restructured standard advances at the 
beginning of the next FY-

- -
-

- -

No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
Provision thereon - - - - -
V) Down gradations of restructured accounts
during the FY-
No. of borrowers - - - - -
Amount outstanding - - - - -
Provision thereon - - - - -
vi) Write-offs/Settlements/Recoveries of
restructured accounts during the year - - - - -

No. of borrowers - - 1 - 1
Amount outstanding - - 105.00 - 105.00
Provision thereon - - 105.00 - 105.00
vii) Restructured accounts as on 31 March, 2025
No. of borrowers - - 1 - 1
Amount outstanding - - 62.96 - 62.96
Provision thereon - - 62.96 - 62.96
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D.  Disclosure pursuant to Reserve Bank of India Circular DOC.NBFC (PD) CC. No. 102/03.10.001/2019-20 dated 
November 4, 2019 pertaining to Liquidity Management Framework for Non-Banking Financial Companies:

(I)	 Funding Concentration based on significant counterparty (borrowings)

Particulars As at 
31 March, 2025

As at 
31 March, 2024

Number of significant counter parties* - -

Amount - -
Percentage of funding concentration to total liabilities - -

(II)	 Top 10 borrowings

Particulars
As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Amount                                               % of Total 
Borrowings Amount                                               % of Total 

Borrowings

Top 10 Borrower* 4,080.38              100 % 5,492.30              100 %

	 *Based on size of bond issuance/term loans from bank

(III)  Funding Concentration based on significant instrument/product

Significant instrument /product
As at 31 March, 2025 As at 31 March, 2024

Amount                                              % of Total 
Liabilities Amount                                               % of Total 

Liabilities
Borrowings 4,080.38              100 % 5,492.30  100 %

Total 4,080.38              100 % 5,492.30 100 %

(IV)   Stock Ratios 

Particulars % to total public 
funds

% to total 
liabilities % to total assets

As at 31.03.2025

Other short-term liabilities - 12.13% 7.01%

As at 31.03.2024

Other short-term liabilities - 8.54 % 5.39 %

E. Additional disclosures in financial statements:
A)	 Exposure
1)	 Exposure to real estate sector-Nil
2)	 Exposure to capital market-Nil
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3)	 Sectoral Exposure

Sectors Current Year Previous Year
Total Exposure 

(includes 
on balance 

sheet and off-
balance
sheet 

exposure)

Gross 
NPAs

Percentage 
of Gross 

NPAs 
to total 

exposure 
in that 
sector

Total Exposure 
(includes 

on balance 
sheet and off-
balance sheet 

exposure)

Gross 
NPAs

Percentage 
of Gross 

NPAs 
to total 

exposure in 
that sector

1. Agriculture
    and Allied
    Activities

- - - - - -

2. Industry
2.1 Micro and
      Small 4,349.57 4,299.85 98.86% 6,392.05 4,849.76 75.87%

2.2 Medium 1,309.65 1,309.65 100% 1,368.04 1,368.04 100%
2.3 Large 141.45 141.45 100% 141.45 141.45 100%
Total of Industry 

(1 + 2) 5,800.67 5,750.95 99.14% 7,901.54 6,359.25 80.48%

3. Services
3.1 Transport 
      Operators 140.00 140.00 100% 165.00 165.00 100%

3.2 Computer
      Software 282.51 282.51 100% 282.51 282.51 100%

3.3 Tourism,
      Hotel and
      Restaurants

20.65 20.65 100% 36.34 36.34 100%

3.4 Professional
      Services 1,493.05 1,493.05 100% 1,518.05 1,518.05 100%

3.5 Trade
3.5.1 Wholesale
       Trade (other
       than Food
     Procurement)

564.05 564.05 100% 595.75 595.75 100%

3.5.2 Retail
         Trade 1,979.92 1,979.92 100% 1,979.92 1,979.92 100%

3.6 Others 2,270.50 2,270.50 100% 2,449.13 2,449.13 100%
Total of Services 
(3.1 to 3.6) 6,750.68 6,750.68 100% 7,026.70 7,026.70 100%

Total 12,551.35 12,501.63 99.60% 14,928.24 13,385.95 89.67%

4)	 Intra-group exposures

Particulars For the year ended 31 
March, 2025

For the year ended 31 
March, 2024

(i)	 Total amount of intra-group exposures 49.72 52.47
(ii)	 Total amount of top 20 intra-group exposures 49.72 52.47
(iii)	Percentage of intra-group exposures to total exposure of 

the NBFC on borrowers/customers   0.40% 0.35%
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B)	 Related Party Disclosure

Items/Related 
Party

Key Management
Personnel

Relatives of Key 
Management 

Personnel
Other related party Total

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Current 
year

Previous 
year

Advances 
outstanding as 
at year end - - - - 49.72 52.47 49.72 52.47

Borrowings 
outstanding at 
year end 1,189.06 - - - 606.74 202.04 1,795.80 202.04
Remuneration 
paid 12.35 13.25 40.04 39.32 - - 52.39 52.57

Finance Cost 6.73 - - - 61.15 6.31 67.88 6.31
Interest income 
on loans - - - - 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25

Investments 
held (net of 
provision)

- - - - 3.03 3.03 3.03 3.03

Guarantees 
given on behalf 
of the Holding 
Company

(1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) 2,284.58
(1)

5,290.26
(2)

C)	 Disclosure of complaints
1)	 Summary information on complaints received by the NBFCs from customers and from the Offices of 

Ombudsman

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2024

i) No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year - 1
ii) No. of complaints received during the year 129 129
iii) No. of complaints redressed during the year 129 130
iv) No. of complaints pending at the end of the year - -

2)	 Top five grounds of complaints received by the NBFCs from customers

Grounds of 
Complaints, (i.e. 
complaints
relating to)

Number of 
complaints 
pending at the 
beginning of 
the year

Number of 
complaints 
received 
during the 
year

% increase/ 
decrease in 
the number 
of complaints 
received over the 
previous year

Number of 
complaints 
pending at the 
end of the year

Of total pending, 
number of 
complaints 
pending beyond 
30 days

Current Year
CIBIL - 34 21% - -
Refund - - - - -
CHG-4 - 12 (33)% - -
Settlement - 23 (57)% - -
Withdraw / Legal - - (100)% - -
Others - 60 107% - -
Total - 129 - - -



FINANCIAL SECTION

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25177

Notes forming part of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March, 2025
(All amounts in Indian Rupees (Rs.) in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Grounds of 
Complaints, (i.e. 
complaints
relating to)

Number of 
complaints 
pending at the 
beginning of 
the year

Number of 
complaints 
received 
during the 
year

% increase/ 
decrease in 
the number 
of complaints 
received over the 
previous year

Number of 
complaints 
pending at the 
end of the year

Of total pending, 
number of 
complaints 
pending beyond 
30 days

Previous Year
CIBIL - 28 (47) % - -
Refund - - (100) % - -
CHG-4 - 18 (42) % - -
Settlement 1 53 179 % - -
Withdraw / Legal - 1 (97) % - -
Others - 29 100% - -
Total 1 129 - - -

Note:
The complaints, if any from the shareholders, borrowers or any other party/stakeholder are thoroughly addressed/
investigated/enquired as and when received and necessary action and impact thereof, if any is taken accordingly as 
considered appropriate by the Management. As at the year end, no such impact is required in the financial statements and 
the same if any required will be taken in the period such complaints are suitably/appropriately addressed.
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NOTICE OF 31ST ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the Thirty First Annual General Meeting (AGM / 31st AGM) of the members of INTEC CAPITAL 
LIMITED (“the Company”) will be held on Friday 26th September, 2025 at 12:00 p.m. (IST) through Video Conferencing 
(‘VC’)/Other Audio-Visual Means (‘OAVM’) facility, to transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

Item No. 1: To consider and adopt the Audited Standalone and Consolidated Financial Statement of the Company 
for the Financial Year ended March 31, 2025 together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon. 

To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company which include Standalone and Consolidated 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, Standalone and Consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss for the Financial year ended 
on that date together with schedule(s), annexure(s) and note(s) thereon and the cash flow statement of the Company 
(“Financial Statement”) and the report of the Board of Director(s) (“Board”) and the Statutory Auditor(s) thereon.

Item No. 2: Re-Appointment of Ms. Ursala Joshi (DIN: 08810331) Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director who 
retires by rotation and being eligible, offers herself for re-appointment.

To appoint a director in place of Ms. Ursala Joshi, Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director (DIN: 08810331), who 
retires by rotation and being eligible, offers herself for re-appointment.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

Item No. 3: Appointment of Secretarial Auditors M/S Srishti Singh and Associates, Company Secretaries in Practice 
as Secretarial Auditor of the Company for a Block of Five (5) years starting from FY 01/04/2025 to 31/03/2030:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 204 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013, Rule 
9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 and Regulation 24A of the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI 
Listing Regulations”), other applicable laws/statutory provisions, if any, as amended from time to time, M/s Srishti Singh 
& Associates, Company Secretaries in Practice having Membership No.50820 and COP No. 21900 be and is hereby 
appointed as Secretarial Auditors of the Company for term of five consecutive years commencing from financial year 2025-
26 till financial year 2029-30, at such fees, plus applicable taxes and other out of pocket expenses as may be mutually 
agreed upon between the Board of Directors of the Company and the Secretarial Auditors. 

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the Company be and is hereby authorized to take all such steps and 
to do all such acts, deeds, and things as may be deemed necessary, proper, or expedient to give effect to this resolution.”

Item No. 4: To Consider, Approve the Revision in the Remuneration of Mr. Dhruv Goel as The Chief Manager 
(Finance & Legal) of the Company as a Material Related Party Transaction:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) read with Rule 15 of The 
Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 and other applicable provisions and rules issued under the 
Act (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in force), Regulation 23 and other 
applicable provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, the Company’s Policy on “Materiality of Related Party Transactions and also on dealing with Related 
Party Transactions” and all other applicable laws and regulations, as amended, supplemented or re-enacted from time to 
time, and pursuant to the consent of the Audit Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Board of 
Directors of the Company, the approval of the members of the Company be and is hereby accorded to the Board of Directors 
to revise the remuneration of Mr. Dhruv Goel a related party within the meaning of Section 2(76) of the Act and Regulation 
2(1)(zb) of the Listing Regulations, provided that the said transactions are entered into/ carried out on arm’s length basis 
and on such terms and conditions as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors (including any authorised 
Committee thereof) up to an amount not exceeding Rs. 5,00,000/- per month (Rupees Five Lakhs Only.) aggregating to Rs. 
60,00,000/- (Rupees Sixty Lacs) per annum in one or more tranches.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT pursuant to the provisions of Regulation 23 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR”), consent of the members be and is hereby accorded to the following 
transaction:
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S. No. Particulars Details

a. 
Name of the related party and its 
relationship with the listed entity or its 
subsidiary, including nature of its concern 
or interest (financial or otherwise);

Mr. Dhruv Goel, also a Relative of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing 
Director of the Company, holding place of profit in the Company 
as Chief Manager (Finance & Legal).

b.
Name of the director or key managerial 
personnel who is related, if any and 
nature of relationship

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the Company.

c.
Nature, material terms, monetary 
value and particulars of contracts or 
arrangement

To authorized the Board of Directors to revise the monthly 
remuneration not exceeding Rs. 5,00,000/- (Rupees Five Lakhs 
Only) in one or more traches.

d. Tenure of the transaction Until Termination/Resignation
e. Value of the proposed Transaction Upto Rs. 60,00,000/- (Rupees Sixty Lakhs Only)

f.
Percentage of annual consolidated 
turnover considering FY24 as the 
immediately preceding financial year

16.80%

2. Justification as to why the RPT is in the interest of 
the listed entity

Mr. Dhruv Goel possesses unique skills, institutional knowledge, 
and experience that are vital for the Company’s growth and 
development. An increase in remuneration is necessary to 
ensure his continued motivation and retention, preventing the 
loss of a valuable asset to competitors, which could lead to 
significant disruption and costs for the Company.

3. Details of transaction relating to any loans, inter-corporate deposits, advances or investments made or given by the 
listed entity or its subsidiary: 

(i) details of the source of funds in 
connection with the proposed transaction

      

      Not Applicable

(ii)

where any financial indebtedness is 
incurred to make or give loans, inter-
corporate deposits, advances or 
investments - nature of indebtedness; - 
cost of funds; and – tenure

(iii)
applicable terms, including covenants, 
tenure, interest rate and repayment 
schedule, whether secured or unsecured; 
if secured, the nature of security

(iv)
the purpose for which the funds will be 
utilized by the ultimate beneficiary of 
such funds pursuant to the RPT

4. Any valuation or other external report relied upon 
by the listed entity in relation to the transactions -

5. Percentage of the counter-party’s annual 
consolidated turnover that is represented by the 
value of the proposed RPT, on a voluntary basis

-

6. Any other information that may be relevant: -
7. any advance paid or received for the contract or 
arrangement, if any: Not Applicable

8. The manner of determining the pricing and other 
commercial terms both included as part of contract 
and not considered as part of the contract

As per industry norms

9. Whether all factors relevant to the contract have 
been considered, if not, the details of factors not 
considered with the rationale for not considering 
those factors

All relevant factors have been considered.
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the HR-Head of the Company and any of the Director(s) and/or Key Managerial Personnel of 
the Company be and are hereby authorized to do all such acts, deeds and things which are necessary to give effect to the 
upward revision of remuneration of Mr. Dhruv Goel as specified in the aforesaid resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Any of the director(s) and/or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company, be and are hereby 
severally authorised to file the necessary returns with applicable authorities, to obtain necessary approvals, if any and to 
do all such acts, deeds and things and to sign all such documents, papers and writings as may be necessary to give effect 
to the resolution.”

Item No. 5: To Consider, Approve the Revision in the Remuneration of Mr. Pranav Goel as The Chief Manager (IT & 
Infra) of the Company as a Material Related Party Transaction:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as an Ordinary 
Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) and other applicable 
provisions read with read with Rule 15 of The Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 and other 
applicable rules issued under the Act (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in 
force), Regulation 23 and other applicable provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company’s Policy on “Materiality of Related Party Transactions and 
also on dealing with Related Party Transactions” and all other applicable laws and regulations, as amended, supplemented 
or re-enacted from time to time, and pursuant to the consent of the Audit Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and Board of Directors of the Company, the approval of the members of the Company be and is hereby accorded 
to the Board of Directors to revise the remuneration of Mr. Pranav Goel, a related party within the meaning of Section 2(76) 
of the Act and Regulation 2(1)(zb) of the Listing Regulations, provided that the said transactions are entered into/ carried 
out on arm’s length basis and on such terms and conditions as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors 
(including any authorised Committee thereof) up to an amount not exceeding Rs. 5,00,000/- per month (Rupees Five Lakhs 
Only.) aggregating to Rs. 60,00,000/- (Rupees Sixty Lacs) per annum in one or more tranches.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT pursuant to the provisions of Regulation 23 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR”), consent of the members be and is hereby accorded to the following 
transaction:

S. No. Particulars Details

a. 
Name of the related party and its relationship with the 
listed entity or its subsidiary, including nature of its 
concern or interest (financial or otherwise);

Mr. Pranav Goel, a Relative of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, 
Managing Director of the Company, holding place 
of profit in the Company as Chief Manager (IT & 
Infra).

b. Name of the director or key managerial personnel who is 
related, if any and nature of relationship

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director of the 
Company.

c. Nature, material terms, monetary value and particulars of 
contracts or arrangement

To authorized the Board of Directors to revise the 
monthly remuneration not exceeding Rs. 5,00,000/- 
(Rupees Five Lakhs Only) in one or more tranches.

d. Tenure of the transaction Until Termination/Resignation

e. Value of the proposed Transaction Upto Rs. 60,00,000/- (Rupees Sixty Lakhs Only)

f. Percentage of annual consolidated turnover considering 
FY24 as the immediately preceding financial year 16.80%
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2. Justification as to why the RPT is in the interest of the listed 
entity

Mr. Pranav Goel possesses unique skills, 
institutional knowledge, and experience that are 
vital for the Company’s growth and development. 
An increase in remuneration is necessary to ensure 
his continued motivation and retention, preventing 
the loss of a valuable asset to competitors, which 
could lead to significant disruption and costs for the 
Company.

3. Details of transaction relating to any loans, inter-corporate deposits, advances or investments made or given by the 
listed entity or its subsidiary: 

(i) details of the source of funds in connection with the 
proposed transaction

      

 Not Applicable(ii)
where any financial indebtedness is incurred to make 
or give loans, inter-corporate deposits, advances or 
investments - nature of indebtedness; - cost of funds; 
and – tenure

(iii)
applicable terms, including covenants, tenure, interest 
rate and repayment schedule, whether secured or 
unsecured; if secured, the nature of security

(iv) the purpose for which the funds will be utilized by the 
ultimate beneficiary of such funds pursuant to the RPT

4. Any valuation or other external report relied upon by the listed 
entity in relation to the transactions

-

5. Percentage of the counter-party’s annual consolidated 
turnover that is represented by the value of the proposed RPT, 
on a voluntary basis

-

6. Any other information that may be relevant: -

7. any advance paid or received for the contract or arrangement, 
if any:

Not Applicable

8. The manner of determining the pricing and other commercial 
terms both included as part of contract and not considered as part 
of the contract

As per industry norms

9. Whether all factors relevant to the contract have been 
considered, if not, the details of factors not considered with the 
rationale for not considering those factors

All relevant factors have been considered.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the HR-Head of the Company and any of the Director(s) and/or Key Managerial Personnel of 
the Company be and are hereby authorized to do all such acts, deeds and things which are necessary to give effect to the 
upward revision of remuneration of Mr. Pranav Goel as specified in the aforesaid resolution.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Any of the director(s) and/or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company, be and are hereby 
severally authorised to file the necessary returns with applicable authorities, to obtain necessary approvals, if any and to 
do all such acts, deeds and things and to sign all such documents, papers and writings as may be necessary to give effect 
to the resolution.”

Item No. 6: Approving the payment of Remuneration to Mr. Sanjeev Goel (DIN: 00028702), Managing Director for 
three (3) Financial Years i.e. for Financial 2025–2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028 and approval of it as material 
related party transaction:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification(s), the following Resolution as a Special Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT superseding all earlier resolution, pursuant to the provisions of Section 196, 197 & 198 of the Companies 
Act,2013 read with Schedule–V and other applicable provisions, if any of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules,2014 (including any statutory modification(s) 
or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force), Regulation 23 and other applicable provisions of the Securities and 
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Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company’s Policy on 
“Materiality of Related Party Transactions and also on dealing with Related Party Transactions” and any other applicable 
provisions and subject to such permissions, consents and approvals from various authorities as may be required and subject 
to such conditions, if any, that may be imposed by any authority while granting their permissions, on recommendation of 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC), Audit Committee and approval of the Board, the Approval of the Members 
of the Company be and is hereby accorded for payment of Remuneration to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director for the 
three (3) Financial Years i.e. for Financial Year 2025–2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028, a related party within the meaning 
of Regulation 2(1)(zb) of the Listing Regulations, to the extent of 5% of Net Profit subject to maximum of Rs. 150 Lakhs 
per annum including salary, all allowances and perquisites but does not include the sitting fees and other reimbursements 
and while paying such remuneration it may exceeds the limits of 5% of Net Profit as at end of respective Financial Year as 
prescribed in second proviso of Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 and shall be within the limits of 11% of Net Profit 
for that respective financial year however it shall also be within the limits as fixed by the shareholders in ensuing 31st Annual 
General Meeting and wherever Schedule–V is applicable it shall be within the limits as prescribed in Schedule–V of the 
Companies Act, 2013 based on Effective Capital as at the beginning of respective Financial Year. If the salary so payable 
exceeds the 11% limits as prescribed in Section 197 or limits as prescribed in Schedule–V wherever applicable, then 
the same will be subject to such necessary approvals, permission as may be required including prior approval of Central 
Government or approval of Central Government for waiver of recovery of excess remuneration paid to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, 
Managing Director for that respective Financial Year. 

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT pursuant to the provisions of Regulation 23 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR”), consent of the members be and is hereby accorded to the following 
transaction:

S. 
No. Particulars Details

a. 
Name of the related party and its relationship with the listed 
entity or its subsidiary, including nature of its concern or 
interest (financial or otherwise);

Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Promoter of the Company, 
holding place of profit at workplace in the capacity 
of Managing Director of the Company.

b.
Name of the director or key managerial personnel who is 
related, if any and nature of relationship Not applicable 

c. Nature, material terms, monetary value and particulars of 
contracts or arrangement

Upto Monthly remuneration not exceeding Rs. 
12,50,000/- (Rupees Twelve Lakhs and Fifty 
Thousand Only), in one or more tranches

d. Tenure of the proposed transaction FY 2025-26, 2026-27 and 2027-28

e. Value of the proposed Transaction Upto Rs. 1,50,00,000/- (Rupees One Crore and 
Fifty Lakhs Only)

f. Percentage of annual consolidated turnover considering 
FY25 as the immediately preceding financial year 42.02%

2. Justification as to why the RPT is in the interest of the listed 
entity Mr. Sanjeev Goel is a founder and Promoter 

Director and is actively associated with the 
development of the Company from its inception. 
The Board Director is desirous that his valuable 
services may be continued to be utilized for the 
benefit of the Company. 
Mr. Sanjeev Goel possesses unique skills, 
institutional knowledge, and experience that are 
vital for the Company’s growth and development. 
An increase in remuneration is necessary to 
ensure his continued motivation and retention, 
preventing the loss of a valuable asset to 
competitors, which could lead to significant 
disruption and costs for the Company.

3. Details of transaction relating to any loans, inter-corporate deposits, advances or investments made or given by the 
listed entity or its subsidiary:
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(i) details of the source of funds in connection with 
the proposed transaction

      

      Not Applicable(ii)

where any financial indebtedness is incurred 
to make or give loans, inter-corporate 
deposits, advances or investments - nature of 
indebtedness; - cost of funds; and – tenure

(iii)

applicable terms, including covenants, tenure, 
interest rate and repayment schedule, whether 
secured or unsecured; if secured, the nature of 
security

(iv)
the purpose for which the funds will be utilized by 
the ultimate beneficiary of such funds pursuant 
to the RPT

4. Any valuation or other external report relied upon by 
the listed entity in relation to the transactions

-

5. Percentage of the counter-party’s annual 
consolidated turnover that is represented by the value 
of the proposed RPT, on a voluntary basis

-

6. Any other information that may be relevant: -
7. any advance paid or received for the contract or 
arrangement, if any: Not Applicable

8. The manner of determining the pricing and other 
commercial terms both included as part of contract and 
not considered as part of the contract

As per industry norms

9. Whether all factors relevant to the contract have been 
considered, if not, the details of factors not considered 
with the rationale for not considering those factors

All relevant factors have been considered.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT save and except as aforesaid, the Special Resolution approved and passed by the Members 
in its meeting held on September 26th, 2024 with respect to the appointment of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, as Managing Director for 
a further period of five years shall continue to remain in full force and effect.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any of the Directors of the Company and/or any Key Managerial Personnel of the company, 
be and are hereby singly and/or jointly authorized to sign necessary forms and returns as may be necessary / required to 
be filed with The Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi and Haryana and to do all such acts, deed and things as may be 
deemed necessary to give effect to the foregoing resolution.

Registered Office:
708, Manjusha, 57 Nehru Place,      
New Delhi – 110019 
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410     
Email: complianceofficer@inteccapital.com                                                                                                                      

       By Order of the Board of Directors
  For Intec Capital Limited 

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 20, 2025 

Sd/-
Niharika Gupta

(Company Secretary & Compliance Officer)
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Explanatory Statement in Respect of Items of Ordinary Business:

Item No.2:

Pursuant to the terms of Regulation 36 of the Listing Regulations and Secretarial Standards-2 on General Meetings, in 
respect of the Director seeking appointment/ proposed for re-appointment at this AGM the disclosure is as follows:

Particulars Details
Name of the Director Ms. Ursala Joshi
DIN 08810331

Date of Birth and Age 22/03/1957; 
68 years

Date of Appointment 14/08/2024
Qualification Graduate

Experience in Specific Functional Area

Knowledge in the field of Administrative & Secretarial up-keep in 
systematic manner, of the confidential documents and retrieval 
thereof, Worked with the organizations of repute i.e; Tata Export 
and later on for over 35 years with Times of India, an enlarged 
experience in the understanding of Corporate matters.

Other Directorship held in other Companies as on 
March 31, 2025 -ARTH UDYOG LIMITED

Terms & Conditions of re-appointment Re-appointment as Non-Executive and Non-Independent 
Director as per existing terms and conditions.

Member/Chairman of Committee of the Board of 
other Companies on which she is a director
Relation with any other Directors and KMPs of the 
Company No relation with existing Board of Directors

Listed entities from which the person has resigned 
in the past three years NIL

Number of shares held in the Company (as on 
March 31, 2025) 0

None of the Directors or their relatives, are concerned or interested, financially or otherwise, in the resolution.

The Board recommends the resolution set out at Item No. 2 for the approval of the members as an Ordinary Resolution.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT CONTAINING MATERIAL FACTS PURSUANT TO SECTION 102 OF THE COMPANIES 
ACT, 2013 READ WITH PARA 1.2.5 OF SECRETARIAL STANDARD ON GENERAL MEETINGS:

Item No. 3:

Pursuant to Section 204(1) and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 9 of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, as amended, every listed company 
shall annex with its Board’s Report made in terms of Section 134(3), a secretarial audit report, given by a company 
secretary in practice, in such form as may be prescribed. In addition to the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013, the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) (Third Amendment) Regulations, 2024 dated 12th December, 
2024 mandates that every listed entity and its material unlisted subsidiaries incorporated in India shall undertake 
Secretarial Audit by a Secretarial Auditor who shall be a Peer Reviewed Company Secretary and shall annex a Secretarial 
Audit Report in such form as specified, with the annual report of the listed entity. Besides, such appointment shall be 
approved by the Members of the Company at the Annual General Meeting.

As per the recent amendment to Regulation 24A of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”), effective from April 1, 2025, the appointment of Secretarial Auditor(s) shall be 
approved by the Shareholders at Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The tenure of the Secretarial Auditor in case of an individual Company Secretary in Practice should be for a maximum 
of one (1) term of five (5) consecutive years; or, in case of a Firm of Company Secretaries in Practice, for a maximum of 
two (2) terms of five (5) consecutive years. However, any prior association of the individual or the firm as the Secretarial 
Auditor of the Company before March 31, 2025, shall not be considered for the purpose of calculating the term of five 
years or ten years, as the case may be.
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 In compliance with the applicable laws and based on the recommendations of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors, 
at its meeting held on 20th August, 2025, approved the appointment of M/s Srishti Singh  and Associates as the Secretarial 
Auditor of the Company for a term of five consecutive years commencing from FY 2025-26 to FY 2029-30, subject to the 
approval of the Members at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The appointment was recommended following a 
thorough evaluation of various proposals and key factors such as independence, industry experience, technical expertise 
and the quality of past audit reports. Ms. Srishti Singh (ACS No. 50820 and COP No. 21900), is an Associate member of 
the Institute of Company Secretaries of India and also holds Bachelor Degree in Commerce and Law. She is in practise in 
the field of Company Law matters for more than 8 years. She has adequate exposure in attending to other matters in the 
field of FEMA, Company Law Board, appearance before Regional Director, etc. 
In accordance with Regulation 24A of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 2015, she holds a valid 
certificate issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India. She has been providing professional services to listed 
companies and has a proven track record of maintaining high standards of governance and regulatory compliance. Ms. 
Srishti Singh has given her consent to be appointed as the Secretarial Auditor of the Company confirming that she does 
not incur any disqualification specified under SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CFD-PoD-2/CIR/P/2024/185 dated 31st 
December, 2024 and that he shall not render any restricted services stated therein to the Company, its holding and subsidiary 
companies to ensure independence and avoid conflict of interest. The Board believes that appointment of Ms. Srishti Singh 
will provide an independent and expert evaluation of the Company’s corporate governance, regulatory compliance, and 
secretarial functions, thereby ensuring adherence to statutory requirements. The proposed remuneration to be paid to Ms. 
Srishti Singh for her Secretarial Audit services is ₹ 50,000 per annum plus applicable taxes for the FY 2025-26 and out of 
pocket expenses that may be incurred and for the subsequent financial years it may be decided by the Board of Directors.. 
In compliance with Regulation 24A of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as 
amended, consent of the Members is being sought for passing an Ordinary Resolution for the appointment of Ms. Srishti 
Singh as the Secretarial Auditor of the Company. The Board recommends the Ordinary Resolution set out at item No. 3 in 
the accompanying notice for approval by the members. 
None of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and their relatives are, in any way, concerned or interested, financially or 
otherwise, in the resolution set out at Item No. 3 of the Notice.
Item No. 4:
Mr. Dhruv Goel, currently designated as Chief manager (Finance & Legal), of the Company and is a relative of Mr. Sanjeev 
Goel, the Managing Director of the Company, within the meaning of Section 2(77) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 
4 of the Companies (Specification of Definitions Details) Rules, 2014.
Pursuant to the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and in line with the Company’s internal 
compensation policies and prevailing industry standards, the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 20th August 2025 
recommended to the shareholders to authorize the Board of Directors  to increase in the remuneration of Mr. Dhruv 
Goel, a related party within the meaning of Section 2(76) of the Act and Regulation 2(1)(zb) of the Listing Regulations, 
provided that the said transactions are entered into/ carried out on arm’s length basis and on such terms and conditions 
as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors (including any authorised Committee thereof) to an amount 
not exceeding Rs. 5,00,000/- per month (Rupees Five Lakhs Only.) in one or more tranches. s per Rule 15(3)(b)(ii) of the 
Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014, read with Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013, where 
the remuneration payable to a relative of a director exceeds the prescribed limits, the transaction is considered a related 
party transaction and requires prior approval of the shareholders by an ordinary resolution, even if it is in the ordinary 
course of business and at arm’s length.
Accordingly, the approval of the members is being sought for the proposed remuneration increase.
Details as required under Rule 15 of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014:

Particulars Details
Name of the related party Mr. Dhruv Goel
Name of the director or KMP related Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director
Relationship with director/KMP  Son 
Nature of transaction Increase in remuneration
Existing Remuneration ₹30,00,000 per annum
Proposed Remuneration Upto ₹ 60,00,000 per annum
Justification Based on performance review and benchmarking with industry standards
Nature and duration of contract Employment contract; existing and continuing employment
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None of the Directors, except Mr. Sanjeev Goel being related to the employee concerned, or their relatives, are concerned 
or interested, financially or otherwise, in the resolution.

The Board recommends the resolution set out at Item No. 4 for the approval of the members as an Ordinary Resolution.

Item No. 5:

Mr. Pranav Goel, currently designated as Chief manager (IT & Infra), of the Company and is a relative of Mr. Sanjeev Goel. 
the Managing Director of the Company, within the meaning of Section 2(77) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 4 of 
the Companies (Specification of Definitions Details) Rules, 2014.

Pursuant to the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and in line with the Company’s internal 
compensation policies and prevailing industry standards, the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 20th August 2025 
recommended to the shareholders to authorize the Board of Directors  to increase in the remuneration of Mr. Pranav 
Goel, a related party within the meaning of Section 2(76) of the Act and Regulation 2(1)(zb) of the Listing Regulations, 
provided that the said transactions are entered into/ carried out on arm’s length basis and on such terms and conditions as 
may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors (including any authorised Committee thereof) to an amount not 
exceeding Rs. 5,00,000/- per month (Rupees Five Lakhs Only.) in one or more tranches.

As per Rule 15(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014, read with Section 188 of 
the Companies Act, 2013, where the remuneration payable to a relative of a director exceeds the prescribed limits, the 
transaction is considered a related party transaction and requires prior approval of the shareholders by an ordinary 
resolution, even if it is in the ordinary course of business and at arm’s length.

Accordingly, the approval of the members is being sought for the proposed remuneration increase.

Details as required under Rule 15 of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014:

Particulars Details
Name of the related party Mr. Pranav Goel
Name of the director or KMP related Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director
Relationship with director/KMP  Son 
Nature of transaction Increase in remuneration
Existing Remuneration ₹30,00,000 per annum
Proposed Remuneration Upto ₹ 60,00,000 per annum
Justification Based on performance review and benchmarking with industry standards
Nature and duration of contract Employment contract; existing and continuing employment

None of the Directors, except Mr. Sanjeev Goel being related to the employee concerned, or their relatives, are concerned 
or interested, financially or otherwise, in the resolution.

The Board recommends the resolution set out at Item No. 4 for the approval of the members as an Ordinary Resolution.

Item no. 6

Mr. Sanjeev Goel was re-appointed as Managing Director of the Company by shareholders on 26th   September 2024 for a 
period of 5 years starting from 1st April, 2025 and ending on 31st March, 2030. 

Your director is desirous that his valuable services may be continued to be utilized for the benefit of the Company. Mr. Goel 
is a Chartered Accountant and holds a Master’s Degree in International Finance from the University of IOWA. The profile of 
Mr. Goel is available at company website viz. www.inteccapital.com

Mr. Sanjeev Goel is a founder and Promoter Director and is actively associated with the development of the Company from 
its inception. The shareholder of the company in its 27th AGM had approved the remuneration of Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing 
Director as Rs. 150 Lacs per Annum under the companies Act 2013 for three (3) the Financial Years viz. 2022 – 2023, 2023-
24 and 2024-2025.

Now company has asked the approval of shareholders for proposed remuneration for three (3 viz. Financial Year 2025–
2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028 by superseding its earlier resolution of members passed 15th  September 2021.

Pursuant to the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, Board of Directors and 
in line with the Company’s internal compensation policies and prevailing industry standards, the Board of Directors at its 
meeting held on 20th August 2025 recommended to the shareholders proposal for payment of Remuneration to Mr. Sanjeev 
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Goel, Managing Director for the three (3) Financial Years i.e. for Financial Year 2025–2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028, a 
related party within the meaning of Regulation 2(1)(zb) of the Listing Regulations, provided that the said transactions are 
entered into/ carried out on arm’s length basis and carried on such terms and conditions as may be considered appropriate 
by the Board of Directors (including any authorised Committee thereof) to an amount not exceeding Rs. 12,50,000/- per 
month (Rupees Twelve Lakhs and Fifty Thousand Only).

The following additional information as required by Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013 is given below:

I.	 General Information: 

Nature of Industry: Providing Financial Services. 

Date of commencement of commercial operation: The Company was incorporated on 15th February, 1994 as Intec 
Securities Private Limited. 

In case of new companies, expected date of commencement of activities as per project approved by financial 
institutions appearing in the prospectus: not Applicable 

Financial Performance: 

Particulars 2024-25 2023-24 2022-23
Total Income 436.53 Lakhs 379.68 Lakhs 958.28 Lakhs
Computation of Net Profit in accordance with 
Section 198 of the Companies Act, 2013 30.04 Lakhs (1,369.10) Lakhs (2,663.69) Lakhs

Net Worth 3578.9Lakhs 3550.23Lakhs 4917.22 Lakhs

     Now company has asked the approval of shareholders for proposed remuneration in three (3) the Financial Years viz. 
Financial Year 2025–2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028 by superseding all its earlier resolutions

II.	 Information about the Appointee: 

(1) 	 Background Details: Mr. Sanjeev Goel, aged 61 years, is a Fellow member of Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India and has done MBA from university of IOWA (USA). He has total work experience of 27 years in the 
financial sector. 

(2)	  Past remuneration: On the recommendation of the Nomination Committee and Board of Directors, the 
shareholders in its 27th Annual General Meeting held on 15th September 2021 had approved the remuneration 
payable to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director for the three (3) financial year’s viz. Financial Year 2022–2023, 
2023–2024 and 2024– 2025 for the maximum amount of Rs. 150 Lakhs per annum (One Hundred and Fifty 
Lakhs). 

(3)	  Job profile and his suitability, recognition or awards: Mr. Sanjeev Goel is Chartered Accountant by qualification 
and is contributing and advising on the corporate, legal and financial affairs of the Company. He plays a vital role 
in the management and administration of the affairs of the Company. under his superior efforts and pragmatic 
leadership the Company has progressed steadily. 

(4) 	 Remuneration Proposed: The proposed remuneration is Rs. 150 Lacs (Rupees One Hundred Lacs Only) per 
annum (same is set out in the Special Resolution in the Notice of this ensuing Annual General Meeting). 

(5) 	 Comparative remuneration profile with respect to industry, size of the company, profile of the position and person 
(in case of expatriates the relevant details would be w.r.t. the country of his origin): Taking into consideration the 
size of the Company, the profile of Mr. Sanjeev Goel and the responsibilities shouldered by him, the aforesaid 
remuneration package is commensurate with the remuneration packages paid to managerial position in other 
Companies. 

(6) 	 Pecuniary relationship directly or indirectly with the company, or relationship with managerial personnel, if any: 
Besides, the remuneration proposed, Mr. Sanjeev Goel does not have any other pecuniary relationship either 
with the Company or with its Managerial Personnel. 

III.	 Other Information: 

(1)	  Reasons of loss or inadequate profits: Due to current business environment & challenges incurred by the 
business in its operations

(2) 	 Steps taken or proposed to be taken for improvement: The Company takes various steps on a regular basis for 
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improving efficiency in the recoveries. Further, the management has adopted focused business strategies and 
planning how to resolve the NPA pool. 

(3)	  Expected increase in productivity and profits in measurable terms: The Company’s productivity is expected to 
increase with improvement in key process like disbursements, operations etc., automation of processes with 
higher usage of information technology, improvement in collection efficiency. However, it is difficult at this stage 
to quantify the benefits of the measures taken / to be taken by the Company to improve the overall performance.

IV.	 Disclosures 

(1) The disclosure on remuneration package payable to the Managing Director contained in the above notice. 

(2) The Additional information is given in Corporate Governance report. 

On the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the Board of Directors in its meeting held on 20th August 2025 
had approved the remuneration payable to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director for the three (3) financial year’s 
viz. Financial Year 2025–2026, 2026–2027 and 2027–2028 for the maximum amount of Rs. 150 Lakhs per annum 
(One Hundred and Fifty Lakhs) as set out in the special resolution of this ensuing 31st Annual General Meeting for 
the approval of shareholders. This statement may also be regarded as a disclosure under SEBI (LODR), 2015 of the 
Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges. 

The Shareholding details of Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director as on 31st March 2025:

Name of shareholder No. of shares held % age of shares held

Sanjeev Goel 644464 3.51

(Escrow account)- India Business Excellence 
Fund-II 600000 3.27

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that re-appointment and remuneration to Mr. Sanjeev Goel, Managing Director 
Aged 61 years is properly justified, considering his contributions in the growth of the Company as explained above, and 
in terms of the Provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 a Special Resolution for Remuneration is proposed. In his capacity 
as Managing Director, Mr. Goel is managing the day to day business and financial operations of the Company with the 
purpose of increasing shareholder value; manage the efficient operations of the Company and coordinate effective 
interaction between the Company’s various structural divisions and departments, ensuring the proper development and 
improvement of their performance; work to improve the Company’s performance; growth of sales and profit, quality and 
competitiveness of the Company’s product, product compliance with world standards, growth of domestic (and world) 
market share; and satisfying customer demands; or such other roles and responsibilities as may be assigned to him by 
the Board from time to time. Mr. Sanjeev Goel is not disqualified from being appointed as Director in terms of Section 
164 of the Act. 

The Board of Directors recommends the passing of the Special Resolution contained in Item no. 6 of the accompanying 
notice for the approval by Shareholders. 

None of the Directors / KMP’s of the Company / their relatives are, in any way, concerned or interested, financially or 
otherwise, in this resolution except Mr. Sanjeev Goel Managing Director. Mr. Sanjeev Goel being interested director 
cannot chair the meeting for this business transaction. 

The above explanatory statement (together with Annexure thereto) shall be construed to be memorandum setting out 
the terms of the appointment/re-appointment as specified under Section 190 of the Companies Act, 2013.
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NOTES:

1.	 The Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to Item nos. 
2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of the Notice is annexed hereto and forms part of this Notice.. The relevant details as set out under 
Item Nos. 2 of the Notice pursuant to Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”) and Secretarial Standard - 2 on General Meetings issued by the Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India (“ICSI”) in respect of the Director seeking re-appointment and appointment at this AGM 
are also annexed to this Notice.

2.	 Pursuant to General Circular No. 20/2020 dated 5th May, 2020 issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) read 
together with MCA General Circular Nos. 14 & 17/2020 dated 8th April, 2020 and 13th April, 2020 respectively and 
MCA General Circular No. 09/2024 dated 19th September, 2024 (“MCA Circulars”), the Company will be conducting this 
Annual General Meeting (“AGM” or “Meeting”) through Video Conferencing/Other Audio Visual Means (“VC”/“OAVM”). 

3.	 Pursuant to the above-mentioned MCA Circulars, physical attendance of the Members is not required at the AGM, and 
attendance of the Members through VC/OAVM will be counted for the purpose of reckoning the quorum under section 
103 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”).

4.	 Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, a Member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint a Proxy to 
attend and vote on his/her behalf and the Proxy need not be a Member of the Company. Since this AGM is being held 
through VC/OAVM, pursuant to the applicable MCA Circulars read with Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”) 
Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CFD-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/133 dated October 3, 2024 physical attendance of Members has 
been dispensed with. Accordingly, the facility for appointment of Proxies by the Members will not be available for the 
AGM and hence the Proxy Form and Attendance Slip are not annexed to this Notice.

5.	 In accordance with the Secretarial Standard - 2 on General Meetings issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries 
of India (“ICSI”) read with Clarification/Guidance on applicability of Secretarial Standards - 1 and 2 dated 15th April, 
2020 issued by the ICSI, the proceedings of the AGM shall be deemed to be conducted at the Registered Office of the 
Company which shall be the deemed venue of the AGM. Since the AGM will be held through VC/OAVM, the Route Map 
is not annexed to this Notice

6.	 Members are informed that in case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such joint holder who is higher in the 
order of the names will be entitled to vote at the meeting. 

7.	 In compliance with the aforementioned provisions of the Act and Listing Regulations, electronic copy of the Annual 
Report for the Financial Year 2024-2025 is being sent to all the Members whose e-mail addresses are registered with 
the Company / Depository Participant(s) for communication purposes.

	 In case any Member is desirous of obtaining hard copy of the Annual Report for the Financial Year 2024-2025 and 
Notice of the 31st AGM of the Company, may send request to the Company’s e-mail address at complianceofficer@
inteccapital.com mentioning Folio No./DP ID and Client ID.

	 Members who would like to express their views/ ask questions as a speaker at the Meeting may pre-register themselves 
by sending a request from their registered e-mail address mentioning their names, DP ID and Client ID/ folio number, 
PAN and mobile number at complianceofficer@inteccapital.com on or before Thursday, September 18, 2025. Only 
those Members who have pre-registered themselves as a speaker will be allowed to express their views/ask questions 
during the AGM. The Company reserves the right to restrict the number of speakers depending on the availability of time 
for the AGM.

8.	 Pursuant to Section 113 of the Act, institutional / corporate members are requested to send a duly certified copy of the 
Board Resolution authorizing their representative to attend and vote at the AGM, before e-voting / attending AGM, to 
complianceofficer@inteccapital.com.

9.	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Act read with Rule 20 of the Companies (Management and Administration) 
Rules, 2014 (as amended), Secretarial Standard on General Meetings (SS-2) issued by the Institute of the Company 
Secretaries of India (“ICSI”), Regulation 44 of Listing Regulations 2015, and the Circulars issued by the MCA dated 
April 8, 2020, April 13, 2020 and May 5, 2020 the Company is providing facility of remote e-voting to its Members in 
respect of the business to be transacted at the 31st AGM to those Members participating in the 31st AGM to cast vote 
through e-voting system during the AGM. For this purpose, the Company has entered into an agreement with Central 
Depository Services (India) Limited (“CDSL”) for facilitating voting through electronic means, as the authorised agency. 
The facility of casting votes by a member using remote e-voting system as well as e-voting on the date of the AGM will 
be provided by CDSL.

10.	 The Board of Directors of the Company has appointed Mr. Priyank Kukreja, (M. No. A40585 and Certificate of Practice 
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No. 19465), Practicing Company Secretaries as Scrutinizer for conducting the voting process of remote e-voting and 
e-voting during AGM in a fair and transparent manner. The Scrutinizer shall submit his / her report, to the Chairman or 
any person authorized by him, on the voting in favour or against, if any, within two working days from the conclusion of 
the Meeting. The results declared along with the consolidated Scrutinizer’s Report of the meeting shall be placed on the 
website of the Company at https://www.inteccapital.com/investors/shareholders-notices-and-voting-results/agmegm-
notices-and-results/. The results shall simultaneously be communicated to the Stock Exchange and on CDSL’s website 
www.evotingindia.com, immediately after the result is declared by the Chairman.

11.	 The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and their shareholding maintained under Section 170 
of the Act, the Register of Contracts or Arrangements in which the Directors are interested under Section 189 of the Act 
and all other documents referred to in the Notice can be inspected in electronic mode by sending a request on email to 
complianceofficer@inteccapital.com.

12.	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 91 of the Act the register of members and share transfer books of the Company 
will remain closed from Saturday, September 20, 2025 to Friday, September 26, 2025 (both days inclusive) for the 
purpose of the AGM.

13.	 Members holding shares in electronic form are advised to keep the bank details updated with the respective Depositories, 
viz., NSDL and CDSL. Member holding shares in physical form are requested to update bank details with the Company’s 
Registrar and Share Transfer Agents viz., M/s Beetal Financial & Computer Services Pvt. Ltd. 99 Madangir, Behind LSC 
New Delhi -110062.

14.	 Members who have not yet registered their e-mail addresses and mobile numbers are requested to update the said 
details in the records of the relevant depositories (National Securities Depository Limited / Central Depository Services 
(India) Limited) through their depository participants (Or) may contact the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent, M/s Beetal 
Financial & Computer Services Pvt. Ltd. 99 Madangir, Behind LSC New Delhi -110062, Telephone: 011-29961281-283 
, 26051061, 26051064, E-mail: beetalrta@gmail.com for receiving any documents / communication from the Company.

15.	 SEBI has mandated that securities of listed companies can be transferred only in dematerialised form. In view of the 
above and to avail various benefits of dematerialisation, Members are advised to dematerialise shares held by them in 
physical form, for ease in portfolio management.

16.	 Members may note that the Notice of AGM and the Annual Report for the financial year 2024-2025 will also be available 
on the Company’s website www.inteccapital.com, websites of the Stock Exchanges i.e. BSE Limited at www.bseindia.
com and on the website of CDSL www.evotingindia.com. For any communication in this regard, including the requirement 
of physical copy of Annual Report, members may send their request letters to complianceofficer@inteccapital.com / 
beetalrta@gmail.com. 

17.	 Members may join the 31st AGM through VC Facility by following the procedure as mentioned below in the notice, which 
shall be kept open for the Members from 11:45 A.M. IST i.e. 15 minutes before the time scheduled to start the 31st 
AGM and the Company may close the window for joining the VC Facility, 15 minutes after the scheduled time to start 
the 31st  AGM. Attendance of members will be counted as the members who have successfully logged in through VC or 
OAVM and shall be counted for the purpose of reckoning of the quorum under section 103 of the Act. 

18.	 Relevant documents referred to in the notice will also be available for electronic inspection without any fees by the 
members from the date of this notice upto the date of the meeting. 

19.	 The Remote e-voting starts at 10.00 A.M. on Tuesday, 23rd September 2025 and ends at 05.00 P.M. on Thursday, 
25th September, 2025.The remote e-voting module will be disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter. During this period 
shareholder of the Company, holding shares either in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date i.e. 
Friday, 19th September, 2025 (cut-off date) may cast their vote electronically. 

20.	 The voting rights of shareholders shall be in proportion to their equity shares in the paid up equity share capital of the 
Company as on Friday, 19th September, 2025 (cut-off date). 

THE INTRUCTIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS FOR E-VOTING AND JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS ARE AS UNDER:
Step 1	: Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL e-Voting system in case of individual shareholders holding shares 

in demat mode. 
Step 2	: Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical mode aand non-

individual shareholders in demat mode. 

1)	 The voting period begins at 10.00 A.M. on Tuesday, 23rd September 2025 and ends at 05.00 P.M. on Thursday, 
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25th September, 2025. During this period shareholders’ of the Company, holding shares either in physical form 
or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date (record date) of Friday, 19th September, 2025 may cast their 
vote electronically. The e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter.

2)	 Shareholders who have already voted prior to the meeting date would not be entitled to vote at the meeting 
venue.

3)	 Pursuant to SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated 09.12.2020, under Regulation 44 of 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, 
listed entities are required to provide remote e-voting facility to its shareholders, in respect of all shareholders’ 
resolutions. However, it has been observed that the participation by the public non-institutional shareholders/
retail shareholders is at a negligible level. 

	 Currently, there are multiple e-voting service providers (ESPs) providing e-voting facility to listed entities in 
India. This necessitates registration on various ESPs and maintenance of multiple user IDs and passwords by 
the shareholders. 

	 In order to increase the efficiency of the voting process, pursuant to a public consultation, it has been decided 
to enable e-voting to all the demat account holders, by way of a single login credential, through their demat 
accounts/ websites of Depositories/ Depository Participants. Demat account holders would be able to cast their 
vote without having to register again with the ESPs, thereby, not only facilitating seamless authentication but 
also enhancing ease and convenience of participating in e-voting process. 

Step 1: Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL e-Voting system in case of individual  shareholders holding 
shares in demat mode. 

	 In terms of SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated December 9, 2020 on e-Voting facility 
provided by Listed Companies, Individual shareholders holding securities in demat mode are allowed to vote 
through their demat account maintained with Depositories and Depository Participants. Shareholders are 
advised to update their mobile number and email Id in their demat accounts in order to access e-Voting facility.

	 Pursuant to abovesaid SEBI Circular, Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for 
Individual shareholders holding securities in Demat mode CDSL/NSDL is given below:

Type of 
shareholders  Login Method

Individual 
Shareholders 
holding 
securities in 
Demat mode with 
CDSL Depository

1)	 Users who have opted for CDSL Easi / Easiest facility, can login through their existing user 
id and password. Option will be made available to reach e-Voting page without any further 
authentication. The URL for users to login to Easi / Easiest are https://web.cdslindia.com/
myeasi/home/login or visit www.cdslindia.com and click on Login icon and select New System 
Myeasi.

2)	 After successful login the Easi / Easiest user will be able to see the e-Voting option for eligible 
companies where the evoting is in progress as per the information provided by company. On 
clicking the evoting option, the user will be able to see e-Voting page of the e-Voting service 
provider for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & 
voting during the meeting. Additionally, there is also links provided to access the system of all 
e-Voting Service Providers i.e. CDSL/NSDL/KARVY/LINKINTIME, so that the user can visit the 
e-Voting service providers’ website directly.

3)	 If the user is not registered for Easi/Easiest, option to register is available at https://web.
cdslindia.com/myeasi/Registration/EasiRegistration

4)	 Alternatively, the user can directly access e-Voting page by providing Demat Account Number 
and PAN No. from a e-Voting link available on www.cdslindia.com home page or click on 
https://evoting.cdslindia.com/Evoting/EvotingLogin The system will authenticate the user by 
sending OTP on registered Mobile & Email as recorded in the Demat Account. After successful 
authentication, user will be able to see the e-Voting option where the evoting is in progress and 
also able to directly access the system of all e-Voting Service Providers.
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Individual 
Shareholders 
holding 
securities in 
demat mode with 
NSDL Depository

1)	 If you are already registered for NSDL IDeAS facility, please visit the e-Services website of 
NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: https://eservices.nsdl.com either on a 
Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once the home page of e-Services is launched, click on the 
“Beneficial Owner” icon under “Login” which is available under ‘IDeAS’ section. A new screen 
will open. You will have to enter your User ID and Password. After successful authentication, 
you will be able to see e-Voting services. Click on “Access to e-Voting” under e-Voting services 
and you will be able to see e-Voting page. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider 
name and you will be re-directed to e-Voting service provider website for casting your vote 
during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting.

2)	 If the user is not registered for IDeAS e-Services, option to register is available at https://
eservices.nsdl.com. Select “Register Online for IDeAS “Portal or click  at https://eservices.nsdl.
com/SecureWeb/IdeasDirectReg.jsp 

3)	 Visit the e-Voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: https://
www.evoting.nsdl.com/ either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once the home page of 
e-Voting system is launched, click on the icon “Login” which is available under ‘Shareholder/
Member’ section. A new screen will open. You will have to enter your User ID (i.e. your sixteen 
digit demat account number hold with NSDL), Password/OTP and a Verification Code as shown 
on the screen. After successful authentication, you will be redirected to NSDL Depository site 
wherein you can see e-Voting page. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name 
and you will be redirected to e-Voting service provider website for casting your vote during the 
remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting

Individual 
Shareholders 
(holding 
securities in 
demat mode) 
login through 
their Depository 
Participants (DP)

You can also login using the login credentials of your demat account through your Depository 
Participant registered with NSDL/CDSL for e-Voting facility. After Successful login, you will 
be able to see e-Voting option. Once you click on e-Voting option, you will be redirected to 
NSDL/CDSL Depository site after successful authentication, wherein you can see e-Voting 
feature. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be redirected 
to e-Voting service provider website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or 
joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting.

Important note: Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget User ID and Forget 
Password option available at abovementioned website.
Helpdesk for Individual Shareholders holding securities in demat mode for any technical issues related to login through 
Depository i.e. CDSL and NSDL

Login type Helpdesk details

Individual Shareholders holding securities in 
Demat mode with CDSL

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact CDSL 
helpdesk by sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com 
or contact at toll free no. 1800 22 55 33 

Individual Shareholders holding securities in 
Demat mode with NSDL

Members facing any technical issue in login can contact NSDL 
helpdesk by sending a request at evoting@nsdl.co.in or call at toll 
free no.: 1800 1020 990 and 1800 22 44 30 

Step 2:  Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical mode and non-
individual shareholders in demat mode.

i.	 Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for Physical shareholders and shareholders other than individual 
holding in Demat form.
1)	 The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com.
2)	 Click on “Shareholders” module.
3)	 Now enter your User ID 

a.	 For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 
b.	 For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID, 
c.	 Shareholders holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with the Company.

4)	 Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.
5)	 If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted on an earlier 
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e-voting of any company, then your existing password is to be used. 
6)	 If you are a first-time user follow the steps given below:

 
	 For Physical shareholders and other than individual shareholders holding shares in Demat.

PAN

	 Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric *PAN issued by Income Tax Department (Applicable 
for both demat shareholders as well as physical shareholders)

•	 Shareholders who have not updated their PAN with the Company/Depository 
Participant are requested to use the sequence number sent by Company/RTA or 
contact Company/RTA.

Dividend 
Bank 
Details
 OR 
Date of 
Birth (DOB)

	 Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as recorded in 
your demat account or in the company records in order to login.

•	 If both the details are not recorded with the depository or company, please enter the 
member id / folio number in the Dividend Bank details field.

ii.	 After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab.

iii.	 Shareholders holding shares in physical form will then directly reach the Company selection screen. However, 
shareholders holding shares in demat form will now reach ‘Password Creation’ menu wherein they are required to 
mandatorily enter their login password in the new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be also used 
by the demat holders for voting for resolutions of any other company on which they are eligible to vote, provided that 
company opts for e-voting through CDSL platform. It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any 
other person and take utmost care to keep your password confidential.

iv.	 For shareholders holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-voting on the resolutions contained 
in this Notice.

v.	 Click on the EVSN for the relevant <Company Name> on which you choose to vote.

vi.	 On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the same the option “YES/NO” for 
voting. Select the option YES or NO as desired. The option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution and option 
NO implies that you dissent to the Resolution.

vii.	 Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution details.

viii.	 After selecting the resolution, you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A confirmation box will be displayed. 
If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly modify 
your vote.

ix.	 Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

x.	 You can also take a print of the votes cast by clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.

xi.	 If a demat account holder has forgotten the login password then Enter the User ID and the image verification code and 
click on Forgot Password & enter the details as prompted by the system.

xii.	 There is also an optional provision to upload BR/POA if any uploaded, which will be made available to scrutinizer for 
verification.

xiii.	 Additional Facility for Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians –For Remote Voting only.

•	 Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodians are required to log on to 
www.evotingindia.com and register themselves in the “Corporates” module.

•	 A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity should be emailed to helpdesk.
evoting@cdslindia.com.

•	 After receiving the login details a Compliance User should be created using the admin login and password. The 
Compliance User would be able to link the account(s) for which they wish to vote on.

•	 The list of accounts linked in the login will be mapped automatically & can be delink in case of any wrong 
mapping.
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•	 It is Mandatory that, a scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of Attorney (POA) which they have 
issued in favour of the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format in the system for the scrutinizer to 
verify the same.

•	 Alternatively Non Individual shareholders are required mandatory to send the relevant Board Resolution/ Authority 
letter etc. together with attested specimen signature of the duly authorized signatory who are authorized to vote, 
to the Scrutinizer and to the Company at the email address viz; complianceofficer@inteccapital.com, if they have 
voted from individual tab & not uploaded same in the CDSL e-voting system for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS ATTENDING THE AGM/EGM THROUGH VC/OAVM & E-VOTING DURING 
MEETING ARE AS UNDER:

1.	 The procedure for attending meeting & e-Voting on the day of the AGM/ EGM is same as the instructions mentioned 
above for e-voting.

2.	 The link for VC/OAVM to attend meeting will be available where the EVSN of Company will be displayed after 
successful login as per the instructions mentioned above for e-voting.

3.	 Shareholders who have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the meeting. However, they will not 
be eligible to vote at the AGM/EGM.

4.	 Shareholders are encouraged to join the Meeting through Laptops / IPads for better experience.

5.	 Further shareholders will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good speed to avoid any disturbance 
during the meeting.

6.	 Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop connecting via Mobile 
Hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss due to Fluctuation in their respective network. It is therefore recommended 
to use Stable Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

7.	 Shareholders who would like to express their views/ask questions during the meeting may register themselves as 
a speaker by sending their request in advance mentioning their name, demat account number/folio number, email 
id, mobile number at complianceofficer@inteccapital.com on or before Wednesday, September 18, 2024. The 
shareholders who do not wish to speak during the AGM but have queries may send their queries in advance prior to 
meeting mentioning their name, demat account number/folio number, email id, mobile number at complianceofficer@
inteccapital.com on or before Wednesday, September 18, 2024. These queries will be replied to by the company 
suitably by email. 

8.	 Those shareholders who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be allowed to express their views/ask 
questions during the meeting.

9.	 Only those shareholders, who are present in the AGM/EGM through VC/OAVM facility and have not casted their 
vote on the Resolutions through remote e-Voting and are otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote 
through e-Voting system available during the EGM/AGM.

10.	 If any Votes are cast by the shareholders through the e-voting available during the EGM/AGM and if the same 
shareholders have not participated in the meeting through VC/OAVM facility, then the votes cast by such shareholders 
may be considered invalid as the facility of e-voting during the meeting is available only to the shareholders attending 
the meeting.

PROCESS FOR THOSE SHAREHOLDERS WHOSE EMAIL/MOBILE NO. ARE NOT REGISTERED WITH THE 
COMPANY/DEPOSITORIES.

1.	 	 For Physical shareholders- please provide necessary details like Folio No., Name of shareholder, scanned copy of 
the share certificate (front and back), PAN (self attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self attested scanned 
copy of Aadhar Card) by email to Company/RTA email id.

2.	 	 For Demat shareholders -, Please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository Participant (DP) 

3.	 	 For Individual Demat shareholders – Please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository 
Participant (DP) which is mandatory while e-Voting & joining virtual meetings through Depository.

4.	 	 If you have any queries or issues regarding attending AGM & e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting System, you can write 
an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 22 55 33

All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be addressed to Mr. Rakesh Dalvi, Sr. 
Manager, (CDSL, ) Central Depository Services (India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill 
Compounds, N M Joshi Marg, Lower Parel (East), Mumbai - 400013 or send an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.
com or call toll free no. 1800 22 55 33.
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Any person who acquires shares of the Company and becomes member of the Company after dispatch of the notice 
of AGM and holding shares as on the cut-off date i.e. 19th September, 2025, may obtain the login ID and password by 
sending a request at helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com. However if you are already registered with CDSL for remote 
e-voting then you can use your existing user ID and password for casting your vote. 

Members who have received the Notice by email and who wish to receive the Notice in physical form are requested 
to e-mail such request to the Company at complianceofficer@inteccapital.com. 

Registered Office:
708, Manjusha, 57 Nehru Place,      
New Delhi – 110019 
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC057410     
Email: complianceofficer@inteccapital.com                                                                                                                      

       By Order of the Board of Directors
  For Intec Capital Limited 

Place: New Delhi
Date: August 20, 2025 

Sd/-
Niharika Gupta

(Company Secretary & Compliance Officer)
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